
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 

Dated March 18, 2024  
 Ratings: 
 S&P:  “AA”  
 “OTHER INFORMATION –  
NEW ISSUE - Book-Entry-Only Ratings” herein) 
 
In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds will be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under 
existing law, subject to the matters described under “TAX MATTERS - Tax Exemption” herein. 
 

THE BONDS WILL NOT BE DESIGNATED AS “QUALIFIED TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS” 
FOR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS. 

 
 $43,000,000* 
   CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS 
 (Potter and Randall Counties) 
 DRAINAGE UTILITY SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2024 
 

Dated Date:  March 15, 2024 Due:  August 15, as shown on Page 2 
Interest Accrues from Date of Initial Delivery 
 
PAYMENT TERMS . . . Interest on the $43,000,000* City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 
(the “Bonds”) will accrue from the date of initial delivery, and will be payable February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing 
February 15, 2025 until maturity or prior redemption, and will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-
day months. The definitive Bonds will be initially registered and delivered only to Cede & Co., the nominee of The Depository 
Trust Company (“DTC”) pursuant to the Book-Entry-Only System described herein. Beneficial ownership of the Bonds may be 
acquired in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof within a stated maturity. No physical delivery of the Bonds will 
be made to the beneficial owners thereof. Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds will be payable by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar to Cede & Co., which will make distribution of the amounts so paid to the participating members of DTC for 
subsequent payment to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. See “THE BONDS - Book-Entry-Only System” herein. The initial 
Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds is Zions Bancorporation, National Association, Houston, Texas (see “THE BONDS - Paying 
Agent/Registrar”). 
 
AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE . . . The Bonds are issued pursuant to the Constitution and the general laws of the State of Texas (the 
“State”), particularly Chapter 552, Texas Local Government Code, as amended, and an ordinance (the “Ordinance”) to be adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Amarillo, Texas (the “City”), and are special obligations of the City, payable, both as to principal 
and interest, solely from and secured by a lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues (hereinafter defined) of the City's drainage 
utility system (the “System”).  The City has not covenanted or obligated itself to pay the Bonds from monies raised or to be 
raised from taxation and holders of the Bonds are not entitled to demand payment of the Bonds from any money raised by 
taxation.  See “THE BONDS – Authority for Issuance” “- Security and Source of Payment”.   
 
PURPOSE . . . Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used (i) for acquiring, improving and constructing municipal drainage 
facilities, including the purchase of land, rights-of-way and equipment therefor; and (ii) to pay the costs associated with the issuance 
of the Bonds.   
 
 
 
 
 
LEGALITY . . . The Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued and received by the Purchaser and subject to the approving 
opinion of the Attorney General of Texas and the opinion of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel, Dallas, Texas, (see 
APPENDIX C, “Form of Bond Counsel's Opinion”).  
 
DELIVERY . . . It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery through DTC on or about April 25, 2024. 

 
 

BIDS DUE ON TUESDAY, MARCH 26, 2024, AT 10:00 AM, CENTRAL TIME 
 
   
* Preliminary, subject to change (see “CONDITIONS OF THE SALE – Post Bid Modification of Principal Amounts” in the Notice 
of Sale and Bidding Instructions). 

CUSIP PREFIX:  023025 
MATURITYSCHEDULE & CUSIP SUFFIX 

See Schedule on Page 2 
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CUSIP Prefix:  023025 (1) 

MATURITY SCHEDULE*  

   
 

(Interest to accrue from the Date of Initial Delivery) 
   
* Preliminary, subject to change (see “CONDITIONS OF THE SALE – Post Bid Modification of Principal Amounts” in the Notice 
of Sale and Bidding Instructions). 
(1) CUSIP numbers are included solely for convenience of owners of the Bonds.  CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American 

Bankers Association. CUSIP data is provided by CUSIP Global Services, which is managed on behalf of the American 
Bankers Association by FactSet Research Systems Inc. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any 
way as a substitute for the CUSIP services. Neither the City, the Purchaser of the Bonds nor the Financial Advisor is 
responsible for the selection or correctness of the CUSIP numbers set forth herein. 

 
 
OPTIONAL REDEMPTION. . . The City reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after August 
15, 2034, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 15, 2033, or any date 
thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption (see “THE BONDS – Optional Redemption”).  
 
MANDATORY SINKING FUND REDEMPTION…In the event any of the Bonds are structured as “term” Bonds, such term Bonds will 
be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Ordinance, which provisions 
will be included in the final Official Statement. 

Principal August 15 Interest Initial CUSIP
Amount Maturity Rate Yield Suffix (1)

280,000$      2025
850,000        2026
875,000        2027
905,000        2028
930,000        2029
955,000        2030
985,000        2031

1,015,000     2032
1,050,000     2033
1,080,000     2034
1,120,000     2035
1,155,000     2036
1,195,000     2037
1,240,000     2038
1,290,000     2039
1,340,000     2040
1,395,000     2041
1,455,000     2042
1,520,000     2043
1,590,000     2044
1,660,000     2045
1,740,000     2046
1,825,000     2047
1,915,000     2048
2,005,000     2049
2,105,000     2050
2,210,000     2051
2,320,000     2052
2,435,000     2053
2,560,000     2054
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For purpose of compliance with Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, this document, as the same may be supplemented 
or corrected from time to time, may be treated as an Official Statement with respect to the Bonds described herein “deemed final” by the City as of the date 
hereof (or of any supplement or correction) except for the omission of no more than the information provided by Subsection (b)(1) of Rule 15c2-12. 
 
No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the City or the Purchaser to give any information, or to make any representations other 
than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been 
authorized by the City or the Purchaser. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell Bonds in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is 
unlawful to make such offer in such jurisdiction. 
 
The information set forth or included in this Official Statement has been provided by the City and from other sources believed by the City to be reliable.  The 
information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale hereunder 
shall create any implication that there has been no change in the financial condition or operations of the City described herein since the date hereof. See 
“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION” for a description of the City's undertaking to provide certain information on a continuing basis. This 
Official Statement contains, in part, estimates and matters of opinion that are not intended as statements of fact, and no representation or warranty is made 
as to the correctness of such estimates and opinions or that they will be realized. 
 
THE BONDS ARE EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION WITH THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AND 
CONSEQUENTLY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED THEREWITH. THE REGISTRATION, QUALIFICATION, OR EXEMPTION OF THE BONDS 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAW PROVISIONS OF THE JURISDICTION IN WHICH THE BONDS HAVE BEEN 
REGISTERED, QUALIFIED OR EXEMPTED SHOULD NOT BE REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. 
 
NEITHER THE CITY, ITS FINANCIAL ADVISOR, NOR THE PURCHASER MAKE ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WITH RESPECT 
TO THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT REGARDING THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY OR ITS BOOK-
ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM, AS SUCH INFORMATION HAS BEEN PROVIDED BY DTC.   
 
IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE BONDS, THE PURCHASER MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE 
OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICES OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. 
SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 
 
THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT CONTAINS “FORWARD-LOOKING” STATEMENTS WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 21E OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED, SUCH STATEMENTS MAY INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER 
FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE THE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE, AND ACHIEVEMENTS TO BE DIFFERENT FROM FUTURE RESULTS, 
PERFORMANCE, AND ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, INVESTORS ARE CAUTIONED 
THAT THE ACTUAL RESULTS COULD DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE SET FORTH IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. 
 
The agreements of the City and others related to the Bonds are contained solely in the contracts described herein.  Neither this Official Statement nor any 
other statement made in connection with the offer or sale of the Bonds is to be construed as constituting an agreement with the purchasers of the Bonds.  
INVESTORS SHOULD READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT, INCLUDING ALL APPENDICES ATTACHED HERETO, TO OBTAIN 
INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO MAKING AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION. 
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PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT SUMMARY 
 
This summary is subject in all respects to the more complete information and definitions contained or incorporated in this 
Preliminary Official Statement. The offering of the Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of this entire Preliminary 
Official Statement. No person is authorized to detach this summary from this Preliminary Official Statement or to otherwise use it 
without the entire Preliminary Official Statement. 
 
THE CITY .................................... The City of Amarillo, Texas (the “City”) is a home rule municipality located in Potter and Randall 

Counties, and is a political subdivision of the State of Texas (the “State”).  The City covers 
approximately 100.24 square miles in area (see “INTRODUCTION – Description of the City”). 

 
THE BONDS.................................  The $43,000,000* City of Amarillo, Texas Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 

are issued as serial bonds maturing August 15 in each of the years 2025 through 2054, unless the 
Purchaser designates one or more maturities as Term Bonds (see “THE BONDS – Description 
of the Bonds”). 

 
PAYMENT OF INTEREST …......... Interest on the Bonds accrues from the date of the initial delivery of the Bonds, and is payable 

February 15, 2025 and each August 15 and February 15 thereafter until maturity or prior 
redemption (see “THE BONDS - Description of the Bonds” and “THE BONDS – Optional 
Redemption”). 

 
AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE.......   The Bonds are issued pursuant to the Constitution and the general laws of the State of Texas (the 

“State”), particularly Chapter 552, Texas Local Government Code, as amended, and an ordinance 
(the “Ordinance”) to be adopted by the City Council of the City of Amarillo, Texas (the “City”) 
(see “THE BONDS - Authority for Issuance”). 

 
SECURITY FOR THE BONDS ......... The Bonds constitute special obligations of the City, payable, both as to principal and interest, 

solely from and secured by a lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues of the City's drainage 
utility system.  The City has not covenanted or obligated itself to pay the Bonds from monies 
raised or to be raised from taxation (see “THE BONDS - Security and Source of Payment”). 

 
OPTIONAL REDEMPTION............. The City reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after 

August 15, 2034, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple 
thereof, on August 15, 2033, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest 
to the date of redemption (see “THE BONDS - Optional Redemption”). 

 
TAX EXEMPTION......................... In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the interest on the Bonds will be excludable from gross income 

for federal income tax purposes under existing law, subject to the matters described under the 
caption “TAX MATTERS – Tax Exemption” herein.   

 
USE OF PROCEEDS ...................... Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used (i) for acquiring, improving and constructing 

municipal drainage facilities, including the purchase of land, rights-of-way and equipment 
therefor; and (ii) to pay the costs associated with the issuance of the Bonds.   

 
RATINGS .................................... The Bonds are rated “AA” by S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc. (“S&P”) (see 

“OTHER INFORMATION – Ratings”). 
 
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM .... The definitive Bonds will be initially registered and delivered only to Cede & Co., the nominee 

of DTC pursuant to the Book-Entry-Only System described herein. Beneficial ownership of the 
Bonds may be acquired in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof. No physical 
delivery of the Bonds will be made to the beneficial owners thereof.  Principal of, premium, if 
any, and interest on the Bonds will be payable by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Cede & Co., 
which will make distribution of the amounts so paid to the participating members of DTC for 
subsequent payment to the beneficial owners of the Bonds (see “THE BONDS - Book-Entry-
Only System”). 

 
PAYMENT RECORD ..................... The City has never defaulted in the payment of its bonded indebtedness. 
 
  
* Preliminary, subject to change (see “CONDITIONS OF THE SALE – Post Bid Modification of Principal Amounts” in the Notice 
of Sale and Bidding Instructions). 
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CITY OFFICIALS, STAFF AND CONSULTANTS 
 
ELECTED OFFICIALS 
 

  Date   Term   

City Council  Elected  Expires  Occupation 
       

Cole Stanley  2023  2025  Commercial/Residential Builder 
Mayor       
       

Josh Craft  2023  2025  Fire Department - Lieutenant 
Councilmember       
 

      

Don Tipps  2023  2025  Business Owner 
Councilmember       
 

      

Tom Scherlen  2023  2025  Retired 
Councilmember       
       

Les Simpson  2023  2025  Business Owner 
Councilmember       
       

 
SELECTED ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF  
     Length of 

Name  Position  Service with the City  
     

Andrew Freeman  Deputy City Manager  6 Years 
Laura Storrs  Assistant City Manager and Chief Financial Officer  18 Years 
Floyd Hartman   Interim City Manager  19 Years 
Rich Gagnon  Assistant City Manager and Chief Information Officer  8 Years 
Stephanie Coggins  City Secretary  8 Years 

     
 
 
CONSULTANTS AND ADVISORS 
 
Auditors .......................................................................................................................................... CMMS CPAs & Advisors PLLC 
 Amarillo, Texas 
 
Bond Counsel ....................................................................................................................................Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP  
 Dallas, Texas 
 
Financial Advisor............................................................................................................................... Specialized Public Finance Inc. 
 Dallas, Texas 
 
 
For additional information regarding the City, please contact: 
 

Laura Storrs 
Assistant City Manager 
City of Amarillo 
601 S. Buchanan  
Amarillo, Texas 79105 
(806) 378-3000 

Steven A. Adams, CFA 
Managing Director 
Specialized Public Finance Inc. 
4925 Greenville Ave., Ste. 1350 
Dallas, Texas 75206 
(214) 373-3911 

Paul N. Jasin 
Managing Director 
Specialized Public Finance Inc. 
4925 Greenville Ave., Ste. 1350 
Dallas, Texas 75206 
(214) 373-3911 

 



6 
 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

RELATING TO 
 

$43,000,000* 
CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS 

DRAINAGE UTILITY SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2024 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This Official Statement, which includes the Appendices hereto, provides certain information regarding the issuance of 
$43,000,000* City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2024.  Capitalized terms used in this 
Official Statement have the same meanings assigned to such terms in the ordinance to be adopted on the date of sale of the Bonds, 
which will authorize the issuance of the Bonds (the “Ordinance”), except as otherwise indicated herein (see “SELECTED 
PROVISIONS OF THE ORDINANCE”). 
 
There follows in this Official Statement descriptions of the Bonds and certain information regarding the City, its drainage utility 
system (the “System”) and its finances. All descriptions of documents contained herein are only summaries and are qualified in 
their entirety by reference to each such document. Copies of such documents may be obtained from the City's Financial Advisor, 
Specialized Public Finance Inc., Dallas, Texas. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE CITY . . . The City is a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the State, duly organized and 
existing under the laws of the State, including the City’s Home Rule Charter.  The City was incorporated in 1899, and first adopted 
its Home Rule Charter in 1913.  The City operates under a Council/Manager form of government with a City Council comprised 
of the Mayor and four Councilmembers.  The City Manager is the chief administrative officer for the City.  The City provides a 
full range of municipal services, including police and fire protection, street paving and maintenance, traffic engineering, 
enforcement of building and sanitary codes, a civic center complex, parks, golf courses, swimming pools and other recreational 
facilities, and four public libraries.  The City provides solid waste collection and disposal services and operates a transit system.  
The City maintains the water and sewer systems and an international airport.  The estimated 2024 Census population for the City 
is 201,291.  The City covers approximately 100.24 square miles in area.     
 

 
THE BONDS 

 
PURPOSE . . . Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used (i) for acquiring, improving and constructing municipal drainage 
facilities, including the purchase of land, rights-of-way and equipment therefor; and (ii) to pay the costs associated with the issuance 
of the Bonds.   
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS . . . The Bonds are dated March 15, 2024, and mature on August 15 in each of the years and in the 
amounts shown on page 2 hereof.  Interest on the Bonds will accrue from the date of initial delivery and will be computed on the 
basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months, and will be payable on February 15 and August 15 of each year, 
commencing February 15, 2025, until maturity of the Bonds or their prior redemption. The definitive Bonds will be issued only in 
fully registered form in any integral multiple of $5,000 for any one maturity and will be initially registered and delivered only to 
Cede & Co., the nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) pursuant to the Book-Entry-Only System described herein. 
No physical delivery of the Bonds will be made to the beneficial owners thereof. Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on 
the Bonds will be payable by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Cede & Co., which will make distribution of the amounts so paid to 
the participating members of DTC for subsequent payment to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. See “THE BONDS – Book-
Entry-Only System” herein. 
 
AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE . . . The Bonds are issued pursuant to the Constitution and the general laws of the State, particularly 
Chapter 552, Texas Local Government Code, as amended, and an ordinance (the “Ordinance”) to be adopted by the City Council 
of the City of Amarillo, Texas.  
 
SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT . . . The Bonds are special obligations of the City payable, both as to principal and interest, 
solely from and secured by a first lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues (as defined in the Ordinance) of the System.  
 
 
   
* Preliminary, subject to change (see “CONDITIONS OF THE SALE – Post Bid Modification of Principal Amounts” in the Notice 
of Sale and Bidding Instructions). 
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The currently outstanding Bonds, secured by and payable from Net Revenues and Pledged Revenues, respectively, on a parity with 
the Bonds, are described as follows: 
 

Dated Date  Outstanding Debt*  Issue Description 
     

April 1, 2014  $3,775,000  Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 
July 1, 2020  8,190,000  Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 
February 1, 2021  8,500,000  Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 
January 1, 2023  43,000,000  Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 

   
*As of January 1, 2024. 
 
The Bonds are not a charge upon any other income or revenues of the City and shall never constitute an indebtedness or pledge 
of the general credit or taxing powers of the City. The Ordinance does not create a lien or mortgage on the System, except for 
the pledge of the Net Revenues, and any judgment against the City may not be enforced by levy and execution against any property 
owned by the City. 
 
ADDITIONAL COVENANTS PERTAINING TO THE BONDS . . . Pledge of Pledged Revenues.  The City has covenanted in the Ordinance 
that the Pledged Revenues will be irrevocably pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds and the pledge 
of such Pledged Revenues shall constitute a lien on such Pledged Revenues in accordance with the terms and provisions of the 
Ordinance and be valid and binding without any physical delivery thereof or further act by the City. 
 
Chapter 1208, Texas Government Code, as amended, applies to the issuance of the Bonds and the pledge of the Net Revenues 
granted by the City under the Ordinance, is valid, effective, and perfected.  If Texas law is amended at any time while the Bonds 
are Outstanding and unpaid such that the pledge of the Pledged Revenues granted by the City under the Ordinance is to be subject 
to the filing requirements of Chapter 9, Business and Commerce Code, as amended, then in order to preserve to the Holders of the 
Bonds the perfection of the security interest in said pledge, the City agrees to take such measures as it determines are reasonable 
and necessary under Texas law to comply with the applicable provisions of Chapter 9, Texas Business & Commerce Code, as 
amended, and enable a filing to perfect the security interest in said pledge to occur. 
 
Revenue Fund.  All Gross Revenues shall be kept separate and apart from all other funds, accounts, and moneys of the City, and 
shall be deposited as collected into the “City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility System Fund” (hereinafter called the “Revenue 
Fund”).  All moneys deposited in the Revenue Fund shall be pledged and appropriated to the extent required for the following 
purposes and in the order of priority shown, to wit: 
 

First:  To the payment of the reasonable and proper Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the System as defined by law. 
 
Second:  To the payment of the amounts required to be deposited in the special funds and accounts created and established for 
the payment of the Bonds Similarly Secured. 
 
Third:  To the payment of any other indebtedness payable from and secured, in whole or in part, by a lien on and claim against 
the revenues of the System. 
 
Fourth:  Any revenues remaining in the Revenue Fund after satisfying the foregoing payments, or making adequate and 
sufficient provision for the payment thereof, may be appropriated and used for any other City purpose now or hereafter 
permitted by law. 

 
Deposits to Interest and Redemption Fund.  The City will cause to be deposited in the Interest and Redemption Fund from the 
Pledged Revenues in the System Fund, the amount of Pledged Revenues pledged to the payment of the Bonds. 

 
No ad valorem taxes are collected or used in connection with the Bonds.  In addition, any surplus proceeds from the sale of the 
Bonds not expended for authorized purposes shall be deposited in the Interest and Redemption Fund, and such amounts so deposited 
shall reduce the sums otherwise required to be deposited in said Fund from the Pledged Revenues. 
 
Special Covenants.  The City has covenanted in the Ordinance as follows: 

 
(i) That it has the lawful power to pledge the Pledged Revenues supporting the Bonds and has lawfully exercised said powers 

under the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, including said power existing under Chapter 552, Texas Local 
Government Code, as amended. 

(ii) That other than for the payment of the Previously Issued Bonds and the Bonds, the Net Revenues and Pledged Revenues, 
as applicable, are not in any manner pledged to the payment of any debt or obligation of the City or of the System. 
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(iii) That, as long as the Previously Issued Bonds and the Bonds or any interest thereon remain Outstanding and the pledge 
of the Net Revenues or Pledged Revenues, as applicable, has not been fully satisfied, the City will not sell, lease, or 
encumber the System or any substantial part thereof, provided that this covenant shall not be construed to prohibit the 
sale of such machinery, or other properties or equipment which has become obsolete or otherwise unsuited to the efficient 
operation of the System. 

(iv) Rate Covenant.  The City Council of the City will fix, establish, maintain, and collect such rates, charges, and fees for 
the use and availability of the System at all times as are necessary to produce revenues of the System sufficient, together 
with any other Pledged Revenues, (1) to pay all current operation and maintenance expenses of the System, and (2) to 
produce Pledged Revenues for each year at least equal to 1.25 times the principal and interest requirements of all then 
Outstanding Bonds Similarly Secured (as defined in the Bond Ordinance) for the year during which such requirements 
are scheduled to be the greatest. 

 
Issuance of Additional Obligations.  The City has reserved the right to issue additional bonds, certificates or other obligations 
(“Additional Obligations”) payable from and secured by and made payable equally and notably on a parity with the Bonds and all 
other outstanding Previously Issued Bonds from an irrevocable lien on and pledge and pledge of the Pledged Revenues. 
 
Notwithstanding any provisions of the Ordinance to the contrary, no installment, series, or issue of Additional Obligations shall be 
issued or delivered unless an independent certified public accountant, or independent firm of certified public accountants, signs a 
written certificate to the effect that, during either the next preceding year, or any twelve consecutive calendar month period ending 
not more than ninety days prior to the passage of the ordinance authorizing the issuance of the then proposed Additional Obligations 
the Pledged Revenues were, in his or its opinion, at least equal to 1.25 times the principal and interest requirements of all Bonds 
Similarly Secured to be Outstanding after the issuance of the then proposed Additional Obligations for the year during which such 
requirements are scheduled to be the greatest. 

RATES . . . The City has covenanted in the Ordinance that it will fix, establish, maintain, and collect such rates, charges, and fees 
for the use and availability of the System at all times as are necessary to produce revenues of the System sufficient, together with 
any other Pledged Revenues, (1) to pay all current operation and maintenance expenses of the System, and (2) to produce Pledged 
Revenues for each year at least equal to 1.25 times the principal and interest requirements of all then Outstanding Bonds Similarly 
Secured for the year during which such requirements are scheduled to be the greatest.  See “SELECTED PROVISIONS OF THE 
ORDINANCE – Rate Covenant.” 
 
OPTIONAL REDEMPTION . . . The City reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after August 
15, 2034, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 15, 2033, or any date 
thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. If less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed, 
the City may select the maturities of Bonds to be redeemed. If less than all the Bonds of any maturity are to be redeemed, the 
Paying Agent/Registrar (or DTC while the Bonds are in Book-Entry-Only form) shall determine by lot the Bonds, or portions 
thereof, within such maturity to be redeemed. If a Bond (or any portion of the principal sum thereof) shall have been called for 
redemption and notice of such redemption shall have been given, such Bond (or the principal amount thereof to be redeemed) shall 
become due and payable on such redemption date and interest thereon shall cease to accrue from and after the redemption date, 
provided funds for the payment of the redemption price and accrued interest thereon are held by the Paying Agent/Registrar on the 
redemption date. 
 
MANDATORY SINKING FUND REDEMPTION…In the event any of the Bonds are structured as “term” Bonds, such term Bonds will 
be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Ordinance, which provisions 
will be included in the final Official Statement. 
 
NOTICE OF REDEMPTION . . . Not less than 30 days prior to a redemption date for the Bonds, the City shall cause a notice of 
redemption to be sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the registered owners of the Bonds to be redeemed, in 
whole or in part, at the address of the registered owner appearing on the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the 
close of business on the business day next preceding the date of mailing such notice. ANY NOTICE SO MAILED SHALL BE 
CONCLUSIVELY PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN DULY GIVEN, WHETHER OR NOT THE REGISTERED OWNER 
RECEIVES SUCH NOTICE. NOTICE HAVING BEEN SO GIVEN, THE BONDS CALLED FOR REDEMPTION SHALL 
BECOME DUE AND PAYABLE ON THE SPECIFIED REDEMPTION DATE, AND NOTWITHSTANDING THAT ANY 
BOND OR PORTION THEREOF HAS NOT BEEN SURRENDERED FOR PAYMENT, INTEREST ON SUCH BOND OR 
PORTION THEREOF SHALL CEASE TO ACCRUE. 
 
With respect to any optional redemption of the Bonds, unless moneys sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and 
interest on the Bonds to be redeemed shall have been received by the Paying Agent/Registrar prior to the giving of such notice of 
redemption, such notice may state that said redemption is conditional upon the receipt of such moneys by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption, or upon the satisfaction of any prerequisites set forth in such 
notice of redemption; and, if sufficient moneys are not received, such notice shall be of no force and effect, the City shall not 
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redeem such Bonds and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall give notice, in the manner in which the notice of redemption was given, 
to the effect that the Bonds have not been redeemed. 
 
DEFEASANCE . . . The Ordinance provides for the defeasance of Bonds when the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, 
on such Bonds, plus interest thereon to the due date thereof (whether such due date be by reason of maturity, redemption, or 
otherwise), is provided by irrevocably depositing with the Paying Agent/Registrar or an authorized escrow agent, in trust (1) money 
sufficient to make such payment or (2) Government Securities, certified by an independent accounting or consulting firm to mature 
as to principal and interest in such amounts and at such times to insure the availability, without reinvestment, of sufficient money 
to make such payment, and all necessary and proper fees, compensation and expenses of the paying agent for the Bonds.  The 
Ordinance provides that “Government Securities” means (a) direct, noncallable obligations of the United States of America, 
including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, (b) noncallable obligations of an agency 
or instrumentality of the United States of America, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the 
agency or instrumentality and that, on the date of their acquisition or purchase by the City, are rated as to investment quality by a 
nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than “AAA” or its equivalent, (c) noncallable obligations of a state or an 
agency or a county, municipality, or other political subdivision of a state that have been refunded and that, on the date of their 
acquisition or purchase by the City, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less 
than “AAA” or its equivalent, and (d) any other then authorized securities or obligations that may be used to defease obligations 
such as the Bonds under applicable laws of the State of Texas.  The City may limit the foregoing Government Securities in 
connection with the sale of the Bonds.  The City has the right, subject to satisfying the requirements of (1) and (2) above, to 
substitute other Government Securities for the Government Securities originally deposited, to reinvest the uninvested moneys on 
deposit for such defeasance and to withdraw for the benefit of the City moneys in excess of the amount required for such defeasance. 
 
There is no assurance that the current law will not be changed in a manner which would permit investments other than those 
described above to be made with amounts deposited to defease the Bonds. Because the Ordinance does not contractually limit such 
investments, registered owners may be deemed to have consented to defeasance with such other investments, notwithstanding the 
fact that such investments may not be of the same investment quality as those currently permitted under State law. There is no 
assurance that the ratings for U.S. Treasury securities used as Government Securities or that for any other Government Security 
will be maintained at any particular rating category. 
 
Upon such deposit as described above, such Bonds shall no longer be regarded to be outstanding or unpaid and will cease to be 
outstanding obligations secured by the Ordinance or treated as debt of the City for purposes of taxation or applying any limitation 
on the City’s ability to issue debt or for any other purpose, except for the purpose of receiving payment. 
 
Furthermore, all rights of the City to initiate proceedings to call the Bonds for redemption or take any other action amending the 
terms of the Bonds are extinguished; provided, however, that the right to call the Bonds for redemption is not extinguished if the 
City: (i) in the proceedings providing for the firm banking and financial arrangements, expressly reserves the right to call the Bonds 
for redemption; (ii) gives notice of the reservation of that right to the owners of the Bonds immediately following the making of 
the firm banking and financial arrangements; and (iii) directs that notice of the reservation be included in any redemption notices 
that it authorizes. 
 
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM . . . This section describes how ownership of the Bonds are to be transferred and how the principal 
of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds are to be paid to and credited by DTC while the Bonds are registered in its nominee 
name. The information in this section concerning DTC and the Book-Entry-Only System has been provided by DTC for use in 
disclosure documents such as this Official Statement. The City believes the source of such information to be reliable, but takes no 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness thereof. 
 
The City cannot and does not give any assurance that (1) DTC will distribute payments of debt service on the Bonds, or redemption 
or other notices, to DTC Participants, (2) DTC Participants or others will distribute debt service payments paid to DTC or its 
nominee (as the registered owner of the Bonds), or redemption or other notices, to the Beneficial Owners, or that they will do so 
on a timely basis, or (3) DTC will serve and act in the manner described in this Official Statement. The current rules applicable to 
DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the current procedures of DTC to be followed in dealing with 
DTC Participants are on file with DTC. 
 
DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name 
of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One 
fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of each such 
maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 
 
DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a 
“banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing 
corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million 
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issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 
countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among 
Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry 
transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities 
certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation 
(“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing 
Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the 
DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and 
clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly 
(“Indirect Participants”). DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating: “AAA”. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on 
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and www.dtc.org. 
 
Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the 
Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be 
recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of 
their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as 
well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered 
into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct 
and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their 
ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 
 
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s 
partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of 
Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial 
ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the 
Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and 
Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.  
 
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, 
and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject 
to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take 
certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, 
tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Bond documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to 
ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In 
the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices 
be provided directly to them. 
 
Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to 
determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity to be redeemed.   
 
Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds unless authorized by a 
Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as 
soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct 
Participants to whose accounts Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).   
 
Principal and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and 
corresponding detail information from the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar, on payable date in accordance with their respective 
holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and 
customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” 
and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the Paying Agent/Registrar, or the City, subject 
to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds and principal 
and interest payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the 
responsibility of the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the 
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect 
Participants. 
 
DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the 
City or the Paying Agent/Registrar. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Bond 
certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 
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The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository). 
In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered. 
 
The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s Book-Entry Only System has been obtained from sources that the City 
believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 
 
USE OF CERTAIN TERMS IN OTHER SECTIONS OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT . . . In reading this Official Statement it should be 
understood that while the Bonds are in the Book-Entry Only System, references in other sections of this Official Statement to 
registered owners should be read to include the person for which the Participant acquires an interest in the Bonds, but (i) all rights 
of ownership must be exercised through DTC and the Book-Entry Only System, and (ii) except as described above, notices that are 
to be given to registered owners under the Ordinance will be given only to DTC. 
 
Information concerning DTC and the Book-Entry Only System has been obtained from DTC and is not guaranteed as to accuracy 
or completeness by, and is not to be construed as a representation by the City or the Purchaser. 
 
EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM . . . In the event that the Book-Entry Only System is discontinued, 
printed Bonds will be issued to the holders and the Bonds will be subject to transfer, exchange and registration provisions as set 
forth in the Ordinance and summarized under “THE BONDS - Transfer, Exchange and Registration” below. 
 
So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, the City will have no obligation or responsibility to the Direct 
Participants or Indirect Participants, or the persons for which they act as nominees, with respect to the payment to or providing of 
notice to such Direct Participants, Indirect Participants or the persons for which they act as nominees. 
 
PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR . . . The initial Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds is Zions Bancorporation, National Association, 
Houston, Texas.  In the Ordinance, the City retains the right to replace the Paying Agent/Registrar. The City covenants to maintain 
and provide a Paying Agent/Registrar at all times until the Bonds are duly paid, and any successor Paying Agent/Registrar shall be 
a bank, trust company, financial institution or other entity duly qualified and legally authorized to serve as and perform the duties 
and services of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds. Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds, the City 
agrees to promptly cause a written notice thereof to be sent to each registered owner of the Bonds by United States mail, first class, 
postage prepaid, which notice shall also give the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.  
 
TRANSFER, EXCHANGE AND REGISTRATION . . . In the event the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued, Bond certificates will 
be printed and delivered to the registered owners thereof, and thereafter the Bonds may be transferred and exchanged on the 
registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar only upon presentation and surrender to the Paying Agent/Registrar, and such 
transfer or exchange shall be without expense or service charge to the registered owner, except for any tax or other governmental 
charges required to be paid with respect to such registration, exchange and transfer. Bonds may be assigned by the execution of an 
assignment form on the respective Bonds or by other instrument of transfer and assignment acceptable to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar. New Bonds will be delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar, in lieu of the Bonds being transferred or exchanged, 
at the designated office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, or sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the new 
registered owner or his designee. To the extent possible, new Bonds issued in an exchange or transfer of Bonds will be delivered 
to the registered owner or assignee of the registered owner in not more than three business days after the receipt of the Bonds to be 
canceled, and the written instrument of transfer or request for exchange duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized 
agent, in form satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar. New Bonds registered and delivered in an exchange or transfer shall be 
in any integral multiple of $5,000 for any one maturity and for a like aggregate designated amount as the Bonds surrendered for 
exchange or transfer. See “THE BONDS - Book-Entry-Only System” herein for a description of the system to be utilized initially 
in regard to ownership and transferability of the Bonds.  Neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to transfer 
or exchange any Bond called for redemption, in whole or in part, within 45 days of the date fixed for redemption of such Bond; 
provided, however, such limitation on transfer shall not be applicable to an exchange by the Holder of the unredeemed balance of 
a Bond called for redemption in part. 
 
PAYMENTS ON THE BONDS . . . Interest on the Bonds shall be paid to the registered owners whose names appear on the registration 
books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the Record Date (defined below), and such interest shall be paid (i) 
by check sent United States Mail, first class postage prepaid to the address of each registered owner recorded in the registration 
books of the Paying Agent/Registrar or (ii) by such other method, acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar requested by, and at 
the risk and expense of, the registered owner. Principal of the Bonds will be paid to each registered owner at their stated maturity 
or upon prior redemption upon their presentation and surrender to the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying 
Agent/Registrar; provided, however, that so long as Cede & Co. (or other DTC nominee) is the registered owner of the Bonds, all 
payments will be made as described under “THE BONDS - Book-Entry-Only System” herein.  If the date for the payment of the 
principal of or interest on the Bonds shall be a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday or a day when banking institutions in the city 
where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar is located are authorized to be closed, then the date 
for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not such a day, and payment on such date shall have the same force 
and effect as if made on the date payment was due.   
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RECORD DATE FOR INTEREST PAYMENT . . . The record date (“Record Date”) for the interest payable on the Bonds on any interest 
payment date means the close of business on the last business day of the preceding month. 
 
In the event of a non-payment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such 
interest payment (a “Special Record Date”) will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment 
of such interest have been received from the City. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past 
due interest (“Special Payment Date”, which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five business days 
prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address of each registered owner of a 
Bond appearing on the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last business day next 
preceding the date of mailing of such notice. 
 
BONDHOLDERS’ REMEDIES . . . The Ordinance provides that any holder of the Bonds shall be entitled to a writ of mandamus issued 
by a court of proper jurisdiction compelling and requiring the City Council and other officers of the City to observe and perform 
any covenant, condition, or obligation set for in the Ordinance.  The issuance of a writ of mandamus is controlled by equitable 
principles and rests with the discretion of the court, but may not be arbitrarily refused. There is no acceleration of maturity of the 
Bonds in the event of default and, consequently, the remedy of mandamus may have to be relied upon from year to year. The 
Ordinance does not provide for the appointment of a trustee to represent the interest of the holders of the Bonds upon any failure 
of the City to perform in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance, or upon any other condition and accordingly all legal actions 
to enforce such remedies would have to be undertaken at the initiative of, and be financed by, the registered owners.  On April 1, 
2016, the Texas Supreme Court ruled in Wasson Interests, Ltd. v. City of Jacksonville, 489 S.W. 3d 427 (Tex. 2016) (“Wasson”) 
that sovereign immunity does not imbue a city with derivative immunity when it performs proprietary, as opposed to governmental, 
functions in respect to contracts executed by a city.  The Texas Supreme Court reviewed Wasson again in June 2018 and clarified 
that to determine whether governmental immunity applies to a breach of contract claim, the proper inquiry is whether the 
municipality was engaged in a governmental or proprietary function when it entered into the contract, not at the time of the alleged 
breach. Therefore in regard to municipal contract cases (as in tort claims) it is incumbent on the courts to determine whether a 
function was proprietary or governmental based won the statutory guidance at the time of the contractual relationship. Texas 
jurisprudence has generally held that proprietary functions are those conducted by a city in its private capacity, for the benefit only 
of those within its corporate limits, and not as an arm of the government or under the authority or for the benefit of the state.  If 
sovereign immunity is determined by a court to exist, then the Texas Supreme Court has ruled in Tooke v. City of Mexia, 197 
S.W.3d 325 (Tex. 2006) that a waiver of sovereign immunity in a contractual dispute must be provided for by statute in “clear and 
unambiguous” language. Because it is unclear whether the Texas legislature has effectively waived the City’s sovereign immunity 
from a suit for money damages, in the absence of City action, Bondholders may not be able to bring such a suit against the City for 
breach of the Bonds or Ordinance.  Even if a judgment against the City could be obtained, it could not be enforced by direct levy 
and execution against the City’s property. Further, the registered owners cannot themselves foreclose on property within the City 
or sell property within the City to enforce the tax lien on taxable property to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds. 
Furthermore, the City is eligible to seek relief from its creditors under Chapter 9 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (“Chapter 9”). 
Although Chapter 9 provides for the recognition of a security interest represented by a specifically pledged source of revenues, 
such as the Pledged Revenues, such provisions are subject to judicial construction.  Chapter 9 also includes an automatic stay 
provision that would prohibit, without Bankruptcy Court approval, the prosecution of any other legal action by creditors or 
Bondholders of an entity which has sought protection under Chapter 9. Therefore, should the City avail itself of Chapter 9 protection 
from creditors, the ability to enforce creditors’ rights would be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court (which could require 
that the action be heard in Bankruptcy Court instead of other federal or state court); and the Bankruptcy Code provides for broad 
discretionary powers of a Bankruptcy Court in administering any proceeding brought before it. The opinion of Bond Counsel will 
note that all opinions relative to the enforceability of the Bonds are qualified with respect to the customary rights of debtors relative 
to their creditors. 
 
AMENDMENTS OF THE ORDINANCE . . . The City may amend the Ordinance without the consent of or notice to any registered 
owners in any manner not detrimental to the interests of the registered owners, including the curing of any ambiguity, inconsistency, 
or formal defect or omission therein. In addition, the City may, with the written consent of the registered owners of a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, amend, add to, or rescind any of the provisions of the Ordinance; except 
that, without the consent of the registered owners of all of the outstanding Bonds affected, no such amendment, addition or 
rescission may extend the time or times of payment of the principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, reduce the principal 
amount thereof, the redemption price therefor on the rate of interest thereon or if any other way. See “SELECTED PROVISIONS 
OF THE ORDINANCE – Ordinance to Constitute Contract – Amendment of Ordinance”. 
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USE OF PROCEEDS . . . The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be applied approximately as follows: 

 
SOURCES OF FUNDS   

Par Amount of Bonds   $                    -    
Net Bid Premium                         -    

Total Sources   $                    -    
   

USES OF FUNDS   
Deposit to Project Construction Fund   $                    -    
Costs of Issuance/Rounding Amount                         -    

Total Uses   $                    -    
   

 
 

 

INFECTIOUS DISEASE OUTBREAK – COVID-19 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization and the President of the United States separately declared the outbreak of a 
respiratory disease caused by a novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") to be a public health emergency. On March 13, 2020, the 
Governor of Texas (the "Governor") declared a state of disaster for all counties in the State because of the effects of COVID-19.  
Subsequently, in response to a rise in COVID-19 infections in the State and pursuant to the Chapter 418 of the Texas Government 
Code, the Governor issued a number of executive orders intended to help limit the spread of COVID-19 and mitigate injury and 
the loss of life, including limitations imposed on business operations, social gatherings and other activities. 

Over the ensuing year, COVID-19 negatively affected commerce, travel and businesses locally and globally, and negatively 
affected economic growth worldwide and within the U.S., the State and the City. Following the widespread release and distribution 
of various COVID-19 vaccines beginning in December 2020 and a decrease in active COVID-19 cases generally in the United 
States, state governments (including Texas) have started to lift business and social limitations associated with COVID-19. Under 
executive orders in effect as of the date of this Official Statement, there are no COVID-19 related operating limits for any business 
or other establishment in Texas.  The Governor retains the right to impose additional restrictions on activities if needed in order to 
mitigate the effects of COVID-19.   Additional information regarding executive orders issued by the Governor is accessible on the 
website of the Governor at https://gov.texas.gov/. Neither the information on, nor accessed through, such website of the Governor 
is incorporated by reference, either expressly or by implication, into this Official Statement. 

With the easing or removal of associated governmental restrictions, economic activity has increased. However, there are no 
assurances that economic activity will continue or increase at the same rate, especially if there are future outbreaks of COVID-19 
or variants of COVID-19. The COVID-19 pandemic may result in lasting changes in some businesses and social practices, which 
could affect business activity and limit the growth of or reduce the City's ad valorem and sales tax collections. In addition, further 
or extended reductions in the value of stocks and other investments could impact employee retirement plans or other funds and 
could require actions by the State. The City cannot predict the long-term economic effect of COVID-19 or the effect of any future 
outbreak of COVID-19, or variants of COVID-19, or a similar virus on the City's operations or financial condition. 

Some of the financial and operating data contained herein are as of dates and for periods prior to the economic impact of COVID-
19 and measures instituted to slow it. Accordingly, such information is not necessarily indicative of the current financial condition 
or future prospects of the City. The City continues to monitor the spread of COVID-19 and is working with local, State, and national 
agencies to address the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic upon the City. While the extent of the impact of COVID-19 
on the City cannot be quantified at this time, the continued outbreak of COVID-19 could have an adverse effect on the City's 
operations and financial condition, and the effect could be material. 
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THE SYSTEM 
 
DRAINAGE UTILITY SYSTEM . . . Chapter 552, Texas Local Government Code provides the authority for municipalities to establish 
a drainage utility system and to develop a schedule of charges within the City.  This enabling legislation was created in order to 
provide municipalities a funding source to address Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) mandated stormwater quality 
requirements, as well as local drainage system operating and maintenance costs.   
 
Effective October 1, 2012, the City established a Drainage Utility System, the operations of which are accounted for as an enterprise 
fund.   
 
During 2012 the City Council approved the creation of a drainage utility fund to be used for drainage improvements. The drainage 
utility fund will be one of three enterprise type funds and revenues and expenditures will be kept separate from all other City 
operations. The residential rate structure included small, typical and large classifications. The typical classification represents fifty 
percent of parcels in the City with a monthly fee of $2.82.  All nonresidential properties are billed at $2.82 for every 2,800 square 
feet of impervious cover on the property.   
 
Net position for the Drainage Utility Fund increased by $2.5 million.  Fiscal year 2022 included a 4% rate increase. 
 
The drainage utility fund provides for a dedicated funding source for the operations and maintenance of the existing storm-water 
system.  The drainage utility fund has 32 full-time employees. 
 
The Drainage Utility Fund completed the eleventh year of operation and recorded operating revenues of $7.6 million with $4.4 
million in operating expenses resulting in net operating income of $3.2 million.  Drainage utility assessment revenue was 
approximately $722 thousand more than the prior year due a to a 6% rate increase.  The rate increase helped fund the Drainage 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 for capital improvements to the drainage system along with increased costs associated with the 
drainage system rising costs.  Some drainage projects are funded with cash, as available, and others have been funded by drainage 
revenue bonds, which are paid back through debt service payments over the term of the bonds.  Drainage revenue bonds were 
issued in 2012/13, 2013/14, 2019/20, 2020/21, and in 2022/23.  The total outstanding debt at year-end for the Drainage Utility 
Fund was $29.7 million. 
 
DRAINAGE CAPITAL ASSETS . . . The Drainage Utility Fund had $18,755,422 of construction in progress as of September 30, 2023. 
It also had right of way easements of $1,517,200, equipment and vehicles of $67,307, infrastructure of $18,970,197, and land of 
$87,744. 
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TABLE 1 – MONTHLY DRAINAGE FEE RATES (EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2023) 
 
Residential Rates 
 
Residential Rates are based on statistical evaluation of land parcel impervious area for single-family properties.   
The equivalent residential unit (ERU) rate is $2.82 per ERU per month. 
 

  
 

Commercial Rates 
 
Total ERUs for commercial property is based on the impervious area for each parcel divided by 2,800 square feet with a minimum 
of one ERU.  The monthly Drainage Utility charge for commercial property is calculated by multiplying the total number of ERU's 
for the parcel by the ERU monthly billing rate. 
 
 
TABLE 2 – TOP TEN DRAINAGE CUSTOMERS  
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Equivalent 
Residential Units Monthly Fee

Tier 1 Less than 2,072 square feet impervious area 0.68 ERU 2.29$            
Tier 2 2,072 - 3,236 square feet impervious area 1.00 ERU 3.36             
Tier 3 Greater than 3,236  square feet impervious area 1.51 ERU 5.08             

Classification

Customer Name Total ERU's
Monthly        

Drainage Fee

Burlington Northern           21,365  $       84,346 
Amarillo Independent School District             2,792           11,049 
City of Amarillo             3,287           13,121 
Wal-Mart             1,170            4,631 
Milligan Real Estate LLC               738            3,005 
BSA Hospital LLC               704            2,890 
Westgate Mall Realty LLC               601            1,849 
Xcel               559            2,341 
Gavilon Grain LLC               447            1,820 
Lowes Home Center Inc               444            1,733 

Total 32,107          $     126,785 

2023
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DEBT INFORMATION 
 
TABLE 3 – PRO-FORMA DRAINAGE UTILITY SYSTEM REVENUE DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

  

 
   
(1) Interest on the Bonds has been calculated at assumed rates as of the posted date of the Preliminary Official Statement for 

purposes of illustration.  Preliminary, subject to change. 
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Fiscal Drainage Utility
Year  System Revenue
Ending Outstanding Debt Service Debt Service
9/30 Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total Total
2024 1,160,000$     793,744$     1,953,744$     -$              -$              -$              1,953,744$         
2025 1,200,000       753,244       1,953,244       280,000          2,405,847       2,685,847       4,639,091           
2026 1,240,000       711,144       1,951,144       850,000          1,833,676       2,683,676       4,634,820           
2027 1,285,000       663,444       1,948,444       875,000          1,808,176       2,683,176       4,631,620           
2028 1,335,000       613,894       1,948,894       905,000          1,781,926       2,686,926       4,635,820           
2029 1,390,000       557,681       1,947,681       930,000          1,754,776       2,684,776       4,632,458           
2030 1,450,000       498,631       1,948,631       955,000          1,726,876       2,681,876       4,630,508           
2031 1,500,000       446,719       1,946,719       985,000          1,698,226       2,683,226       4,629,945           
2032 1,545,000       396,094       1,941,094       1,015,000       1,668,676       2,683,676       4,624,770           
2033 1,615,000       348,794       1,963,794       1,050,000       1,636,196       2,686,196       4,649,990           
2034 1,665,000       301,975       1,966,975       1,080,000       1,602,071       2,682,071       4,649,046           
2035 1,285,000       252,950       1,537,950       1,120,000       1,566,971       2,686,971       4,224,921           
2036 1,320,000       218,400       1,538,400       1,155,000       1,528,891       2,683,891       4,222,291           
2037 1,360,000       182,700       1,542,700       1,195,000       1,488,466       2,683,466       4,226,166           
2038 1,390,000       148,900       1,538,900       1,240,000       1,443,654       2,683,654       4,222,554           
2039 1,425,000       114,300       1,539,300       1,290,000       1,394,054       2,684,054       4,223,354           
2040 1,455,000       78,700         1,533,700       1,340,000       1,342,454       2,682,454       4,216,154           
2041 925,000          42,200         967,200         1,395,000       1,288,854       2,683,854       3,651,054           
2042 400,000          16,000         416,000         1,455,000       1,228,171       2,683,171       3,099,171           
2043 -                -              -                1,520,000       1,162,696       2,682,696       2,682,696           
2044 -                -              -                1,590,000       1,094,296       2,684,296       2,684,296           
2045 -                -              -                1,660,000       1,022,746       2,682,746       2,682,746           
2046 -                -              -                1,740,000       942,651          2,682,651       2,682,651           
2047 -                -              -                1,825,000       858,696          2,683,696       2,683,696           
2048 -                -              -                1,915,000       770,640          2,685,640       2,685,640           
2049 -                -              -                2,005,000       678,241          2,683,241       2,683,241           
2050 -                -              -                2,105,000       581,500          2,686,500       2,686,500           
2051 -                -              -                2,210,000       476,250          2,686,250       2,686,250           
2052 -                -              -                2,320,000       365,750          2,685,750       2,685,750           
2053 -                -              -                2,435,000       249,750          2,684,750       2,684,750           
2054 -                -              -                2,560,000       128,000          2,688,000       2,688,000           

24,945,000$    7,139,513$   32,084,513$   43,000,000$    37,529,181$    80,529,181$    112,613,693$      

The Bonds (1)
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ANTICIPATED ISSUANCE OF SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS . . . The City does not anticipate the issuance of additional System revenue 
debt within the next year.  
 
OTHER OBLIGATIONS . . . See APPENDIX B, “Excerpts from the City’s Annual Financial Report”, Note #8. 
 
PENSION FUND . . . The City provides pension benefits for all of its full-time employees.  Civilian employees and Police Officers 
participate in the Texas Municipal Retirement System (“TMRS”), a State-wide administered pension plan.  Firefighters participate 
in a separate pension plan.  The City makes annual contributions to the plans equal to the amount accrued for pension expense.     
 
FIREMEN’S RELIEF AND RETIREMENT FUND . . . Effective January 1, 2018, firefighters can retire at age 50 with 20 years of service 
and receive either (1) a monthly retirement benefit equal to 3.45% of the firefighter’s highest average salary multiplied by the 
firefighter’s total years of service, if hired prior to January 1, 2018 or (2) a monthly retirement benefit equal to the sum of (a) 3.25% 
of the firefighter’s highest average salary multiplied by the firefighter’s years of service up to a maximum of 20 years and (b) 
2.50% of the firefighter’s highest average salary multiplied by the firefighter’s years of service in excess of 20 years, if hired on or 
after January 1, 2018. A firefighter’s highest average salary is greater of (1) the firefighter’s highest five-year average salary for 
any period prior to retirement or (2) the firefighter’s highest three-year average salary prior to January 1, 2018. 
 
The City employer contribution rate was 18.83% of the firefighters’ gross pay starting January 2014 and was increased to 19.57% 
starting January 2017, and was increased to 19.82% starting January 2020, and was increased to 20.32% starting January 1, 2021. 
The Plan is funded by a contribution by each firefighter.  The firefighters' contribution rate is 13.00% of gross pay and was increased 
to 13.50% as of January 1, 2021.  If a firefighter terminates service with the Fire Department of the City and he or she is not entitled 
to any of the benefits as described above, he or she will receive a lump sum payment of the contributions he or she made without 
accumulated interest.  A firefighter who has become eligible for benefits may also elect to receive a refund of his or her 
contributions, but will forfeit his right to any benefits which he might otherwise have been entitled to receive. 

 
For more detailed information concerning benefits, see APPENDIX B, “Excerpts from the City’s Annual Financial Report, 
September 30, 2023”, Note #9. 
 
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS . . . In addition to providing pension benefits, the City currently allows eligible retired 
employees to continue to participate in the City of Amarillo Employee Insurance Fund along with covered dependents at the time 
of retirement.  The City currently provides these benefits on a “pay-as-you-go” basis together with the healthcare cost of the active 
employees.   
 
In January 2013, the City began prefunding a portion of its Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) liability via an irrevocable 
multi-employer agent OPEB trust (PEB Trust) in addition to pay-as-you-go costs. Assets in the PEB Trust can only be used to fund 
other postemployment benefits, such as medical costs for eligible retirees, and any eligible spouse or children. The increased 
prefunding contributions to 2.8% of payroll into the OPEB Trust (approximately $2.7 million) and pay-as-you-go cost of 
approximately $4.3 million for a total contribution at December 31, 2021 of approximately $7 million. The City Council has the 
authority to increase or decrease prefunding contribution rates. 
 
For more detailed information concerning other post-employment benefits, see APPENDIX B, “Excerpts from the City’s Annual 
Financial Report, September 30, 2023”, Note #10. 
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

TABLE 4 – DRAINAGE UTILITY SYSTEM CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF OPERATIONS  
 

   
   
Source: City's Audited Financial Statements. 
(1) Excludes Depreciation. 
 
 
TABLE 5 – COVERAGE AND FUND BALANCE (1) 

 

     
     
(1) Preliminary, subject to change.   
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2023 2022 2021 2020
Operating  Revenues 7,624,310$     6,901,991$     6,528,963$     6,339,811$     

Operating Expenses (1):
Personnel Services 1,407,778$     819,810$        1,067,784$     1,124,934$     
Other Supplies & Services 281,577          877,971          157,088          741,311          
Contractual & Other Services 1,099,122       1,078,920       892,409          880,851          
Other Charges 1,248,771       1,116,022       1,127,052       1,204,980       
   Total Expenses 4,037,248$     3,892,723$     3,244,333$     3,952,076$     

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 1,198,980$     163,710$        9,334$           135,699$        

Net Available for Debt Service 4,786,042$     3,172,978$     3,293,964$     2,523,434$     

Number of Customers 74,816           74,624           75,079           73,544           

Fiscal Year Ending September 30,

Net System Income Available for Debt Service for Fiscal Year Ended 9/30/2023 4,786,042$ 

Average Annual Principal and Interest Requirements (2024-2054) 3,519,178$ 
Coverage of Maximum Requirements by 2023 Unaudited Net Revenues 1.36X

Maximum Principal and Interest Requirements, 2034 4,649,990$ 
Coverage of Maximum Requirements by 2023 Unaudited Net Revenues 1.03X
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INVESTMENTS 
 
The City invests its investable funds in investments authorized by Texas law in accordance with investment policies approved by 
the City Council of the City.  Both State law and the City’s investment policies are subject to change. 
 
LEGAL INVESTMENTS . . . Available City funds are invested as authorized by Texas law and in accordance with investment policies 
approved by the City Council.  Both State law and the City's investment policies are subject to change.  Under State law, the City 
is authorized to invest in (1) obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities, 
including the Federal Home Loan Banks; (2) direct obligations of the State or its agencies and instrumentalities; (3) collateralized 
mortgage obligations directly issued by a federal agency or instrumentality of the United States, the underlying security for which 
is guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United States; (4) other obligations, the principal and interest of which are 
unconditionally guaranteed or insured by or backed by the full faith and credit of, the State or the United States or their respective 
agencies and instrumentalities, including obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation or by the explicit full faith and credit of the United States; (5) obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other 
political subdivisions of any state rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than A 
or its equivalent; (6) bonds issued, assumed or guaranteed by the State of Israel; (7) interest-bearing banking deposits that are 
guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or its successor or the National Credit Union Share Insurance 
Fund or its successor; (8) interest-bearing banking deposits other than those described by clause (7) if  (A) the funds invested in 
the banking deposits are invested through:  (i) a broker with a main office or branch office in this State that the investing entity 
selects from a list the governing body or designated investment committee of the entity adopts as required by Section 2256.025; or 
(ii) a depository institution with a main office or branch office in this State that the investing entity selects; (B) the broker or 
depository institution selected as described by (A) above arranges for the deposit of the funds in the banking deposits in one or 
more federally insured depository institutions, regardless of where located, for the investing entity’s account; (C) the full amount 
of the principal and accrued interest of the banking deposits is insured by the United States or an instrumentality of the United 
States; and (D) the investing entity appoints as the entity’s custodian of the banking deposits issued for the entity’s account:  (i) the 
depository institution selected as described by (A) above; (ii) an entity described by Section 2257.041(d), Texas Government Code; 
or (iii) a clearing broker dealer registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and operating under Securities and 
Exchange Commission Rule 15c3-3 (17 C.F.R. Section 240.15c3-3); (9) certificates of deposit and share certificates (i) issued by 
a depository institution that has its main office or a branch office in the State of Texas, and are guaranteed or insured by the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation or its successor or the National Credit Union Insurance Fund or its successor, or are secured as to 
principal by obligations described in the clauses (1) through (8) or in any other manner and amount provided by law for City 
deposits, or (ii) where (a) the funds are invested by the City through (I) a broker that has its main office or a branch office in the 
State and is selected from a list adopted by the City as required by law or (II) a depository institution that has its main office or a 
branch office in the State that is selected by the City; (b) the broker or the depository institution selected by the City arranges for 
the deposit of the funds in certificates of deposit in one or more federally insured depository institutions, wherever located, for the 
account of the City; (c) the full amount of the principal and accrued interest of each of the certificates of deposit is insured by the 
United States or an instrumentality of the United States, and (d) the City appoints the depository institution selected under (a) 
above, an entity as described by Section 2257.041(d) of the Texas Government Code, or a clearing broker-dealer registered with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and operating pursuant to Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c3-3 (17 C.F.R. 
Section 240.15c3-3) as custodian for the City with respect to the certificates of deposit; (10) fully collateralized repurchase 
agreements that have a defined termination date, are fully secured by a combination of cash and obligations described in clause (1) 
which are pledged to the City, held in the City’s name, and deposited at the time the investment is made with the City or with a 
third party selected and approved by the City and are placed through a primary government securities dealer, as defined by the 
Federal Reserve, or a financial institution doing business in the State; (11) securities lending programs if (i) the securities loaned 
under the program are 100% collateralized, a loan made under the program allows for termination at any time and a loan made 
under the program is either secured by (a) obligations that are described in clauses (1) through (8) above, (b) irrevocable letters of 
credit issued by a state or national bank that is continuously rated by a nationally recognized investment rating firm at not less than 
A or its equivalent or (c) cash invested in obligations described in clauses (1) through (8) above, clauses (13) through (15) below, 
or an authorized investment pool; (ii) securities held as collateral under a loan are pledged to the City, held in the City's name and 
deposited at the time the investment is made with the City or a third party designated by the City; (iii) a loan made under the 
program is placed through either a primary government securities dealer or a financial institution doing business in the State; and 
(iv) the agreement to lend securities has a term of one year or less, (12) certain bankers' acceptances with the remaining term of 
270 days or less, if the short-term obligations of the accepting bank or its parent are rated at least A-1 or P-1 or the equivalent by 
at least one nationally recognized credit rating agency, (13) commercial paper with a stated maturity of 365 days or less that is 
rated at least A-1 or P-1 or the equivalent by either (a) two nationally recognized credit rating agencies or (b) one nationally 
recognized credit rating agency if the paper is fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a U.S. or state bank, (14) a 
no-load money market mutual fund registered with and regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission that provides the 
City with a prospectus and other information required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Investment Company Act of 
1940 and complies with federal Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 2a-7, and (15) no-load mutual funds registered with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission that have an average weighted maturity of less than two years, and have a duration of 
one year or more and are invested exclusively in obligations described in this paragraph or have a duration of less than one year 
and the investment portfolio is limited to investment grade securities, excluding asset-backed securities.  In addition, bond proceeds 
may be invested in guaranteed investment contracts that have a defined termination date and are secured by obligations, including 
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letters of credit, of the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities in an amount at least equal to the amount of bond proceeds 
invested under such contract, other than the prohibited obligations described in the next succeeding paragraph. 
 
The City may invest in such obligations directly or through government investment pools that invest solely in such obligations 
provided that the pools are rated no lower than AAA or AAAm or an equivalent by at least one nationally recognized rating service. 
The City may also contract with an investment management firm registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 
Section 80b-1 et seq.) or with the State Securities Board to provide for the investment and management of its public funds or other 
funds under its control for a term up to two years, but the City retains ultimate responsibility as fiduciary of its assets. In order to 
renew or extend such a contract, the City must do so by order, ordinance, or resolution. The City is specifically prohibited from 
investing in: (1) obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on the outstanding principal balance of the underlying 
mortgage-backed security collateral and pays no principal; (2) obligations whose payment represents the principal stream of cash 
flow from the underlying mortgage-backed security and bears no interest; (3) collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated 
final maturity of greater than 10 years; and (4) collateralized mortgage obligations the interest rate of which is determined by an 
index that adjusts opposite to the changes in a market index. 
 
INVESTMENT POLICIES . . . Under State law, the City is required to invest its funds under written investment policies that primarily 
emphasize safety of principal and liquidity; that address investment diversification, yield, maturity, and the quality and capability 
of investment management; and that includes a list of authorized investments for City funds, maximum allowable stated maturity 
of any individual investment and the maximum average dollar-weighted maturity allowed for pooled fund groups.  All City funds 
must be invested consistent with a formally adopted “Investment Strategy Statement” that specifically addresses each funds’ 
investment. Each Investment Strategy Statement will describe its objectives concerning:  (1) suitability of investment type, (2) 
preservation and safety of principal, (3) liquidity, (4) marketability of each investment, (5) diversification of the portfolio, and (6) 
yield.   
 
Under State law, City investments must be made “with judgment and care, under prevailing circumstances, that a person of 
prudence, discretion, and intelligence would exercise in the management of the person’s own affairs, not for speculation, but for 
investment, considering the probable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived.”  At least quarterly the investment 
officers of the City shall submit an investment report detailing:  (1) the investment position of the City, (2) that all investment 
officers jointly prepared and signed the report, (3) the beginning market value, any additions and changes to market value and the 
ending value of each pooled fund group, (4) the book value and market value of each separately listed asset at the beginning and 
end of the reporting period, (5) the maturity date of each separately invested asset, (6) the account or fund or pooled fund group for 
which each individual investment was acquired, and (7) the compliance of the investment portfolio as it relates to: (a) adopted 
investment strategy statements and (b) state law.  No person may invest City funds without express written authority from the City 
Council. 
 
ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS . . . Under State law the City is additionally required to:  (1) annually review its adopted policies and 
strategies; (2) require any investment officers’ with personal business relationships or relatives with firms seeking to sell securities 
to the entity to disclose the relationship and file a statement with the Texas Ethics Commission and the Board; (3) require the 
registered principal of firms seeking to sell securities to the City to: (a) receive and review the City’s investment policy, (b) 
acknowledge that reasonable controls and procedures have been implemented to preclude imprudent investment activities, and (c) 
deliver a written statement attesting to these requirements; (4) perform an annual audit of the management controls on investments 
and adherence to the City’s investment policy; (5) provide specific investment training for the Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer 
and investment officers; (6) restrict reverse repurchase agreements to not more than 90 days and restrict the investment of reverse 
repurchase agreement funds to no greater than the term of the reverse repurchase agreement; (7) restrict its investment in mutual 
funds in the aggregate to no more than 15 percent of its monthly average fund balance, excluding bond proceeds and reserves and 
other funds held for debt service, and to invest no portion of bond proceeds, reserves and funds held for debt service, in mutual 
funds; (8) require local government investment pools to conform to the new disclosure, rating, net asset value, yield calculation, 
and advisory board requirements; (9) adopt a rule, order, ordinance or resolution stating that it has reviewed its investment policy 
and investment strategies and records any changes made to either its investment policy or investment strategy in the respective rule, 
order, ordinance or resolution; and (10) at least annually review, revise, and adopt a list of qualified brokers that are authorized to 
engage in investment transactions with the City. 
 
TABLE 6 – CURRENT INVESTMENTS 
 
As of February 29, 2024 the City’s investable funds were invested in the following categories: 
 

  

Market % of Total Based
Description Value on Market Value

CDARS 1,000,000$       18.29%
Certificates of Deposit 500,000            9.14%
Treasury Note/Fed Frm 3,968,793         72.57%

Total Investments 5,468,793$       100.00%
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SELECTED PROVISIONS OF THE ORDINANCE 
 

The following are selected provisions of the Ordinance.  These excerpts should be qualified by reference to the exact 
terms of the Ordinance.  Unless otherwise indicated, any references to sections listed below are to sections contained in the 
Ordinance and section headings contained in the following excerpts are to sections contained in the Ordinance. 

SECTION 10: Definitions.  That for all purposes of this ordinance and in particular for clarity with respect to the 
issuance of the Bonds herein authorized and the pledge and appropriation of revenues therefor, the following definitions are 
provided: 

(a) The term “Additional Obligations” shall mean the additional bonds, certificates of obligation, notes or other 
obligations, which the City reserves the right to issue in the future, as provided in this Ordinance, and as may be outstanding from 
time to time, payable from and secured by a lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues of equal rank and dignity, and on a parity 
in all respects, with the lien thereon and pledge thereof securing the payment of the Bonds Similarly Secured. 

(b) The term “Bonds” or “Series 2024 Bonds” shall mean the “City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility System 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2024”, authorized by this Ordinance, as may be outstanding from time to time. 

(c) The term “Bonds Similarly Secured” means the Previously Issued Bonds, the Bonds and Additional 
Obligations. 

(d) The term “Certificate Fund” means the special fund created and established to pay the principal of and interest 
on the “City of Amarillo, Texas, Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2012A,” dated November 1, 
2012, under the provisions of Ordinance No. 7374 authorizing the issuance of such obligations. 

(e) The term “City” shall mean the City of Amarillo, in Potter and Randall Counties, Texas. 

(f) The term “Drainage Utility System” and “System” shall mean the City’s municipal drainage utility system, 
including all present and future additions, extensions, replacements, and improvements thereto. 

(g) The term “Gross Revenues of the City’s Drainage Utility System” and “Gross Revenues” shall mean all 
revenues, income, and receipts of every nature derived or received by the City from the operation and ownership of the System, 
including the interest income from the investment or deposit of money in any fund mentioned in this Ordinance. 

(h) The term “Maintenance and Operation Expenses” shall mean all reasonable and necessary expenses directly 
related and attributable to the operation and maintenance of the System, including all salaries, labor, materials, repairs, extensions 
and other expenses reasonably and properly charged necessary to render efficient service to the City and its inhabitants.  
Depreciation and expenditures classed under generally accepted accounting principles as capital expenditures shall not be 
considered as “Maintenance and Operation Expenses” for purposes of determining “Net Revenues”. 

(i) The term “Net Revenues of the City’s Drainage Utility System” and “Net Revenues” shall mean, with respect 
to any period, all income, revenues, and receipts received from the operation and ownership of the System less Maintenance and 
Operation expenses of the System during such period. 

(j) The terms “Outstanding” and “outstanding” when used in this Ordinance with respect to Bonds means, as of 
the date of determination, all Bonds theretofore issued and delivered under this Ordinance, except: 

(1) those Bonds theretofore canceled by the Paying Agent/Registrar or delivered to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar for cancellation; 

(2) those Bonds for which payment has been duly provided by the City by the irrevocable deposit with 
the Paying Agent/Registrar of money in the amount necessary to fully pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest 
thereon to maturity or redemption, as the case may be, provided that, if such Bonds are to be redeemed, notice of 
redemption thereof shall have been duly given pursuant to this Ordinance or irrevocably provided to be given to the 
satisfaction of the Paying Agent/Registrar, or waived; 

(3) those Bonds that have been mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen and replacement Bonds have been 
registered and delivered in lieu thereof as provided in Section 27 hereof; and 
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(4) those Bonds for which the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on which has 
been duly provided for by the City in accordance with law. 

(k) The term “Pledged Revenues” shall mean (i) the Net Revenues, plus (ii) any additional revenues, income, 
receipts, or other resources, including, without limitation, any grants, donations, or income received or to be received from the 
United States Government, or any other public or private source, whether pursuant to an agreement or otherwise, which hereafter 
may be pledged to the payment of the Bonds Similarly Secured. 

(l) The term “Previously Issued Bonds” shall mean the following outstanding and unpaid obligations as follows: 

“City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2014,” dated April 1, 2014;  

“City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2020,” dated July 1, 2020;  

“City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2021,” dated February 1, 2021; and  

“City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2023,” dated January 1, 2023. 

(m) The term “year” shall mean the regular fiscal year used by the City in connection with the operation of the 
System, which may be any twelve consecutive months period established by the City. 

SECTION 11: Pledge.  That the City hereby covenants and agrees that the Pledged Revenues, with the exception of 
those in excess of the amounts required for the payment and security of the Bonds Similarly Secured, are hereby irrevocably pledged 
to the payment and security of the Bonds Similarly Secured, and the Pledged Revenues are further pledged irrevocably to the 
establishment and maintenance of the Interest and Redemption Fund as hereinafter provided.  The Bonds Similarly Secured are 
and will be secured by and payable only from the Pledged Revenues, and are not secured by or payable from a mortgage or deed 
of trust on any real, personal, or mixed properties constituting the System. 

Such lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues shall be valid and binding and fully perfected from and after the date 
of adoption of this Ordinance without physical delivery or transfer of control of the Pledged Revenues, the filing of this Ordinance 
or any other act; all as provided in Texas Government Code, Chapter 1208, as amended.  Texas Government Code, Chapter 1208, 
as amended, applies to the issuance of the Bonds and the pledge of the Pledged Revenues granted by the City under this Section, 
and such pledge is therefore valid, effective and perfected.  If Texas law is amended at any time while the Bonds are Outstanding 
such that the pledge of the Pledged Revenues granted by the City under this Section is to be subject to the filing requirements of 
Texas Business and Commerce Code, Chapter 9, as amended, then in order to preserve to the registered owners of the Bonds the 
perfection of the security interest in said pledge, the City agrees to take such measures as it determines are reasonable and necessary 
under Texas law to comply with the applicable provisions of Texas Business and Commerce Code, Chapter 9, as amended, and 
enable a filing to perfect the security interest in said pledge to occur. 

SECTION 12: Revenue Fund.  There has been created and established and shall be maintained on the books of the 
City, and accounted for separate and apart from all other funds of the City, a special fund entitled the “City of Amarillo, Texas, 
Drainage Utility System Fund” (hereinafter called the “Revenue Fund”).  All Gross Revenues shall be credited to the Revenue 
Fund immediately upon receipt and revenues deposited to said Revenue Fund shall be pledged and appropriated to the following 
uses and in the priority shown below: 

First: To the payment of all necessary and reasonable Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the System as 
said expenses are defined by law. 

Second: To the payment, equally and ratably, of the amounts required to be deposited in the Interest and 
Redemption Fund or other fund or account, respectively, created and established for the payment of 
principal of and interest on the Bonds Similarly Secured as the same becomes due and payable. 

Third: To the payment of any other indebtedness payable from and secured, in whole or in part, by a lien on and 
claim against the revenues of the System. 

Fourth: Any revenues remaining in the Revenue Fund after satisfying the foregoing payments, or making 
adequate and sufficient provisions for the payment thereof, may be appropriated and used for any other 
purpose now or hereafter permitted by law. 
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SECTION 13: Interest and Redemption Fund.  That for the sole purpose of paying the principal of and interest on 
all Outstanding Bonds Similarly Secured, as the same come due, there is hereby created and established and shall be maintained at 
any official depository bank of the City a separate fund entitled the “City of Amarillo Series Drainage Utility System Revenue 
Bonds Interest and Redemption Fund” (hereinafter called the “Interest and Redemption Fund”). 

SECTION 14: Deposits of Pledged Revenues; Investments. 

(a) The Pledged Revenues shall be deposited into the Interest and Redemption Fund when and as required by this 
Ordinance. 

(b) To the extent permitted by law, money in any Fund mentioned in this Ordinance may, at the option of the City, 
be invested in investments authorized by the Public Funds Investment Act, Texas Government Code, Chapter 2256, as amended, 
and the City’s investment policy; provided that all such deposits and investments shall be made in such manner that the money 
required to be expended from any Fund will be available at the proper time or times.  All interest and income derived from such 
deposits and investments immediately shall be credited to, and any losses debited to, the Fund from which the deposit or investment 
was made, and surpluses in any Fund shall or may be disposed of as hereinafter provided.  Such investments shall be sold promptly 
when necessary to prevent any default in connection with the Bonds Similarly Secured. 

SECTION 15: Funds Secured.  Money in all funds mentioned in this Ordinance, to the extent not invested, shall be 
secured in the manner prescribed by law for securing funds of the City. 

SECTION 16: Debt Service Requirements. 

(a) Promptly after the delivery of the Bonds the City shall cause to be deposited to the credit of the Interest and 
Redemption Fund any accrued interest received from the sale and delivery of the Bonds, and any such deposit shall be used to pay 
part of the interest next coming due on the Bonds. 

(b) In addition to amounts required to be transferred by the ordinances authorizing the Bonds Similarly Secured, 
the City shall transfer from the Pledged Revenues and deposit to the credit of the Interest and Redemption Fund the amounts, at 
the times, as follows: 

(1) such amounts, deposited in approximately equal monthly installments on or before the 10th day of 
each month hereafter, commencing with the month during which the Bonds are delivered, or the month thereafter if 
delivery is made after the 10th thereof, as will be sufficient, together with other amounts, if any, then on hand in the 
Interest and Redemption Fund and available for such purpose, to pay the interest scheduled to accrue and come due on 
the Bonds and any Additional Obligations on the next succeeding interest payment date; and 

(2) such amounts, deposited in approximately equal monthly installments on or before the 10th day of 
each month hereafter, commencing with the month during which the Bonds are delivered, or the month thereafter if 
delivery is made after the 10th day thereof, as will be sufficient, together with other amounts, if any, then on hand in the 
Interest and Redemption Fund and available for such purpose, to pay the principal scheduled to mature and come due on 
the Bonds and any Additional Obligations on the next succeeding principal payment date. 

SECTION 17: Deficiencies; Excess Pledged Revenues. 

(a) If on any occasion there shall not be sufficient Pledged Revenues to make the required deposits into the Interest 
and Redemption Fund, then such deficiency shall be made up as soon as possible from the next available Pledged Revenues, or 
from any other sources available for such purpose. 

(b) Subject to making the required deposits to the credit of the Interest and Redemption Fund when and as required 
by this Ordinance, or any ordinance authorizing the issuance of Additional Obligations, the excess Pledged Revenues may be used 
by the City for any lawful purpose. 

SECTION 18: Payment of Bonds and Additional Obligations.  On or before February 15, 2024, and semiannually 
on or before each August 15 and February 15 thereafter while any of the Bonds Similarly Secured are outstanding and unpaid, the 
City shall make available to the paying agents therefor, out of the Interest and Redemption Fund, money sufficient to pay such 
interest on and such principal of the Bonds Similarly Secured as will occur or mature on such dates, respectively.  The Paying 
Agent/Registrar shall destroy all paid Bonds Similarly Secured and furnish the City with an appropriate certificate of cancellation 
or destruction. 
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SECTION 19: Final Deposits, Governmental Obligations. 

(a) Any Bonds Similarly Secured shall be deemed to be paid, retired, and no longer Outstanding within the 
meaning of this Ordinance when payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, on such Bond Similarly Secured, plus 
interest thereon to the due date thereof (whether such due date be by reason of maturity, upon redemption, or otherwise) either (i) 
shall have been made or caused to be made in accordance with the terms thereof (including the giving of any required notice of 
redemption), or (ii) shall have been provided by irrevocably depositing with, or making available to, the Paying Agent/Registrar 
therefor, in trust and irrevocably set aside exclusively for such payment, (1) money sufficient to make such payment or 
(2) Governmental Obligations, as hereinafter defined in this Section, certified by an independent accounting or consulting firm to 
mature as to principal and interest in such amounts and at such times as will insure the availability, without reinvestment, or 
sufficient money to make such payment, and all necessary and proper fees, compensation, and expenses of such paying agent 
pertaining to the Bonds Similarly Secured with respect to which such deposit is made shall have been paid or the payment thereof 
provided for to the satisfaction of such Paying Agent/Registrar.  At such time as a Bond Similarly Secured shall be deemed to be 
paid hereunder, as aforesaid, it shall no longer be secured by or entitled to the benefit of this Ordinance or a lien on and pledge of 
the Pledged Revenues, and shall be entitled to payment solely from such money or Government Obligations. 

(b) Any moneys so deposited with a paying agent may at the direction of the City also be invested in Government 
Obligations, maturing in the amounts and times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from all Government Obligations in the 
hands of the paying agent pursuant to this Section which is not required for the payment of the Bonds Similarly Secured, the 
redemption premium, if any, and interest thereon, with respect to which such money has been so deposited, shall be turned over to 
the City or deposited as directed by the City. 

(c) The City hereby covenants that no deposit will be made or accepted under clause (a)(ii) of this Section and no 
use made of any such deposit which would cause the Bonds to be treated as arbitrage bonds within the meaning of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

(d) For the purpose of this Section, the term “Government Obligations” shall mean (i) direct noncallable 
obligations of the United States of America, including obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally 
guaranteed by the United States of America, (ii) noncallable obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United States, 
including obligations unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the agency or instrumentality and on the date of their acquisition or 
purchase by the City are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its 
equivalent, (iii) noncallable obligations of a state or an agency or a county, municipality, or other political subdivision of a state 
that have been refunded and on the date of their acquisition or purchase by the City, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally 
recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its equivalent and (iv) any other then authorized securities or obligations 
that may be used to defease obligations such as the Bonds under the then applicable laws of the State of Texas. 

(e) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Ordinance, all money or Government Obligations set aside and 
held in trust pursuant to the provisions of this Section for the payment of the Bonds Similarly Secured, the redemption premium, 
if any, and interest thereon, shall be applied to and used for the payment of such Bonds Similarly Secured, the redemption premium, 
if any, and interest thereon. 

SECTION 20: Additional Obligations. 

(a) The City shall have the right and power at any time and from time to time and in one or more series or issues, 
to authorize, issue, and deliver Additional Obligations, in accordance with law, in any amounts, for any lawful purpose, including 
the refunding of any Bonds Similarly Secured.  Such Additional Obligations, if and when authorized, issued, and delivered in 
accordance with this Ordinance, shall be secured by and made payable equally and ratably on a parity with the Bonds, and all other 
outstanding Previously Issued Bonds from an irrevocable lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues. 

(b) The Interest and Redemption Fund mentioned in this Ordinance shall secure and be used to pay all Bonds 
Similarly Secured.  However, each ordinance under which Additional Obligations are issued shall provide and require that, in 
addition to the amounts required by the provisions of this Ordinance and the provisions of any other ordinance or ordinances 
authorizing Additional Obligations to be deposited to the credit of the Interest and Redemption Fund, the City shall deposit to the 
credit of the Interest and Redemption Fund at least such amounts as are required for the payment of all principal of and interest on 
said Additional Obligations then being issued, as the same come due. 

(c) That all calculations of average annual principal and interest requirements made pursuant to this Section shall 
be made as of and from the date of the Additional Obligations then proposed to be issued. 
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(d) That the principal of all Additional Obligations must be scheduled to be paid or mature on February 15 or 
August 15, or both, of the years in which such principal is scheduled to be paid or mature; and all interest thereon must be payable 
on February 15 and August 15. 

SECTION 21: Further Requirements for Additional Obligations.  Additional Obligations shall be issued only in 
accordance with this Ordinance, but notwithstanding any provisions of this Ordinance to the contrary, no installment, series, or 
issue of Additional Obligations shall be issued or delivered unless: 

(a) An independent certified public accountant, or independent firm of certified public accountants, signs a written 
certificate to the effect that, during either the next preceding year, or any twelve consecutive calendar month period ending not 
more than ninety days prior to the passage of the ordinance authorizing the issuance of the then proposed Additional Obligations, 
the Pledged Revenues were, in his or its opinion, at least equal to 1.25 times the principal and interest requirements of all Bonds 
Similarly Secured to be Outstanding after the issuance of the then proposed Additional Obligations for the year during which such 
requirements are scheduled to be the greatest. 
 

SECTION 22: General Covenants.  The City further covenants and agrees that in accordance with and to the extent 
required or permitted by law: 

(a) Performance.  It will faithfully perform at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations, and 
provisions contained in this Ordinance, and each ordinance authorizing the issuance of Additional Obligations, and in each and 
every Bond Similarly Secured; that it will promptly pay or cause to be paid the principal of and interest on every Bond Similarly 
Secured, on the dates and in the places and manner prescribed in such ordinances and Bonds Similarly Secured; and that it will, at 
the times and in the manner prescribed, deposit or cause to be deposited the amounts required to be deposited into the Interest and 
Redemption Fund; and any holder of the Bonds Similarly Secured may require the City, its officials, and employees, to carry out, 
respect, or enforce the covenants and obligations of this Ordinance, or any ordinance authorizing the issuance of Additional 
Obligations, by all legal and equitable means, including specifically, but without limitation, the use and filing of mandamus 
proceedings, in any court of competent jurisdiction, against the City, its officials, and employees. 

(b) City’s Legal Authority.  It is a duly created and existing home rule city of the State of Texas, and is duly 
authorized under the laws of the State of Texas to create and issue the Bonds; that all action on its part for the creation and issuance 
of the Bonds has been duly and effectively taken, and that the Bonds registered in the names of the registered owners thereof are 
and will be valid and enforceable special obligations of the City in accordance with their terms. 

(c) Title.  It has or will obtain lawful title to the lands, buildings, structures, and facilities constituting the System, 
that it warrants that it will defend the title to all the aforesaid lands, building, structures, and facilities, and every part thereof, for 
the benefit of the holders and owners of the Bonds Similarly Secured, against the claims and demands of all persons whomsoever, 
that it is lawfully qualified to pledge the Pledged Revenues to the payment of the Bonds Similarly Secured in the manner prescribed 
herein, and has lawfully exercised such rights. 

(d) Liens.  It will from time to time and before the same become delinquent pay and discharge all taxes, 
assessments, and governmental charges, if any, which shall be lawfully imposed upon it, or the System, that it will pay all lawful 
claims for rents, royalties, labor, materials, and supplies which if unpaid might by law become a lien or charge thereon, the lien of 
which would be prior to or interfere with the liens hereof, so that the priority of the liens granted hereunder shall be fully preserved 
in the manner provided herein, and that it will not create or suffer to be created any mechanic’s, laborer’s, materialman’s, or other 
lien or charge which might or could be prior to the liens hereof, or do or suffer any matter or thing whereby the liens hereof might 
or could be impaired; provided, however, that no such tax, assessment, or charge, and that no such claims which might be used as 
the basis of a mechanic’s, laborer’s, materialman’s, or other lien or charge, shall be required to be paid so long as the validity of 
the same shall be contested in good faith by the City. 

(e) Operation of System; No Free Service.  While the Bonds Similarly Secured are Outstanding and unpaid the 
City shall continuously and efficiently operate the System, and shall maintain the System in good condition, repair, and working 
order, at all reasonable cost.  No free service of the System shall be allowed, and should the City or any of its agencies or 
instrumentalities make use of the services and facilities of the System, payment of the reasonable value shall be made by the City 
out of funds from sources other than the revenues of the System, unless made from surplus or excess Pledged Revenues as permitted 
in Section 17(b) hereof. 

(f) Further Encumbrance.  While the Bonds Similarly Secured are Outstanding and unpaid, the City shall not 
additionally encumber the Pledged Revenues in any manner, except as permitted in this Ordinance in connection with Additional 
Obligations, unless said encumbrance is made junior and subordinate in all respects to the liens, pledges, covenants, and agreements 
of this Ordinance or such pledge is equal to or less than $10,000; but the right of the City to issue revenue bonds payable from a 
subordinate lien on the Pledged Revenues is specifically recognized and retained. 
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(g) Sale or Disposal of Property.  While the Bonds Similarly Secured are Outstanding and unpaid, the City shall 
not sell, convey, mortgage, encumber, lease, or in any manner transfer title to, or otherwise dispose of the System, or any significant 
or substantial part thereof; provided that whenever the City deems it necessary to dispose of any property, machinery, fixtures, or 
equipment, it may sell or otherwise dispose of such property, machinery, fixtures, or equipment when it has made arrangements to 
replace the same or provide substitutes therefor, unless it is determined by resolution of the City Council that no such replacement 
or substitute is necessary. 

(h) Insurance. 

(1) The City shall cause to be insured such parts of the System as would usually be insured by 
corporations operating like properties, with a responsible insurance company or companies or through self insurance, 
against risks, accidents, or casualties against which and to the extent insurance is usually carried by corporations operating 
like properties, including, to the extent reasonably obtainable, fire and extended coverage insurance, insurance against 
damage by floods, and use and occupancy insurance.  Public liability and property damage insurance shall also be carried 
unless the City Attorney of the City gives a written opinion to the effect that the City is not liable for claims which would 
be protected by such insurance.  At any time while any contractor engaged in construction work shall be fully responsible 
therefor, the City shall not be required to carry insurance on the work being constructed if the contractor is required to 
carry appropriate insurance.  All such policies shall be open to the inspection of the owners of the Bonds and their 
representatives at all reasonable times.  Upon the happening of any loss or damage covered by insurance from one or 
more of said causes, the City shall make due proof of loss and shall do all things necessary or desirable to cause the 
insuring companies to make payment in full directly to the City.  The proceeds of insurance covering such property, 
together with any other funds necessary and available for such purpose, shall be used forthwith by the City for repairing 
the property damaged or replacing the property destroyed; provided, however, that if said insurance proceeds and other 
funds are insufficient for such purpose, then said insurance proceeds pertaining to the System shall be used promptly as 
follows: 

(i) for the redemption prior to maturity of the Bonds Similarly Secured, ratably in the 
proportion that the outstanding principal of each series or issue of Bonds Similarly Secured bears to the total 
outstanding principal of all Bonds Similarly Secured, provided that if on any such occasion the principal of any 
such series or issue is not subject to redemption, it shall not be regarded as Outstanding in making the foregoing 
computation; or 

(ii) if none of the Bonds Similarly Secured is subject to redemption, then for the purchase on 
the open market and retirement of said Bonds Similarly Secured in the same proportion as prescribed in the 
foregoing clause (i), to the extent practicable; provided that the purchase price for any Bond Similarly Secured 
shall not exceed the redemption price of such Bond Similarly Secured on the first date upon which it becomes 
subject to redemption; or 

(iii) to the extent that the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) cannot be complied with at the time, the 
insurance proceeds, or the remainder thereof, shall be deposited in a special and separate trust fund, at an 
official depository of the City, to be designated the Insurance Account.  The Insurance Account shall be held 
until such time as the foregoing clauses (i) and/or (ii) can be complied with, or until other funds become 
available which, together with the Insurance Account, will be sufficient to make the repairs or replacements 
originally required, whichever of said events occurs first. 

(2) The annual audit hereinafter required shall contain a section commenting on whether or not the City 
has complied with the requirements of this Section with respect to the maintenance of insurance, and listing all policies 
carried, and whether or not all insurance premiums upon the insurance policies to which reference is hereinbefore made 
have been paid. 

(i) Rate Covenant.  The City Council of the City will fix, establish, maintain, and collect such rates, charges, and 
fees for the use and availability of the System at all times as are necessary to produce revenues of the System sufficient, together 
with any other Pledged Revenues, (1) to pay all current operation and maintenance expenses of the System, and (2) to produce 
Pledged Revenues for each year at least equal to 1.25 times the principal and interest requirements of all then Outstanding Bonds 
Similarly Secured for the year during which such requirements are scheduled to be the greatest. 

(j) Records.  It will keep proper books of record and account in which full, true, and correct entries will be made 
of all dealings, activities, and transactions relating to the System,  the Pledged Revenues, and the Funds mentioned in this 
Ordinance, and all books, documents, and vouchers relating thereto shall at all reasonable times be made available for inspection 
upon request of any owner of a Bond. 
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(k) Audits.  After the close of each year while any of the Bonds Similarly Secured are Outstanding, an audit will 
be made of the books and accounts relating to the System and the Pledged Revenues by an independent certified public accountant, 
or an independent firm of certified public accountants.  As soon as practicable after the close of each such year, and when said 
audit has been completed and made available to the City, a copy of such audit for the preceding year shall be mailed to the Municipal 
Advisory Council of Texas and to any holder of 5% or more in aggregate principal amount of then Outstanding Bonds Similarly 
Secured who shall so request in writing.  Such annual audit reports shall be open to the inspection of the owners of the Bonds 
Similarly Secured and their agents and representatives at all reasonable times. 

(l) Governmental Agencies.  It will comply with all of the terms and conditions of any and all franchises, permits, 
and authorizations applicable to or necessary with respect to the System, and which have been obtained from any governmental 
agency; and the City has or will obtain and keep in full force and effect all franchises, permits, authorization, and other requirements 
applicable to or necessary with respect to the acquisition, construction, equipment, operation, and maintenance of the System. 

(m) Competition.  It will not grant any franchise or permit for the acquisition, construction, or operation of any 
competing facilities which might be used as a substitute for the System’s facilities, and, to the extent that it legally may, the City 
will prohibit any such competing facilities. 

SECTION 23: Ordinance to Constitute Contract - Amendment of Ordinance.  This Ordinance shall constitute a 
contract with the Holder of any Bond from time to time, be binding on the City, and shall not be amended or repealed by the City 
so long as any Bond remains Outstanding except as permitted in this Section and in Section 34 hereof.  The City, may, without the 
consent of or notice to any Holders of Bonds, from time to time and at any time, amend this Ordinance in any manner not detrimental 
to the interests of the Holders of any Bond, including the curing of any ambiguity, inconsistency or formal defect or omission 
herein.  In addition, the City may, with the written consent of the Holders of Bonds owning a majority in aggregate principal amount 
of the Bonds then Outstanding affected thereby, amend, add to or rescind any of the provisions of this Ordinance; provided that, 
without the consent of all Holders of Outstanding Bonds, no such amendment, addition or rescission shall (a) extend the time or 
times of payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, reduce the principal amount thereof, the redemption 
price therefor or the rate of interest thereon or in any other way modify the terms of payment of the principal of, premium, if any, 
or interest on the Bonds, (b) give any preference to any Bond over any other Bond or (c) reduce the aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds required for consent to any such amendment, addition or rescission. 

SECTION 24: Remedies in Event of Default.  In addition to all the rights and remedies provided by the laws of the 
State of Texas, the City covenants and agrees particularly that in the event the City (a) defaults in payments to be made to the 
Interest and Redemption Fund as required by this Ordinance or (b) defaults in the observance or performance of any other of the 
covenants, conditions or obligations set forth in this Ordinance, the registered owner of any of the Bonds shall be entitled to a writ 
of mandamus issued by a court of proper jurisdiction compelling and requiring the City Council and other officers of the City to 
observe and perform any covenant, condition or obligation prescribed in this Ordinance. 

No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall impair any such right or power, or 
shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or acquiescence therein, and every such right or power may be exercised from 
time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  The specific remedies herein provided shall be cumulative of all other 
existing remedies and the specifications of such remedies shall not be deemed to be exclusive. 
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TAX MATTERS 
 
TAX EXEMPTION . . . The delivery of the Bonds is subject to the opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that interest on the Bonds 
for federal income tax purposes (1) will be excludable from gross income, as defined in section 61 of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended to the date of such opinion (the “Code”), pursuant to section 103 of the Code and existing regulations, 
published rulings, and court decisions, and (2) will not be included in computing the alternative minimum taxable income of the 
owners thereof who are individuals.  A form of Bond Counsel's opinion is reproduced as APPENDIX C.  The statutes, regulations, 
rulings, and court decisions on which such opinion is based are subject to change. 
 
In rendering the foregoing opinion, Bond Counsel will rely upon representations and certifications of the City made in a certificate 
dated the date of delivery of the Bonds pertaining to the use, expenditure, and investment of the proceeds of the Bonds and will 
assume continuing compliance by the City with the provisions of the Ordinance subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds.  The 
Ordinance contains covenants by the City with respect to, among other matters, the use of the proceeds of the Bonds and the 
facilities financed therewith by persons other than state or local governmental units, the manner in which the proceeds of the Bonds 
are to be invested, the periodic calculation and payment to the United States Treasury of arbitrage “profits” from the investment of 
the proceeds, and the reporting of certain information to the United States Treasury.  Failure to comply with any of these covenants 
may cause interest on the Bonds to be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof from the date of the issuance of the 
Bonds. 
 
Bond Counsel’s opinion is not a guarantee of a result, but represents its legal judgment based upon its review of existing statutes, 
regulations, published rulings and court decisions and the representations and covenants of the City described above.  No ruling 
has been sought from the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) with respect to the matters addressed in the opinion of Bond 
Counsel, and Bond Counsel’s opinion is not binding on the IRS.  The IRS has an ongoing program of auditing the tax-exempt 
status of the interest on tax-exempt obligations.  If an audit of the Bonds is commenced, under current procedures the IRS is likely 
to treat the City as the “taxpayer,” and the owners of the Bonds would have no right to participate in the audit process.  In responding 
to or defending an audit of the tax-exempt status of the interest on the Bonds, the City may have different or conflicting interests 
from the owners of the Bonds.  Public awareness of any future audit of the Bonds could adversely affect the value and liquidity of 
the Bonds during the pendency of the audit, regardless of its ultimate outcome. 
 
Except as described above, Bond Counsel expresses no other opinion with respect to any other federal, state or local tax 
consequences under present law, or proposed legislation, resulting from the receipt or accrual of interest on, or the acquisition or 
disposition of, the Bonds.  Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should be aware that the ownership of tax-exempt obligations such 
as the Bonds may result in collateral federal tax consequences to, among others, financial institutions, life insurance companies, 
property and casualty insurance companies, certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, S corporations with 
subchapter C earnings and profits, corporations subject to the alternative minimum tax on adjusted financial statement income, 
individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals otherwise qualifying for the earned income tax 
credit, owners of an interest in a financial asset securitization investment trust (“FASIT”), and taxpayers who may be deemed to 
have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-
exempt obligations.  Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors as to the applicability of these consequences to 
their particular circumstances. 
 
For taxable years beginning after 2022, the Code imposes a minimum tax of 15 percent of the adjusted financial statement income 
of certain large corporations, generally consisting of corporations (other than S corporations, regulated investment companies and 
real estate investment trusts) with more than $1 billion in average annual adjusted financial statement income, determined over a 
three-year period.  For this purpose, adjusted financial statement income generally consists of the net income or loss of the taxpayer 
set forth on the taxpayer’s applicable financial statement for the taxable year, subject to various adjustments, but is not reduced for 
interest earned on tax-exempt obligations, such as the Bonds.  Prospective purchasers that could be subject to this minimum tax 
should consult with their own tax advisors regarding the potential impact of owning the Bonds. 
 
Existing law may change to reduce or eliminate the benefit to bondholders of the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross 
income for federal income tax purposes.  Any proposed legislation or administrative action, whether or not taken, could also affect 
the value and marketability of the Bonds.  Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors with 
respect to any proposed or future changes in tax law. 
 
TAX ACCOUNTING TREATMENT OF DISCOUNT AND PREMIUM ON CERTAIN BONDS . . . The initial public offering price of certain 
Bonds (the “Discount Bonds”) may be less than the amount payable on such Bonds at maturity.  An amount equal to the difference 
between the initial public offering price of a Discount Bond (assuming that a substantial amount of the Discount Bonds of that 
maturity are sold to the public at such price) and the amount payable at maturity constitutes original issue discount to the initial 
purchaser of such Discount Bond.  A portion of such original issue discount allocable to the holding period of such Discount Bond 
by the initial purchaser will, upon the disposition of such Discount Bond (including by reason of its payment at maturity), be treated 
as interest excludable from gross income, rather than as taxable gain, for federal income tax purposes, on the same terms and 
conditions as those for other interest on the Bonds described above under “Tax Exemption.” Such interest is considered to be 
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accrued actuarially in accordance with the constant interest method over the life of a Discount Bond, taking into account the 
semiannual compounding of accrued interest, at the yield to maturity on such Discount Bond and generally will be allocated to an 
initial purchaser in a different amount from the amount of the payment denominated as interest actually received by the initial 
purchaser during the tax year. 
 
However, such interest may be required to be taken into account in determining the amount of the branch profits tax applicable to 
certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment.  In 
addition, the accrual of such interest may result in certain other collateral federal income tax consequences to, among others, 
financial institutions, life insurance companies, property and casualty insurance companies, corporations subject to the alternative 
minimum tax on adjusted financial statement income, S corporations with “subchapter C” earnings and profits, individual recipients 
of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals otherwise qualifying for earned income tax credit, owners of an 
interest in a FASIT, and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who 
have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-exempt obligations.  Moreover, in the event of the redemption, sale or other 
taxable disposition of a Discount Bond by the initial owner prior to maturity, the amount realized by such owner in excess of the 
basis of such Discount Bond in the hands of such owner (adjusted upward by the portion of the original issue discount allocable to 
the period for which such Discount Bond was held) is includable in gross income. 
 
Owners of Discount Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination of accrued original issue 
discount on Discount Bonds for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning 
and disposing of Discount Bonds.  It is possible that, under applicable provisions governing determination of state and local income 
taxes, accrued interest on Discount Bonds may be deemed to be received in the year of accrual even though there will not be a 
corresponding cash payment. 
 
The purchase price of certain Bonds (the “Premium Bonds”) paid by an owner may be greater than the amount payable on such 
Bonds at maturity. An amount equal to the excess of a purchaser’s tax basis in a Premium Bond over the amount payable at maturity 
constitutes premium to such purchaser. The basis for federal income tax purposes of a Premium Bond in the hands of such purchaser 
must be reduced each year by the amortizable bond premium, although no federal income tax deduction is allowed as a result of 
such reduction in basis for amortizable bond premium. Such reduction in basis will increase the amount of any gain (or decrease 
the amount of any loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes upon a sale or other taxable disposition of a Premium 
Bond. The amount of premium that is amortizable each year by a purchaser is determined by using such purchaser’s yield to 
maturity (or, in some cases with respect to a callable Bond, the yield based on a call date that results in the lowest yield on the 
Bond).  
 
Purchasers of the Premium Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination of amortizable bond 
premium on Premium Bonds for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning 
and disposing of Premium Bonds. 
 

 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 

 
In the Ordinance, the City has made the following agreement for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds.  
The City is required to observe the agreement for so long as it remains obligated to advance funds to pay the Bonds.  Under the 
agreement, the City will be obligated to provide certain updated financial information and operating data annually, and timely 
notice of certain specified events, to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”) through its Electronic Municipal 
Market Access system (“EMMA”). 
 
ANNUAL REPORTS . . . The City shall provide annually to the MSRB (1) within six months after the end of each fiscal year ending 
in or after 2024, financial information and operating data with respect to the City of the general type of information contained in 
Tables 1 through 6 hereof, and (2) within twelve months after the end of each fiscal year ending in or after 2024, audited financial 
statements of the City.  Any financial statements so provided shall be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles 
described in described in APPENDIX B hereof, or such other accounting principles as the City may be required to employ from 
time to time pursuant to state law or regulation.  If audited financial statements are not available within 12 months after the end of 
any fiscal year, the City will provide unaudited financial statements by the required time, and audited financial statements when 
and if such audited financial statements become available. 
 
The financial information and operating data to be provided may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included 
by specific reference to any document available to the public on the MSRB’s Internet Web site or filed with the SEC, as permitted 
by SEC Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”).  The updated information will include audited financial statements, if the City commissions an 
audit and it is completed by the required time.  If audited financial statements are not available by the required time, the City will 
provide unaudited financial statements of the type described in the preceding paragraph by the required time and audited financial 
statements when and if such audited financial statements become available.  Any such financial statements will be prepared in 
accordance with the accounting principles described in APPENDIX B or such other accounting principles as the City may be 
required to employ from time to time pursuant to State law or regulation. 
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The City’s current fiscal year end is September 30.  Accordingly, it must provide updated financial and operating data by March 
31 of each year and financial statements by September 30 in each year, unless the City changes its fiscal year.  If the City changes 
its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change.   
 
NOTICE OF CERTAIN EVENTS . . . The City will also provide timely notices of certain events to the MSRB. The City will provide 
notice of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds to the MSRB in a timely manner (but not in excess of ten business 
days after the occurrence of the event): (1) principal and interest payment delinquencies; (2) non-payment related defaults, if 
material; (3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; (4) unscheduled draws on credit 
enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; (5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; (6) adverse 
tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed 
Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material 
events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; (7) modifications to rights of holders of the Bonds, if material; (8) obligation calls, if 
material, and tender offers; (9) defeasances; (10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if 
material; (11) rating changes; (12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar event of the City, which shall occur as described 
below; (13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the sale of all or substantially all of 
its assets, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into of a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the 
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; (14) appointment of 
a successor or additional Paying Agent/Registrar or the change of name of a Paying Agent/Registrar, if material; (15) incurrence 
of a debt obligation or derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an 
existing or planned debt obligation of the City, or a guarantee of any such debt obligation or derivative instrument, if material, or 
agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of any such financial obligation of the 
City, any of which affect security holders, if material; and (16) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of 
terms, or other similar events under the terms of any such financial obligation of the City, any of which reflect financial difficulties.  
In addition, the City will provide timely notice of any failure by the City to provide annual financial information in accordance 
with their agreement described above under “Annual Reports”. 
 
For these purposes, (a) any event described in clause (12) in the immediately preceding paragraph is considered to occur when any 
of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the United 
States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has 
assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving 
the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or 
governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or 
governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City and (b) the City 
intends the words used in clauses (15) and (16) in the immediately preceding paragraph to have the meanings ascribed to them in 
SEC Release No. 34-83885, dated August 20, 2018. 
 
AVAILABILITY OF INFORMATION FROM MSRB . . . The City has agreed to provide the foregoing information only as described 
above. Investors will be able to access continuing disclosure information filed with the MSRB free of charge at 
www.emma.msrb.org. 
 
LIMITATIONS AND AMENDMENTS . . . The City has agreed to update information and to provide notices of specified events only as 
described above. The City has not agreed to provide other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation 
of its financial results of operations, condition, or prospects or agreed to update any information that is provided, except as described 
above. The City makes no representation or warranty concerning such information or concerning its usefulness to a decision to 
invest in or sell Bonds at any future date. The City disclaims any contractual or tort liability for damages resulting in whole or in 
part from any breach of its continuing disclosure agreement or from any statement made pursuant to its agreement, although holders 
of Bonds may seek a writ of mandamus to compel the City to comply with its agreement. 
 
The City may amend its continuing disclosure agreement from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a 
change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, if (i) the 
agreement, as amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Bonds in the offering described herein in 
compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as 
well as such changed circumstances, and (ii) either (a) the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 
Bonds consent to the amendment or (b) any person unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) 
determines that the amendment will not materially impair the interests of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds.  The City 
may also amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure agreement if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable 
provisions of the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, but only if and 
to the extent that the provisions of this sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or selling Bonds in the 
primary offering of the Bonds.  If the City so amends the agreement, it has agreed to include with the next financial information 
and operating data provided in accordance with its agreement described above under “Annual Reports” an explanation, in narrative 
form, of the reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of financial information and operating data so 
provided. 

http://www.emma.msrb.org/
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COMPLIANCE WITH PRIOR UNDERTAKINGS . . . During the last five years, the City has complied in all material respects with all 
continuing disclosure agreements made by it in accordance with the Rule, except for below.   
 
As of August 11, 2020 the City issued Waterworks and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 in the amount of $28,500,000 
to the Texas Water Development Board however, no event notice was filed in connection with that financial obligation.  The notice 
along with the late notice has since been filed.   
 
The Hotel Taxpayers (unaudited) table set forth in the City’s official statements related to its hotel occupancy tax revenue bonds 
was not included in the ACFR for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021.  The City filed that table and a notice of late filing on 
EMMA on August 24, 2022. 
 
In previous continuing disclosure undertakings, the City has agreed to supply financial information and operating data with respect 
to the City of the general type of information contained in specified tables of the applicable Official Statement.  The annual financial 
information filings made by the City as a result of these undertakings for each of the last five years have consisted of the related 
City’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR), which the City believes contains the information of the general type of 
information contained in the specified tables.  Please note that certain information in the specified tables is not presented explicitly 
in the ACFRs but can be calculated from information in the ACFRs.   
 
 

OTHER INFORMATION 
 
RATINGS . . . The Bonds are rated “AA” by S&P.  An explanation of the significance of such rating may be obtained from the 
company furnishing the rating. The rating reflects only the respective view of such organization and the City makes no 
representation as to the appropriateness of the rating. There is no assurance that such rating will continue for any given period of 
time or that it will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by such rating company, if in the judgment of the company, 
circumstances so warrant.  Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such rating may have an adverse effect on the market 
price of the Bonds. 
 
LITIGATION . . . It is the opinion of the City Attorney and City Staff that there is no pending litigation against the City that would 
have a material adverse financial impact upon the System or its operations. At the time of the initial delivery of the Bonds, the City 
will provide the Purchaser with a certificate to the effect that no litigation of any nature has been filed or is then pending challenging 
the issuance of the Bonds or that affects the payment and security of the Bonds or in any other manner questioning the issuance, 
sale or delivery of the Bonds. 
 
REGISTRATION AND QUALIFICATION OF BONDS FOR SALE . . . The sale of the Bonds has not been registered under the Federal 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon the exemption provided thereunder by Section 3(a)(2); and the Bonds have 
not been qualified under the Securities Act of Texas in reliance upon various exemptions contained therein; nor have the Bonds 
been qualified under the securities acts of any jurisdiction. The City assumes no responsibility for qualification of the Bonds under 
the securities laws of any jurisdiction in which the Bonds may be sold, assigned, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise transferred. 
This disclaimer of responsibility for qualification for sale or other disposition of the Bonds shall not be construed as an interpretation 
of any kind with regard to the availability of any exemption from securities registration provisions. 
 
LEGAL INVESTMENTS AND ELIGIBILITY TO SECURE PUBLIC FUNDS IN TEXAS . . . Section 1201.041 of the Public Security Procedures 
Act (Chapter 1201, Texas Government Code, as amended) provides that the Bonds are negotiable instruments governed by Chapter 
8, Texas Business and Commerce Code, as amended and are legal and authorized investments for insurance companies, fiduciaries, 
trustees, or for the sinking funds of municipalities or other political subdivisions or public agencies of the State. With respect to 
investment in obligations such as the Bonds by municipalities or other political subdivisions or public agencies of the State of 
Texas, the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code, as amended, requires that the Bonds be assigned 
a rating of not less than “A” or its equivalent as to investment quality by a national rating agency, this requirement does not apply, 
however, to the purchase of obligations such as the Bonds for interest and sinking funds of such entities. See “OTHER 
INFORMATION - Ratings” herein. In addition, various provisions of the Texas Finance Code provide that, subject to a prudent 
investor standard, the Bonds are legal investments for state banks, savings banks, trust companies with at least $1 million of capital, 
and savings and loan associations. The Bonds are eligible to secure deposits of any public funds of the State, its agencies, and its 
political subdivisions, and are legal security for those deposits to the extent of their market value. 
 
The City has made no investigation of other laws, rules, regulations or investment criteria which might apply to such institutions 
or entities or which might limit the suitability of the Bonds for any of the foregoing purposes or limit the authority of such 
institutions or entities to purchase or invest in the Bonds for such purposes. The City has made no review of laws in other states to 
determine whether the Bonds are legal investments for various institutions in those states. 
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LEGAL OPINIONS . . .The City will furnish the Purchaser a complete transcript of proceedings had incident to the authorization and 
issuance of the Bonds, including the unqualified approving legal opinion of the Attorney General of Texas approving the Initial 
Bond and to the effect that the Bonds are valid and legally binding special obligations of the City, and based upon examination of 
such transcript of proceedings, the approving legal opinion of Bond Counsel, to like effect and to the effect that the interest on the 
Bonds will be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103(a) of the Code, subject to the 
matters described under “TAX MATTERS” herein. The customary closing papers, including a certificate of the City as described 
under “OTHER INFORMATION - Certification of the Official Statement” will also be furnished to the Purchaser. Though it 
represents the Financial Advisor and investment banking firms such as the Purchaser from time to time in matters unrelated to the 
issuance of the Bonds, Bond Counsel has been engaged by and only represents the City in connection with the issuance of the 
Bonds. Bond Counsel was not requested to participate, and did not take part, in the preparation of the Notice of Sale and Bidding 
Instructions, the Official Bid Form and the Official Statement, and such firm has not assumed any responsibility with respect thereto 
or undertaken independently to verify any of the information contained therein, except that, in its capacity as Bond Counsel, such 
firm has reviewed the information describing the Bonds in the Official Statement to verify that such description conforms to the 
provisions of the Ordinance. The legal fee to be paid Bond Counsel for services rendered in connection with the issuance of the 
Bonds is contingent on the sale and delivery of the Bonds. 
   
The legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds express the professional judgment of the attorneys 
rendering the opinions as to the legal issues explicitly addressed therein. In rendering a legal opinion, the attorney does not become 
an insurer or guarantor of that expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or of the future performance of 
the parties to the transaction. Nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out 
of the transaction. 
 
FINANCIAL ADVISOR . . . Specialized Public Finance Inc. is employed as Financial Advisor to the City in connection with the 
issuance of the Bonds. The Financial Advisor's fee for services rendered with respect to the sale of the Bonds is contingent upon 
the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. Specialized Public Finance Inc., in its capacity as Financial Advisor, has relied on the 
opinion of Bond Counsel and has not verified and does not assume any responsibility for the information, covenants and 
representations contained in any of the legal documents with respect to the federal income tax status of the Bonds, or the possible 
impact of any present, pending or future actions taken by any legislative or judicial bodies. 
 
The Financial Advisor to the City has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Financial 
Advisor has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to the City 
and, as applicable, to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but 
the Financial Advisor does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. 
 
INITIAL PURCHASER . . . After requesting competitive bids for the Bonds, the City accepted the bid of                           (the 
Purchaser”) to purchase the Bonds at the interest rates shown on the inside cover of the Official Statement at a price of           % of 
par.  The Purchaser can give no assurance that any trading market will be developed for the Bonds after their sale by the City to 
the Purchaser.  The City has no control over the price at which the Bonds are subsequently sold and the initial yield at which the 
Bonds will be priced and reoffered will be established by and will be the responsibility of the Purchaser.  
 
CERTIFICATION OF THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT…At the time of payment for and delivery of the Bonds, the City will furnish the 
Purchaser a certificate, executed by an authorized representative of the City, acting in such person’s representative capacity, to the 
effect that to the best of such person’s knowledge and belief: (a) the descriptions and statements of or pertaining to the City 
contained in the Official Statement, and any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto, on the date of the Official Statement, on 
the date of sale of the Bonds and the acceptance of the best bid therefor, and on the date of the delivery, were and are true and 
correct in all material respects; (b) insofar as the City and its affairs, including its financial affairs, are concerned, the Official 
Statement did not and does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated 
therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (c) 
insofar as the descriptions and statements, including financial data, of or pertaining to entities, other than the City, and their 
activities contained in the Official Statement are concerned, such statements and data have been obtained from sources which the 
City believes to be reliable and the City has no reason to believe that they are untrue in any material respect; and (d) there has been 
no material adverse change in the financial condition of the City since the date of the last audited financial statements of the City. 
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS DISCLAIMER . . . The statements contained in this Official Statement, and in any other 
information provided by the City, that are not purely historical, are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the 
City's expectations, hopes, intentions, or strategies regarding the future. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements. All forward-looking statements included in this Official Statement are based on information available to the 
City on the date hereof, and the City assumes no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. The City's actual results 
could differ materially from those discussed in such forward-looking statements. 
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The forward-looking statements included herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently 
subject to various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the underlying 
assumptions and estimates and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal, and 
regulatory circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers, suppliers, 
business partners and competitors, and legislative, judicial, and other governmental authorities and officials. Assumptions related 
to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive, and market conditions and 
future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond the control 
of the City. Any of such assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking 
statements included in this Official Statement will prove to be accurate. 
 
MISCELLANEOUS . . . The financial data and other information contained herein have been obtained from the City’s records, audited 
financial statements and other sources which are believed to be reliable.  There is no guarantee that any of the assumptions or 
estimates contained herein will be realized.  All of the summaries of the statutes, documents and resolutions contained in this 
Official Statement are made subject to all of the provisions of such statutes, documents and resolutions.  These summaries do not 
purport to be complete statements of such provisions and reference is made to such documents for further information. 
 
Reference is made to original documents in all respects.  The Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Bonds will approve the 
form and content of this Official Statement, and any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto, and authorize its further use in 
the reoffering of the Bonds by the Purchaser.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

     
Mayor 

City of Amarillo, Texas 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE CITY 
 

  



  

THE CITY 
 
The City of Amarillo (the “City”) is located in Potter and Randall Counties in the Northwest Texas Panhandle. It is located at the 
intersections of IH40 and IH27 and State Highways 60, 66, 87 and 287. The City was incorporated in 1899 and in 1913 wrote its 
own charter and was one of the first cities in the United States to adopt the commission-manager form of government.  
 
EDUCATION . . . The Amarillo Junior College District operates from 52 buildings on five campuses encompassing approximately 
1,600 acres.  In 1995, the Texas Legislature transferred Texas State Technical College – Amarillo to the Amarillo Junior College 
District and it was renamed the East Campus.  Amarillo College is a two-year fully accredited community college offering more 
than 160 programs of study to about 10,000 academic students.  An additional 43,000 students attend workforce training for their 
continuing education and professional mandates.     
 
West Texas A&M University (“WTAMU”) is located 12 miles south of Amarillo in Canyon, Texas.  Forty-two buildings are 
located on the 135-acre main campus.  WTAMU is surrounded by 294 acres of land available for future expansion and owns an 
additional 2,500 acres of farm and ranch land.  WTAMU offers 60 undergraduate degree programs 43 graduate degree programs, 
and one doctoral degree program.  WTAMU’s Alternative Energy Institute is recognized for its work in wind energy and wind 
turbines.  In addition to those courses offered in Canyon, Texas, WTAMU also occupies 30,000 square feet in the Chase Tower 
located in downtown Amarillo.  More than 55 upper level courses are offered at the Amarillo location.    
 
Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center (TTUHSC) at Amarillo, a regional campus of TTUHSC in Lubbock, Texas, is 
spread over 25 acres in the Harrington Regional Medical Center on the west side of Amarillo.  The Amarillo campus is comprised 
of the Schools of Allied Health Sciences, Medicine and Pharmacy, including seven out-patient clinics, laboratory and research 
facilities, a radiology department and a clinical simulation center which will soon be operational.  The School of Allied Health 
Sciences offers a doctorate degree in physical therapy.  A medical degree is offered at the School of Medicine.  The School of 
Pharmacy confers a doctor of pharmacy degree.  Both the Schools of Medicine and Pharmacy oversee numerous residency 
programs. 
 
 
MAJOR EMPLOYERS IN AMARILLO METROPOLITAN STATISTICAL AREA (AS OF FEBRUARY, 2022) 
 

   
  
Source:  Amarillo Chamber of Commerce. 
 
 
AMARILLO METROPOLITAN STATISTICAL AREA EMPLOYMENT STATISTICS 
 

   
  
Source:  Texas Labor Market Information. 
 
 
 
 

Estimated Number
Company Product of Employees

Amarillo ISD School District 4,500                    
Tyson Foods, Inc. Food Production 4,300                    
CNS Pantex Manufacturing 3,844                    
BSA Health System/Don & Sybil Harrington Cancer Center Hospital 3,100                    
Northwest Texas Healthcare System Hospital 2,150                    
City of Amarillo Government 1,953                    
Xcel Energy/Southwestern Public Service Co. Telephone 1,431                    
Affiliated Foods/TriState Baking/Plains Dairy Grocery 1,250                    
Canyon ISD School District 1,168                    
Amarillo VA Health Care System Hospital 984                       

December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Total Civilian Labor Force 104,113 103,576 102,522 131,264 132,104 
Total Employment 101,560 100,527 98,531   124,861 128,710 
Total Unemployment 2,553     3,048     3,991     6,403     3,909     
% Unemployed 2.5% 2.9% 3.9% 4.9% 2.9%
% Unemployed (Texas)  4.0% 3.9% 5.6% 7.6% 3.5%

Average Annual

A-1 



  

AMARILLO METROPOLITAN STATISTICAL AREA EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY 
 

   
  
Source:  Texas Labor Market Information. 
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December Yearly 
2023 Change

Total Non-Agricultural     129,000 0.5%
Mining, Logging and Construction         8,100 1.2%
Manufacturing       14,900 1.4%
Trade, Transportation and Utilities       27,700 0.4%
Information         1,200 0.0%
Financial Activities         7,100 1.4%
Professional and Business Services       10,000 -1.0%
Education and Health Services       17,300 1.2%
Leisure and Hospitality       14,800 2.1%
Other Services         5,400 1.9%
Government       22,500 -1.3%



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

EXCERPTS FROM THE 
CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 The information contained in this Appendix consists of excerpts from the City of Amarillo, 
Texas Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023, 
and is not intended to be a complete statement of the City's financial condition. Reference is 

made to the complete Report for further information. 
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Auditor's Responsibilities for tlte Audit of tlrc Finuncial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material rnisstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance but is not absolute assurance and
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In perfornring an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government
Auditing Standards we:

. Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

o Jdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perfonn audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and tirning of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Re q uir e d Supp I em enta ry Infonn ati on

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management's
Discussion and Analysis, Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund, the Schedule of Changes in
Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios - Texas Municipal Retirement System, the Schedule of
Contributions - Texas Municipal Retirement System, Notes to Required Supplementary Information -
Texas Municipal Retirement System, the Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related
Ratios - Firemen's Relief and Retirement Fund, the Schedule of Contributions Firemen's Relief and
Retirement Fund, Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Firemen's Relief and Retirement Fund,
the Schedule of Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios, Schedule of Changes to Net OPEB Liability and
Related Ratios, Schedule of Contributions and Related Ratios OPEB, and Notes to Schedule of Required
Supplemental Information OPEB on pages 5 through 21, and pages 126 through l3T be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such infonnation, is the responsibility of management and
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary inforrnation in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the inforrnation and comparing the information for
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other

a
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knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the inforniation because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of fonning opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City's basic financial itatements. The accompanying combining and individual nonmajor
fund financial statements and schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,Unifurm Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for FEderal Awards, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not required
part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of
federal awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a
whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information
compiises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial statements and
our buditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other
information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information
exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Autliting Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 27,

2024 on our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other

matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over

financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the

effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an

integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the

City's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

1nas acb{ Aar,*ts: ,MKL

Amarillo, Texas
February 27,2024
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Tliis section of the City of Amarillo's (City) Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) presents an
overview, through Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), of the City's financial activities and
performance during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. As the management of the City of
Amarillo, we offer readers of these financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the
financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended September 30,2023.

Financial Highlights:

. The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $1,252.2 million (net position).
Of this amount, $1,030.6 million is invested in capital assets and infrastructure net of related debt
and $54.0 million is restricted for debt service and other purposes. The remaining $167.6 million
is unrestricted net position.

. The City's total net position increased by $71.9 million. Of this amount, a $41.4 million increase
is attributable to governmental activities, and an increase of $30.5 million is attributable to net
operating revenues of the business-type activities, which revenues are attributable to rates/fees
established to fund both current operating needs and future development.

o As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported a combined
ending fund balance of $225.8 million. The General Fund's fund balance decreased by $5.3
million. This decrease was intentional as the excess reserves from prior years were budgeted to
be spent down. The General Construction fund had a decrease in fund balance of $12.3 million.
This decrease was a result of spending previously issued bonds for improvements to a new City
Hall and for athletic field lighting along with funding transferred in previously from COVID-I9
Relief funding for capital projects and from the General Fund, created from excess reserves.
Changes in fund balance for the COVID-19 Relief fund and the other governmental funds, which
include many grants, special revenue funds, and other capital project funds, were an increase of
$0.4 thousand and an increase of $5.1 million, respectively.

o At the end of the cwrent fiscal year, the fund balance for the General Fund was $73.4 million, or
31.0% of total general fund expenditures. Expenditures and transfers out of the General Fund
were $237.6 million, which amounts included transfers of general revenues to capital outlay,
internal service funds, grant funds, compensated absences fund, and other funds which carry out
general governmental operations. The General Fund remains in good financial condition with
unassigned fund balance of $69.6 million.

o Net position for the Water and Sewer Fund increased by $25.5 million. Fiscal year 2023 included
a l\Yo rate increase in water and sewer rates, but experienced lower consumption in 2023
compared to 2022. Fiscal year 2023 was a near nonnal year for precipitation but the area
experienced flooding during late May and early June, while most of the rest of the fiscal year was
dry. On-going litigation was paftially settled during fiscal year 2023 producing proceeds of $5.0
million.

o Net position for the Drainage Utility Fund increased by $4.5 million. Fiscal year 2023 included a

60/o rate increase.

r Net position for the Airport Fund decreased by $1.1 million. Federal grant money continued to
be received to help Airporl capital projects on a matching basis.

o The City issued $5.8 million in new cornbination tax and revenue certificates of obligation for
construction and irnprovements to the landfill. The debt service will be funded from a rate
increase applied to all Solid Waste customers.

. The City issued another $4.0 million in new combination tax and revenue cefiificates of
obligation debt. The certificates of obligation were issued to pay for local park amenities in the
Greenways Public Improvement District (PID) and the Heritage Hills PlD. Assessments in each
PID will pay for the annual debt service.
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The City issued $42.9 millioir in new water and sewer revenue bonds. The bond proceeds will be
used for improvements and expansion of the water and sewer system and the annual debt seryice
will be funded by a l0o/o rate increase that went into effect on October 1,2022.

The City issued $4.7 million in new drainage revenue bonds. The bond proceeds will be used for
improvements and expansion of the drainage utility system and the annual debt service will be
funded by a 6o/o rate increase that went into effect October 1,2022.

The City issued $4.6 million in hotel occupancy tax revenue bonds. The bond proceeds will be
used for renovations at the MPEV required by Major League Baseball and the annual debt service
will be funded by a portion of the annual MPEV Capital Improvement and Maintenance Reserve
Fund while the remaining will come from the City's hotel occupancy tax.

Overview of the Financial Statements:

Effective October 1,2001, the City adopted the provisions of Statement No. 34 issued by GASB. The
financial presentation promulgated by that statement is very different from the governmental financial
presentation that was generally accepted before the issuance of Statement No. 34. This discussion is
intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic financial statements presented in conformity with
this accounting standard.

The City's basic financial statements are comprised of three components: l) government-wide financial
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also con-
tains required supplementary information, other supplementary information, and statistical information in
addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-wide financial statements: The government-wide financial statements are designed to
provide readers with a broad overview of the finances of the City in a manner similar to a private-sector
business.

The statement of net position pr"..nir:infonnation on all of the City's assets, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources with the difference reported as net position. Over
time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial
position of the City is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents infonnation showing how the City's net position changed during the
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are
reported in this statement for some items that will not result in cash flows until future fiscal periods (e.g.,
uncollected taxes).

Both govemment-wide financial statements distinguish governmental activities - functions of the City
tlrat are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues - from business-type activities -
functions of the City that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user
fees and charges. The governmental activities of the City include public safety, streets and traffic, culture
and recreation, solid waste, transit, urban redevelopment, and tourism, as well as general government and
staff seruices. The business-type activities of the City include a water and sewer system, drainage utility,
and an intemational airporl.

In addition to the financial statements of the City, the government-wide financial statements include
information concerning six legally separate entities that are part of the City's financial reporting entity
because of the City's oversight responsibility for their affairs. These entities include Amarillo Hospital
District, Amarillo Economic Development Corporation, Amarillo-Potter Events Venue District, Amarillo
Housing Finance Corporation, Amarillo Health Facilities Corporation, Amarillo Convention and Visitors
Bureau, Inc., and Arnarillo Local Government Corporation. This information is presented separately
from that of the primary government (the City of Amarillo) because such component units are not legally
or ftinctionally an integral part of the City.

Fund financial statements: A.fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements. All the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: government funds,
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
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Government funds: Governnrcntal .ftmds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the govern-
nrent-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and
outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resow'ces available at the end of the
fiscal year. Accordingly, these statements do not reflect capital assets or long-term debt, and they report
capitai outlay as opposed to depreciation and report proceeds and principal reductions of long-term debt
as sources and expenditures which increase or decrease fund balance. Such statements are useful in
evaluating a government's near-term financial requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental.funds with similar infor-
mation presented for governmental activities in the goveffment-wide financial statements. By doing so,

readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions.
Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expen-
ditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between
govemmental funds and govemmental activities.

In addition to a general fund, the City maintains several special revenue funds, two debt service funds, ten
capital projects funds, and one permanent fund. These funds have been categorized as either- maior or
nin-major-based on the significance of their financial position or operations. For the current fiscal yegr,
management has determined that the General Fund, General Construction Fund, and COVID-I9 Relief
Fund met the criteria for major fund classification.

The City adopts annual appropriated budgets for most funds, other than funds controlled by the five-year
capital improvement program or funds controlled by projectJength grant budgets.

Proprietary funcls: The City maintains three different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are
used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements. The City uses enterpriie funds to account for its water and sewer systern, the drainage utility
syste'rn, and for its international airport. Internal service funds are an accounting dev.ite used to accumu-
late and allocate costs internally arnong a governmental entity's various functions. The City uses internal
service funds to account for its fleet ofvehicles, its management information systems, and its general and
employee health self-insured programs. Because over 807o of these services benefit governmental func-
tions as opposed to business-type functions, their net position and unallocated (investment) earnings have
been included with governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.

Fiduciury fun ds: Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
of the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements be-
cause t6e resources of those funds are not available to support the City's own prograrns. The accounting
used for fiduciary funds is rnuch like that used for proprietary funds. The fiduciary fund statements can
be found in the Basic Financial Statement section of this report.

Notes to the financial statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Other information: As the budgetary comparison schedules of the major governmental funds are not a
part of the basic financial statements, this information is presented after the footnotes as required
iupplementary information. This section also presents required supplementary iryformqtior concerning
the- City's net pension liability and required contributions to its firefighters through the Firemen's
Retirement and Relief Fund and its other employees through the Texas Municipal Retirement Systern.
Infonnation on the City's net other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liability, changes in the net OPEB
liability and required contributions are also reported.

Government-Wide Financial Analysis: Changes in assets over time may serue as a useful indicator of a
government's financial position. Prior to the effective date of Statement No. 34 issued by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, capital assets used in governmental fund activities were
accounted for in a "general fixed assets group of accounts" and were not depreciated. Effective with its
adoption of StatementNo. 34 as of October l,200l,the City computed the accumulated depreciati_on on
all governmental activity capital assets, including infrastructure. Therefore, changes in assets of both
governmental and business-type activities, including capital assets as well as current assets, provide
meaningful information to the reader. The table below reflects the City's net position as of September 30,
2023, compared to the prior year (in thousands):
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City of Amarillo, Texas : Net Asts
(in thousands)

GovemmentalAclivilies Busitess-lypeActivities Total Percent
20232023 2022 2023 20222023 2022

Current assels

Capital assets

Total assets

Oefered outflows of resources

$ 261,848 $ 259,764
103,490 143,448

588.260 546,333

$ 104,360 $ 113,800
192,028 154,868

773,056 741,132

$ 366,208
295,5'18

1,361,316

$ 373,564
298,316

lajoYo
't4.610/6

67.280/01,2A7.465

$ 953,598 $ 949.545 $ 1 ,069,444 $1,009,800 $ 2,023,042 $ I ,959,345 100.00%

$ 70,205 $ 26,635 $ 11,854 S 4,515 $ 82,059 $ 31,150 0.00%

Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

$ s9,661 $ 55,48e $
376,624 295,236

55,051 $ 52,826
326,807 290,869

$ 114,712 $ 108,315

703,431 586,105

't4.020/6

85.98%

$ 436,285 $ 350,725 $ 381,858 $ 343,695 $ 818,143 $ 694,420 100.00%

Oefened inflows ol resources

Net position:

Net inwstment in capital asseis
Res ered/restricted
Unrestricted (deficit)

Tolal nel position

Rewnues
Program revenues

Charges for seruices

Operating grants
and contributions

Capital grants
and contribulions

General rewnues:
Propertytaxes

Other taxes

lnsurance recover/cost

lnwstrnent earnings, etc.

Total rewnues

Epenses

Public safety
SUe ets 

^ra 

ffi c

Culture and recreation

Solid waste
Transit
Tourism/ economic/urban dewlopment
lnformation technology
lnterest on long{erm debt
Water and sewer
Drainage utility

A rport

Total e{genses

Excess (defi ciency) before transfers
Tra nsfe 6

Change in net position

Net position, beginning

Prior period adjustrnent

Net position, ending

$ 14,156 $ 94.199 $ 20,595 $ 25,678 $ 34,751 $ 119,877 0.00%

$ 428,8't4 $ 394,218 $

40,097 45,124

104,451 91,915

601,792 $ 571,863

13,930 14,270

63,123 58,809

$ 1,030,606 $ 966,081 82.300/0

54,027 59,394 4.3'to/o

167 ,574 150,724 13.38%

The net position of the Governmental Activities was $573.4 million. Of this amount, approximately
$425.9 mlllion is net investment in capital assets. Restricted net position of approximately $20.0 million,
$5.2 million, and $14.5 million is restricted for debt service, tax increment financing, and other purposes,
respectively. This leaves an unrestricted net position for Governmental Activities of $104.5 million. Net
position of the Business-type Activities, which are comprised of the Water and Sewer Fund, Drainage
Utitity Fund, and the Airport Fund, totaled $678.9 million. The unrestricted net position of the Business-
type Activities was $63.1 million and is used to provide working capital and fund capital projects.

The City's overall net position increased by $71.9 million during the cunent fiscal year. The following
table reflects the elements of this change: i

$ 573,362 $ 531,257 $ 678,845 $ 644,942 $ 1,252,207 $1,176,199 100.00%

City of Amarillo, Texas - changes ln Net Position
(in thousands)

GovernmentatActivities Business-typeActivities
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023

Total
2022

Percent
2023

$ 6'1,264 $

37,182

21,49'l

69,754
'107,896

13,421

59,738

60,932

'15,987

66,701

105,473

445

$ 116,879 $ 113,213

545 6,357

8,819 10,314

$'t78,'143 $ 172,951

37,727 67,2A9

30,310 26,301

66,701
't05,473

1't,725
838

39.45%

8.35%

6.7'lo/o

69,754
'107,896

5,000

22,79A

15.45%

23.890/0

1.'110/o

5.05%
5,000 11,725

9,377 393

311,008 309,276 140,620 142,002 451,628 451,278 100.00%

22,129
124,430

28,782
33,379

21,775

6,023

22,120
6,081

8,261

'18,790

96,807

24,903

29,743
18,035

5,389

19,237

4,A92

8,0'18

22,129
124,430

28,7A2

33,379

21,775

6,023

22,120
6,08'l

8,261

82,764

5,218
18,774

82,764

5,218

18,774

79,053

4.909

16,401

r 8,790 5.83%

96,807 32.7?o/.

24,903 7.58V.

29,743 8.790/0

18,035 5.730/0

5,383 ',l-590/o

19,237 5.83%

4,892 1.60%

8,018 2j8V"
79,053 21.80V"

4,909 1.37V"

16,401 4.940/0

272,980 225,814 1 06,756 '100,363 379,736 326,117 'tOO.OOo/o

38,028

3,345

83,462

3,507

33,864
(3,345)

41,639
(3,507)

71,A92 125,101

41,373

531,257

86,969

444,879

30,5'19 38,132

644,942 606,810

3,384

71,892

1 ,1 76,1 99

125,101

1,051,689

732

573,362 $

(5e1)

531,257

4,116 (591 )

$1,252,207 $1,176,199
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Governmental activities.' At September 30, 2023, the net position for the Governmental Activities
increased $41.4 million. Expenses increased over the prior year $47.1 million, program revenues

decreased over the prior year-$16.8 million and general revenues increased over the prior year $18.5
million. Throughoui the fiscal year the City continued to see economic growth in sales tax while tapering
off the amount of COVID-19 funding assistance received from grants.

The overall net increase in expenses over the prior year of $47.1 million are a result of many staffing
vacancies being filled along with a 5Yo pay increase for personnel and rising fuel and inflationary costs.

Program revenues decreased $16.8 million over the prior year. These revenues inglude_ charges^for
serv:ices, operating and capital grants, and various contributions. Charges for services include fees ofthe
solid waste dispoial utilii and transit system, revenues of the auditorium-colisetrm complex and,parks
department, along with permits, licensei, and fines. The main reason for the decrease was additional
grint money recelved du-e to the COVID-19 pandemic during fiscal year 2022that was received in fiscal
year 2023.

General revenues increased $18.5 rnillion over the prior year. Property tax revenues increased $3.1
million due to increases in taxable values while the overall property tax rate decreased by $0.03706.
Sales tax increased $0.9 million and continues to see growth into the new fiscal year. Hotel Occupancy
Taxes decreased $0.4 million and has begun to flatten mainly due to a decrease in the average daily rate.

Gross receipts business taxes increased $1.9 million as fuel prices remained high and unrestricted
investment earnings increased $13.0 million due to the rise in interest rates.

The chart below titled Expenses v,s. Revenues - Governmental Activities - shows the expenses and

revenues by activity. The chart reflects the extent to which each of the major governmental functions of
the City is supported by revenues designated for that purpose. The revenues include charges for services,
intergovernm-ental rev6nues, and citiien participations and contributions. Charges for services include
fees of the solid waste disposal utility and transit system, revenues of the auditorium-coliseum complex
and parks department, and permits, licenses, and fines. For most activities, expenses exceed revenues.
General revenues such as sales tax and property taxes are used to fund most of the governmental
activities.

Expenses vs Revenues
Governmental Activities
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00,000

80,000

60,000

40,000

20,000

jtcl

"t"*
^-"- ,"""-

od
rExpenses I Revenu es

Activity

9



The accompanying pie chart entitled Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities - reflects the major
components ofrevenues as described above of $311.0 million excluding transfers of $3.3 million.

Revenues bySource
Gove rnnrental Activities

lnwstment
Other earni 4.30 Charges for

services 19.7o/o10.5o/o

Operati
11

ng grants
.9o/o

Sales tax 24

Capitalgrants
6.9o/o

Property taxes
22.4o/o

Business-type activities: Business-type activities, which include the Water and Sewer Fund, Drainage
Utility Fund, and the Airport Fund, increased the City's net position by $30.5 million.

Net position for the Water and Sewer Fund increased by $25.5 million. The increase was primarilV du31t
water sales due to consumption remaining strong, a'10%o rate increase, and litigation proceeds of $5
million.

Net position for the Drainage Utility Fund increased by $4.5 million. The Drainage Utility Fund was

approved in late fiscal year 2OttltZ and had assessment income starting October 1,2012. The Drainage
Utilify Fund had net operating income of $3.2 million for 2022123.

Net position for the Airport Fund decreased by $1.1 million. Airport operating revellues were impacted
by tde COVID-19 pandemic but have now fully recovered to pre-COVID-l9 levels. Federal grant money
continued to be reieived to help Airport with capital funding but was no longer received for operations
from the loss of revenue. Giants-in-aid received for operations in 202112022 was $6.4 million as

compared to $0.5 million in202212023. Airport operating expenses were back to a more normal level as

travel activity continued to rebound from the pandemic; however, the Airport did see some improvement
in staffing shortages as well as the 50% increase for all personnel.

89Yo of the City's net position for the business-type activities is net investment in capital assets (land,
buildings, pipelines, streets, and runways, etc.). Management reviews the use of these assets on an

ongoin[ babii and determines whether any shoutd be disposed of. All of these assets are either being^used
in current City operations or, as in the caie of underground water rights, are being held for planned future
use.

$13.9 million of the net position represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they
may be used. These restrictions- primarily represent accounts established in accordance with bond
covenants. Other restrictions include amounts 1o be spent in accordance with grant agreements. Thg
balance of net position, $63.1 million, is available to mbet the City's ongoing obligations to citizens and

creditors and to hold in reserves.
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Water and Sewer System: Overall Utility sales and seruice revenues increased $0.4 million. Fiscal year
2023 includ ed, a l\Vo rate increase in water and sewer rates in order to issue debt for improvements and

expansion of the water and sewer system and to fund increased operating and.maintenance costs. Water
nretered sales were $0.8 rnillion leis than the prior year due to 2023 receiving larger amounts of rain
conrpared to 2022. In total, fiscal year 2022123 saw more normal amounts of rainfall except
unpiecedented flooding occurred during late May and early June, while the rest of the fiscal year

experienced lower amounts of precipitation. Water revenues can be significantly affected by the amount
and timing of local rainfall.

The chart below reflects the fluctuation in precipitation that the area has received over the past ten years:

Year

2013lt4
20t4115
20l5lt6
20l6lr7
2017lt8
20l8l19
2019120
2020121
2021122
2022123

* Records go back to 1900
+* Normal precipitation is 20.0"

Drainage Utility: The Drainage Utility Fund completed the eleventh year of operation and recorded
operatiig revenues of $7.6 mil-lion with $4.4 million in operating expenses resulting_in.net operating
income 6f $:.2 million. Drainage utility assessment revenue was approximately $722 thousand more
than the prior year due a to a 6Yo rate increase. The rate increase helped. fund the Drainage Revenue
Bonds Series Z\ZZ for capital improvements to the drainage system along with increased costs associated

with rising costs. Some projecti are funded with cash, as available, and others have been^funded by
Drainage F.evenue Bonds, which are paid back through debt servlge P?Jmeqt! over the term of the bonds.
Draina[e Revenue Bonds were issued in 20I2/I3, 2013114, 2019120, 2020121-and as mentioned in
20228. The total outstanding debt at year-end for the Drainage Utility Fund was $29.7 million.

Air.port: The Airport has been in the process of improving facilities, and the Federal Aviation Admin-
istr'ation (FAA) funds a significant part of the cost of these improvements. The Airpgrt generally attempts
to operate on'a break-evEn basis. Fiscal year 2023 was a more norrnal year. Federal,grant money
received for loss in revenues due to the pandemic came to an end and the Airporl ended the fiscal year
with a decrease in net position of $ 1.1 million. As compared to the prior year, operating revenu€s were
up by $1.8 rnillion while non-operating revenues, wJiich include grant funding,.we.re.99*n by $8.8
riitti6n. Operating revenues are derived from airlines, fees and commissions, and other building rentals.

Financial Analysis of the City's Funds:

Government funds: The focus of the financial statements of governmental funds is to provide infor-
mation on near-tenn inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such infonnation is useful
in assessing the City's financing requirement. In particular, unassigned .fund balance may serve as a
useful measure of a-governmentrs net resources available for spending at the end of tlie fiscal year. As
management has long adhered to a policy of financing construction out of unresered fund balances
available after all current needs have been met, these balances also serve as an indication of the amounts
available for expansion or replacement of infrastructure and other capital improvements.

&s!p!I@**
19.9"
30.4
2t.5"
25.8"
10.9"
23.0"
18.2"
16.s"
13.8"
18.5"

Records*

55th driest
7th wettest on record
44th wettest on record (near normal**)
1Sth wettest on record
4th driest on record
32nd wettest on record
47th driest on record
33'd driest on record
15th driest on record
50th driest on record (near normal**)
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At the end of the current fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balances of $225.8 rnillion, a deciease of approximately $ 12.0 million from the prior year. Of the total
fund balances, over half is non-spendable, restricted as to use or committed/assigned by management for
specific purposes, which are accounted for in governmental funds established to control the expenditure
oTtne fuiras for the specific purpose. These funds consist primarily of the Capital Projecls funds and the
grant funds. The remaining unassigned fund balance is available to fund cuffent expenditures or to fund
future capital improvementi or opeiating needs along with maintaining reserve requirements. All of the

unassigned fundbalance is accounted foi in the General Fund, whic-h is the primary operating fund of.the
Ciry. At the end of the curent fiscal year, the total fund balance of the General Fund was $73.4 million,
of which $69.6 million was unassigned.

The fund balance of the General Fund at year end was $73.4 million, a decrease of $5.3 million. As
discussed above in the Government Wide Financial Analysis - Governmental Activities section, the

decrease in fund balance was budgeted as the City spent down excess reserves from the prior year. These

budgeted projects included one-time spending on a new fire station, street resurfacing, and many
impiovementi to City facilities. The City has continued to see increases in property_ tax revenues due to
increased values, sales tax revenues setting new records, but saw a decreased in hotel occupancy tax
retuning to a new normal level.

The fund balance of the General Construction Fund at year end was $65.6 million, a decrease of $12.3
million. This decrease includes the spending of bond proceeds on a new City Hall, lighting at local parks,
and for ERP software. The General Construction Fund had assigned fund balance of $65.6 million at

September 30, 2023. These funds are assigned for construction projects in progress and for projects
cuirently in the planning stages and in the City's five-year capital plan.

Tlre COVID-I9 Relief Fund was formed in fiscal year 2020 to account for spending in direct response to
the pandemic and the grant money the City received from the American Rescue Plan_Act (41p4)._ l!.
ARPA money is reportid as an unearned revenue liability until actual spending takes place. The COVID-
19 Relief Fund has a restricted fund balance at year-end of $654 thousand'

All Other Governmental Funds had as total fund balance at year-end of $86.1 million, an increase of $5.1
million from the prior year. The Other Govemmental Funds include all other Capital Project funds,. the
Housing and Urbin Development (HUD) Grants fund, Other Grants funds, Public Improvement Districts,
Seizure Funds, Other funds, Bonded Debt Service Fund, Compensated Absence Fund, and a Permanent
Fund. The HUD Grants Fund accounts for funds administered by the City for the U.S. Department of
Housing and Urban Development, including block grants, housing assistance, and various srnaller low-
income programs. Most of the grants awarded to the City are expenditure driven; thus, for most
programs, revenues equal expenditures.

Proprietary funds: The financial statements of the Proprietary Fun_dq provide information for the two
typ6s of funds - the Business-type (Enterprise) Funds and the Internal Service Funds. The Bus.iness-ryPe
fuhds activities were discussed above in the Government Wide Financial Analysis section. The

accounting principles applied to the Business-type funds are like that of the private sector. .Consequently,
with the exception of tlie allocation of Internal Service Fund losses to business-type_activities, the net po-
sition and clianges in net position of the Business-type (Enterprise) Funds in these -financial statements is
identical with t[e net posiiion and changes in net position in the Government-wide financial presentation.

Tlie lnternal Service Fund financial statements reflect a net position of $75.7 million. The purpose of
Internal Service Funds is to provide services within a government on a break-even basis. Funds classified
as Internal Service are Fleet Selices, Information Services, Risk Management and Employee Insurance.
The net income or loss from these Internal Service Funds has been allocated back to the user departments
or funds for the Government-wide financial statements. The unrestricted net position of the Internal
Service Funds, $40.7 million at year end, is generally used to replace capital assets and maintain
minimum operating reserves.
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Tlre net position of the Internal.service Funds increased in fiscal y.ear 2023 by $13.5 million. The

inirease ivas largely due to investment earnings, favorable healthcare c_laims experience, and a transfer of
bond proceeds to the fleet seruices fund for the construction of new fueling stations.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration:

Cupital assets: The City's investment in capital assets as of September 30,2023, was $1.4 billion, net-of
accumulated depreciation. The following tabulation summarizes the City's capital assets at September 30,

2023:

City of Amarillo, Texas - Capital Assets
(in thousands - net of depreciation)

GovernmentalActivities Business-typeActivities Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Land, easments and water rights

lnftaslructure
Library resources
Water and sewer olher
Arport facilities
Drainage impro\€ments
Buildings and olher improvements
Equipment and rehicles
Capital lease asset
Construction in progress

Total capital assets

General obligation bonds

Certificates of obli gation

Tax notes
Special assessment and other debt
Hotel occupancy tax debt
Water and sewer revenue bonds
Water authoritydebt
Drainage utility revenue bonds

Total outstanding debt

1 03,1 93
18,450
28,335
1 8,930
51,295

s 107,000
15,776
30,130
'13,535

47,510

$ 57,s30 $
1 68,955

4,208

83,348 $

517,876
60,018
16,1 15

3,608

,0,,, ui

168,177
'168,955

4,208
483,916

56,600
16,992

229,505
46,084
4,395

182,484

229,505
42,693

4,395
80,574

56,1 12

162,528
4,383

233,1 68
41,569

4,924
43,649

110,247_

483,916
56,600
16,992

3,391

'101 ,910

$ 139,460
162,528

4,383
517,876

60,018
16,1 15

233,168
45,177
4,924

103,815

For this purpose, the vehicles, management information.systems, and_other assets of the Internal Service
Funds are classified as assets used in-governrnent activities. Refer to Note 7 in the Notes to Basic Finan-

cial Statements for additional information related to capital assets.

The City of Amarillo attempts to fund its capital needs on a pay-as-yo\r-go basis.to the extent possible.

Ho*",rJr, the City has recently borrowed fuirds in order to cbmplete significant.infrastructure.projects.
The City'atternpti to take adv-antage of favorable interest rates and use debt only when conditions are

favorabie. Not6 t: to the financial-statements discloses in detail the debt activities of the City' In addi-

iion, u Combined Schedule of Outstanding Debt Issuances is provided in th_e_supplemental section of the

ACFR. The City's total outstanding debt-as of September 30,2023 was $528.9 million.- The following
table shows the 

-City's 
total principil amounts outitanding under bond agreements as of September 30,

2023:

city of Amarirro;;T::;:i"andins Debt

$ 588,260 $ 546,3s3 $ 773,056 $ 741 ,131 $ 1,361,31 6 $ 1 ,287 ,464

GovernmentalActivities Business'typeActivities Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

$ $ $

256,085
25,085
27,555

229,180
31,554
24,365

$ 103,193 $

18,450
28,335
18,930
51,295

256,085
25,086
27,555

107,000
19,776
30,1 30

13,535
47,910

229J80
31,554
24,365

$ 220,203 $ 218,351 $ 308,726 $ 285,099 $ 528,929 $ 503,450

Refer to Notes 12 and l3 in the Notes to Basic Financial Statements for additional information related to

long-term debt and other commitments.
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights:

The primary purpose of the General Fund is to account for general revenues such as properfy_taxes, sales

taxes, and otirer^taxes and expenditures related to essential City functions and programs. The General
Fund is comprised of multiple departments that cary out many of the City's__essential functions from
street repair ind maintenanie, faffic, fire and police protection, sanitation_ collection and disposal, and

other administrative functions just to name a few. Budget verses actual schedules for the General Fund

are repofted beginning on page 175.

General Fund Revenues: The total General Fund revenues budgeted for fiscal year 2022123 were $218.8
million and actual revenues came in at $228.8 million, $10.0 million more than budgeted. Actual sales

tax revenue accounts for 33%o ofGeneral Fund total revenue. Sales tax revenues were budgeted for $68.0
million. Actual sales tax revenues for 2022123 were $75.4 million. Sales tax revenues were $7.4 million
more than budgeted for the fiscal year. The City budgeted conservatively for sale tax not knowing the

ongoing impacl from the pandemii and inflation. Salei tax receipt_s recovered very well and continue to
exieed"budget and e*ceed record numbers into the first quarter of the new fiscal;ear. Another major
componentlf General Fund revenue is ad valorem property taxes. General Fund ad valorem tax
collections were budgeted at $55.8 million and actual ad valorem taxes were $56.8 million, $110 million
more than budgeted. 

-the ad valorem tax collection rate was slightly higher than anticipated. Charges for
services is 20{/o of General Fund total revenue and continued to remain strong at $0.8 million under
budget. The two areas impacted most in charges for services was Parks and Recreation and the Landfill.
HotJl Occupancy Tax revenue was also budgeted conservatively and came in slightly lower than-budget
by 0.7 million. Other General Fund revenues are comprised of business taxes, fines and forfeitures,
investment earnings, and miscellaneous revenues. The chart below shows the major sources of total
General Fund revenues:

General Fund Expenditures
Fiscal Year 202212023
Percentage of Total

Economic
developmenUtouri

2%

Operating transfers
1Oo/o

General go\ernment
3o/o

Capitaloutlay
o% serMces

6%

lnformation technol
3%

protection
Transi

2%
23o/o

Solid was
9%

Participant recreation &
MPEV

3%

Parks
4o/o

Librarie
2%

Fire protection
17%

Auditorium - coliseu
2o/o

Streets, &ther publicsafety&
health

7%
engineering

8%
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GeneralFund
PropertyTax Revenue and

Sales Tax Revenue
Last Five FiscalYears

78r,762
2023

7 93,340

7,443
2022

74 7,785

2027
67,507,499

r Property Tax

Revenue

2020
59,785,t42 l;t Sales Tax

Revenue

45,L08,274
2019

59,175,698

20,000,000 40,000,000 60,000,000 80,000,000

In the above graph you can see the growth rate ofthe General Fund property tax revenue (ad valorem tax
collections) in cbntiast with the growth rate of sales tax revenue. The sales tax revenue has faired well
and has a healthy, positive trendline. The City management keeps a watchful eye on the monthly sales

tax to spot any flattening trends that might develop. Ad valorem tax revenues show an increase mainly
due to increaied property values. The tax rate in effect for the year ending SeJ,tember 30,2023, was

$0.40628 per $l0b oTtaxable value, which is less than the prior year's rate of $0.44334. The decrease
was $0.03706 to accomodate the over l0oZ growth in values and the state law requirement that revenue
cannot increase more than 3.5%o over the prioryear for operations and maintenance. The total value of
properties on the tax roll for fiscal year 2023 was $16.6 billion, an increase of $2.0 billion over the prior
yeat.
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General Fund Expenditures.. The total General Fund operating expenditure budget, _excluding fund
transfers, for fiscall year 2022123 was S217.8 million. Total actual expenditures and_appropriations
against the operating budget for 2022123 were $213.1 million. This resulted in underspending the budget
UI S+.2 miliion. Many ltaffrng vacancies throughout the fiscal year account for the underspending.
pblice and Fire proteciion acco=unt for approxim-ately 4lYo of the General Fund expenditure budget,
excluding transfe,rs. Operating transfers io Capital Projects Funds and other funds were budgeted for
$23.7 miilion and actuai General Fund transfers-during the year were $24.9 million, a budget variance of
$1.2 million more. The City had excess reserves during fiscal year 2022rclated to sales tax collections
coming in higher than anticipated; the excess was approved by City Council to be used for several mg-or
capital-projedts. This accounts for the budget variance in General Fund transfers to other funds. The
foilowing ihan shows the breakdown by functional area of the General Fund actual expenditures for
2022/23:

General Fund Revenues
Fiscal Year202212023
Percentage of Total

lnrestmentearnings
2%

Fines and forfeitures
1o/o

rentals, m isc &
transfers

2%
Charges fors

20%

Contributi
o%

valorem taxes
24o/o

lntergowrnme
2%

lnterfund reimb
Oo/o

Licenses & perm
2o/o Sales tax

32%
Bus iness taxes

lOo/o

Hotel occupancy tax
4o/o

Mixed beverage tax
1o/o

Capital Improvement Program (CIP): The City's primary source of funding the annual General Fund

CIF program has been through reallocation of excess revenues and unspent monies from the preceding

fiscai year. The goal was to maintain an adequate level of fund balance or reserves within the General

Fund for contingencies and operations and to allocate any excess funds to the capital improvement
program. The City Council approved $5.9 million in debt for improvements at the landfill along with an

issociated I4Yo rate increase to Solid Waste customers to pay for the annual debt service and rising costs

of the system. City Council also approved$42.9 million in debt for extensions and improvements to the

water and sewer utility ; a l0%o rate increase was implemented to support the debt service associated with
the revenue bonds along with increased operating and maintenance costs. A 6oh rate increase in Drainage

was also implemented during the year to support the issuance of $4.7 million in debt for extensions and

improvements in the drainage utility along with increased operating and maintenance costs. The City
Council approved combination tax and revenue certificates to purchase park amenities for the Colonies

public improvement dishict (PID) and Heritage Hills PID; the debt service will be funded by assessments

in each PID. City Council approved the issuance of $4.6 million in hotel occupancy tax bonds to pay for
renovations at the MPEV to meet major league baseball requirements, and the debt service will be paid
partially from the annual funding for the MPEV Capital Improvement and Maintenance Reserve fund and

from the City's hotel occupancy taxes. All other CIP needs will be met through reallocation of excess

revenues and unspent monies from the preceding fiscal year.
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Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget and Rates

Tlre fiscal year 2024 Budget totals approxirnately $531.0 million, with $336.4 million approved for
operation and maintenance functions, $135.5 million in capital, and $59.2 million for required debt

seruice payments. The annual Budget is the rnost important policy document for consideration by the

Council. It identifies required funding to deliver more than 250 prograrns and services to the citizens of
Amarillo.

The 202312024 Annual Operating Budget is presented to Council as a prograrn-based budget, i.e., the

various programs offered by City departments are presented with program descriptions and performance

measures to define the level and quality of services delivered to Amarillo citizens. The Budget represents

maintenance of current service levels for the more than 250 programs funded by the City. All programs

have a demonstrated connection to the City Council pillars.

The City has continued to experience economic growth in most areas; however, rising costs in several

vital areas including commodities, materials, supplies, construction, and attracting and retaining personnel

have placed continued challenges on the budget process. Key areas of focus in the 2023/2024 Budget

include addressing increased funding for public safety, aging infrastructure throughout City operations,

attracting and retaining a skilled labor force, and rising costs in most operational areas.

The Budget reflects revenues in line with post-pandemic trends, with slight increases, and rate increases

in certain areas to support the rising costs of doing business and aging infrastructure. On the expenditure

side, the Budget includes enhancements that focus on funding for public safety, critical capital projects,

pay enhancements for personnel to help in attracting and retaining employees, and amounts to cover
increased costs of doing business. Details of the consolidated budget are as follows.

CONSOLIDATED BUDGET

Our 202312024 B:udgel is $531 .0 million, which is an increas e of 8.2o/o, or $40.2 million, as compared to

our 202212023 Budget of $490.8 million.

The areas of specific increase/decrease in the Budget are:

FY 202212023 FY 202312024 oh Change

General Fund Operating

Water & Sewer Operating

Capital Improvement Proj ects

Special Revenue Operating

Fleet Services Operating

Insurance Operating

Debt Service

Airport Operating

Drainage Utility Operating

Information Technology Operating

Capital Transfers

Less: Interfund Transfers

Total Budget

$239,300,951

58,614,367

1r4,352,664

39,875,546
12,530,989

39,801,333

68,298,159

14,188,377

3,940,026

9,046,5r9
3,216,767

$250,646,088
69,664,081

135,490,421

35,972,058
14,003,290

39,440,725

59,194,165

15,804,323

3,932,325

9,416,730
J 124 6

(106,245,847)

4.7%

189%
t8j%
(e.8%)

11.7%

(0.e%)
(t3.3%)

11.4%

(0.2%)

4.t%
ts.8%

(n2,33s,2s0) (s.4%)

30.448$490,8
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Municipal government is a service business and the irredominant expense category in the Budget is
always personnel and the associated salary and benefit expenses. Personnel costs comprise 40.4%o, or

$214.5 million, of the 202312024 net Budget. Personnel costs in the Budget are 8.0% more than the prior
year budget due to salary increases and reclassifications described below. The increase in personnel costs

accounts for most of the increase in each operating budget noted above.

Tlre largest category in the Budget is Capital Improvement Projects at $135.5 rnillion, or 25.5Vo of the

Budget. Capital Improvement Projects reflect an l8.5Yo increase from the prior year and include public
safety projects, major street and traffic administration projects, funding for matching amounts on projects

with large Federal/State assistance, a dedicated dumpster replacement program, funding for Parks and

Recreation assets and facilities, water and sewer system projects, drainage utility system projects, airport
projects that are eligible for additional federal funding, and more. The Capital Improvement Program

section provided in the budget document provides more details of the proposed projects.

Debt Service accounts for just over 1 l.lo/o, ot $59.2 million, of the net Budget. Debt service expenditures
include all funds with outstanding debt. The Debt Service category includes a (133%) decrease which is
due to the debt rolling off.

Special Revenue operating costs have decreased (9.8%) due to additional grant/relief funding availability
from the CARES Act and American Rescue Plan ending.

Property and Sales Taxes

Taxable property values remain strong with an estimated over 9o/o increase for the 2023 tax year, when
comparing 2023 estimated values to the 2022 certifred values. The total 202312024 proposed tax rate is

$0.39867 per $100 taxable value versus the 202212023 rate: of $0.40628. A historical review of the rate

reflects that tlre City Council increased the property tax rate by $0.01 to $0.32009 for the 20lll20I2 and
201212013 fiscal years after three years with the same property tax tate, by $0.02 in the 201312014 fiscal
year, by $0.005 in the 201412015 fiscal year, and by $0.00563 to $0.35072 for the 201512016 and
201612017 fiscal years. The rate increases associated with 2017 1201 8 and 201812019 were directly related

to the debt seruice portion of the tax rate. City Council increased the operations and maintenance portion
of the tax rate in201912020 by $0.01750 in addition to increasing the debt service portion of the tax rate.

In202012021, the debt service portion of the tax rate was the only portion of the tax rate increased. In
202112022, City Council increased the property tax rate by $0.047 to $0.44334 and then decreased it in
202212023 to $0.40628 due to increased taxable values.

Sales tax is the City's largest revenue source. Amarillo has long enjoyed a history of steadily increasing

sales tax, which has offset the City's low properly tax rate. The City's sales tax continues to remain
strong. The Budget includes sales tax at an increase of $7.9 million over the current year original budget

of $68.0 million. The sales tax revenue budget for next year has been normalized to sales tax collection
expedence for the past couple ofyears.

Sales tax and properly tax revenues make up the largest percentage of funding for General Fund

operations. However, each revenue source alone, property tax or sales tax, is not sufficient to fund the

budgets for Public Safety. Therefore, the City must rely on multiple revenue sources to suppoft General
Fund operations.

Franchise Fees, User Fees and Charges

During 2016, the City initiated a $140 million five-year Community Investment Prograrn with
corresponding rate increases for water and sewer and drainage. For water and sewer rates, there was a 30%

rate increasetn201612011,2011l20l8, and 201812019 to fund the first three years of the program. The
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201912020 Budget included a 7o/o water and sewer rate increase, which funded the addition of automated
nretering infrastructure @%) and provided for an increase in operating and maintenance (3Yo). The
202012021 Budget included the fourth year of the planned 3o/o rate increases. The 202112022 Budget
included the final year of the original five-year Cornmunity Investment Program with a 3Yo rate increase

for water and sewer infrastructure and a 2To rate increase for maintenance and operations to cover
increases in operational costs. The 202212023 budget included a l0o/o water and sewer rate increase to
cover inflation and additional debt issuances described above. The 202312024 budgel included a 6%o water
and sewer rate increase to cover inflation and the rising cost of attracting and retaining personnel. The

water rate structure is designed so that customers who only use water for domestic purposes still have

very reasonable rates. A residential 10,000-gallon water user will have a monthly water and sewer bill of
approximately $83.33, an increase of $4.32, which is low compared to other Texas cities. For drainage
rates, there were 4Vo rate increases for the five years for the capital costs related to the five-year
Community Investment Program. The 202212023 budget included as 6Yo drainage fee increase to cover
inflation and an additional debt issuance, while the 202312024 btdget includes a 47.1% drainage fee

increase to cover continued inflation and increase operational costs. The drainage fee increase will
increase the average monthly residential charge by $1.08.

The Budget also includes an increase in the Solid Waste rates of 8%. Residential customers will see a

slight increase in their monthly bill, which for the average customer will be $ 1.07. The additional funding
will be used to cover increased operational costs related to the solid waste program and a dedicated
residential dumpster replacement program.

Other areas with fee increases include Civic Center, Building Safety, Environmental Health, City
Marshal, Parks and Recreation, and Golf. The fee increases in each area are needed to adjust for increases

in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) to cover the related cost of providing goods or services.

Employee Staffing

The 202312024 Budget consists of 2,326 penxanent and 355 part-time ernployee positions. Permanent
positions have increased by 23 positions over the current year and part-time positions have decreased by
1. Several of the changes are reclassifications of current positions to better meet departmental needs. New
positions include 3 district fire chief positions, 4 police officer positions and 5 police civilian positions for
additional operations support, 4 Amarillo Emergency Communications Center (AECC) positions to offer
additional support for the department, 2 additional Emergency Management positions, and a few other
positions in various departments to support operations. Below is a summary of the staffing changes for
petmanent positions for the 202312024 Budget: 

Full
Position Title
Senior Telecommunications Supervisor

Telecomms Shift Supervisor

IT CAD Specialist

Airporl Landside/Fleet Mechanic III
Airport Technology Specialist

Deputy

Operations Manager

Technical Hazards Coordinator

Environmental Technician

Fire District Chief
Application Specialist III
Infi'astructure Engineer

Department
AECC

AECC
AECC/IT
Airporl
Airport/lT
City Marshal

Emergency Management

Emergency Management

Environmental Health

Fire Operations

IT Enterprise Appl ications

IT Infrastrucfure

Time
1

2

I

1

1

I

I

I

I
aJ

I

2
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IT Support Specialist I
31 I Customer Service Supervisor

Administrative Assistant I
Librarian I
Police Officer
Assistant Property & Evidence Manager

Building Mechanic

Crime Scene Tech

Evidence Technician

Forensic Video Tech

Deputy Registrar

IT Support

IT Telecom

Library
Library
Police

Police Civilian
Police Civilian
Police Civilian
Police Civilian
Police Civilian
Vital Statistics

I

1

2

I

4

1

I
I
I

I
I

25

Employee Compensation

l) 4% pay increase for civilian employees as pay-for-performance
2) 4% pay increase for Police and Fire employees
3) an annual leave buy back option for eligible tenured employees

The total cost of the pay plan improvements noted above and related benefits, along with funding to
address specific positions throughout the organization, is what makes up the 8.0% overall increase in the

costs associated with personnel. The budget also includes funding for discretionary retention pay, given to
employees based on longevity during the holiday season.

Capital Improvement Program

The 202312024 capital improvement program budget is $135.5 million - $39.6 million in general
government capital projects, $32.5 million in water and sewer system projects, $11.9 million in airport
projects, $46.0 million in drainage system projects, and $5.0 million in fleet services projects, and $0.5
million in IT projects. The general government projects are funded from excess operational funds, grant
funds, and solid waste collection fees related to the dumpster replacement project. The water and sewer
and drainage system projects are funded through the rate increases and excess operational funds planned
for capital improvements. The airport projects are funded with excess operational funds planned for
capital projects, grant money received from the FAA, and a proposed debt issuance. The fleet services
and IT projects are funded with excess operational funds planned for capital.

Future Priorities

The 202312024 Budget has prioritized enhancements to public safety, compensation to employees,
funding of capital projects including rising construction costs, and increased costs of commodities,
materials, and supplies. Going forward, the City will need to identify additional budget dollars to address
the maintenance of aging city facilities and aging infrastructure throughout the City, including streets.
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Request for information:

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Amarillo's finances.

Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial
information should be addressed to the Director of Finance, Cify of Amarillo, P.O. Box 1971, Amarillo,
Texas 79105-1971.
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These statements present an overview of the financial position and transactions of the entire reporting
entity. The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities repoft infonnation on all of the

nonfiduciary resources and activities of the primary government and its component units. These

statements, as well as the Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities of the component units,
are presented on a basis of accounting promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board,

which is similar to the generally accepted accounting principles applicable to commercial enterprises.

The financial statements of the governmental funds, proprietary funds, and the fiduciary funds are

presented in accordance with generally accepted governmental accounting principles to the types of funds
presented.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30,2023

Primarv
Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Total
Component

Ilnits
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash cquivalcnts
Inveshnents
Receivables, net
Intemal balanccs
Invcntorics and prepaid cxpenses

Other cunent assets

Total cuffcnt assets

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Restricted cash and cash cquivalents

Restricted investments
Receivables, net
Othcr noncurent assets

Land and building held for future incentives
Capital assets:

Land
Contributed right ofway eascments
Water rights and contracts, net of amofiization
Infrastnrcture, net oI depteciation
Buildings and improvcments, net of depreciation
Equipment and vehicles, net ofdepreciation
Right-to-use lease asset, net ofamortization
Librarl resources, net of depreciation
Right-to-use software asset, net of amortization

Conshuction in progress

Total noncurent assets

TOTAL ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Defercd outflows

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payablc and accrued expcnses

Uneatned revenue
Current poft ion of long-term obligations
Estimatcd liability for self-insured losses, cuncnt poltion
Bonded debt currcnt mafurity
Cunent portion ofrighGto-use lease liability
Cunent poltion of righlto-use software liability
Currcnt portion of compcnsatcd absenccs

Total cullcnt liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Liabilitics payable from restricted asscts

Nonculrent poft ion of long+crm obligations
Other accrued expenses
Right-to-use lease liability
Right+o-usc software liability
Estimated liabilitics ibr:

Compensated absences, net
Self-insured losses, net of current portion
Landfill closurc and postclosurc care

Nct OPEB liabiliry
Net pension liability

Total noncurrent liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Defemed inllows

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net invcstmcnt in capital asscts

Rcstrictcd for:
Debt scruicc
Tax increment financing
Other purposcs

Unrcstrictcd

TOTAL NET POSITION

$ 139,171,976
62,450,549
26,441,59s
26,080,842

7,703,233

$ 56,147,020
56,03 7,05 1

I 8,1 70,0 I 6
(26,080,842)

87,375

1 95,3 I 8,996
1 I 8,487,600
44,61t,6t1

7,790,608

$ 46,139,131
138,520,1 l5
31,225,798

724,293
t,341,r32

261,848,195 I 04,360,620 3 66,208,8 I 5 217,950,469

92,891,662

500,000
1 0,097,990

t7,516,920
40,4t3,378

1 68,955,1 85
229,504,692
42,692,599

3,145,9 I 8

4,207,621
1,249,397

80,574,200

1 78,886,605

I 3,1 04,833
34,853

3,'198,431
3,132,845

102,715,511
16,992,668

540,5 I 6,598
3,390,706

101,910,151

271,778,267

500,000
23,202,823

34,853

21,3 15,351
44,146,223

t02,7 t5,511
I 85,947,853
770,02t,290
46,083,305

3,145,918
4,20',1,621
t,249,397

r82,484,351

10,057,332

33,812,254

t6,896,42;

62,475,786
231,523
675,880

69 749,562 965,083,20 I 1,656,832,763 124,t49,200

$ 9s3,597,757 $ 1,069,443,821

$ 1 1,854,1 80

$ 2,023,041,s78 $ 342,099,669

60,032

$ 70,205,232 $ I 1,854,i80 $ 82,059,412 $ 2,160,032
$ $ 82,059,412 , $

s 28,247,909
9,339,202

I 3,755,000
4,829,s',?5

30,27 t ,997
1,263,641
6,563,747

I 6,740,000

21 I,500

58,5 l 9,906
10,602,843
20,3t8,74'1
4,829,575

16,740,000
r,t72,489

255,806
2,27 t ,968

2,189,728

9,193,217

$ $ $

1,172,489
255,806

2,060,468

59,660,449 55,050,885 114,711,334 tt,382,945

215,862,328

t,733,312
169,289

21,638,069
13,632,041
5,984,720

39,102,670

306,770,893
2,503,07 |

I,325,1 I 8

522,633,221
2,503,07 |
1,733,312

169,289

1 04,1 83

32,877,500

260,958

78,7047.315,504
8,892,293

22,963,187
13,632,041
5,984,'120

46,418,174
87,394,266 3,023 ,19 I

$ 436,284,8s1 $ 381,857,764

326,806,879 103,431,281

$ 818,142,615 s 47,727,481

$ 14,1s5,885 s 20.594.649 $ 34,750,534 $ 8,360,035

$ t4,l 55,885 $ 20,594,649 s 34,750,534 $ 8,360,035

$ 428,814,543 $ 60t,792,401

I 3,930,498

63,122,689

s 1,030,606,944 S 54,067,328

5,',180,7 6633,918,407
5,172,900

14,933,544
167,576,045

I 9,987,909
5,172,900

14,933,544
104,453,356

24,256,388
204,067,703

$ 573,362,252 $ 678,845,588

The accon.rpanyitlg notes are an integl'al part of the basic financial statements.

$ 1,252,207,840 $ 288,172.185
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2023

Progrlm Revenucs

F unctions/Programs Expenses
Charges for

Services

0perating Grants
and

Contributions

Capital Grants
and

Contributions

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
General govemment
Staff services

Public safety and health
Police protection
Fire protection

Other
Streets, traffic and engineering
Culture and recreation

Auditorium/coliseum
Libraries
Parks

Participant recreation
MPEV

Solid waste

Transit
lnformation technology
Economic development/Tourism
Urban redevelopment/housing
Interest on long-term debt

Total govemmental activities

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Water and Sewer

Drainage Utility
Airport

Total business-type activities

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

COMPONENT UNITS
Amarillo Hospital District
Amarillo Economic Development Corporation
Amarillo-Potter Events District
Amarillo Convention & Visitors Bureau
Amarillo Housing Finance Corporation
Amarillo Health Facilities Corporation
Amarillo Local Govemment Corporation

TOTAL COMPONENT UNITS

$ 6,564,990
t5,563,671

5',7,098,375

36,930,1 86

30,401,406
28,781,953

8,580,699
4,410,409

11,434,870
8,948,244

4,936
21,775,83r

6,023,480
6,081,229
5,47',1,095

16,642,438
8,260,888

4,838,446
4,974,091

1,949,057
2,378,53 8

'7,008,452

989,967

3,055,816
tt3,778

2,452,5t4
5,309,1 66

27 ,267,t18
696,338

231,140

$ $ 2,535,47 5 $

479,090
147,9'.79

1 4,863,059
66,281

398,004
35,217
45, I 58

(43,589)

3,023,790

15,632,074

6,363,27s
444,607

825,615
13,749,7'11

7,4'12

101,1 80

272,980,701 61,264,421 37,182,538 21,491,920

82,'.765,301

5,2t7 ,46t
18,'773,183

94,674,544
7,624,310

I 4,580,45 1 545,3s l

6,485,285
947,000

1,3 86,933

106,755,945 I l 6,879,305 545,35 I 8,819,218

$ 379,736,646 $ 1',18,143,726 $ 31 ,'127 ,889 $ 30,3 I 1,13 8

$ 50,489,783
27,423,469

2,994,273
2,303,01 9

t,916,744

39,943,657
12,084,883

45,22',1

3'1s,238 $

6'7,210

393,31 1

(762,796)
$ $

s 8s.127.288 $ 52,0'13,767 $ 83s,7s9 $ (762,196)

GENERAL REVENUES
Property taxes, levied for general purposes

Property taxes, levied for debt services

Sales taxes

Mixed beverage taxes

Hotel occupancy taxes

Gross receipts business taxes

Unrestricted investrnent earnings

Settlement proceeds

TRANSFERS

Total general revenues and transfers

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT (NOTE I)
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR, RESTATED

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

The accon.rpanying notes are an integlal part of the basic financial statements.
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Net (Exoense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Primarv Government

Governmental
Activities

Business-type

Activities Total

7,172,206
(10,144,973)

(54,670,228)
(34,403,669)

(7,'104,280)
(t3,97s,934)

Component
Units

(l 0,170,888)
(1 6,1 01,382)
(2,949,046)
(2,235,809)

(1,523,433)

(32,980,558)

28,953,0t7

4,18'1,333
3,8 1 9,303

36,959,653

3,979,095

284,193,090

284,1 93,090

$ 288,172,185

$$ 7,172,206
(t0,r44,973)

(s4,670,228)
(34,403,669)
(7,704,280)

(13,97s,934)

(5,126,879)
(4,26r,4r4)
(8,937,1 98)
(3,682,667)

(4,e36)
5,491,287

(2,295,880)
(6,08r,229)
(5,4'.17,ogs)

(678,044)
(8,260,888)

(5,126,879)
(4,261,4r4)
(8,e37,198)
(3,682,667)

(4,e36)
5,491,287

(2,2e5,880)
(6,081,229)
(5,4'17,095)

(678,044)
(8,260,888)

(r53,041,822)

$ $

I 53,041,822)

1 8,394,528
3,353,849

(2,260,448)

19,487,929

19,487,929

19,487,929

(1 33,553,893)

9,376,600
5,000,000

(3,344,554)

11,032,046 205.448.024

30,519,97 5 71,894,130

1,176,197 ,569644,941,877

83 736 4,116,141

648,325,61,3 1 80,3 13 '7t0

$ 678.845.588 s 1 ,252,207,840

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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18,394,528
3,353,849

(2,260,448)

(r53,041,822)

57,970,644
11,783,154
75,393,340

I, l 57,840
8,3 86,003

22,959,078
13,421,365

57,970,644
tl ,'183,154
75,393,340

1,157,840
8,386,003

22,959,078
22,797,965

5,000,000

3,344,554

t94,415,978

41,374,155

531,255,692

732,405

53 1,988,097

$ s73,362,2s2



CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET
SEPTEI\{BER 30,2023

General
Fund

g 23,438,43s
835, I 57

40,450,549

General
Construction

Fund
covID-r9

Relief

Other
Governmental

Funds

Total
Governmental

Funds

$$ $
ASSETS

Cash and cash eqnivalents

Restricted cash and cash eqnivalents

Investments, at fair values

Restricted investments
Receivables, net of allowances for uncollectibles

Propelty taxes

Accounts

Accrued interest

Other accrued revenue

Due fi'om other funds umestricted
Due from other goverrments

Inventory ofsupplies
Prepaid items
Advances to other funds

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Vouchers payable

Accounts payable

Accrued expenditures

Deposits

Due to other funds - unrestricted

Due to other goverrments
l]neamed revenues - other

Advances from other funds

Total liabilities

Defened inflows of resources

Unavailable ptoperty taxes

Total defened inflows ofresources.

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items

Inventory
Propefiy taxes

Advances to other funds

Corpus or principal
Restricted for:

Debt serice
Capital projects

Special prrposes

Committed for:
Capital projects

Compensated absences

Encumbrances

Assigned for:
Capital projects

Unassigned

Total fund balances

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

3 l 9,535

4,902,138
243,882

I,968,068
1,61't,419

r 0,158,805

1,756,869

38,526

522,343

376,87'7

5,248,26'l
320,136

1,968,068

1,660,987

17,673,359

|,756,869
57,364

522,343

$ 36,631,302

26,795,087

6,000,000

161,817

48,219

8,573,497
3 1,955,3 88

52,241,08r
4,750,000

500,000

57,342

184,3t2
28,035

92,025,t25
88,444,822

5t,200,549
500,000

1,498,958

43,568

6,0 l 5,596

I 8,838

$ 86,251,726 $ 69,636,425 $ 10,072,455 $ 95,794,160 $ 261,754"166

$ $ $2,326,832
5,097,551

4,067,298
25,249

17,733

1,039,155

|4,292

1.,671.,487

812,602

t,5t6,346

6,114
12,218

$ 3,91 1,878

1 ,1 35,1 63

160,i I 9

I,83 I,634
I,344,458

22,209
175,059

|,044,687

7,916,311

7 ,057,534
5,743,763
l ,856,883
t,7t2,t9l
r,06t,364
9,339,202
1,044,687

$

350,000

9,049,851

I 2,688,1 l 0 4,000,435 9,418,183 9,625,207 35 731 93s

237,326203,828 33,498

203,828 33,498 237,326

38,526
1,7 56,869

115,707

522,343

12,986

23,844

n,69;

2,855,834
9,tt8,'722

22,091,300

25,400

51,989,67 6

st,512
t,7s6,869

i 39,55 1

s22,343

17,693

1,323,782 654,272

2,855,834

9,118,722

24,069,354

25,400

117,625,666

69,602,561
65,635,990

69,602,561

73,359,788 65,635 ,990 654,272 86, r 35,455 225,785,50s

s 86,25r,726 $ 69,636,42s $ 10,072,455 $ 95,794,160

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
RBCONCILIATION OF THB GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OFNET POSITION
SBPTEMBER 30,2023

TOTAL FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The City uses internal selice funds to chalge the costs of fleet services, information setvices, risk managetnent and

employee health selices to otherdepaftments of the City on a cost-reinrbursement basis. The assets and liabilities,

excluding capital assets. of the internal seruice funds are included in tlre governtnental activities in the statement of
net position.

Capital assets used in govemmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not repofied as assets ln

governmental funds. Current year capital outlays are expendifures in the fund financial statenents, but they shoutd

be shown as increases in capital assets in the govemment-wide financial statements. The net effect of including the

balances for capital assets (net ofdepreciation) in the govemmental activities is to increase net position.

s 225,78s,505

45,090,829

588,259,910

(261,943,696)

(21.392,833)

(2e,e43,9s4)

2'1,506,491

$ 573,362,252

Capital assets, net October l, 2022

Net curent year additions

Net curent year deletions

Capital assets, net September 30,2023

Long-tenn debt

Compensated a6sence

RighCto-use lease libility
Right-to-use software libility
Landfill closure and postclosure

$

$ s48,071,912

66,323,678
(26,1 3s,680)

910

$ 229,617,328

23,010,752

2,905,801

425,095
5,984,720

Long-tenn liabilities, including bonds payable and compensated absence liabilities, are not due and payable in the

cunent period and, therefore, ale not reported as liabilities in the funds. In addition, long-tenn debt principal

paymerts are expenditures in the fund financial statements, but they should be shown as reductions in long-tenn

debt in the govemment-wide financial statements. The net effect of including the long{enn liabilities and the debt

principal payments is to decrease net position. Those liabilities consist of:

$ 261,943,696

Included in the iterns related to debt is the recognition of the City's net pension liability required by GASB 68 in the

arnount of $75,046,609, a defered resoru'ce outflow in the amount of $54,700,965, and a deferred resource inflow

in the arnount of$1,047,189.

Included in the items lelated to debt is the recognition of the City's net othel postemploynrent benefits (OPEB)

liabilty required by GASB 75 in the amount of $3'1,171,675, a deferued resource outflow in the atnount of

$ I 1,236, I I 5, and a defered tesource inflow in the amount of $4,008,394.

Various other reclassifications and elirninations are necessary to conveft from the modified accrual basis of
accounting to the accrual basis ofaccounting. These include recognizing unealned tevenue as revenue, eliminating

interfuncl transactions, and recognizing the receivable ft'om the business-type activities for seruices provided by the

internal service funds. The net effect of these reclassifications and recognitions is to inct'ease net position.

Accrued interest payable $ (979,970)

Claims andiudgements (1,335,595)

Internal balances 26,080,842

Intrafund transactions 34,990

lntra-entity receivables 2,322,667

Lease receivables 7 5'7 ,062

Prepaid insurance 626.495

$ 27,506,491

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

The accon'rpanying notes are alt integl'al part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2023

General
Fund

General
Construction

Fund
covlD-19

Relief

Other
Governmental

Funds

Total
GoYernmental

Funds

REVENUES
Taxes

Ad valorrm taxes
Sales taxes

Mixed beverage taxes

Hotel occupancy taxes

Gross receipts business taxes

License and pennits
Interfund revenues
Intergovemmental revenues

Citizen contributions
Constnrction participatioa
Revenue frorn participating taxing entities
Other enlity participations
Charges for seruices

Fines and forfeitures
Investment eamings

Other rentals and comissions
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

EXPENDITURXS
Cunent

General govemment
Staffseryices

Public safety and health

Police protection
Fire protection
Other
Streets, traffic and engineering

Culture and recreation
Auditorium - coliseum
Libraries
Parks

Participant rscreation
MPEV

Solid waste

Transit system

Urbm redevelopment and housing
Infomation technology
Economic development/tourism
Capital outlay
Debt seruice

Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges

Temination vacation and sick leave pay

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) ofrevenues over (under)
expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers from other funds
Transfcrs to other funds

Issuance of long-term debt

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR

56,781,762

75,393,340
1,157,840

8,386,003

22,959,0?8
4,972,928

961,684
4,622,791

7,9t2

45,354,506
3,2 I 9,040
3,535, I I 0

790,065
707,075

5,',194,833

70,000

3,270,050

24,065
1,276,000

16,040,123
(9,1 48,035)

2-936.033

449.657

26,177,878
t62,449

I 3,045, I 08

1,858,030

2,047,t72
4,032,3 l0

299,743
3,854,681

$ $ s 1 r,783,154 $ 68,564,916
'75,393,340

1,157,840

8,386,003

22,959,0'18

4,972,928
961,684

39,531,535

r70,361
l3,l 15,1 08

1,858,030

2,047,172
49,386,81 6

3,518,783

I I,109,498
814,130

2,t18,325135,250

228,849,134 10,434,948 3.385.690

6,248,392
13,498,432

55,570,916
40,846,419
t1,018,420
I 8,334,833

899,290

260.475

4,069,997
4,t68,971
8,790,783

1,268,t69
4,936

20,387,201
5,383,797

6,081,229

4,932,973
95,777

16,944
28,678,308 383,7t4

2t2,701,305 29,594,542 644.189

2.74r.50116,147,829 ( r 9,1 59,594)

63,395,115 306.065.547

757,412
tA21

l2,l I 6,83 1

85,91 0

377,165
6,334,302

13,875,597

57,227,618
40,847,900
29,395,726

18,334,833

4,532,443
4,168,911

10,220,913

7,388,215
4,936

20,38'1,20t
5,383,197

t6,223,694
6,081,229
5,598,149

62,435,693

12,548,000

7,222,354
1.963,702

462,446

I,430,1 30

120,046

t6,223,694

648,832

33,277,894

12,548,000

7,222,354
I,963,702

87,235,83'7 330,t75,873

(23,840,062) (24,110,326)

3,459,194
(24,919,7 t4)

56.888
(2,35r,s42)

t7,32t,287
(3,491,500)

15,125,000

36,877,492
(39,910,791)

15,125,000

(21,460,520)

(5,3 l 2,69 l)
78,672,479

$ 73,359,788

6,892,088

(t2,267,506\

77,903,496

$ 65,635,990

Q-294.654\
446.847

207,425

J_6s!42_

28,954,787

5,114,72s

8l,020,730

$ 86,135,455

12,091,701

( 12,01 8,625)

237,804,130

$ 225,78s,505

The acconrpanying notes are alt integl'al part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF THE
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

TOTAL NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The City uses au irrtemal serryice fund to charge the costs of Ileet services, information sewices, risk Inanagement

and ernployee health seruices to other departments ofthe City. The net income (loss) ofthe intental seruice fund is

ilcluded in the govenxnental activities in the Staternent of Activities, except for net incorne (loss) allocated to the

business-tpe activities for seruices provided by the internal sewice fuirds to those activities. The net effect of this

consolidation is to increase net position.

Cun'ent year capital outlays aud long-tem debt principal payrnents are expenditures in the fuird financial

statemelts, but lhey should be showr as increases in capital assets and reductions in long-term debt iI the

govemment-wide financial statements. Issuance of long-tem debt provides current financial resouces to the

govemrnental funds; however, it should be shown as an increase in long-tem liabilities in the govemment-wide

financial statements. The net effect of including the 2023 capital outlays, issuance of long-tem debt, and debt

principal payments is to increase net position.

$ (l2,or 8,62s)

t3,s5'1,629

60,970,070

(26,e3e,3s4)

5,666,916

1,009,002

(871,482)

Capital outlay

Library books additions

Contributed capital

Issumce of long-tern debt

Premium on bonds

Compensated absences

Unearned revenue

Clairns and judgemcnts

Net loss of intenul seruice funds

allocated to business-t)pe activities
Landfill closure and post-closu'e care

Lease Activity
Accrued interest payable

Deferred amount for premiutn

s 62,435,693

322,0\8

1,486,458

(l s, l 2s,000)
(697,099)

Long-tem debt principal payments

$ 60,9?0,070

Deprcciation is not recognized as an expense in the govemmental firnds since it does not require the use ofcunent
financial resources. The net effect ofthe current year's depreciation is to decrease net position.

GASB 68 requires that certain expenditu'es be derecognized and recorded instead as deferred outflows ofresources.

Ofthese previously defened outflows, ($9,34 1,259) were recognized in the curent year as expenditures, decreasing

the change in net position. Contributions made after the measurement date of December 31,2022 caused the

change in the ending net position to increase by $9,755,628. The City's differences in expected and actual

experience and changes in assunptions were ($16,732,848), and the decrease in expense of $32,092,123 was

recognized due to the cunent year changes iu net pension liability. The impact of all these adjustments is to
increase the change in net position by $5,666,9 I 6.

GASB 75 requires that cefiain expenditues be derecognized and recorded instead as del'ened outflows ofresources.

Ofthese previously deferred outflows, ($1,517,645) were recognized in the current year as expenditures, decreasing

the change in net position. Contlibutions made after the measurement date of December 31,2022 caused the

change in the ending net position to increase by $1,555,920. The City's changes in assumptiotls were $(6,561,911)
and the decrease in expense of $8,789,094 was recognized due to the cment year changes in net OPEB liability.
The impact ofall these adjustments is to increase the change in net position by $1,009,002.

Various other reclassifications and eliminations are necessary to convert fi'orn the rnodified accrual basis of
accounting to the accrual basis olaccounting. These include recognizing unearned revenue as revenue, eliminating

interfund transactiors and the net loss on services provided to the business-type activities by the intemal service

furds. The net eft-ect ofthese reclassifications and recognitions is to increase (decrease) net position.

$ 1,510,052
l,l 88,882

( l,33s,s9s)

(t,s2s,247)
(790,005)
519,369

(976,961)

538,023

$(8 71.482\

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $ 41,374,155

The accompanying notes al'e an integl'al part of the basic financial statements
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30,2023

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and

Sewer

Drainage
Utility Airport Total

Governmental
Activities Internal

Serwice Funds

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

lnvestments, at fair values

Accounts receivable, net

Lease Receivable
Accrued interest receivable

Other accrued revenue

Due from other funds

Due from other govemments

lnventory of supplies

Prepaid expenses

Total cuffent assets

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Other noncurent assets

Lease Receivable non-curaent

Capital assets

Land

Contributed right of vr'ay easements

Underground water dghts

Accumulated depletion - undelground

water rights

Water supply contract

Accumuiated amoftization - water

supply contract

Pipelines and plant

Accumulated depreciation -

pipelines and plant

Runways, buildings and improvements

Accumulated depreciation - runways,

buildings and improvements

Improvements

Accumulated depreciation - improvements

Equipment and vehicles

Accumulated depreciation - equipment

and vehicles

Rightto-use lease asset

Accumulated amortization

Right-to-use software asset

Accumulated amortization

Constluction in progress

Total capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation

Total noncunent assets

744 12,692,438

$ 32,769,911
46,832,911

8,3',7't,327

110,241
246,833

6,125,156

34,990

$ 10,512,211

1,000,000

1,180,227

$ 12,864,898

8,204,140

3,816

1,778,556
98,203

193,013

21,654

s6,147,020

56,037,05 1

9,561,3',70

l,888,797
345,036

6,3 1 8,1 69

34,990
21,654

47,t46,851
I I,250,000

1,335,t74
55,3 i6
18,613

I 88,665

390,882

4,909, I 03

$ $

87,375 87,375

23,164,280 t30,441,462 65,294,604

165,O93,963

34,853

2,435

2,040,262

2,215,645

87,306,598

(12,478,068)

50,336,389

(22,449,4O8)

77'7,864,979

(293,948,ss6)

4,355,639

(3,s87 ,734)

13,'t89,344

87,744

t,5r7,200

18,970,19'7

(1,977,s29)

67,307

(42,636)

3,298

13,102,398

1,670,425

180,',771,377

(t24,1'71,202)

8,550,713

(5,952,583)

178,886,605

34,853

13,104,833

3,798,431

3,732,845

87,306,598

(t2,478,068)
50,336,389

(22,449,408)

77'7,864,9'79

(293,948,556)

180,'1'11,37'7

(124,r',7r,202)

18,9'70,19',1

(r,977,sze)
t2,973,659

(9,582,953)

4,446,840

3,793

'1,265,244

(5,',t10,937)

93,426,923

66,159,735 18,755,422 i 01,910,1 5 1

(67,522,252)

5,453,2',14

(2,971,994)

1,496,178
('120,418)

2,166,562

b) /, 8 i 5,481 37,3'77 ,705 7"1,863,724 '1',|3.056.9t0 32,822,580

822,946,732 51, 167,O49 90,969,420 965,083,201 37,273,213

rorALASSErs J__2lJ;\AlS_

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows $ 9,208,093

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS $ 9,208,093

OF RESOURCES

$ 63,859,487 $ 114,133,700 $ 1,09s,524,663 $ 102,567,817

$ 628,306 $ 2,017,781 $ 11,854,180 $ 4,268,I 51

$ 628,306 s 2,017,781 $ I 1.854,1 80 $ 4,268,151

The accompanying notes are an integral parl of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION, CONTINUED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Business-Tvpe Activities - Enterurise Funds

Water and

Server

Drainage
UtilitY Airport Total

Governmental
Activities Internal

Selryice Funds

LIABILITIES
CURR,ENT LIABILITIES

Vouchers payable

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Due to other govefirnents

Deferred revenue
Deposits
Consumer security deposits

Share of Water Authority debt - cunent
Due to other funds - unrestr.icted

Due to other govemments
Estimated liability for incuned losses

Bonded debt cuffent maturity
Cun'ent portion of right-to-use lease liability
Curent porlion of software liability
Cunent podion of compensated absences

Total cun'ent liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Bonded debt, net of current
Water Authority debt, net of cun:ent

Provision for compensated absences, net
Other accrued expenses

Estimated liabilities for incured loss, net
Right-to-use lease liability
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability

Total noncuraent liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Defened inflows

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS
OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets

Restricted for debt service
Restricted for other purposes

Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

Amounts due govemmental activities for
allocable share ofnet expenses ofcerlain
internal seryice funds

TOTAL NET POSITION OF BUSINESS-
TYPE ACTIVITIES IN STATEMENT
OF NET POSITION

1,038,738
5,7'11,209
6,563,74'7

15,3 15,000 t,425,000

$ 3,846,s74
4,969,369

12,345,725

$ 399,1 1 5

617,509
199,950

418,030
194,248
443,734

t,263,64t
2',1,'196

4,663,719
5,',781,126

12,989,409

1,263,64r
t,066,534
5,771,209
6,563,747

1 6,740,000

1,26'7,284
791,980
23',1,226

t'72,450

4,829,575

$ $ $

180.446 -5.S33 25 121 2l 1,500

94'1,354
92,795
79.418

50,030,808 2.647.50'1 2.3',72.570 0.885 8,418,082

256,066,42r
22,420,955

83 1,1 33

2,503,0'71

28,283,51',1-

89,1 99

547,734
374.499

404,786

1,192,947

t.469.960

284,349,938
22,420,955

1,325,1 18

2,503,071

7,315,504
8,892,293

608,367

13,632,O41
r,29'7,579
1,930,995
3,459,15',1

5,574,823 .

'7,O47 ,834

29,294,949 3.067.693 326.806.879 928.139

* 7444'75045 s 11947.456 -$___l-440263_
q ?Rr R57 764 R 

'S 
746 ))1

$ 4,809,639

l_____4.8!9-639_

$ 504,366,426
13.351.1 13

$ 19,909,530
576.087

.455

s 7'1,516,445
3.298

60t,792,40t
I 3,930,498

89.203.53 I

_$____I=82L2ZL_

$ 30,484,855

4,446.840
40.736.781

$ 288.265 5 15.496.745 $ 20.594.649 $ 1,821,271

$ 288 2_5s s 1s.496.745 S 20.594.649

b

59.737.346 t7,694,730

_$_l?135,1,881_ s 3?,2s't o72 s 95.2t4.4',73 704,926,430 _$______J5J68A15_

(26.080.842\

s 678.845.588

The accompanying notes al'e an ilttegral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, BXPENSES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2023

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and

Sewer

Drainage
Utility

Governmental
Activities Internal

Service Funds

OPERATING REVENUES
Airfield fees and commissions

Charges for services

Employees' benefit plan contributions

lnternai charges

Miscellaneous revenues

Other building and ground rentals

Rents and miscellaneous

Tap fees and frontage charges

Terminal building area rental

Utility sales and service

Drainage utility assessments

Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries, wages and fringe benefits

Supplies

Fuel and oil
Fuel and power

Contractual services

Water Authority charges

Other charges

Claim and loss adjustments

Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

NONOPERATING REVBNUES (EXPENSES)
Gain (loss) in disposal ofproperty
Grants-in-aid
Intergovemmenta l revenue

Passenger facility charge

Settlement Proceeds

Interest earnings

Change in value of investments

Other miscellaneous revenues

Interest expense and fiscal charges

Total nonoperating revenues

(expenses)

Income (loss) before contributions

and transfers

Airport Total

$ $ 1,193,691 $ 1,193,691 $

2,268,781

5,714,496

58,862,538

75,013

2, I 05,853

503,554

232,289
9,7'12,296

93,225,821
7,624,3t0

93,961,664 7,624,310 13,071,840 114,65',7 ,8 14 66,920,828

$

2, I 05,853

503,554

232,289
9,772,296

93,225,82t

7,624,310

16,656,970

3,1r6,483

6,791,582

t1,360,9'71

7,216,296
t6,231,101

t,407,778
28t,577

4,96s,676

921,835

'171,453

2,626,188

23,030,424
4,319,895

7,563,035

15,086,28 I

7,216,296

21,078,732

6,213,702

5,160,834

3,359,566

6,7t0,192

7,822,002

24,375,0'.7'l

9, I 09,835t6,123,392

1,099,122

1,248,771

384,8g;

3,598,860

5,889, I 7l 22,397,460

71,496,795 145 18,773,183 100,692,123 62,751,208

16,464,869 3,202,165 (s,701,343) 13,965,691 4,r69,620

61,258

651,622

5,000,000

6,922,797 I,I 98,980

545,351

t,3'14,702

1,254.82;

I 33.909

61,258

545,351

651,622

1,374,702

5,000,000

9,376,600

s34,655

2,48'.1 ,298
26,359
14,562

(s2,724)(6,793,753) (795,316)

I 33,909

(7,s89,069)

5,841,924 403,664 3,308,785 9,554,373 3,01 0, I 50

22,306,793 3,605,829 (2,392,558) 23,520,064

The acconrpanying notes are an integral part ofthe basic financial statements
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CITY OFAMARILLO, TEXAS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF RBVENUES, EXPENSES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION, CONTINUED
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2023

Business-Tvpe Activities - Enternrise Funds

Water and

Sewer

Drainage
Utility Airport Total

Governmental
Activities Internal

Service Funds

AFTER NONOPERATING REVENUES
(EXPENSES)

Capital contributions

Transfers from other funds

Transfers to other funds

Change in net position

NET POSITION, BEGINNING
OFYEAR

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

NET POSITION, BEGINNING
OF YEAR, RESTATED

NET POSITTON, END OFYEAR

$ 6,485,285 $

(3,242,5s4\

947,000 $

(s4,000)

1,386,933

(48.000)

8,819,218

(3,344,ss4)
6,998,887

(62r,03s)

$ $

25,549,524 4,498,829 (r,0s3,62s) 28,994,728 13,557,622

549,399,834 27, 758,243 95,389,889 672,547,966 61

2,505,527 8',18,209 3,383,',736 656,357

55 r,905,361 27,758,243 96,268,098 6'75,931,702 62,110,854

s 75,668,476$ 577,4s4,885 $ 32,257,072 $ 9s,214,473 $ 704,926,430

(26,080,842)

$ 678,845,588

Allocation of net expenses of certain

intemal service funds to business-type

activities

NET POSITION OF BUSINESS-TYPE
ACTIVITIES IN STATEMENT OF
NET POSITION

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

in Fund Net Position of Proprietary Funds to the Statement of Activities

Total net clrange in fund balances - proprietary funds

lnternal service fund allocation for proprietary funds

Change in net position for primary govemment business-type activities

$ 28,994,728

t,525,247

$ 30,s19,975

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Business-Tvpe Activities - Enternrise Funds

Water and
Server

Drainage
Utilitv Airport Total

Governmental
Activities Internal

Service Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from third parties

Cash received from City departments

Cash payments to suppliers for goods

and services

Cash payments to employees

Cash payments for claims and loss

adjustments

Net cash provided (used) by

operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers to other funds

Transfers from other funds

Amounts borrowed/repaid {iom other funds

Settlement proceeds

Amounts loaned to other funds

Cash payments received for passenger

facility charge

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital

financing activities

CASH FLOWS TROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition and construction of capital

assets

Capital grants received

Issuance ofbonds
Bond premiun less issuance costs
Principal paid on bond maturities

Principal paid on proportionate share of
Water Authority debt

Principal paid on right-to-use lease liability
Principal paid on right-to use software liability
lnterest expense

Capital contributions
Proceeds from insurance

Proceeds from sale ofcapital assets

Net cash provided (used) by capital

and related financing activities

$ 92,892,1'16 $ 7,372,61s S 12,987,965 s 113,252,756 $

(40,560,0'16)

(16,708,293)

(2,810,649)

( 1,3s7,858)

(8,04i,905)
(4,999,903)

(st,412,630)
(23,066,0s4')

66,9'74,820

(24,344,r32)
(6,206,16s)

(27,303,484)

9.121.039807 3,204,108 (53,843) 38,774,072

(3,242,554)

34,990
5,000,000

650,421

(54,000) (48,000) (3,344,5s4)

34,990
5,000,000

650,421

1,t72,281
5,809,637

(47,4e7)

(61 8,43 1)

t,374,702 1,3',14,',702

2,442,857 (54,000) t,326,702 3,715,559 6,3t5,990

(37:1s6,248)

6,485,285

42,920,000
3,476,236

(16,01s,000)

(6,2e6,e41)

(8,655,375)

1,250,980

(7,621,7s9)

4,675,000
329,540

(1,48s,000)

(7e0,760)

947,000

(6,'.7s0,646',)

3,4t7,498

(52,128,6s3)

9,902,783

47,595,000
3,805,',776

(r7,500,000)

(6,296,941)

(9,446,r3s)
947,000

1,250,980

(t2,29r,s09)

(1,r43,496)
(1,0e7,473)

(49,1 lo)

2,271
(1,202,124)

(14,591,063) (3,94s,979) (3,333, l 48) (2r,870,190) (1s,781,441)

The accompanying notes are atr integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, CONTINUED
YEAR f,NDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Business-Tvpe Activities - Enternrise Funds

Water and

Server

Drainage
Utility Airport Total

Governmental
Activities Internal

Service Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sales and matwities of
investment secruities

Purchase of investment securities

Interest and gains on investments

Net cash provided (used) by

investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
ATBEGINNING OFYEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
AT END OF YEAR (RESTRICTED
AND UNRESTRICTED)

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING
INCOME (LOSS) TO NET CASH PROVIDED
BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile operating

income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
(lncrease) decrease in accounts receivable

(lncrease) decrease in deferred outflows
(Increase) decrease in other accrued tevenue

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses

(Increase) decrease in inventodes

lncrease (decrease) in vouchers payable

lncrease (decrease) in accounts payable

lncrease (decrease) in accrued operating

expenses

Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows

lncrease (decrease) in customer deposits

lncrease (decrease) in provision for
compensated absences

Increase (decrease) in net OPEB liability
Increase (decrease) in net pension Iiability
lncrease (decrease) in IBNR accrual

lncrease (decrease) in other accrued expenses

lncrease (decrease) in estimated claims

liabilities

Net cash provided (used) by

operating activities

NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL AND
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Amortization of bond premiums

Decreases (increases) in fair values of
investments

lnveslment premium./discount amort ization

9,201 .243

20,t86,512 94',1.722 I 87,009 21,32r,243 7,264,919

43,662,113 151,851 (r,873,280) 41,940,684 6,920,50'.1

t54,201,76t 24, 149,704 t4,741,476 t93,092,941 44,673,t84

s 197,863,874 $ 24,301,sss $ 12,868,196 $ 235,033,625 $ 51,593,691

$ t6,464,869 S 3,202,r6s $ (5,701,343) $ 13,96s,691 $ 4,169,620

$ 31,870,000

(1 8,500,000)

6,816,512

$ 750,000

(1,000,000)

t,l9'7 ,722

$ 4,750,000

(5,750,000)

1, l 87,009

$ 37,370,000 $

(25,250,000)

30,500,000

(25,7s0,000)

2.514,919

16,123,392

283,03 I
(s,977,s}s)
(1,3s7,222)

(e,382)

I 85,057

3,476,084

( 16,961)

(2,1s4,300)

132,874

t07,091
'700,255

7,047 ,0'78

384,897

(2sr,69s)
(443,921)

(31s,727)

134,548

65,446

(l s3,s86)

6,886

68,800

506,295

5,889,171

1,820,967

(t,414,022)

(s,095)
(306,76s)

188,291

(2,408,t42)

50,1 6 1

149,846

1,683,088

22,397,460
1,852,303

(7,83s,448')

(r,3s7,222)
(9,382)

(t3s,765)
3,303,867

164,138

918,901

9,236,461

9, I 09,835

66,283

(2,920,392)

(954,12'1)

16,5r4
(844,760)

495,835

619,446

$ 35,623,807 $ 3,204, I 08 _$_____ls3J1l_

236,776

(4,716,028)

132,874

1 06,289

(e73,70s)

3,6t3
242,552

3,544,1 80

(2,690,389)

619,446

(250.309)

s 38,774,072 $ 9,121,039

g (t,492,'.162) $ 97,'.7s3 $ $ (1,39s,009) $

(2r 0,876)
131,526

(2t0,876)
r31,526

The accon.rpanying notes are alt ilttegral part of the basic financial statements
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30,2023

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable

Accrued interest receivable

Investments, at fair values

TOTALASSETS

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

Members payable

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION
Held for other governments,

individuals, entities

Net position restricted for
pension benefits

Net position restricted for OPEB

TOTAL NET POSITION

Private-
Purpose

Trust Funds

$ 34,896

$ 34.896

$

$ 34,896

$ 34,896

Pension and

Other Employee
Benefit Trust Funds

Custodial Fund
Civic Center
Operations

$ 9,920,933

3,833,727

523,515

239,470,454

$ 650,136

$ 253,748,629 s 650.1 36

$ 4,007,877

348,281

$ 12,t89

$ $ 4,356,158 $ 12,189

$ $ 637,947

218,341,194

3t,051,277

$ 249,392,47r $ 637,947

The accompanying notes are atr integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

STATEMBNT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2023

Private- Pension and

Purpose Other Employee

Trust Funds Benefit Trust Funds

Custodial Fund

Civic Center
0perations

ADDITIONS
Contributions:

Employer

Plan members

Other

Total contributions

Investment income:

Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair
value of investments

Interest, dividends, and other

investment income

Total investment income

Less investment expense

Net investment income

Event income

Total additions

DEDUCTIONS
Benefits paid

Administrative

Other

Event Expense

Total deductions

Change in net position

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET POSITION, END OFYEAR $ 34.896 $ 249,392,471 $ 637,947

$ $ 12,t06,097

3,269,398

310,969

$

15,686,464

2,783

(48,639,727)

5,414,584

2,783 (43,225,143)

857,461

2,783 (44,082,604)

2,783 (28,396,140)

4,946,100

4,946,100

18,194,592

141,565

3,042
5,538,520

I 8,339, I 99 5,538,520

2,783 (46,73s,339) (s92,420)

32,113 296,127,810 t,230,367

The accon.rpanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARIT I.O, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - COMPONENT UNITS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Investrrents

Receivables, net

Inventolies and plepaid expenses

Other- current assets

Total currenL assets

NONCURRENT ASSETS

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Receivables, net

Net Pension Asset

Land and building held for future incentives

Capital assets:

Buildings and improvements, net of
depreciation

Equipment and vehicles, net of depreciation

Right-to-use lease asset, net of amortization

Constluction in process

Total noncurrent assets

TOTAL ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTF'LOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred charge on refunding

Deferred outflows on net OPEB liability
Deferred outflows on net pension liability

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES

Amarillo
Hospital
District

$ 1,259,396

r5,526,260
20,101 ,501

641,680

793.009

138.321.846

4,172,383

I 36,1 60

$

t.487.624

Amarillo
Economic

Development
Corporation

$ 36,87'1,741

2l,242,910

r0,688,340

548.123

69,357,114

5,22'1,557

29,085,940

Amarillo-
Potter

Events Venue
I)istrict

7,380,485

657,392

7,548,600

736

Amarillo
Convention
& Visitors

Bureau

2.289.781

29,456

29,456

$ 2,319,237

Amarillo
Housing
Finance

Corporation

Amarillo
Health

Facilities
Corporation

Amarillo
Local

Government
Corporation

304,83 l

I 15,686

420,517

4,590,154

47,257,683

I 13,218

Total

2t'/.950.469

I 0,057,332

33,812,254

t6,896,425

62,475,786

231,523

675,880

$ 5,227,601

1,750,000

320,271

82,613

$ 46,r39,131

r 38,520,1 l 5

31 ,225,798
724,293

t,341,t32

$ 2,289,781 $ 144,627 $ 35,154 $

144,627

945

36,099

1 6,800 16,879,625

103,27 | 7,566,232

rt7,569
646,424

4,428,6t4 59,523,347 8,206,728

$ 142.7s0.460 $ 128,880,461 $ 15,587,213 $ 144,62'l

51.961.055 124.149.200

$ 36,099 $ 52,38r,572 $ 342,099,669

$ $ 41s,725 $ $ $ $ $ 415,'725

36,2'79

I,70tr,02ri

36,2'79

220.404

$ 1.487 .624 $ 2s6.683 $ 415,725 $ $ $ $ $ 2, r 60,032

The acconpanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - COMPONENT UNITS, CONTINUED

SEPTEMBER 30,2023

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Current portion of longterni obligations

Total curent liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Liabilities payable from restricted assets -

accrued interest

Noncurrent portion of long-term obligations

Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
Estirnated liabilities

Conrpensated absences

Total noncurrent liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Defered inflow

Total defered inflows ofresources

NET POSITION
Net investnlent in capital assets

Restricted for:

Debt senzice

Other purposes

Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

$ 967,162 $

Amarillo
Hospital
District

967,162

2,891,812

2.89 r.812

3.858,974

t55,',71'7

r55.7 t7

120,071

I 15.846.934

Amarillo
Economic

Development
Corporation

782,405

8.612.758

9.395.1 63

1 04,1 83

23,344,585

13t,3't9

78,704

260.958

23.919.809

33,314,972

3,650,68 I

3.650.681

8,694,955

5,123,374

78.353.t62

Amarillo-
Potter

Events Venue
District

$ 380,580

565.000

945.580

7,195,993

7.19s.993

8.141,573

204,068

657,392

6.999.905

Amarillo
Convention
& Visitors

Bureau

Amarillo
Housing
Finance

Corporation

Amarillo
Health

Facilities
Corporation

Amarillo
Local

Government
Corporation

449.650

$ $ $ $ 7,384 $

Total

2,189,728

9.193.217

52,t97

r5.459

67.656

t4,255

14.255

81,91 I

2.237.326

7.384 r1.382.945

2,322,667

1 04,1 83

32,877,500

3,023,t9r
78,704

260.951i

2.322.667 36.344.536

2,330,05 I 4'1,727,48t

4.553.63',1 8.360.035

4.553.637 8.360.035

45,048,234 54,06'1,328

5,780,766

24,256,388

204.067;103

$ 36.099 S 45.497.884 $ 288.172.185

36.099

24,256,388

s t40.223.393 s 92.t71.491 $ 7.861.365 S 2.237.326

t44,627

$ 144,627

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION - COMPONENT LINITS

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

EXPENSES
Functions/Programs:

Public healtlr

Economic development/industrial

Econom ic development/Tourism

lntelest on long-te|m debt

Tssuance of long+erm debt

Total program expenses

PROGRAM REVENUES

Intergovemmental revenues - operating

Charges for services / Local Provider Participation

Gain (loss) on disposal ofplopefiy
Miscellaneous

Total program revenues

Net (expense) revenue

GENERAL REVENUES

Sales taxes

Gross receipts business taxes

Investment eamings (loss)

Total general revenues

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL

Change in net position

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

50.489.783 27.423,469 2,994,273

375,238

39,943,657 2,329,064

1,123,7 t3
632.106 45.227

40.3 I 8.895 1 2.084.883 45,227

(10,170,888) 05,338,s86) (2,949,046)

3,803,394

Amarillo
Local

Government
Corporation

1.397

t,397

1,397 (1,557,281)

34,702 4'1.0s5.165

Total

I,916,744
$ 50,489,783

28,416,855

5,099,252

I,121,398

|.9t6.744 85. I 27.288

393,3 r l 768,549

42,272,721

9,123,7 13

744,543

393,3 I I 52,909,526

( 1.523.433) (32.2t7.762\

(33.848)

28,953,017

4,187,333

3,81 9.303

(33,848) 36,959,653

(762."t96')

Amarillo
Hospital
District

$ 50,489,783 $

348 134

Amarillo
Economic

Development
Corporation

26,500, I l r

923,358

25,t49,623

3,165,764

,A.marillr
Potter

Events Venue
District

Amarillo
Convention
& Visitors

Bureau

2,303,01 9

2.303.0 I 9

67.2r0

67,210

(2.235.809)

4,187,333

40.788

Amarillo
Housing
Finance

Corporation

Amarillo
Health

Facilities
CorDoration

b$ $ $ $

2,796,233

198,040

292-336 4.732

348,134 28,3t5,387

(7 62.796\

4,095,730 4,228,r2r 4,732

(9.822.7s4\ 12.2t4,005 1.146.684 1,992,312 4,732

r 50.046.147 79.957.486 6,714,681 245.0t4 1 39,895

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIF'ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Definition and Scope of Reporting Entity

The City of Amarillo (the City) was chartered in 1913, as authorized by a statute enacted by the Texas
Legislature that year, as the fiist city in Texas and fifth city in the United States to adop! the.commission
forin of government. The principal services accounted for as general governmental functions include
public safety and health, streets, solid waste, culture and recreation, planning and_ zoning, a transit system
ind general-administrative service. In addition, the City maintains the water and sewer system, drainage
utilities, and the airport, the operations of which are accounted for as enterprise funds.

The Govemmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) established standards for defining the financial
reporting entity. Under such standards, the following entities have been determined to be.component
units ofthe City for financial reporting purposes because of their operational or. financial benefit or
burden relationsirips with the City.- Based on fhese standards, the City has the following component units:

Discretely Presented Component Units

Amarillo Hospital District

The Amarillo Hospital District (the District), the first city hospital district in Texas, was established on
March 24,lgsg,by an amendment to the Constitution of the State of Texas. Its area is co-extensive with
the incorporated limits of the City of Arnarillo. The facilities built by the_ D.istric-t constitute a.regional
center, s6rving the populace of an area that extends far beyond the boundaries of the City a^nd county,
across the entire Panhandle of the State of Texas and even surrounding states. Because of economic
changes in the healthcare industry, in May 1996 the physical plant of the District was'so_ld to-a for-profit
hospltal entity, Northwest Texas Healthcare System, which, as one of the conditions of the sale, as-sumed

responsibility for medical care of indigent citizens of the District to 2027 in exchange fgr inflation-
adjusted, annual payments in the range of (in 1996 dollars) $6 million to $8 million. The inflation
adjustment ceased in 2006 and the payment was fixed for the balance of the contract, whic! was for an

ad-ditional l0 years unless the provider opted to extend the contract an additional 15 years. The quarterly
payment to the provider was-fixed at $1,735,385 per quarter or $6,94_1,540 annually. Certainpublic
heittn services, wtrich had been provided by tlie District, were assumed by the City. The District has no
employees, but continues to exisi as a govefirmental entity. Effective October l,1996, the City.assumed
responsibility for serving the District as its fiscal agent for purposes of maintaining its financial records.
However, since the sale of the hospital, the Districlhas not had to levy an ad valorem tax. The earnings
from the sales proceeds together with the funds on hand at the time of the sale have been sufficient to
fund indigent care payments and other expenses of the District.

The District cunently collaborates with Northwest Texas Healthcare System to ensure both parties best
allocate their resouices for the provision of care to the low income and needy residents in their
community. As part of this collaboration, Northwest has proposed that the District fund paygents to
Northwesiunder ihe Medicaid program ("Medicaid"). Accordingly, the District suspended the "Indigent
Care Agreement," which was'part of the sales agreement and replaced it with an almost identical
agreemJnt called the "Health Care Services Agreement." With the suspension of the "Indigett. Care

A-greement," the District was no longer obligated to make indigenl care_payments. However, the District
t"rnOeO Northwest Texas Hospital's Medicaid program. The "Indigent Care Agreement" was amended to
extend the suspension through May 8,2021. The District is prepaid through May 8, 2020 and has

provided $76.2 rnillion in funding to the Medicaid program versus $93.7 million in ind_igent. care
payments that would have been due under the contract. On May 17, 2016, Norlhwest Texas Healthcare
^Syst"m 

exercised an option to extend the term of the "Indigent Care Agreement" until May 7 ,20.3-6. T.he

"indigent Care Agreeinent" indicated that if the extension occurred then the contractual consideration

CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Definition and Scope of Reporting Entity (Continued)

would be periodically adjusted by a consumer price index (CPf factor. On M.aV 6, 2020, both parties
agreed to an amount to satisff att Cpt adjustments prior to May 8, 2020 and,-the quarte_rly amount the
District would begin paying on May 8,2020. The CPI increases were in effect from May 8, 2020 through
May 8, 2021. The payment is fixed at the May 8,202I rate through the end of the contract.

On August 8, 2017 the Amarillo Hospital District held a public hearing and created a Local Provider
Participation Fund (LPPF). The District set the mandatory payment rate for the 2023 fiscal year at 4.t7%o
of net patient revenue. The rnandatory payments are deposited into the LPPF. The funds may be_used to
support the nonfederal share of payments described in Section 2954.103(c)(1) of_the Health-and_Safety
C6<ie. The LPPF is broad based as it applies to all nonpublic hospitals located in Amarillo Hospital
District that provide inpatient hospital seivices. The formula for calculating-the mandatory payments is
the same foi each hospital. No-hospitals are held harmless or exempt from paying the mandatory
payments.

The District is considered to be a part of the City's financial reporting entity because its Board of
Managers is appointed by the City Council and, additionally, the City Council has final authority overany
tax levy and the total amount of the annual budget. The Boards are not substantially the same, nor does
the District provide selices to the City.

Amarillo Economic Devel opment Corp oration

The Arnarillo Economic Development Corporation (AEDC) is a nonprofit corporation that was formed in
1990 for the purpose of increasing employment opportunities, primarily through assisting_qualifying^
enterprises with funds provided by-a portion of the local sales tax. Assistance may be in the form of
incentive grants, loans, or leases which call for either discounted rates or rebates based on job
developmant and or local spending. The City serves as fiscal agent for AEDC'9 funds as well as its
accounting records. AEDC is considered to be a part of the City's financial reporting entity, because L!e
City Counlil appoints its Board of Directors and approves its budgets. The Boards are not substantially
the same, nor does AEDC provide seruices to the City.

Amarillo-Potter Events Venue District

The Amarillo-Potter Events Venue District (Venue District) was established in January 1998, upon the
approval of the voters of the City of Amarillo and Potter County to create a veElcle.for. financing 

.a
livestock arena and expansion of the Civic Center. Starting in December 1998, the District issued bonds
to finance the first phase of this construction, consisting of the livestock arena, and in December 2000
bonds were issued to fund the Civic Center expansion. Subsequent to the initial debt issuances, the
District has undertaken debt refundings to reduce debt service payments. Debt service is provided by a

2o/ohotel occupancy tax and a 5% shorfterm motorvehicle rental tax, which became effective April 1,

1998. Should sucli tax revenues be insufficient, a rental payment from the City for use of the expanded
Civic Center facilities is required. The City's rental obligation is the greater of any $10 per month or any
shortfall in the debt service fund due to insufficient Venue District tax receipts. The City serves as a
fiscal agent for Venue District funds as well as the accounting records. The Venue District is considered
to be a part of the City's financial reporting entity, because the City's mayor appoints four of the seven
membeis of the Venue District's Board of Directors. However, the Boards are not substantially the same.

CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC F'INANCIAL STATEMBNTS

Year Ended September 30,2023
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Definition and Scope of Reporting Entity (Continued)

Amarillo Housing Finance Corporation

Amarillo Housing Finance Corporation (AHFC) was established to provide funding for home purchases
by low to modeiate-income persons and families. Under the current program, mortgage loans are
restricted to first-time homebuyers in targeted areas of the City. Beginning in April 1996, AHFC has

issued single-family mortgage revenue bonds in the principal amounts of $15,700,000, and $10,000,000
in 2003. The bonds are pur-hased by Freddie Mac, loans are made by local lending institutions, and the
funding of the mortgages with the bond proceeds is handled by the trust department of a financial
institution. The City serves as fiscal agent for AHFC. AHFC is considered to be a part of the City's
financial reporting entity, because the City Council appoints its Board of Directors and has discretion over
their terms of office as well as the programs and activities of the Corporation. The Boards are not
substantially the same, nor does AHFC provide services to the City.

Amarillo Local Gov ernment Corporation

Amarillo Local Government Corporation (LGC) is a nonprofit cotporation that was formed March 2011
for the purpose of aiding and assisting the City to promote the development of the geographical area of
the City. The City serves as fiscal agent for LGC funds as well as its accounting records. LGC is
considered to be a part of the City's fina-ncial reporting entity, because the City Council appoints its Board
of Directors, however the Boards are not substantially the same.

Amarillo Health Facilities Corporation

The Amarillo Health Facility Corporation (the Corporation) was established to assist the public health
function. This Corporation can provide for the acquisition, improvement, renovation, furnishing or
equipment of a project that is detennined by the Board of Directors, who are appoint"{_Qy lhe,City
Council, to be requiied, necessary or convenient for health care, research, and education within the State
of Texas to assisf the maintenance of public health. Assistance may be in the form of the issuance of
bonds and loaning money to these providers of health care services. The City serves as fiscal agent for
the Corporation funds as well as its accounting records. The Corporation is considered to be a part of the
City's financial reporting entity, because the City Council appoints the Board of Directors and has the
authority to approve the budget.

Amqrillo Convention And Visitors Bureau, Inc.

Amarillo Convention and Visitors Bureau (the Bureau) is a nonprofit corporation that was fonned
October l, 2020 for the purpose of soliciting, acquiring, and staging conventions, the promotion of
tourism and the hotel industries and the attraction and entertainment of visitors to and from the City and
the surounding area thereby promoting the economic development and social welfare of the City. The
City serves as fiscal agent fofthe Bureau as well as its accounting records. The Bureau is considered to
be a part of the City's financial reporting entity, because the City Council appoints its Board of Directors,
however the Boards are not substantially the same.

While the above-nan,ed entities are considered part of the City's overall reporting entity, they are

discretely presented in a separate column of the City's combined financial statements to emphasize that
they are legally separate from the City.

CITY OF' AMARILLO, TBXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2423
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Blended Component Units

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #l

Tlre Tax Increment ReinvestmentZone Number One (TIRZ #1) was created by the City Council in FY
2007 pursuant to the Texas Tax Increment Financing Act, Tax Co.de, Chapter 31 1. The. purpose 9f tfe
,on, i. to promote the development of or redevelophent of certain contiguous geographic areas i.n the

City. The bperations of TIRZ^#I benefit the C1ty's;redevelopment of downtown. The City C^ouncil has

final approvl.l authority on the budget and all TIP.Z,#l p{ojecjl and issues debt on behalf of TIRZ #1.

TIRZ #i revenues are pledged towaid repayment of the dtbt. The operations of TIRZ #1 are included in
the governmental activitieJ of the government-wide financial statements as a separate special revenue

tund.

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #2

Tlre Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Nurnber Two (TIRZ #2) was created by the City Council in FY
2017 pursuant to the Texas Tax Increment Financing Act, Tax Co.de, Chapter 311. The.purpose 9f !lt"
,on. is to promote the development of or redevelopment of certain contiguous geographic areas in.the

City. fne City Council has hnal approval authoiity on the. lu$eet and all TIRZ #2 projects. flq
opdrations of inZ #2 is included in the_ governm-ental activities of the government-wide financial
sfatements as a separate special revenue fund.

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #3

The Tax Increment ReinvestmenlZone Number Three (TIRZ #3) was created by the City Council in FY
2023 pursuant to the Texas Tax Increment Financing Act, Tax Co.de, Chapter 311. The_purpose of the

,on, i, to promote the development of or redevelopment of certain contiguous geographic areas in the

City. fne City Council has hnal approval authoiity on the. lu$get and all TIP.Z #3 projecls. f!:
opJrations of ifRZ #3 is included ln the. governmbntal activities of the government-wide financial
statements as a separate special revenue fund.

The component units separately issued financial statements qay-!e obtained by contacting the Director of
Finance, City of Amarillo, P.O. Box 1971, Amarillo, Texas 79105-

Government-Wide and F'und Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statenents (i.e.,-the .Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
ActivTties) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities, o! tle primary govemment and its
,o-pon"nt ,rnit*. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these

staternents. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type a-ctivities, *trictr rely to a significant extent on fees

and charges for support.' Likewise, the primary government { reported separately. fi'om certain legally

separate componeni units for wliich the piimary govemment is financially accountable.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function_ or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direci expexses are those that are clearly identifiable with a

spEcific function or segmEnt. Program revenues include: l).charges to customers or. applicants who
purchase, use, or direclly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given.function.or
iegment,' and,' 2) grants and contributions that are restricled to meeting the operational _or_ capital

re{uirenients of a [articular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among

program revenues are repofted instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds on the basis of
aciounting applicable to funds-based financial statements.. A separate financial statement_is also provided
for fiduciily'funds, wliich with respect to the City comprise only cash and investments which are handled

by the City'in the capacity of a trust or custodial fund. These assets are excluded from the Statement of
Net Position because they do not represent resources of the City.
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CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTBS TO BASIC F'INANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

Tlie government-wide financial statements are repofied using the economic resources measurelnent focus
and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of
the timing of related cash flows. Properly taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are

levied. Grants and similar items are fecognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed
by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the flow of current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. This means that only current assets and
current liabilities are generally included on the balance sheets. The reported fund balance (net current
assets) is considered-a meaiure of "available spendable resources." Governmental fund operating
statements present increases (revenues and other financial sources) and decreases (expenditures and other
financing uies) in net current assets. Revenues are considered to be available when they are_ collectible
within t[e cument period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current pelod. For this
purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected withiq 60 days of the end of the
^curient 

fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is _incurred, as under accrual
accounting. Hbwever, de6t service expenditures, including employee termination payments made by the
Compensated Absences Fund, are recorded only when payments are due.

Sales taxes are considered "measurable" when in the hands of the State Comptroller and are recognized as

revenue at that time. Otfier major revenues that are determined to be susceptible to accrual include
property taxes, utility franchise taxes, interest, rentals, charges for services, and intercity charges. Wastb
iollecti-on fees are recorded as revenue when billed, which is on a cycle billing basis. Intergovernmental
grants or revenues based on the "reimbursements of expenditures" concept are recorded as revenues when
the related expenditures are made. Other intergovernmental revenues are reflected as revenues at the time
of receipt or earlier if the availability criterion is met.

The Cify repofts the following major govemmental funds:

The Generat Fund is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the
general government except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

The General Construction Fund accounts for construction projects that are financed primarily by general
revenues, as well as accounts for the resources designated for replacement of existing buildings,
improvements and equipment and for similar projects.

The COVID-|9 Fund accounts for the grant funding received on an advanced basis for future
expenditures.

All proprietary funds are accounted for on a cost of services or "flow of economic resources"
measurement focus. This means that all assets and all liabilities (including capital assets and long-term
debt) associated with their activities are included on their balance sheets. Costs of providing goods and
services during the period include depreciation on capital assets. All proprietary funds follow generally
accepted accounting principles prescribed by GASB.

Consequently, their affairs are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. Tlreir revenues are

recognized when they are earned, and their expenses are recognized when they are incurred.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued)

The City repofts the following major proprietary funds:

The Water and Sewer Fund accomts for the provision of water and sewer services to residents and
commercial enterprises of the City and proximate area.

The Drainage Utility Fund provides for a dedicated funding source for the operations and maintenance of
the existing storm-water system.

The Airport Fund accounts for the operation of the City's internqtional airport, which provides runway
and pasienger services as well as leases of former U. S. Air Force facilities to commercial tenants.

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types:

For;r internal service funds account for fleet services, information services, risk management, and
employee health services provided to the other departments of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary funds account for assets held by the City in a trustee and custodial capacity on behalf of others.
Trust funds account for assets held by the City under the terms of a formal trust agreement.

The trust funds manage the Amarillo Relief and Retirernent trust fund (AFRRF), the Amarillo Post
Employment Benefits trust fund and private purpose trust funds. The AFRRF was established for
members of the City of Amarillo fire department and accounts for contributions to the plan by the City
and Fire Fighters. See NOTE 10 for more infotmation.

Tlre Post Employment Benefits Trust Fund was established by the City effective January 2073 to account
for funds to finance other post employment benefits paid by the City and the payment of these benefits as

they come due. The fund presently is accounting for the payment of retiree's benefits on a "pay as you go

basis. See Note 10 for more information.

The private purpose trust funds account for activities that are not City prngrams,_ but are programs
sponsored byindividuals, private organizations, or other governments. Although the City lerl/gs as fiscal
agent, the funds received and held under the Centennial Parkway fund, the Indigent Dog_Bite Victim fund
and the Amarillo Industrial Development Corporation are not available to support the City activities and
programs, but are received and held for individuals, private organizations or other govemments.

The custodial fund accounts for the Civic Center Operations fund is used to account for assets that the
City holds for others in a custodial capacity.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are adrninistrative service charges and payments in lieu of
taxes between the-City's water and sewer function and various other functions of the Cify. Elimination of
these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions
concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include: l) charges to customers or applicants for goods,.services
or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions,
including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than
as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes and investment revenues.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued)

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in-

connection with-a proprietary firnd's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of
the Water and Sew-er Fund, the Drainhge Utitity Fund and the Airport Fund are charges to customers for
sales and services, including tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the
water and sewer system. The principal operating revenues of the internal service funds- are charges to
other funds for services and allocations of self-insurance costs. Operating expenses for these funds
include the direct costs of personnel, supplies, and similar items needed to render the sales and services,
including depreciation on -apital assets, as well as adrninistrative expens_es. All revenues and expenses
not meeiing ihis definition, such as investment earnings and passenger facility charges, are reported as

nonoperating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use

restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Estimates Inherent in Financial Statements

Preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
Staies ofArnerica requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts
of assets and liabilitiis and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, as well as the repofied amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

The estimated liabilities related to self-insurance costs, net pension liability and net OPEB liability are
material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant changes in the near term.

Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position
or f,'und Equity

Deposits and Investments

With the exception of certain restricted and special funds, the City pools the resources of the various
funds in ordef to facilitate the management of cash. Records are maintained that reflect each fund's
equity in the pooled account.

For financial reporting pulposes a portion of the investment portfolio is classified as eguivalent to_ cash.

Cash equivalents are-defined as short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and have original maturities of three months or less, which present an

insignificant risk ofchanges in value because ofchanges in interest rates.

Debt securities held by the City's various operating and reserve funds are valued at fair value.

I nt erfund Rec eivabl e an d, P ay abl es

Activities between funds generally represent payment of charges to various departments for services
rendered by other departments, reimbursements for allocated shares of expenditures, transfers of the

City's unrestricted resources to supplement the inter-governmental grants and similar restricted resources
of special revenue funds, and transfers of resources set aside to fund the long;term capital plan.
Outslanding balances of these activities are reported as "due to/from other funds" and "advances tolfrom
other funds." Any residual balances outstanding befween the governmental activities and business{ype
activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal balances" and "advances
tolfrom other ftinds."
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position
or Fund Equity (Continued)

Other Receivables

Receivables of both governmental and proprietary funds are reported in_the government-wide financial
statements on the acciual basis of accounting. In ihe governmental fund financial statements, receivables

are comprised of those amounts that are coniidered to be both measurable and available as defined under

the modiified accrual basis of accounting. As a city ordinance prohibits the appropriation of-property
taxes until collected, the entire amouniof such taxes considered measurable and available has been

reserved. Taxes receivable other than property taxes are reflected as accounts receivable (gross rec,eipts

business taxes) or due from other governments (sales taxes collected and disbursed by the State)- Solid
waste disposai fe"s are recorded *hen billed on a cycle billing basis. Most intergovernmental grants

provide f6r reimbursement of actual costs, and the rel-ated revenues are recognized in the fiscal period of
'the underlying expenditures. Because payments on paving notes and assessments are uncertain and often
long deferrea, tney are reflected as revenues when collected.

Receivables of proprietary funds are recorded when earned. Unbilled water and sewer revenues are

estimated and accrued at year-end.

All receivables are reported at their gross value and, where appropriate, are reduced by the estimated
portion that is expected to be uncollectible.

Inventories, Prepaid and (Jnearned Revenue

Inventories of supplies are reflected at cost, determined on an average-cost-basis..Inventories of motor
fuel and oil are maintained by Fleet Services (an internal service fund), while all other inventories of
materials and supplies, including water and sewer pipeline and related stores and automotive parts, are

maintained by ttie General Fund, being recorded under the _"consumption method" as .inventory
acquisition (cunent assets) at the time the i-nventory items are purchased, and charged to the various funds

and departments of the City on the basis of requisitions.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to. future accounting periods and are recorded as

prepaid iteins in both government-wide and fund financial statements. Such iterns include payments.of
'the'housing assistance 

-program which must be disbursed before fiscal year-end in order to be received by
the vendorl on Octobef l,6ut are obligations of the fiscal year beginning on that date.

Uneamed revenues repofted in the governmental fund financial stat€ments generally replesent delinquent

taxes in excess of amounts currentlly available and advance rentals collected by the City's auditorium-
coliseum complex. Unearned revenues reported in the statement of Net Position represent grant awards

received for future grant expenditures.

Provision is rnade in the Risk Management and Employee Insurance funds (internal service.filnds) for the

estimated amounts of liabilities related to incurred claims, including provisions for future settlement
payments of both known and unknown loss events.

Restricted Assets

Cerlain resources of the TIp.Z #1 Fund, GO Bond Construction Fund, Civic Center Improvement Iund,
Fleet Services Fund, Water and Sewer Fund, Drainage Utility Fund and Airport Fund are set aside for the

construction and purchase of capital assets as well as repayment of its revenue bonds under applicable

bond covenants. 
'Such 

resources and the related liabilitiei payable out of those resources are reported in
the financial statements as noncurrent assets and liabilities'

CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
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Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position
or Fund Equity (Continued)

Capital Assets

Capital assets consist of property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (streets, alleys, ovetpasses,
cuibs and gutters and drainage systems), as well as the cost of construction projects in orocess. Items
having a value of more than $5,000 are capitalized. The costs of notmal maintenance and repairs that do
not add to the value of assets or materially extend their lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the
government-wide financial statemenis. Capital assets of the proprietary funds are also_reported in the
applicable financial statements, but capital assets are not included in the governmental fund financial
statements.

Capital assets are stated at historical cost or at acquisition value at date received, if donated, net of
applicable depreciation. Material interest costs incurred during capital construction pe_rformed by
pioprietary rype funds are capitalized. Interest expense incurred by the governmental funds is not
capitalized.

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets used by proprietary funds is charged as an expense against
their operations. Depreciation of capital assets used in govemmental fund activities is reported only in
the government-wide fi nancial statements.

Property, plant, equipment and infrastruoture are depreciated or depleted over the_estimated useful lives
using the straight-fine method. The estimated useful lives are generally witliin the following ranges:

Buildings and improvements
Streets and related infrastructure
Traffic signals
Landfill improvements
Water supply contract
Water rights
Water pipelines

30-40 years

50 years

30 years

40 years

85 years

20-100 years

50 years

Sewer pipelines
Runways and related improvements

Motor buses

Automobiles, vans
Data processing equipment
Machinery and other equipment

Office equiprnent
Library books

75 years
10-30 years

7 years

3-7 years

5 years

7-30 years

5-10 years

1 5 years

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of righrof-way easements. TlTe right-of-way easements have an indefinite life
and, accordingly, are not subject to amortization. Details relating to the City's intangible assets are
provided at Note 7.

Leases

Effective October l, 2021, the City implemented GASB No. 87, Leases. As the lessee, the City
determines whether a contract is, or contains a lease at inception. Lease agreements with a maximum
lease term of twelve months or less, including options to extend, are accounted for as a short-tenn lease.

Lease agreements that transfer ownership of the underlying asset to the City at the end of the contractare
recorded as a finance purchase with a related lease liability. Lease agreements not classified as a short-
term lease, or a finance purchase are accounted for as an intangible right to use lease asset. An
Intangible right to use lease asset represents the City's right to use an underlying asset during the lease

term and tlie lease liability represents the City's obligation to make lease payments arising frorn the
lease. Intangible right to use lease assets and lease liabilities are recognized at lease commencement
based upon the estirnate present valpe of unpaid lease payments over the lease term. The City uses its
incremental borrowing rate based oh information available at lease commencement in determining the
present value of unpaid lease payments. As the lessor, the City applies the same criteria but recognizes a

lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources equal to the present value of the lease payments.
Details relating to the City's leases are provided at Note 8.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferued Inflows of Resources, and Net Position
or Fund Equity (Continued)

Subscription B as ed Infonna tion Technolo gt Arrangement

Effective October l, 2022, the City implemented GASB No. 96, Subscription - Bas9l Inforntation
Technologt Arrangements (SBITA). Asihe end user of technology affangements, the City determines
whether itr arrang&nent contains a SBITA, which results in a right-to-use subscription as-sel, an intangible
asset, and a corrJsponding subscription liabilify. SBITAs, that at the commencement of the subscription
term, has a maximum poisibte temr of 12 months (or less), including any options_to extend are classified
as short-term. Intangible right-to-use SBITA assets and liabilities are recognized_at the comtnencement
based upon the expected payments to be made during subscription term discounted using the interest rate
the SBITA vendoi charges which may be the interest rate implicit in the agreement- If the interest rate

cannot be readily determined the City;s estimated incremental borrowing rate is used. Details relating to
the City's SBITAs all provided at Note 9.

Compensated Absence

City employees are entitled to paid vacation and sick leave, based on length of service, which ac-cumulate

anci pariialiy vest. The City\s vested obligations under this_policy are accrued and are reflected as

liabifities in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.

Emplovees elieible for time-and-a-half overtime can accumulate paid time off in lieu.of overtime pay' In
addition to ambunts for accumulated paid vacation and sick leave, comp time in lierfof overtime is also

reflected as a liability in the govemment-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.

Claims and Judgements

Claims and judgements are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of GASB pronouncements are met.
Claims andlud-gements that mature or become due are recorded duringthe_year-as expenditures.in the

governmentil finds. If they have not matured, no liability is recognized in the governmental 
^fun$

itatements. Claims and judgments are recorded in the government-wide statements and proprietary funds
as expenses when the related liabilities are incurred.

Arbitrage Payable

The Federal Tax Reform Act of 1986 requires issuers of tax-exempt debt to make payments to the United
States Treasury for investment income r-eceived at yields that exceed the issuer's tax.exempt borrowing
rates. The Treasury requires payment for each issue every five years. The estimated liability is updated
annually for all tai-exempt iisuances or changes in yields until such time payment of the calculated
liability is due. The City's governmental activities and business-type .activities reported an arbitrage
liability as of Septernber 30, 2023 of 5443,468 and $2,418,625, respectively'

Long-Term Obligations

Long-tenn debt and other long-tenn obligations are reported as liabilities^in the government-wide and

prop'rietary fund financial staternents. Bonds payable are reported net of related discounts which are

amortized over the terms of the related debts.

In the fund financial statements, governlnental fund types report the proceeds of debt issuances, net of
discounts, during the current period as other financing sollrces'
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position
or Fund Equity (Continued)

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of tesources and deferred inflows
of resources related to peniions, and pension expense, information about the Fiduciary Net Position of the
Texas Municipal Retiiernent System (TMRS) and additions to/deductions from TMRS' Fiduciary Net
Position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by TMRS. For this purpose, plan
contributions are recognized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when
contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to peniions, and pension expense, information about the Fiduciary Net Position of the
Amarillo Firemen's Relief and Retirement Fund (FRRF) and additions to/deductions from FRM's
Fiduciary Net Position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by FRRF. For this
purposeiplan contributions are recognized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee,
whictr is when contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported alfair value.

Ot h er P os temp I oym ent B e n efi ts

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liabilitg deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the City's
Post Employment Health Plan (the Plan) and additions to/deductions from the Plan's fiduciary net
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Plan- 

_ 
For this purpose, the

Plan recognizes benefit payments when due and payable, in accordance with the benefit terms.
Investments are reported at fair value.

D eferred Outfl ow s /I nfl ows of Re s our c es

In addition to assets, the statement of net position includes a separate section for deferred outflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, repres,ents a-

consumption of net assets that applies to a fufure period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. At September 30,2023, the City has three items that quali!
for reporting in this category-a defered charge on refunding of bonds, a defened outflow related to the
City's net pension liability and the net OPEB liability.

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Defened charge on refunding
Deferred outflow related to the net pension liability

TMRS
FRRF

Defered outflow related to the OPEB liability

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

$ 78,414

s 82_0s9.412

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position includes a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represe,nts an-

acquisition of net asiets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be- recognized as an inflow of
resburces (revenue) until that iiine. At September 30,2023, the City had five iterns which qualify for
reporting in this category-deferred inflow related to the City's deferred gain on refunding, net pension
liability, the net OPEB liability, unavailable property taxes and right-to-use lease receivable.

43,553,514
25,912,800
12.514.624
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position
or f,'und Equity (Continued)

D efetv e d Outfl ow s / I nfl ows of Re s o urces ( Continued)

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred gain on refunding
Deferred inflow related to the net pension liability

TMRS
FRRF

Deferred inflow related to the net OPEB liability
Deferred inflow related to the right-to-use lease receivable
Unavailable property taxes

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

$ 935,352

$_ 34J50-5U

2,755,804
4,803,358
4,174,492

21,844,202
237 "326

difference between the City's total assets, deferred
inflows of resources represents net position. Net

Net Position

In the govemment-wide financial statements, the
outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred
position displays the following three components:

Net investment in capital assets - This amount consists of capital assets net of accumulated
depreci4tjon and reduted by outstanding debt that is attributed to the acquisition, construgfion, or
improvement of the assets.

Restricted net position - This amount is restricted by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other govemments.

Llnrestricted net position - This amount is the net position that does not meet the definition of
"net investment in capital assets" or "restricted net position." It represents the amount available
for future operations.

Fund Balances

In the governmental funds financial statements, fund balances are classified as follows:

Nonspendable fund balance - Includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in
spendable form or they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Restricted .fund balsnce - Includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes because of
state or federal laws or externally irnposed conditions by grantors or creditors.

Committed fund balance - Includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes as

pursuant to official action by the City Council prior to the end of the reporting period.
Commitments are made and can be rescinded only via resolution by the City Council.

Assigned fund bqlance * Cornprises arnounts the City intends to use for a specific purpose but is
neith'er restricted nor committed. The fonnal budget as approved by the City Council authorizes
the City Manager to assign fund balance.

(Jnassigned.fiind balance - Represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and
has not been restricted, comrniited, or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

When restricted and other fund balance resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use

restricted resources first, followed by cornrnitted, assigned and unassigned amounts, respectively.

Change in Accounting Principles and Prior Period Adjustments

GASB No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangement (SBITAs), was effective for
financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2021 . The adoption of GASB 96 required a prior
period adjustment of $132,405 to report the effect of GASB 96 retroactively. _ Tltq QIU'I fixed asset

iubledgei over depreciated fixed assets in resulting a prior period adjustment of $3,3 83,736. The prior
period adjustments to net position at September 30, 2022, is as follows: 

Governmentar Business_type
Activities Activities

Net position at September 30,2022
as previously reporled

Change in reporting for (SBITAs)
Accumulated depreciation correction

Net position at September 30, 2022, as restated

s 53t,255,692 $ 644,941,877
732,405

3.383.736

$_648325-613ff3r988-097

NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Budgetary Information 
.: : =As provided by state law, the City follows these procedures in establishing the annual budgetary data

reflected in the financial statements.

At least 30 days prior to the time when the City Council makes its tax levy for the commencing fiscal year
beginning Ociobir 1, the City Manager, as budget officer, files a proposed opergtin-g budg.et, including-
proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. Such budget is-available for the^inspection of
-any 

taxpayei, and public hearings are conducted subsequent to the time of filing. Prior to October l, the

budget is iegally enacted througli passage of an ordinance. Under the City's budget ordinance, the City
Council hasluthority to make iuch changes in the budget as it deems waranted. Additionally, the City
Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted arnounts among departments and among expenditure_ codes
within any department or fund. The legal level of control (the level at which expenditure! may not lega_lly

exceed appropriations) for each fund is the fund's total expenditure budget. A_ccordingly, revisions that
increase 

-the total expenditures of a fund rnust be approved by the City Council. Except for the

employrnent of encumbrance accounting, budgets are adopted consistent with generally accepted
accounting principles. Unencumbered appropriations lapse at year-end.

The annual formal appropriated budget as described above is employed as a management-control device
during the year for the General Fund, the debt service funds, and special revenue funds-and those grant
funds-which are necessarily budgeted on a contract-period basis differing from the City's fiscal year.

Expenditures for the public improvement districts are being controlled by long-term service plans
allocated in relation to available,property-owner assessments. The service plan is the approved budget
for the individual Public Improvemeni District. The following funds with legally adopted budgets have a
budgetary comparison presented: the General Fund, Debt Service Fund, Compensated Absence Fund and
certain non-major special revenue funds. The non-major special revenue funds with legally ?q9pt_"9
budgets are as follows: Court Teclinology and Court Security Fund, Public Health Fund, LEOSE
Training Fund, Local Seized Property Fund and the Public Improvement Districts. Budgeted amounts
reflected therein are as originally adopted or, if applicable, as last amended by the City Council.

Grant funds not included in the annual appropriated budget are subject to management control by means
of project-length budgets authorized by the City Council in the grant application processes. Cumulative
expenditures through Septernber 30,2023, were within the limits prescribed by such budgets.
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NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY (CONTINUED)

Budgetary Information (Continued)

Capital outlay is controlled through formal, job cost accounting, in which available monies are allotted
ambng the planned construction and capital acquisition undertakings, and costs are accumulatejl subjectlo
such illotments. Unencumbered appropriationi do not lapse at year-end for Capital Projects Funds. The
City adopts five-year, capital outlay plans to budget such projects.

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the
expenditure of monies aie recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is
employed as an extension of fonnal budgetary integration in the governmental funds. Encumbrances
outstanding at year-end are reported as reservations of fund balances, since they do not constitute
expenditures or liabilities. Total encumbrances outstanding as of September 30,2023, for-General_Fund
are $2,363,777, for Special Revenue Funds are $504,222, for Capital Project Funds are $2,962,0!0 lqt
Water and Sewer Fund are $1,71 1,553, for Airport Fund are $3,943,677, for Drainage Fund are $355,909,
for Fleet Services Fund are $11,356,105, for lnformation Services Fund are $702,653, for Risk
Management Fund are $3,660.

Deficit Fund Equity

During the fiscal year ended Septernber 30,2023, the Urban Transportation Planning Fund had a fund
deficit of $46,892.

NOTE 3 . DEPOSITS ANN INVESTMENTS : J

All of the City's demand deposit and time accounts are held in a local banking institution under terms of a
written depository contract. All of the City's demand and time accounts are insured or registered or held
by the City or its agent in the City's name.

Under the Revised Statutes of the State of Texas, all deposits, to the extent not insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), must be collateralized by securities or insure.d by a. bond. At
September 30, 2023, demand deposits and time deposits held by one depository institution, before
reduction for checks issued and not presented, were in the total amount of $1,974,669 and collateralized
by pledged securities of $25,500,034. Demand deposits and time deposits held by a second_depgqitoly
institution, before reduction for checks issued and not presented, were in the total amounts of $24,273,330
and collater alized by pledged securities of $29,297 ,603. The City has a third depository institution with
demand deposits of $1,836,937 collateralizedby pledged securities of $2,791,274.

Time certificates of deposit with original maturities of more than three months are classified as

investments for financial reporting purposes.

Tlre Public Funds Investment Act (Government Code Chapter 2256) contains specific provisions in the
area of investment practices, management reports and establishment of appropriate policies. With the
exception of the aisets of the deferred compensation plan and pension .assets, all investrnents are

administered by City management under terms of an investment policy and strategy that is updated to
conform to the Texai PubliCFunds Investment Act (the Act) as last amended. The preservation of capital
is the City's most impo-rtant investment objective.. Other objectives llclude. providing. liquidity and
maxlmlzlng earnlngs witnin the constraints of the other objectives. The City is in substantial compliance
with the requirements of the Act and with local policies.
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NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Under the City's policies, the maximum dollar weighted-average maturity of the investment portfolio rnay
not exceed one y-ear, and 80% of the portfolio musi be in investments with maturities of two years or less
At Septernber i0,/023, the weighted-average rnaturity of the City's total investment securities was .98

years.

The City will only invest in the following types of securities:

. Bank money market funds and other interest-bearing accounts at the City's authorized depository.

. Direct obligations of the United States government.

. Obligations of agencies and instrumentalities of the United States, limited to 7 5o/o of the portfolio.

. Highly rated investment pools and noload money market mutual funds (AAA or AAAm).

. Taxable municipal bonds, limited to l0o/o of the portfolio.

. Certificates of deposit including CDARS (Certificate of Deposit Accounts Registry Service).

. For bond proceeds only, fully collateralized, flexible, repurchase agreements.

Investments are separately owned by the various funds. Under applicable bond-ordinances, funds ot_tq"
Waterworks and Sewer Revenue bond redemption and reserve accounts may be invested only in U.S.
Government or agency obligations or in obligations guaranteed by the U.S._ Government or. FV_ it.
agencies. Funds nit so invested are to be maintained inthe City's depository and secured as providsd by
liw. The City's investment policy also sets forth specific, investment requirements and stralegies fol itl
various fund iypes. The City does not enter into reverse reptirchdse agreements. All securities are held
by the City's agent in the City's name.

Interest Rate Risk: In accordance with
in fair values by limiting the weighted
months and requiring that 80% of the
less.

the Investment Policy, the City manages its exposure to declines
average maturity of the investment portfolio to less than twelve

portfolio must be in investments with maturities of two years or

Credit Risk: The City invests in direct obligations of the United States and obligations of agencies and

instrumentalities of the United States. The-Policy also allows for the investment in taxable rnunicipal
securities rated not less than AA- (or equivalent). The City does not have any commercial paper or
taxable municipal security investments at this time. The City does invest in a- treasury only and a
government agency no-load money market mutual fund that is continuously rated AAA or AAAm (or
equivalent).

Concentration of Credit Risk: As stated in the Investment Policy the City will diversify investments
when purchasing agency securities or colnmercial paper to avoid a concentration in one agency or
company.

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits: In the case of deposits, this is the risk tliat in the event of a bank
failure, the government's deposits may not be returned to it. The City has tri-party agreements with both
deposiiorieJand a third-party financial institution (Federal_Reserve Bank) that holds p_ledge-q collateral in
a separate custody account for the benefit of the City. All City deposits are fully collateralized by these

pledged securities.
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. CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
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Year Bnded September 30,2023

NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Custodial Credit Risk - Investments: For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of
the counterparty, the government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral
securities that ire in the possession of an outside party. The City contracts with an outside financial
institution as custodian for all investment transactions and all investment transaction are made on a

delivery versus paynent method with the outside custodian. The securities are held in the City's name in
a separate account. Access to this account is limited to the approved Investment Officers.

A summary of investment securities of the City at September 30,2023, and the corresponding weighted
average maturity is shown in Table I below:

Fair Value Weighted
AverageUnrestricted

Assets

Restricted
Assets Maturity (Years)Total

Investment Secuities

U.S. Tremury Obligations

U.S. Government Sponsored Agencies

Total ilrvstment secudties

Noload U.S. Treasury-only mutual funds

Total invstments

Add: Time deposits with original maturities over three months

Total invstments

Deduct: Cah equivalents . . -:
Net inwstments for financial reporting

s 8,^712,423

67,741,361

76,453,184

157,986,620

234,440,404

42,033,8t6

2',16,474,220

(r57,986,620)

$ 118,487,600

$

291,535,829

291,535,829

500,000

292,035,829

(291,s3s,829)

$ 500,000

$ 8.712,423

67,741,361

16,453,184

449,522,449

L92
1.20

1.28

525,976,233

42,533,8t6

0.19

o.43

568,510,049

(449,522,449)

$ 118,987,600

0.21

0.98

Table I - Invutnent Sean ilies and Correspondittg Weighted Average Maltrilt'

NOTE 4 - F'AIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The City follows Governmental Accounting Standards Board's (GASB) Statement No. 72, Fair Value
Messurbment and Application The standard established a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure
based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as_ of the_ measurement date.

The hieiarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level I measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level3 measurements). An
asset's fair value measurement level within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to the valuation.

The three levels are defined as follows:

o Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

o Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level I prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroboiated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

. Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are

significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
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Year Ended September 30,2423

NOTE 4 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

The City uses appropriate valuation techniques based on the available inputs to tneasure the fair value of
its investments. When available, the City measures fair value using Level I inputs because they generally
provide the most reliable evidence of fair value. Level 3 inputs were used only when Level I or Level 2
inputs were not available.

Fair Value ents IIsins:

September 30. 2023:

Cerlificates of Deposit
U.S. govemment and agency

obligations
Mutual funds - money market

Total

Quoted Prices
In Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level l)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)Fair Value

$ 42,533,816 $

76,453,784

$ 42,s33,816 $

76,453,784
449.522.449 449.522.449

$_l68J,l0J4e $____1_6-453J34 $__4e2Jd:252 $

For the valuation of certain U.S. government and agency obligations and taxable municipal bonds at
September 30,2023, the City used quoted pdces in principal active markets for identical assets as of the
valuation date (Level 1).

For the valuation of CDARS, certificates of deposit, and money market mutual funds at September 30,
2023, the City used significant other observable inputs as of the valuation date, particularly dealer market
price for comparable investments as of the valuation date (Level 2).

The valuation method for investments measured at net asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) is
presented in the following table:

Redemption
Redemption Notice

Fair Value Frequencv Period

OPEB Trust $ 30,862,161 Daily None

The Trust OPEB Funding Program investment utilizes a growth strategy seeking both a reasonable level
of income and long-term growth capital and income. The Program invests in eight index and mutual
funds. The fair values of the underlying investments are used to detennine NAV per share (or its
equivalent) of the Trust OPEB Funding Program investment.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

There were no fair values of assets and liabilities measured on a nonrecurring basis at September 30,
2023.

NOTE 5 - TAXES

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January l, are levied on October I of the
safile year, and unpaid taxes become delinquent after the following January 31.

59



- CITY OF'AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC F'INANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE s - TAXES (CONTTNUED)

The City Charter provides for a maximum tax levy of $ I .80 per $ I 00 of assessed valuation, of which any
in excess of $ I .30 is limited to debt service for waterworks bonds, and of which up to $0.05 is pledged for
Airport Maintenance to tlie extent Airport revenues may not be available.

The combined tax rate of the 2022 tax roll for the 2022123 fiscal year was $0.40628 per $100 of assessed

valuation, resulting in a tax levy in the amount of $63,372,302 on taxable value of $ 15, 130, 1 97 ,7 59 .

Property taxes receivable at September 30,2023, are reflected in Table 2 below:

Year of Lew
2023
2022
2021
2020
2019
201 8

2017
20r6
2015
2014
2013
2012 : :,j
20t7
2010
2009 & Prior

Total taxes receivable

Less: Allowance for estimated uncollectible porlion
Net taxes receivable

Less: Provisions for collections deferred over 60 days

Amount available (reserved in accordance with City ordinances)

$ 6t9,732
209,630
112,759
85,150
78,735
67,043
49,392
49,598
44,353
43,462
3 1,151
29,692
30,235
26,203
73.115

1,550,249
1.t73^372

376,877
237.326

s r39.551

Table 2 - Taxes Receivable at Septetnber 30, 2023

Beginning July 1, 1996, Potter and Randall Counties assumed responsibility of tax collections for various
taxing enfities within their borders, including the City of Amarillo. The cost of this service is included in
the General Fund. The Potter-Randall Appraisal District performs the appraisal function.

Tlre total City sales tax rate is2o/o, which includes a ll2-cent sales tax collected by the AEDC limited to
development purposes.
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CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
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Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTB 6 - RESTRICTBD ASSETS, LIABILITIBS AND RESERVES

As required by bond indentures, the Water Sewer System, Drainage Utility, Airport, and Fleet Services
maintain sepaiate accounts for revenue bond debt service/retirement whicb are reported as noncurrent
assets and related liabilities, and restricted net position, as reflected in Table 3:

General Fund
Hotel occupancy tax account

Total bond debt seruice/retirement
Bonded Debt Service Fund
Bond interest and redemption
Total bond debt service/retirement
General Construction Fund
Bond proceed account
Total bond debt service/retirement
COVID-I9 Fund
ARPA tunds
Total bond debt service/retirement
Solid Waste Disposal Imprtivement Fund
Bond proceed account

Total bond debt service/retirement
Civic Center Improvement Fund
Hotel occupancy tax account
BoSd proceed account

Total bond debt service/retirement
GO Bond Construction l6117 Fund
Bond proceed account
Total bond debt service/retirement
Water Sewer Svstem
Bond escrow and proceed accounts
Revenue bond interest and redemption
Revenue bond reserve
Total bond debt service/retirement
Airport
PFC tunds
Revenue bond interest and redemption
Total bond debt service/retirement
Drainage Utilitv
Bond intetest and ledemption
Bond proceed account
Total bond debt service/retirement
Fleet Services
Bond interest and redemption
Bond proceed account
Total bond debt service/retirement
Greenwavs PID Fund
Bond interest and redemption
Total bond debt service/retirement
Colonies PID Fund
Bond interest and redemptiolr
Total bond debt service/retirement
Heritase Hills PID Fund
Bond ploceed account
Total bond debt service/retircment

s 5,196,692
4.08'7.893

$____9284J85 L_-165.863

$ 165,863 $

Restricted

s 835.157

L__ i35Jll

$ 2.858.576
$ 2,858.576

$ 26.795.087
s 26.795.087

$ 8.573.497

s 8.573.497

s s"919.268
$ 5-919.268

$ 34.120.072
s 34.120.072

I 151,'742,850
9,978,050
3.373.063

s r65.093.963

Related
Liabilities

R.estricted
Net Position

$ 835.157

$ 835.157

$ 2.855.834

$ 2.855.834

$

$ 654.272

s _ __554il2

$

L--- .

5,o3o,g29
4.087.893

s 9-118.722

$-
s

$-
9,978,050
3.373.063

$-_xj5r-r3

$ 2,741
557

s 3.298

$ 576,087

$ 576.087

$ 487,350

s 487.350

$-
$

$

$ 2.742
s 2.742

s 26.795.087

$::25J95&7

s 7.919.22s
s 7.919.225

$ s.919.268
$ 5-919-268

s 34.120.072

$:]4eJ42

$ 1s1,742,8s0

$ 1s1.742.850

$-

$-
t3.2t3.256

$ 13.2 r 3.256

s

$ 2,74r
557

$

s __3298 $

576,087
13.213.256

$ 13.789.344

487,350
3.9s9.490

$
3.959.490

s 4.446.840 $ _1J59*490

s ,__of,tn
$ 6.770

$ 6.770

$

$

6

s44
L_ __44

$ s51.766
$ _551J66

44 $

s44
$ s51,766
$__ l5lJ66

Table 3 - Restricted Ftuds/Re.gerved Retained Earnings

The Revenue bond reserve account reflects the amount required in the revenue bond covenants

6l



CITY OF .AMARTLLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC F'INANCIAL STATEMBNTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTET-CAPITALASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30,2023, was as follows:
Balances

October 1,

2022

Capital assets used by governmental activities, at cost

Capital assets, not being depreciated

Land

Contnbuted ROW easments

Capital projecs in process

Total capital assets, not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated

Infi'ashuctwe

Building and other inprovements

Equipnrent and vehicles

Riglrt-to-use lease asset

Subscription Based Infornration Technologr Arrangenrttts
Library collections

Total capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumuhted depreciation for:

Infl'astructwe

Buildings and other inprovetnents

F4uiprrrnt and vehicles

Right-to-use lease asset

Subscription Based Infornation Tecbnologr Arrangenrnts
Library collections

Total accunnrlated depreciation

Total capital assels, being depreciated, net

Net capital assets used by govemnrental activities

Capital assets used by business-type activilies, at cost:

Enterprise flnds
'Water and sewer

Land
Corstruction in ptogress

C ontribrted ROW Easenrents

Total capital assets, not being depl'eciated

Capital assets, being depreciated

Water rights and contracts

Buildings and improvements

Equipment and vehicles

Total capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Water rights and contracts

Buildings and inrprovements

Equipment and vehicles

Tolal accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets, being depreciated net

Net capital assets used by Water and Sewer

Dranage utility

Land

Contributed ROW easements

Contruction in progress

Total capital assets, not being depreciated

Caphal assets, being depreciated

Building and improvements

Equipment and vehicles

Total capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Building and in4rt overnents

Equiprnent and vehicles

Tolal accrmtilated depreciation

Total capital assets, being depreciated net

Net capital assets used by Drainage utility

(restated)

Adtlitions Deletions

Balances

September 30,

2023

$ 17,300,387

38,81 1,907

43,649,100

99,'761,394

3 I 9,933,830

444,'t',10,292

130,135,63'1

6,695,558
1,?38,853
'1,635,126

910,909,296

157,406,2t2
211,60t,931

88,56?,033

I,771,963

216,533

1,601,471

61,1 17,148

$

24,192,048
24,192,048

$ i 7,516,920

40,413,3',18

80,574,200

1 3 8,504,498

$

62,935,152

431,842

322,018

12,944,379
12,961,806

12,777,670

5,000

8,701,627

2t7,494

488,254

332,878,209

457,'.72'.7 ,098
t34,21t,680

6,4'.18,064

2,1'10,695

7,468,890
940,934,636

t63,923,024
228,222,406

91,519,081

3,332,146
921,298

3,261,269

39,43'7,'715 9,4t2,375

3,251 .639

6,5r6,812
16,625,085

9,76t,727
1,'.177 ,6',17

92t,298
446,590

4,6t0
6,809,679

2t'7,494

436,960

778 3 6,049, I 89 7,468,743 491 179,224

448,3 10,518 3,388,s26

66,323,678548,0'l 1,912

1,943,632 449,',7 55,412

26,135,680 588,259,910

2,040,262
36,090,686

2,073,851

37,882,970 't,8r3,921

7,813,921

1,207,941

220.641

2,040,262

66,159,735

2,215,645141 794

40,204,'799 38,024,764 70,415,642

137,642,98'.1

771,636,07 |
4,467,724

7,436,849
108,556

13',7,642,987

7'.17,864,9',79

4,355,639

913,746,782 7,545,405 82 9 l 9,863,605

316,5',79,236

597,16'1,546
637,372,345

16,123,392
(8,s77,987)
29,446,777

332,463,766

58',7,399,839

32,849,638
280,073,797

3,655,80 I

2,01',l,838

I 3,898,912

146,642

24,153

2t4,709
238,862
I 89,720

34,927,476

293,948,556

3,58',7,734

I,
9,003 .641 657,8 i 5,48 1

87,'144

1,501,878
t2,405,162

t5,322
7,699,37s

87,744

I,5t7 ,200
I,349,r15 18,1\\ At'

13,994,784

17,'714,020

67,307

7,714,697 I ,349,t t 5 20

|,256,177

|,256,177

t8,9'10,197

61,30'1

17,781,327 1.9 037 504

1,977,s29
42,636

1,599,280

36,918

378,249

6,648 930
930I ,636, I 98

16,t45,t29
30,1 39,9 1 3

384,897
871 ,280

2,020,165
(930) r7 ,017,339

62
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 34,2023

NOTE 7 - CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Balances
October I,

2022 Additions Deletions

Balances

September 30,
2023

Airport
I-and

Constructi:rn in pro gress

Total capital assets, rot being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated

Building and improvements

fruipnnnt and vehicles

Total capital assets, being depreciated

Less accunulated depreciation for:

Building and improvements

ftuipnrnt and vehicles

Total accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets, being deprechted net

Net capilal assets used by AirPort

Net capital assets used by bwiness type activities

Govemment-wide net capital assets

(restated)

1,670,425

l 1,670,081 5,s43,699
5,543,699

218,786
218,786

1,6'10,42s

16,994,994

r 3,340,506 18,665,419

179,s63,436
8,422,076

1,207,941

217 792 89, I 55

89, I 55

180,77t,377
8,550,7 1 3

189,322"090

124,171,202

5,952,583

130,123,',185

59,1 98,305

7'1,863,724

187,985,512

118,666,894

5,655,945
124,322,839

63,662,673

77,003,179
744,515,43"1

s,504,308

384,863

5,889, I 7l
(4,463,438)

I,080,261

t9,113,015

88,225

88,225

930

2t9,716

'133

10,57 1,542 773,056,910

$ 1,292,587,349 $ 1 s 36,707,222 $ 1,361,316,820

Governroental activities
Generil government
Staff services
Police protection
Fire protection
Other public safety and health
Streets, traffic and engineering
Culture and recreation
Solid waste services
Transit services

Total governmental fund departments

Internal service fund depreciation allocable to
govemmental activities based on predominant usage

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities
Water and sewer system
Drainage utility
Airport

Total business-type activities

Water and Sewer System Capital Assets

Table 4 - Capital Asset Activity

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City as follows

$ 40,995
2,242,321

990,901
1,508,782
1,227,466

r0,9'74,3r3
7,987,503
1,017 ,566

949.507

26,939,354

9.109.83s

$_3_6-049*189

The City of Amarillo is one of I I cities that can receive surface water from a reservoir created by a_dam

on the eanadian River, which river arises frorn the headwaters of the Sangre de Cristo Mountains in New
Mexico and crosses the Panhandle of Texas before merging into the Red River in eastern Oklahoma. The
reservoir and related aqueduct system are operated by the Canadian River Nlunicipal Water Authority
(CRMWA), a subdivision of th-e State of Texas. The reservoir has experienced a serious decline in
available #ater due to the drought conditions in the Texas Panhandle. Curently, the City of Amarillo

$ 16,123,392
384,897

5.889.171

$__n3v4&
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMBNTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 7 - CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Water and Sewer System Capital Assets (Continued)

is not allocating water from this source. The related infrastructure recorded on the_ City's books for
CRMWA assets-at September 30,2023, is $50 million. The related amortized cost of these assets is $22
million.

The City owns $87 million of underground water rights in Roberts, Och_iltree,.Hutchison, PotJer, Randall,
Carson,-Hartley and Dallam countiei with the majority in Roberts and Hutchison counties. Much of the

water iights tr6tO in Potter, Randall and Carson counties have been developed and are.currently being
utilized.- The City owns undeveloped water rights in Hartley and Dallam counties in the northwestern
portion of the Tex-as Panhandle. Prbceeds frorn the sale of past water rights are held in.a separate inlerggt^-
'bearing account for future water right purchases. The ielated amortized cost of these assets is $12
million.

Airport Capital Assets

Airport capital assets include runways, buildings, and related irnproYements.constructed by-the fedglal
governmerit for use as an Air Force Base on lan-d contributed by the City, which was returned to the City
ln 1967 and, I97 0 upon closing of the Base. Upon return of such assets to the City, the land was recorded
on the books of the Airpo rt i 51,521,5 10, its briginal cost to the City, and improvements were recorded
at$14,356,480 representing construction cost less a provision for depreciation to date returned.

Certain lands and improvements not utilized by the-City for airport purposes _are leased to various
commercial enterprisei. A new terminal facility was completed prior to September 30,2014 and total
cost of $52,499,i41 was capitalized by the Aiiport. The Airport had various construction projects in
process at September 30,2023.

Drainage Capital Assets

Tlre Drainage Utility Fund currently has 518,755,422 in construction in progress as.of Sept^ery99t^i9,

2023. It llso had right of way easements of $1,517,200, equipment and vehicles of $67,307,
infrastructural of $18,970,797, and land of $87,744.

NOTE 8 - LEASES

General Description of Leasing Arrangements

The City enters into a variety of lessor arrangements in both its governmental and proprietary funds.
Governmental fund lessor transactions are for the lease of real property with lease tenns ranging from 1 to
28 years, with discount rates ranging from 0.258o/o Lo 2.2600A. At September 30, 2023, the City's
governrnental activities had a lease ieceivable of 57,762,806 and a deferred inflow of resources of
57,096,768. Proprietary fund lessor transactions are for the lease of real property with lea-se terms
ranging from I to-31 years, with discount rates ranging from-0.258o/o Io 2.278o/o. At Septemb.er 30,2023,
the-Ci[z's business-type activities has a lease receivable of $14,993,629 and a coffesponding defemed

inflow of resources of $14,747 ,434.

During 2023,the City recognizedamorttzation of deferred outflows as follows:

I nJI ow of' Res ou r c es .fbrm Le as es

Governmental Funds
Business - Type Funds
Discretely Presented Component Units

$ 345,928
$ 2,029,642
s 652,341
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE I - LEASES (CONTINUED)

General Description of Leasing Arrangements (Continued)

InJlow ofResources Not Previously Recognized in Lease Receivable

During 2023, the City recognized inflows of resources of variable and other payments not previously
included in the measurement of lease receivable as shown below:

Governmental Funds $ 95,564
Business - Type Funds $ 4,078,787

Included in the receivables reported in the financial statements are the following amounts of rental
income received under noncancblable leases of land and buildings leased to outside parties.

Future Lease Income as of September 30:

Primarv Government

Govemmental Activities Activities Dis cretely Presented ComDonent Units

Year
2024

2025

2026

2027

2028

2029-2033

203+2038

2039-2M3

204+2048

2049-2053

2054-2058

2059-2063

206+2068

2069-2073

207+2078

2079-2083

208+2088

2089-2093

209+2098

Principal

$ 285,62s

288,83i

249975

247,587

253,133

t,3s3297

l,5l 1,802

1,688,873

1,883,683

Inte rest

$ 171,886

t66,377

l6q8s4

. _ lssy'13
149,867

661,703

503,198

326,127

t28,317

Total Future
Min. Lease

Payments

s 457,511

4s5208

410,829

403,000

403,000

2,015,000

2pr5,000
2,015,000

2,012,000

Principal

$ 1,888Je7

1,177 p87

968J60
400,468

395,832

1,917,619

2,i38,83 l
2,3%274

2$80226
lp3lJ35

Interest
s 282261

267 234
2s4288

242,924

234,366

1,M4292

816p89

560,(46

274,694

30,936

Total Future
Min. Leasc

PaYrne nts

$ 2,171,058

1,444,321

1223,048

643392

630,1 98

2,96t,911

2,954,920

2,954,920

2,954,920

t,062,671

Total Future
Min. Lease

Principal Interest Payments

s 625,843 s 137,M7 $ 762,890

602,601 129,253 731,854

589,959 121,848 711,807

548,338 fi4,959 663?97

555,553 108,659 664212

1,333,412 465,183 1J98,595

112,020 433,273 60s293

191J92 4l4,l0l 605,193

212,288 393,005 605,293

236)92 369,101 605293

2625t8 342,77s 605293

29t,780 313,513 605,293

324,155 281,138 605,)93

360A67 244,826 60s,293

400,(150 204,643 605293

445;t2 159,981 605,293

494,904 I 10,389 605293

550,155 55,138 605,293

236,867 5,246 242,113

$7.762.806 $2A23,742 s 10.186,548 st4,ss3.62e $4.007.730 $l_2.0q_LJ!9_ $8334,206 54404,078 $ 12.838.284 -

The City enters into a variety of lessee arangements in its governmental funds. Governmental fund
lessee tiansactions are for th-e lease of equipment with lease tenns ranging from 2 to 15 years, with
discount rates ranging from 0.3900% to 5.495Yo.

Included in the
due under lease

expenditures
liability:

report in the financial statements are the following amounts of rent paid or

Fund Type

General Fund
Intemal Service Fund
Discretely Presented Component Units
Lease Expense (Including Interest)

$ 233,861
1,696,145

103.560
$ -2*033J66
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NOTE 8 - LEASES (CONTINUED)

Future Lease Payments as of September 30:

Primary Government

Gove rnme ntal Activitie s Discretely Pres ented Component Units

Year
2024

2025

2026

2U7
2028

2029-2033

2034-2038

Principal

s1,172,489

792,043

764,445

31,586

LsA49

81,620

48,169

Inte re s t

Total Future
Min. Lease
Payments

$ 1,193,376

804,180

770,565

34427

18,000

90,000

49,500

Principal

$ 87,129

88293

76,441

78,914

379408

Inte re s t

Total Future
Min. Lease

Payments

s 97,338

97 274
842t1
8s478

392,968

$ 20,887

12,137

6,120

2,841

2,551

8,380

1,331

$ 10,209

8,981

7,770

6,564

13,560

NOTE 9 . SUBSCRIPTION-BASED INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ARRANGEMENTS

General Description

The City has several existing arrangements and some new arrangements subject.to the requirements.of
GASB 96. These agreements can be described in groups based on the business unit of the user. The City
makes annual payments and the agreements are for varying terms. The SBITA liability.is the present
value of these payments using the eity's incremental borowing rate. The liability is amortized providing
the principal and interest components of the payments over the SBITA term. The SBITA Asset is
meaiured^as the SBITA Liability plus any capitalized expenditures/expenses incured in the initial
implementation stage. The SBITA asset is depreciated (amortized) using a straight-line -depreciation
meihod over the term of the SBITA arangement. The City Council set a materiality threshold on SBITA
affangements at $5,000. There was one arrangement below this level with an aggregate annual
expenditure of $40.

$ 2,905,801 s s4.247 $ 2,960,048 $ 710,185 47.084 $ 7s7269$

Tlie Total Amount of the Subscription Assets and Accumulated Amortization:

Term in Total Asset
Months Amounts

Governmental Funds:
General govemment

Internal Service Funds:
Information Technology
Risk Management

Total Government Activities :

13-24 $ 674,517 $ 200,880

1,312,715
r83.463

Total
Accumulated
Amortization

656,357
64.061

s_-21J98

t9-24
34
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. CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
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Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 9 . SUBSCRIPTION-BASED INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ARRANGEMBNTS
(cONTINUED)

Outflows of Resources:

There was an additional payment for one contract that crossed multiple funds; the General Fund, an
Intemal Service Fund - Infonnation Technology, a special revenue fund and the Water Sewer Fund for an
increase in the number of users and the business unit of the users during this reporting period. The
additional expenditures were in approximately $30,000. This was unknown when the affangements were
made but weie known to occur with additional users. These payments were not included in calculating
the SBITA liability.

There were no other outflows of resources paid for these SBITA arrangements.

The SBITA Liabilities and associated Principal and Interest Requirements:

Governmental tr'unds:
General government

Internal Service Funds:
Information Technology
Risk Management

Interest
Rate

3.201% - 3.207%
3.238%

$=@

Beginning
Liabilitv

656,357
t83,463

Term in
Months

t9-24
34

Ending
Balance

92.795

$ 267,304
57,696
59,055
60.482

$.__44LsU

2.310% - 3.305% $ 166,627 12-60 $ 332,300

Total Government Activities: $-421J95

The future principal and interest SBITA arrangement payments as of fiscal year-end are as follows:

Principal Interest Total
Governmental Funds:
Year Ended September 30

2024
2025
2026
2027

Total Governmental Funds

$ 255,806
53,785
56,387
59.117

$ 11,498
3,911
2,669
1.365

LfiAA
Governmental Funds:
Year Ended September 30

2024 $ 255,806 $ 11,498 $ 267,304

Commitments and impairments

There were no additional cornmitments made before the commencement of the SBITA tenn(s). There
were also no impairments or modifications to be reported during this fiscal year.
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NOTE 10 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

The City participates in funding two retirement plans. TRMS is an agent, multiple-employer,lublic-
employee retirement system which is a nontraditional, joint-contributory, liybrid defined benefit plan.
Tha FI{RF Plan is a single-employer, contributory defined benefit plan. Substantially all ernployee.s of
the City are eligible to participate in one of these two plans. The cornponents of the net pension liability
of the City at September 30,2023, were as follows:

TMRS FRRF Total
Total pension liability $ 536,400,760 $ 240,469,242 s 776,870,002

218.341.194 689.475.136Fiduciary net position 471.134.542

City's net pension liability (asset) L-65266213 $---AJ28P48 $-- 87f94266
City's net pension liability (asset) as a-percentage 

of total pension liability -12J'1% --9!3% J125%

City's defened outflows of resources $--43J53J14 L-25912300 $---@A663U
City's deferred inflow of resources $---2.755.804 $----4"803.358 LJ559JA
City's pension expense $--X-019-LZ) $---G-838J20) $ J5-852.297)

Tlre City's total payroll for the fiscal year ended September 30,2023, was $129,161,817. Covered for the
two plans was as follows:

$ 96,396,887
23.3s2.843

$119.74e.73!

Including current employees, annuitants and terminated employees entitled to future benefits, the City had
4,480 members of TMRS and 509 members of FRRF as of the dates of the latest actuarial valuations.

In addition to the two retirement plans funded by the City, employees may participate in a deferred
compensation plan. Details of the various plans are as follows:

Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS)

Plan Description

The City participates as one of 909 plans in the nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid defined benefit
pensiorr plan administered by the City. TMRS is an agency created _by the State of Texas and-administered 

in accordance with the TivtRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Government Code (the TMRS
Act) as an agent rnultiple-employer retirement system for municipal employees in the.State of Texas. The
TMRS Act places the general administration and management of the Systern with a six-member Board of
Trustees. Although the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS
is not fiscally dependent on the State of Texas. TMRS' defined benefit pension R.lan is a tax-qualified
plan under Section aOl(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. TMRS issues a publicly available annual
conrprehensive financial report (ACFR) that can be obtained atwww.tmrs.cont.

All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS.

TMRS
FRRF
Total covered payroll
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NOTE 10 - DEFINBD BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Benefits Provided

TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted_b^V tqe

governing body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS.. At
ietiremerit, the-benefit is caiculated as if the sum of the employee's contributions, with interest, and the

City-financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an a_nnuity. Members may choose to
t"c.ive their retiremeni benefit in one of seven payments options. Members may also choose to receive a

portion of their benefit as a Partial Lump Surn Distribution in an_amount equal to 12,24, or 36 monthly
payments, which cannot exceed 7SYo of the member's deposits and interest.

Plan provisions for the City are as follows:

CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Bnded September 30,2023

PlanYear 2023

Employee deposit rate 7%
Maiching ratio (City to employee) 2 to I
Years re(uired for vesting 5

Service retirement eligibi-lity (expressed as agelyears of service) 6015,0120
Updated service credit 10070 re^pe{lng
Airnuity increase (to retirees) 0% of CPI

Upon joining the Plan, the City granted its employees monetary credits of a theoretical amount equal lo
two tiires wfiat would have beenlontributed by the employee, with interest, prior to establishment of the

plan. Monetary credits for service since the plan began.are. a percent.(cunently 200o/o fot City of
Amarillo employees) of the employee's accumulated contributions. In addition, the City lan grant as

often as annrially another type of monetary credit referred to as an updated service credit. The updated
service credit is i theoreticaiamount whic6, when added to the employee's accumulated contributions and

the monetary credits for service since the plan began, would be the total monetary credits-and ernployee

contributioni accumulated with interest, if the current employee contribution rate and the City's matching
percent had always been in existence, and if the employee's salary had always been the average of his

ialary in the last three years that are one year befoie the effective date. At retirement, the benefit is

calculated as if the sum of the employee's accumulated contributions with interest and the employer-
financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

At tlre December 31,2022, valuation and measurement date, the following ernployees were covered by
the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries cunently receiving benefits 1,358

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 1,381

Active employees 1.741

Total employees - 4$A
Contributions

The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 50 ,6yo, or lo/o of employee gross earnings, and

the City-matching percentages aie either 1000 , l50Yo, or 200o/o, both as adopted by the governing body
of the 

-City. 
Un-d6r the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each ..ity_is determined

annually by the actuary, using the-Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. The actuarially
determined rate is the estimated amount nec-ssary to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.

PlanYear 2022

7%
2to I

5

6015,0120
100% repeating

0% ofCPI
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NOTE 10 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Texus Mu nicipal Retirement System (TMRS)(Continued)

Contributions (Continued)

Employees for the City were required to contribute 7 .00Yo of their annual gross gqryllgs during the fisgal
yeai. ihe contribution rates for ihe City were I 135% in calendar years 20)?3nd?023, respectively. The
City's contributions to TMRS for the year ended September 30,2023, were $12,478,297.

Net Pension Liability

The City's net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2022,_and. the total.pension liability
used to i:alculat^e the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial Assumptions

Tlre total pension liability in the December 31, 2022, actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions:

Inflation 2.5Yo Per Year
Overall payroll growth 3.5Yoto ll.syo, including inflation
Investment rate of retum 6.75%

Salary increases were based on a seryice-related table. Mortality rates for active members, retirees,*and
beneficiaries were based on the gender-distinct RP2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table with Blue
Collar Adjustment with male rates multiplied by I09Vo and female rates multiplied by. 103%. The rates

are projecied on a fully generational basis by scale BB to account for future mortality improvements.
-Mortality rates for disaUteA annuitants use the same mortality table and rates qbgyg with.a ]-Year set-
forward for both males and females. In addition, a 3olo minimum mortality rate will be applied to reflect
the impairment for younger members who become disabled. The rates are proj_ect-e9 on a fully
generational basis by icale BB to account for future mortality improvements subject to the 3% floor.

Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2022,valuation were based on the results of actuarial
experience studies. The experience study in TMRS was for the pe!.od December 31, 2014 through
December 31, 2018, first used in the December 31,2019 valuation. Healthy post-retirement mortality
rates and annuity purchase rates were updated based on a mortality experience investigation .study
covering 2009 thiough20ll, and dated December 31,2073. These assumptions_were first used in the

Decemb--er 31,2013, valuation along with a change to the EAN actuarial cost method. Assumptions are

reviewed annually. No additional changes were made for the 2021 valuation.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is 6.75%. The pensiolplan'spolicy in
regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended !y ttte TMRS Board of
Trustees. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on both capital appreciation as

well as the production of income in order to satisfy the short-term and long-terrn funding needs of TMRS.

CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATBMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023
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Year Ended Septernber 30,2023

NOTE 10. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Texas Municip al Retirement System (TMRS)(Continued)

C ontriblft iors (Continued)

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
methodln which- best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges
ire combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates
ofreturn by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation
and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are surlmarized in the
following table:

Long-Term Expected
Target Real Rate of Return

Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)
Global equity
Core fixed income
Non-core fixed income
Real estate
Other public & private markets
Hedge funds
Private equity
Total

Discount Rate

Tlre discount rate used to measure ift. toiaip"nsion liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at
the rates specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension plan's Fiduciary Net Position was
projected fo be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive
-employees. 

Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Changes in Net Pension Liability

The changes in net pension liability are summarized in the following table:

%35 10/t/o
9%
7%
r%
8%
9%
8%

7.
4.
8.
8.
5.
6.
l.

6%
20%
12%
12%
5%

t0%
100%

1

Increase

Total Pension

Liability
(a)

Plan Fiduciary

Net Position

(b)

Net Pension

Liability
(a) - (b)

Balance at December 31,2021

Changes for the year:

Service cost

Interest
Change of beneht terms

Difference between expected and actual experience

Changes of assumptions

Contributions - employer

Contributions - employee

Net investment income

Benei'it payments, including refunds of employee contributions

Administrative expense

Other changes

Net changes

Balance at December 31,2022

182,536 $ 523,334,547 s (3,1s2,01l)$ 520,

13,767,430

34,433,404

208,076

(32,190,686)

11,298,569

6,676,9@
(38,048,640)

(32,190,686)

(32e,ee3)

393.78r

13,76',7,430

34,433,4M

208,076

(11,298,s69)

(6,676,9@)

38,048,640

329,993
(393,78r )

16,218,224 (52,200,005) 68,418,229

Table 5 - TMRS Ner Pension Liability

1l

s 536,400,760 $ 471,134,542 $ 65,266,218
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NOTE 10 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Texus Municipal Retirement System QMRS) (Continued)

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to Changes in tlte Discount Rate

Tlre following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 6.75o/o, as

well as what lh-e City's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one
percentage point lower (5.75%) or one percentage point higher (7 .75%) than the cunent rate:

1.7o Decrease in
Discount Rate Discount Rate

6.750

17o Increase in
Discount Rate

7.150/05. o/n

city's net pension liability $ 131,605,993 S 65,266,218 $ 10,058,326

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

The pension plan's Fiduciary Net Position has been determined on the same basis usedlY the pension
plan, which id generally accepted accounting principles prescribed by GASB. Detailed information about
ihe pension plin's basis of accounting and policies is available in a separately issued TMRS financial
report. That report may be obtained on the Internet atwww.tmrs.com'

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions

For the year ended September 30,2023, tlie City recognized pension expense of $(1,019,177).

At September 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual
economic experience

Changes in actuarial assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual

investment earnings
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date

Total

$ r47,177 $ 2,755,804

$--43,553J1rt $ -2J15,804

The $10,994,955 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions- resulting from
contributions subsequent to the lneasurernent date will be recognized as a reduction 

-of 
th9 net pension^

liability for the year ended September 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as .deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows oT resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as

follows:

Year ended September 30.

2024 s (1,030,681)
2025 7 ,371,1342026 8,770,011
202',7 14.692.291

32,411,382
10"994.9s5

Total

12

$J93!2J56



NOTE IO - DEFINBD BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Firemen's Relief und Retirement Fund (FRRF)

Plan Description

The City contributes to the FRRF, which is a single-employer, contributory defined benefit plan main-
tained for members of the City of Amarillo Fire Department. The benefit and contribution prwisjoqs of
this plan are established undei the authority of the Texas l,ocal Fire Fighters Retirernent Act (TLFFRA).
The 

^Board 
of Trustees of the Fund consists of three firefighters and two citizens elected by the members,

together with the Mayor or the Mayor's designated representative and the Assistant City_Manager/Chief
Fiiancial Officer. Within parameters establiihed by TLFFRA, the plan may be amended upon approval
by the Board and a vote of the membership.

Benefits Provided

The Plan's benefit provisions are established under the authority of the TLFFRA. Specffic plan
provisions are governed by a plan document and a trust agreement executed by the Board of Trustees.
The following is a brief sunmary of the benefit provisions of the Plan.

Under the Plan, firefighters can retire at age 50 with 20 years of service and receive either (1) a monthly
retirement benefit equal to 3A5% of the firefighter's highest average salary multiplied 9y tne firefighter's
total years of servicg if hired prior to January I , 201 8 or (2) a mo4lhly retirem_ent benefit equal to the sum
of 1aj Z.ZS% of the firefightei's highest average salary multiplied by the firefighter's ygar-s of service up
to a maximum of 20 years and @) 1.50% of the firefighter's years of service in excess of 20 years, if hired
on or after January 7,20t8. A firefighter's highest:iverage salary is the greater _of (1) the.firefighter's
highest five-year average salary for any period prior to retirement or (2) the firefighler's highest three-
yelr avenge-salary prior to January 1, 2018. In all retirement options, the PljLn p_rovides the firefight^ers

with an annuity for tife and can als-o provide a life annuity for their spo1s9s. Firefighters who retire after
completing 2Oyears of service, but who have not attained the ag9 of 50, may elect_to begin receiving
benefits aiage-45 or more in accordance with a lower scale of factors applied1o the highest*average
salary. Firefighters age 53, with 23 years or more of service, may elect_to participate in the Deferred
Retirement Option Plan (DROP), under which a participant may convert his benefits accruing after the

date of the election to a deferred retirement option payment (a form of lump sum distribution) to be paid
in full within 36 months of retirement.

Tlre standard benefit is payable in the form of a joint and 66-2130/o spouse annuity, but a firefighter may
elect a joint and 100% spouse annuity, a I5-year certain and life thereafter annuity, a straight life annuity,
or a pop-rrp option. Additionally, an option that provides an annually increasing retirement benefit in
connection with any of the above annuity forms is available.

A firefighter who becomes disabled as a result of his duties as a fi_refighter is eligible for the normal
monthly-retirement benefits if lie has 20 or more years of service. A firefighter with less than 20 years of
service-is entitled to a benefit equal to either (1) 69% of his highest average salary, if hired prior to
January 1,2018 or (2) 65% of his highest average salary, if hired on or after.l.ung?ty 1_,20L8. Off-duty
disability retirement benefits are provided for as a percentage of the on-duty disability benefits, with the
percentage being on a graduated scale based on years ofservice.

The standard death benefit available to the spouse of a deceased firefighter who has met the eligibility
requirements for DROP is two-thirds of the benefits the firefighler would have received had he retired on
his date of death, plus any DROP payment to which the firefighter would have been entitled. Lesser
monthly benefits afe provided for a spouse of a firefighter who dies before meeting the qualif,iing_criteria.
If a firefighter has attiined age 50 and has completed at least 20 years of service, he can elect to have his
spouse reieive a larger benefit in the event he dies prior to retiring frorn the fire department. An active
firefighter must elecl the optional death benefit on or before the date he attains age 60. If a firefighter
dies while he is an active fiiefighter and after electing the optional joint and 100%o survivor pre-retireme_nt

death benefit, the firefighter's ipouse will receive a survivor's benefit equal to 100% of the amount the

CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMBNTS

Year Bnded September 30,2023
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Year Bnded September 30,2023

NOTE 10 - DEFINBD BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Firemen's Relief and Retirement Funcl (FRRF) (Continued)

B ene.fits Provided (C ontinued)

firefighter would have received if the firefighter had retired on his date of death. If this election is made,
the fiiefighter who elects the higher pre-retirement death benefit will receive a slightly loqer-pension
upon actrial retirement. Each child of a deceased firefighter is entitled to a ryonthly benefit of $335 ($670
if there is no spouse receiving benefits) until age 18, or until age 25 while a fulltime student.

The Plan has a $7,500 lump sum death benefit provision.

A firefighter who terminates after completing at least 10 years of service, but who has not altained the age

of 50, ii entitled to receive a deferred vested retirement income commencing at the end of the month in
which the firefighter would have both attained age 50 and completed 20 years of service.

Firefighters' salaries are not subject to the Federal Insurance Contributions Act and, consequently, Plan
benefits are not integrated with Social Security benefits.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

As provided under TLFFRA, all firefighters must be less than 36 years of age upon entering service for
the City as a firefighter and must become members of the Plan, which provides them with pension, death,
and disaUility benefits. The Plan covers current and former firefighters as well as beneficiaries of current
and fornier fir6fighters. The types of employees covered, as well as Plan membership as of Dbcerarber 31,
2022,the measurement date, are as follows:

Active:
Vested 50
Nonvested 223

273

Terminated:
Nonvested

Retired:
Vested

Pensioners:
Service retirement
Disability retirement
Spouses/children

4

Total participants

195
6

3l
232

s09

Contributions

The Plan's minimum required contribution provisions are established under the authority of TLFFRA.
There are no contracts governing contributions to the Plan. Specific plan contribution rates are governed
by a plan document. Changes in the members' contribution rate require a plan amendment. An actuarial
valuation is performed every two years to be certain the plan benefits and plan contributions are in
balance. There are no statutory reserve requirements for the Plan.

The City employer contribution rate was 18.83% of the firefighters'gross pay starting January 2014 a1d
was increaset to t9.57%o starting January 2017, and was increased to 19.82Vo,20.32oA, and 20.82%o

starting January 1,2020,2021 and 2022 respectively. The Plan is funded by a contribution by each
firefighter. The firefighters'contribution rate is 13.00% of gross pay and was increased to 13.50% as of

14
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NOTE 10 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Firemen's Relief and Retiretnent Fund (FRRF) (Continued)

C o ntributi orzs (Continued)

January 1,2021 and l4Vo as of January 1,2022. If a firefighter tenninates_service with the Fire
Department of the City and he is not entitled to any of the benefits as described above, h_e will receiv-e a

lump sum payment oi the contributions he made without accumulated interest. A firefiglLetwbg b?s
become eli-gi6te for benefits may also elect to receive a refund of his contributions, but will forfeit his
right to any benefits which he might otherwise have been entitled to receive.

Net Pension Liability

The City's net pension liability (asset) was measured as of December 31,2022, and the.total pension
liability-used to calculate the net pension liability (asset) was detetmined by an actuarial report as of
December 31,2022.

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2022,wingIhe
following-actuarial assumptions applied to all prior periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 2.75yo,plus promotion, step a-ryl longevity increases th.at v3ry by service
Inveslment rate 7.50yo, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the PubS-2O10 (public safety) total dataset mortality tables for employees
and for retirees (sex distinct), projected for mortality improvement generationally using the projection
scale MP-2019.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
methodln which expected future net real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment
expense, and inflati'on) are developed for each majgr asset, class. Thgs-e components are combined to
pr6duce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the_expected !9t" net.real rates of retum.by
the target asset-allocation percentage (currently resulting in 5)3%) a,nd by adding_ expected -inflation
Q.50y;. In addition, the final 7.5% assumption was selected by rounding down. The,target allocation
ind expected arithmetic net real rates of retuin for each major asset class are summarized in the following
table: 

Target Long-term expected
Allocation real rate ofretu

Asset Class
Equities

Large/mid cap domestic
Small cap domestic
International cap

Fixed income and cash
Total
Weighted Average

Changes in Assumptions

There were no changes in Actuadal Assumptions

63.6%
9.9%
4.6%

219%
r00.0%

6.2%
65%
7.0%
r.0%

75

s.l3%



CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC F'INANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Bnded September 30,2023

NOTE 10 - DEF'INED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Firemen's Relief and Retirement Fancl (FRRF) (Continued)

Discount Rate

Changes in Net Pension Liability

The changes in net pension liability (asset) are summarized in the following table:

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50%. No projection of cash flows used

to determine the discount rate because the December3l,2022 actuarial valuation showed that expected
contributions would pay the normal cost amortize the unfunded actuarial liability (UAAL) in 6 years.

Because of the 6-year amortization period of the UAAL, the pension plal's fiduciary net position is

expected to be aviilable to make all projected future benefit paym.ents of current active and inactive
members. Therefore, the long-term efpected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.50o/o was
applied to all periods of proJected beirefit payments as the discount rate to determine total pension

liability.

lncrease (Decrease)

Total Pension

Liability

(a)

Plan Fiduciary

Net Position

Net Pension

Liability (Asset)

'. 
')p

Balance at December 31,2021

Changes for the year:

Selice cost

Interest
Change of benefit tetms

Difference between expected and actual experience

Changes of assumptions

Contributions - employer

Contnbutions - employee

Net investment income

Gain or (Loss) due to difference in projected vs. actual earnings

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions

Administrative expense

Other changes

Net changes

Balance at December 31,2022

$ 231,96r,233 $ 770 $ (30,267,s37)

s2s2,913
t7 26s,66s

s2s2,9t3
r7,26s,665

g,8a,7te)
(3269,398)

38,1',75A86

1M,607

(310,969)

52,395,585

4,862,719

3269,398
(38,175,48O

(14,010,569) (14,010,569)

(r44,607)

310,969

8,508,009 (43,887,5',76)

s 240A69,242 $ 218,341 .194 $ 22,t28,048

Table 6 - FRRF Net Pension Liability

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

Tlie following presents the net pension liability of the City calculated using the discount rate of 7 .50o/o, as

well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one

percentage point lower (6.50%) or one percentage point higher (8.50%) than the current rate.

Chonges in Net Pension Liability
17o Decrease

rc.500 \

$_rH6r.$4

76

Current discount
rate (7.50oh1

I 7o Increase
(8.s0%)

City's net pension liability (asset) s 22J28&48 fi2J48-679)



CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 10 - DEF'INED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Firemen's Relief and Retirement Fund (FRRF) (Continued)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

The pension plan's Fiduciary Net Position has been determined on the same basis used^by the pension
planiwhich is- generally acc6pted accounting principles prescribed by GASB. Detailed information about
the pension plan's basis of accounting and policies is available in a separately issued FRRF financial
report. This report, and further details concerning the plan, is available !Y contacting the-Board of
Trustees, Firemen's Relief and Retirement Fund, City of Amarillo, P.O. Box 1971, Amarillo, Texas
79105.

Pension Expense and Defened Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions

For the year ended September 30,2023,the City recognized pension expense of $(4,838,120).

At September 30, 2023, the City reported defered outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual
economic experience

Changes in actuarial assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual

investment eamings
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date

Total $ 25J12.800 s_4,803358

The $3,987,802 reported as defened outflows of resources related to pensions- resulting from
contribuiioni subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction 

-of 
the net,pension

liability for the year ended September 30, 2023. Other amounts reported as _defered outflows of
resouries and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as

follows:

Year ended September 30.

I (2,750,295)
2,282,190
6,372,898

11,425,676
(l 55,864)

s2.96s)

Total S 17-121-54A

Deferred Compensution Plsn

In addition to the TMRS and FRRF plans, the City offers its full-time employees a choice of defered
compensation plans created in accordance with Internal Revenue,Code (IRC) Secti.on^457. The plg.ls,
avaifable to all City employees, permit them to defer a portion of their salaries until future years. The
deferred compensation is not avallable to ernployees until termination of employment, retirement, death
or unforeseeable ernergency. The ernployee liability for the related Federal incoure taxes is defened until
the funds are paid to the participating employee or beneficiary under the terms of the agreement.

$ 1,038,312
5,497,548

$ 4,570,949
232,409

15,3 89,13 8
3.987.802

2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
Thereafter (
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Bnded September 30,2023

NOTE 10 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Firemen's Relief and Retirement Fund (FRRF) (Continued)

Deferred Compensation Plan (Continued)

The laws governing deferred compensation plans require plan assets to be lrcld QY atrust for the exclusive
benefit of-illan pailicipants and their beneficiaries. Because the assets held under these plans are lot the

City's property ind are not subject to City control, they are reported as a fiduciary pension benefit trust
fund in the Fiduciary Fund Statements.

NOTE 11 - DEF'INED OTHER POSTBMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

Plan Administration

The City administers a multi-employer agent, defined benefitpost-employment.heath plan (Plan)., The
Plan does not include the pension benefits discussed in Note 10. The Finance Director is responsible for
administration of the plan with Council oversight. The plan is reported as a Trust Fund in the City's
financial statements. fhe plan does not issue a publicly available financial report.

Plan Membership

As of December 31, 2022,the valuation date of the Plan, the plan membership data is as follows:

Active employees 1,458
Retirees 703

Total -2J6L
Eligibility Requirements

Ernployees of the City who have l0 years of full-time service with the City or the AEDC who are eligible
to retiie under the TMRS or the FRRF may continue coverage in the City-sponsored group healthcare
plan as a retiree.

To be eligible to retire under TMRS, participants must attain either 2Q_V9qs of TMRS service, o{ fiyg
years of iVnS service and age 60. Tb be eiigible to retire under the FRRF, participants must attain 20
years of FRRF service and age 45.

Ernployees who become disabled after attaining 10 years of full-tirne service with the City or the AEDC
are also eligible to continue coverage in the City-sponsored group healthcare plan.

Employees may only obtain dependent coverage at retiremen!, ggly if the employee. was receiving
depbndent coverage immediately prior to retirement. The applicable contribution rate is based on the

employee's service at retirement.

A widow/widower of an ernployee wlro l) met the requirements above to continue coverage in the City-
sponsored group healthcare plan at tlie time of death, and 2) had spouse coverage at the time of death, is
eiigible to iontinue coverage in the City-sponsored group healthcare plan, at the applicable retiree rate,

based on the employee's service at the time of death.

Prior to January 1,2015, retirees and spouses who were eligible to continue co\/eryge. in the. City-
sponsored group healthcare plan at retirement may remain in the plan until age 65. Retirees who are

Medicare eligible must apply for Medicare.
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CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTBS TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 11 - DEFINED OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BBNBFIT PLAN (CONTINUED)

Eligibility Requirements (Continued)

On or after January l, 2015, retirees and their legal spouse who are eligible to continue coverage in the

City-sponsored group healthcare plan at retirement may remain in the plan until age 65.

Benefits Provided

The Plan provides for rnedical insurance of eligible retirees and their dependents through the City's grgue
health iniurance plan, which covers both activi and retired members. Benefit provisions are established
and amended by the City Council.

Contributions

In January 2013, the City began prefunding a portion of its Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)
liability via an inevocable multi-employer agent OPEB trust (PEB Tryrt) in additio_n to pay-as-you-go
costs. 

-Assets 
in the PEB Trust can onlybe used to fund other postemployment benefits, such as medical

costs for eligible retirees, and any eligible spouse or children. The increased prefunding contributions to
2.8Yo of plyroll into the OPiiB Trust (approximately $2.7 millio!) ryd pay-as-you-gg cost. of
approximately $4.3 million for a total contribution at December,.3l,202l..of .approximately $7 million.
nie City Council has the authority to increase or decrease prefunding contribution rates.

Effective January l, 2015, all inactive participants age 65 or older must drop medical coverage and

receive a stipend of $ t S0 per month to be used-towardlheir cost of medical c-overage. The $ 150 stipend
is not expected by the City to increase.

The following table summarizes the range of monthly retirees' health and basic life premiums based on
years of service and date of retirement.

Range of Monthly Retiree Health Premiums
Retiree Health Premium

Fiscal Yenr 2022

Retiree Ranse of Health Premium Rates

Plan I retiree
Plan I retiree and spouse
Plan2 retiree
Plan2 retiree and spouse

$ 182.78 -$
$ 36s.s5 -$
$ 201.06 -$
$ 438.66 -$

533.73
1,607.42

587. I 0
1,280.90

Sammary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The Post Employment Benefit Trust Fund's financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting. 

-Eniployer 
contributions are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal

commitmJnt to piovide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the terms of the plan.

Method Used to Value Investments

Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on national or international exchanges are valued
at the last reported sales price at cunent exchange rates.
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CITY. OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 11 -DBFINED OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED)

Investments

Investment Policy

The Trustees may invest funds held in the OPEB Trust Fund at their discretion in including, certificates of
deposit; mutual funds, and other forms of security investments.

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 3I, 2022, the annual money-weighted rate of retum on investments, net of
investment expense, was (16.27)%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for changing amounts actually invested.

Net OPEB Liability of the City

Tlre components of the net OPEB liability of the City at September 30,2023, were as follows:

Total OPEB Liability
OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Net OPEB Liability

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a percentage of
The Total OPEB Liability

Asset Class

Bank Insured Deposit/Cash
Equities
Mutual Funds

$ 77,423,809
3 1,005.63s

$___46A1LJ14

40.05%

Target
Asset Allocation

0.61%
48.97%
50.42%

100.00%

Actuarial Assumptions

Tlie total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2022 actuarial valuation was determined using the

following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise
specified:

Additional Acfuarial Methods and Assumptions :

Valuation date December 31,202L
Measurement date December 31,2022

Fiscal year end September 30,2023
Benefits valued Medical and prescription drug benefits, and HRA benefits

Long-tetm rate of return 6.50%

Muni-Bond (unfunded) rate 4.05%

Payroll growth rate 2.75%

Discount rate 6.50%

Discount rate method The method determines an ultimate discount rate based on a

blend of a) the unfunded municipal bond index rate and b) the
trust's assumed long-term rate of return. We have assumed the
City continues rnaking future Trust contributions equal to 2.8Vo

of payroll (the estimated average contribution rate over the past 4
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 11 -DEFINED OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BBNBFIT PLAN (CONTINUED)

Actuarial Assumptions (Continued)
years) and it continues paying retiree medical benefits from its
general assets. Under these assumptions, we've projected the
trust will remain sufficient to cover all future costs and thus the
City's discount rate is equal to the trust's long-term rate of

General inflation rate
Healthcare cost trend rate
Actuarial cost method

Actuarial value of assets

City contributions
Dental benefits

Withdrawal, Retirement, Disability,
Mortality Rates and Salary Scale

Me.dical Plan Blending

Dependent Status
. Spouse Age Differential
. Children

Per Capita Claims and
Administrative Costs

return.
250%
6.20%
Entry Age Normal level percent of pay. Investment gains/losses
are amortized over 5 years, liability gains/losses are amortized
over Average Working Lifetime, and Plan changes are
recognized immediately.
Fair Value
2.80% of total payroll
Premiums contributed by retirees, disabled participants and
Dependents for dental coverage are assumed to equal or exceed
their expected dental per capita claims costs. Therefore, dental
coverage was not valued in their valuation.

Rates from the December 31, 2021 TMRS and FRRF actuarial
reports
Future retirees are assumed to elect medical"poverage on each
plan according to the following assumptions:

Medical Plan Percent Assumed to Elect
Plan I 100%
Plan2 0%

Husbands are assumed to be two years older than wives.

Assume current and future retirees have no covered
children.

Per capita medical and prescription drug claims and
administration costs (PCCC) were developed based on
the following:
- Claims experience, stop loss fees and administration

costs for actives and retirees from January 1,2079 to
December 31,2021.

- Claims experience was adjusted for plan values,
healthcare cost trend, and age-sex differences
between active employees and retirees.

Trend rates are used to project health insurance claims
and administtation costs and retiree premiums into the
future. If healthcare inflation were to continue as its
current rate, eventually 100% of the Gross National
Product (GNP) would be allocated for healthcare
selices. Since this is uruealistic, healthcare cost trend
rates are assumed to decrease in ftiture years.

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

Changes in Assumptions and Methods since Prior Valuafion

The following changes were made since the prior valuation:

. The Muni-Bond (unfunded rate changed from 2.06%o to 4'05)

8l



CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTB Lt - DEFINBD OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED)

Changes in Assumptions and Methods since Prior Valuation (Continued)

Changes in the Net OPEB LiabilitY

Increase (Decre ase)

Total OPEB

Liability

Plan Fiduciary

Net Position

Net OPEB

Liability

Balances as of September 30,2022

Changes for the year:

Service cost

Interest on the total OPEB liabilif
Changes ofbeneltts
Difference between expected and actual experience

Changes in assumptions

Empoyer contributions

Plan member contributions

Net investment income

Benefit paynents, including employee refunds

Administrative expense

Other changes

Net changes

Balances as of Septe mber 30, 2023

$'74,441,4t9 $33,853,842 $40,587,577

2,313,33s

4,853,078

7,078,945

(s,738,496)

(4,184,023)

2,313,335

4853,078

(7,078,945)

5,738,496

(4,184,023)

(4,633) 4,633

2,982,390 (2,848,207)

$ 77,423,809 $ 31,005,635 $ 46,418,174

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City's net OPEB liability
would be if it-were calculated using a discount rate l-percentage-point lower and l-percentage-point
higher than the current discount rate of 7.50%o.

Current
17o Increase Discount Rate 1 7o Decrease

Net OPEB Liability $ 39,215,862 S 46,418,173 $ 54,592,358

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City's net OPEB liability
would be if lf were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rates l-percentage-point lower and l-
percentage-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates of 7.50olo

Current Healthcare
17o Increase Discount Rate l7o Decrease

Net OPEB Liability $ 54,431,097 $ 46,418,173 $ 39,695,011

Tlre net OPEB liability was measured as of December 37,2022, and the total OPEB liability used to
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 3 I ,2021 .

For the year ended Septernber 30,2023,the City recognized total OPEB expense of $(1,260,990).

At September 30, 2023, the City reported its collective defemed outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

'1
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 11 - DEFINED OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED)

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actttal experiences $ 1,137,330 $ 248,464
Changes in actuarial assumptions
Net differences between projected and actual investment eatnings

Total as of measurement date

Contributions paid to subsequent to the measnrement date

4,545,373
4.40't.569

3,926,028

$ 10,090,272 $ 4,174,492

2.424.3s2

Total as of fiscal year end L--12-5LA-O4 L--A;UA-ry2

The net amounts of the employer's balances of deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year ended September 30.

2024
2025
2026
2027
2028

Total

Payable to OPEB Plan

At Septembiir'30,2023, the City reported no payable for the outstanding amount of contribriti0ns to the
Plan required for the year ended September 30,2023.

Financial Statements

Tlre Plan does not publish separate financial statements. Below are the September 30,2023 PEB Trust's
condensed financial statements. Further information regarding the Plan, including the most recent
actuarial study, may be obtained from the Finance Director, City of Amarillo.

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, at fair value

Total Assets

Net Position
Net position restricted for OPEB

Total Net Position

Additions
Employer - Contributions

Total Contributions
Investment Income:

Net Appreciation (Depreciation) in Fair Value of Investments
Interest , Dividends, and Other Investment Incotne

Total Investrnent Income
Less Investment Expenses

Net Investment Income
Total additions

Deductions
Benehts paid

Total deductions
Change in net position

Net Position, Beginning of Year

Net Position, End of Year

83

$_Ll-oilga

(s.907.1 r 8)
t,336.260

4.184.023
4.184.023

(2. 841.163)

$ 172,046
1,236,020

960,919
2,266,850

619.94s

s 5.915.780

$ 189,116
30.862,1 6 I

$ 3l.051.277

s 31.0s1.2'71

$ 1.243.378
7.243.318

(6,680,564)
933.6t9

(5,746,945)
160.173

33.899.040

$ ,-3_t 95rza



CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS

The City has several ongoing commitments. One of the more significant commitments is the City's
commitment to the Canadian River Municipal Water Authority (CRMWA). The City is obligated to pay

its pro rata share of operating costs of the Canadian River Municipal Dam and Aqueduct Systern along

with the City's portion of the CRMWA debt. These costs are included in the Water and Sewer system. In
the event of the acquisition and financing of additional water rights, the City would be responsible for
contract payments to CRMWA for its proportionate share of the debt service on the bonds issued.

Due to the increasing decline of Lake Meredith, CRMWA began acquiring additional water rights in
Gray, Hutchinson, Roberts, and Wheeler Counties beginning in 2004. In the process of acquiring water
rights, CRMWA is now one of the largest water rights owners in Texas.

The City leases facilities adjoining to the City's Civic Center frorn the Amarillo-Potter Events Venue
District(the Venue District).- Under the terms of the lease the City is obligated to pay the greater of $10
per month or any shortfall in the District's required rnonthly deposit to the debt service accgr4t. The City
has not had to pay more than $120 in lease payments since the inception of the District in 1998.

Moreover, the Venue District's tax revenues currently can cover debt service payments approximately two
times. Tlrerefore, the City does not anticipate paying more than $120 in lease payments in2022-23.

However, the City has appropriated $780,775 of its available Fund Balance in the City's 2023-24 budget
for its potential commitment to the Venue District although City Management does not believe th,at any
payment beyond $'1. 0 will be necessary. ' .-l =r

Most of tlie City's commitments are in capital projects. Many of these projects take more than a year to
design, bid, and construct; therefore, the appropriation and commitment do not end at. year-end. At
September 30,2023, the City had commitments with respect to completion of various capital projects, as
reflected in Table 7. For this purpose, commitments are defined as the difference between the
appropriation for the project and amounts paid or recognized as liabilities at year-end; additional funding
fiom outside sources are shown as a reduction to the amounts reported as committed. Sufficient resources
were either on hand in the City's accounts or authorized and available to complete all committed projects.

Proje c t
Authorizations

Expected
0utside

Funding Sources

Outside
Funding

Re ce ive d

Complete at
Se pte mbe r 30,

2023

City's
Remaining
Committed

Governmental activities

Street improvements
General construction
Solid waste improvements

Civic Center irnprovements
GO Bond Construction

Total - governmental firnd activities

Intemal service f-wd pro.iects

Infonnation services
Fleet services

Total - all govemmental-type activities

Business-type activities
Water and sewer system irnprovements

Airport
Drainage utility

Total - all br.siness-type activities

Total - all city project

$ 275s0,488
103560,308
10,95t;727

|s,4242s3
s2.364.3t3

210,051,089

$ 30,667F51

113.916,720

4,598,994
s,94s,941

t5s,129,306

I 0,508,1 84

$ 3,651J78
102"503962

1,972,919

4,44s,941

616527
33,516112

3,625,857

5,1 98,545

342U,98s

t7,788
s8,730238
7,325,870

7,599,633
16,661,328

$ $

1r2.573,s00 77]60!26

8,084,968

49M,990
1p34,709

225.000

90,334,8s-1

4.461543
4.806218

1,925!68
s,026288

169,637A90 124.6634s8 78420.135

2M,M7,1'41
29,689500
4t,524,408

33,603,554

19,703,470

8.878.576

2t.634289
12280,0s8

1.t42.341

73,9'73,6s3

l7,l 0l ,013

1s8,504223
s, l 6sp7s

15,037,l2l

31s.661949 62.185.600 3s,056,688 109,82s,112 178,'70642s

$ s38563.894 $ 231

Table 7 - Unfinished Consil"uclion Projects

84

$ 1s9,720,t46 $ 18824s.847 $ 278.31s,103



CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

The City curently has ten Public Improvement Districts (PIDs). Nine of the ten PIDs are located in
residential areas oithe City and the last PID is located in a business park. These PIDs were established to
provide and maintain enhanced amenities beyond what the City would lormaJlY approve in a standard
hevelopment. Most of tliese amenities take the form of linear parks with walkways, additional
landsciping, special features such as bridges and clock towers and special lighting. Since the residents
adjacent to these amenities benefit more than the general public, the residents adjacent to the enhanced
areas pay special assessments each year for these enhanced amenities.

The PIDs are responsible for the maintenance and ongoing upkeep of these enhanced facilities along with
the original cosf of the improvements. The City has issued Certificates of Obligatiols J9 .pay fgr
improvEments at the Greenways Public Improvement District. The first issue was for $600,000 in 200_1;

the second issue was for $620,000 in 2003 which have since been refunded, a third issue was for
$600,000 in 2008 which have since been refunded, and a fourth issue of $725,000 in2014, and fifth issue

of $975,000 in 2021. The special assessments paid by the residents are used to pay for the maintenance
and upkeep of the special amenities and to service the debt on the Certificates of Obligation. At the end
of fiscal year 2023, there was approximately $105,000 due the developer of the Greenways for
unreimbursed improvements.

The City is obligated to issue additional debt and pay the developer when there are sufficient property
owners 1o support the debt service payments. All of the enhanced amenities at the Greenways were
originally estimated to be approximately $2.5 million. The Colonies Public Improvement District has

apploximately $28,000 of unfeimbursedcosts to the developer for enhanced amenities. The City issued

Certificates of Obligations during 2023 to reimburse the developer for enhancements.

The bonds were issued during 2006 in the amount of $585,000, wltiit have since been refunded,
$1,500,000 during 2008, which-have since been refunded $1,535,000 in2014, and $3,000,000 in 2018.
The special assesiments paid by the residents will be used to pay the debt service associated with this
issue.'Tlie City is obligat-ed to issue debt when there are sufficient property owners to support the debt to
pay the developer along with the ongoing maintenance and upkeep of the-amenitie.s. All of the enhanced
bmenities at tlie Colonies were originally estimated to be approximately $4.6 million. The Pinnacle PID
has approximately $2.5 rnillion of unreimbursed costs to the developer fo1 enhancements. Tlie other PIDs
are fuily developed and there is not an amount to be paid to the developer or are in process of being
developed and no amounts are to be paid to the developer as of September 30,2023.

The City lras committed $247,600 to Center City for downtown redevelopment. Center City works
closely with the City, citizens, and the downtown developer to promote and improve the downtown area.

The City previously entered into a development agreement, which was assigned to the Arnarillo Local
Government Corpoiation (LGC) in 2011. The Corporation's charge was to work with a developer(s) on
the following three downtown initiatives: a convention hotel, a parking garage, and a mllti-purpo_se e_vgnj

venue (MPEV) that will also serve as a minor league ball park. On November 12, ?014., the_LGC
approved a Convention Center Hotel Agreement and a separate Convention Center Parking Garage
Afreernent. The developer of the convention hotel will operate the hotel and the LGC will opgrate the
parking facility. The parking garage developer will operate the retail portion of_the garage. The hotel
agreement includes rebates ofState sales and hotel occupancy taxes, rebate oflocal hotel occupancy tax€s
and a performance assurance of up to $2 million to assure a minimum performance of the hotel. The
assurance for minimum performante ended 1213112021 and the City did not pay any of the $2 million.
On December 22,2014;the City Council approved Addendum #l to the Interlocal Local Agreement
between the City and LGC confirming that the City will provide public revenue, as necessary, to fund the

downtown projects and to fund the hotel performance assurance.

In 2012, the City approved to refund Local HOT revenues not to exceed 20 years or $ 15,251,258. Thg
Embassy Suites bedame eligible for the refunds in2011. Refund payments for September 30,2023 and
2022, were $794,828 and $753,112, respectively. Refunds to date total $4,133,276. The original
developer of the Embassy Suites sold their investment to a new group and all existing incentives have
been reassigned to the new group during fiscal year ending Septernber 30,2020.
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NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Convention Center Hotel opened on Septernber 8,2017. The performance assurance period beg?l
July 1, 20l.8.and will run for 42-months ending on Dec.ember 31,2021. During this period the City will
assure a mlnlfilum performance of the hotel up to $2 million, with no more than $l million drawn in any
12 month period. The perfonnance assurance criteria were 650% occupancJ rate and an average daily
room rate (ADR) of $ I 30, prior to the opening of the MPEV. After the opening of the MPEV, the criteria
changed to 630lo occupancy and $125 average daily rate. The City did not have to pay anything related to
this assurance.

On August 11,2015, the Amarillo City Council approved Resolution 08-11-15-3 regarding _the
implementation of the proposed Convention Hotel and Parking Garage projects as Downtowl Calalyst
projects. The proposed resblution: 1) amends and restates Resolution 08-23-11 as amended_by Resolution
It-tt-t+-t approved by the Amarillo City Council on August 23,2011, and November 11,2014,
respectively, 2) providei for the updated financial, contractual, and business structure of the Convention
Hoiel and itarking Garage projecti, and 3) accepts the general terms of the financing plan for the hotel,
parking garage, and MPEV.

On February 17,2016, the LGC approved the parking garage construction project in the amount of $15.65
million. Funding for this project included bond proceeds, reserves from the Civic Center Improvement
Fund, General Construction Fund, TIRZ#1, and an additional funding from Center City. On February 2,

2016,the City Council amended the loan agreement between the City and TIRZ #1 authorizing a loan of
$1.85 million. Orning April 2016, the City issued approximately $12 million in hotel occupancy tax
revenue bonds to fund the parking garage. The parking garuge was opened on July 1,2017.

The Cify entered into a rental lease agreement in September of 2017 as the lessor with Panhandle
Basebali Club, Inc as the lessee of the rnulti-purpose event venue (MPEV). The agreement includes a

$45.54 million construction budget. Tlie initial tenn runs through 2048 with the annual rent payments of
$400,000 beginning April 1, 2019 through 2038. The lessee, beginning April 1,2019, shql_l PaY Snnla!
rent of $400-,000. 

-A portion of the annual rent ($225,000) will be allocated into an \4PEV Capital
Improvements and Maintenance Reserve. On April 8, 2020, an amendment was signed for the lease to
defer the installment payment of annual rent due on April 15, 2020 to be paid no later than May 75, 20,20

and to defer the instailment payment of annual rent due July 15, 2020 to be paid no later than December
31,2020. On December 30, 2020, a second amendment was signed for the lease to allow half of the
annual rent due on December 31, 2020 to be paid on July 15, 2021 and the other half to be paid on July
15,2022. Prior to January 15, 2035 the City and the lessee will have the ability to negotiate a plan for
renovation to the MPEV,-the agreement anticipates renovation costs of $15 million. Upon successful
negotiation of the renovation milestones which includes the renovation plan, amendment and completion^
of the renovation improvements the City and the lessee will have the ability to negotiate a series of
renovation tenn extension options totaling 15 years. The agreement identifies surface parking area as

1,000 parking spaces which are owned or controlled by the City and located no more than 1,600 feet frorn
the MPEV. As detailed in the agreement the lessee shall have the exclusive use of the surface parking
area for all events at the MPEV. During January 2018 the City entered into a Construction Manager at
Risk agreement for the construction of the MPEV. The maximun guaranteed price of the MPEV was

$45.54 million. On March 20,2018, the City issued the Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue Bonds, Taxable
Series 2018 in the amount of $38.8 million to construct and equip the MPEV. The additional funding for
this project was from the Civic Center Improvement Fund reserves. The MPEV opened in April 2019.

In March 2023, the City issued $4.6 million in additional Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue Bonds to
complete renovations at the MPEV to meet Major League Baseball requirem.ents. A third amendment to
the MPEV lease agreement was approved in January 2024 allowing tlie City to pay $175,000 of this
arurual debt service from a portion of the annual MPEV capital improvement and Maintenance Reserve
Fund. The remaining debt seruice will be paid fi'om the City's HOT allocation and CVB's HOT allocation.

CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
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NOTE 12 - COMMITMBNTS (CONTINUED)

Tlie City anticipates the use of hotel occupancy taxes to fund the two bond issues associated with the

downtown parking garage and MPEV, specifically the Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue Bonds Series 2016
and Series 20 t g. -Curr intIy, 3 .5o/o of the 7Yo hotel tax revenues are used to pay outstanding debt and to
offsetthe operating loss at-the Civic Center Complex. Also 3% of the hotel tax is normally allocatedto
the Convention and Visitor's Bureau (CVB) to also pay outstanding debt and to promote tourism and

conventions in the City. The remaining half percent is used to subsidize events. Generally, the 3.5% for
the Civic Center Complex is enough to offset the loss, and the balance is transferred to the Civic Center
Improvement Fund for future capital needs.

For the Civic Center, the net result of issuing the hotel tax revenue bonds will be fewer frrnds for future
capital for a period of time. The hotel occupancy tax revenue will ultimately need to grow to_make up fol
th6 projected reductions to the CVB. Fortrurately, the City hqs started to see_ recovery from the decreased
hotdl o-ccupancy tax (HOT) revenues during 202012021 and202112022. HOT revenues were down 25%o

in 201912620 versus 2018;12019, but up 54Yo in 202012021 and up another l4%o in 202112022. HOT
revenues were down 4Vo in202212023. Average increases over the previous ten years have been over 5Yo

even with the 4o/o decrease in 202212023, 25oh decrease in 201912020 and a 3olo decrease in 201612017.
These are the only three years in this period that reflect a decrease.

NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Tax Supported Debt

Recovery Zone Build America Bonds, Series 2010

On April 15,2010, the City issued $1,392,000 Recovery Zone Build America Bonds, Series 2010. These

bonds were issued at 5.81d/o with a 450lo interest subsidy from the United States Treasury. The rnaturities
range tlrru 2030 with an average interest coupon of 3.196% (net of the subsidy). The proceeds are to fund
the*City's portion of the construction of a biidge at Grand and 3rd Street, as well as street and drainage
improv-ements. The annual principal maturities range from $75,000 to $88,000.

Generul Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2017

On February 22,201J, the City issued $15,110,000 of General Obligation-Refunding lond_s fo_r lhe
purpose of ihe refunding the Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation Bonds, Series

2067. The refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next ten years by
$2.7 rnillion and resulted in a present value benefit of $2.4 million. Interest is payable in semi-annual
installments which began May-l5, 2017 at a 4.00% interest rate and the term bonds mature annually to
May 15, 2027 in amounts ranging from $1,565,000 to $1,760,000. The bonds are not subject to optional
redemption.

Cerfficates of Obligation, Series 2017

In conjunction with the General Obligation Refunding Bonds issued on February 22, 2017, the City^

issued"$6,940,000 of Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation for the purpose of
acquiring a two-way radio communications system for the public safety department. _Int9r-gst is pay^able in
semi-aniual installments which will begin February 15, 2018, at rates ranging from 3.00% to 3.50%, and
the term bonds mature annually to Fe6ruary 15,2037 in amounts ranging from $140,000 to $620,000.
The City reserued the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after February 15, 2028, on

February 15,2027, or any date thereafter.
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Tax Supported Debt (Continued)

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2017

The City issued $21,280,000 of General Obligation Bonds on May ll,2017 _to address plbti. safety and

street cipital improvement projects approvedby voters dgrlng a November 2076 bond election. Interest
is payabie in semi-annual installmenfJwhich will begin February 15 ,2018, at rates ranging frop- ],0p!
to S.OO%, and the serial bonds mature annually to February 15, 2042 in amounts ranging from $660,000
to $1,270,000. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after February 15,

2028, on February 15 , 2027 , or any date thereafter.

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2018

On July 18,2018, the City issued $22,145,000 of General Obligation Bonds for the^purpose,of public
safety ind sireet cipital improvement projects approved by voters during a llov^e^ryper 2076 bond election.
Interest is payable in semi-annual installments which will begin February !5, ?0.19, at rates ranging from
3.125% to'5.b0%, and the serial bonds mature annually to February 15,2028 in amounts ranging frorn

$650,000 to $1,325,000. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after
February 15,2629, in whole or from time to time in part in p-rincipal_amounts of $5,000 9r ?ny integral
multiple thereof, on February 15, 2028, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued
interest to the date of redemption.

Genersl Obligution Refunding Bonds, Series 2020

On May l,2020,the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas Generl! Obligtion Refunding po1ds, Series

2020 (Refirnding Series 2020 eonds) in the total amount of $50,450,000. The g1oPll of the-Refunding
Series'2020 noids supported by tax revenue is $960,000. The Bonds refunded $5?,9q0,?F_ of the City'g
existing debt. The rihrnding consisted of $950,000 of tax qupported debt, $5,845,783 of 

^spe.cial
assessrient and other revenu6 sources debt, and $45,285,000 of water and sewer debt. The Refunding
Series 2020 Bonds refunded $950,000 of the 2009 General Obligation Refunding Bonds. The refunded
bonds are considered defeased and have been removed from the City's books. The refunding was

undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next three years by $45,680 and resulted in an

economic gain of $38,348. The outstandlng Refunding Series 2020 Bonds matured in2022.

General Obligation Boncls, Series 2020

On May 1,2020,the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas General Obligation Bonds, Series 2020 (.GO

Series 2OiOl t"ihe totai amount of $8,100,000 for the purpose of constructing T9 imprwingpublic
safety facilifies. Interest is payable in semi-annual installments which will begin 1"9*u.y 15,2021, at

rates ranging from 2.00% to^5.b0%. The serial bonds mature annually through 20.45 in amounts rangi_ng

from $1410,0"00 to $485,000. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after
February 15,2028, in whole or from time to time in partin principal amounts o^f $5,000 or any integral
nrultiple theieof, on February 15,2027 , or any date tliereafter, at par value thereof plus accrued interest to

the date of redemption.
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NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Tax Supported Debt (Continued)

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2020

On May I,2020, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates
of Obligation, Series 2020 (CO Series 2020) in the total amount of $8,000,000 for the purpose of
constructing and improving park and recreation facilities. Interest is payable in semi-annual installments
which will begin February 15,2021, at rates ranging from2.00oh to 5.00%. The serial bonds mature
annually through 2050 in amounts ranging from $140,000 to $400,000. The City reserved the right to
redeem-the bonds with maturities on or after February 15,2028, in whole or from time to time in part in
principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on February 15,2027, or any date thereafter,
at par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

Tax Notes, Series 2020

On May 1,2020, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas Tax Notes, Series 2020 (Notes Series 2020)
in the iotal amount of $3,520,000 for the purpose of acquiring land for rnunicipal facilities. Interest is
payable in semi-annual installments which will begin February 15,2021, at rates rynging frgm 2.Q0%qJo

l.OOy" ranging in amounts from $500,000 to $545,000. The notes mature annually through 2027. The
notes will not be subject to optional redemption.

Generul Obligation Bonds, Series 2021

The City issued $52,985,000 of General Obligation Bonds on January 15,2021 to address street capital
improvement projects approved by voters during a November 2016 bond election. Interest is payable in
semi-annual installmenti which will begin February 15,2022, at rates ranging from 2.00Yo to 4.00o/o, and
the serial bonds mature annually to-February 15,2046 in amounts ranging from $1,555,000 to
$2,775,000. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after February 15,

2031 , on February 15, 2030, or any date thereafter.

On January 21,2021, the City's General Obligation debt is rated AAA negative by Standards and Poor's.

Cerfficates of Obligation, Series 2022

On March 15,2022, the City of Amarillo, Texas issued Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of
Obligation, Series 2022 (CO Series 2022) in the total amount of $6,815,000 for the purpose of acquiring,
consfructing, improving and installing lighting for park and recreational facilities and for professional
services rendered in connection therewith. Interest is payable in semi-annual installments which begin
February 15,2023, at rates ranging from 3.00% to 4.00o/o. The serial bonds mature annually through
2043 in amounts ranging from $100,000 to $505,000. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds
with maturities on or after February 15,2033, in whole or from time to tirne in part in principal amounts
of $5,000 or any integral rnultiple thereof, on February 15, 2032 or any date thereafter, at par value
thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

89



CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended Septernber 30,2023
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Tax Notes, Series 2022

On January 1,2022, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas Combination Tax and Revenue Notes,

Series 2022 (Notes Series 2022) in the total amount of $23,900,000 for the purpose of renovating,

improving and equipping an existing City-owned building and for professional services rendered in
connection therewith. Interest is payable and semi-annual installments which will begin January 10,2023
at an interest rate of 2.00Vo, ranging in amounts from $4,700,000 to $4,990,000. The notes mature

annually through 2027. The notes are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the City, in
whole or in part, in principal amounts of $1,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on any date at the

redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the date of the redemption.

Tax Notes, Series 20228

On August 15,2022 the City of Amarillo, Texas issued Tax Notes, Series 20228 (Notes 20228) in the
total amount of $7,345,000 for the purpose of acquiring enterprise resource planning software and the
construction and improvement of fuel islands for the fleet services department, as well as to pay the costs
of issuing the Notes. Interest is payable in semi-annual instalments which begin February 15,2023, at
rates ranging from 4.00% to 5.00% and in amounts ranging from $1,015,000 to $1,290,000. The notes
mature annually through 2029. The Notes will not be subject to optional redemption.

Special Assessment Debt

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014

On April l, 2014, the City issued $2,260,000 of Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of
Obligation, Series 2014 for the purpose of financing enhancements of the park facilities in the Greenways
Public Improvement District ($725,000) and the Colonies Public Improvement District ($1,535,000),
respectively. Debt Service is to be funded out of special assessments on properties within each District.
The principal and interest are payable in semi-annual installments at rates ranging from 3.00% to 3.625Yo,
and ihe certificates are subject to mandatory redemption in annual amounts ranging from $110,000 to
$155,000. The final maturity is August 15,2034.

Certilicates of Obligation, Series 2018

In conjunction with the General Obligation Bonds issued on July 18, 2018, the City issued $3,000,000 of
Combination Tax and Revenue Certification of Obligation for the purpose of irnproving park facilities in
the Colonies PID. Interest is payable in semi-annual installments which will begin February 15,2019, at
rates ranging from 3.00% to 4.00Vo, and the serial bonds mature annually to February 15, 2038 in
amounts ranging from $125,000 to $205,000. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with
maturities on of after February l5 , 2029 , in whole or from time to time in part in principal amounts of
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on February 15, 2028, or any date tliereafter, at the par value
thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

Cerfficates of Obligation, Series 2021

On January 15,2021, the City issued $975,000 of ConTbination Tax and Revenue Certification of
Obligation for the purpose of improving park facilities in the Greenways PiD. lnterest is payable in semi-
annual installments which will begin February 15,2022, at rates ranging from 1.00% to 3.00%0, and the
serial bonds mature annually to February 15,2041 in amounts ranging from $40,000 to $60,000. The City
reserved the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after February 15,2031, in whole or from
time to time in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on February 15,2030,
or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.
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Special Assessment Debt (Continued)

Generul Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2020

As discussed above, the City issued tlie Refunding Series 2020 Bonds in the total arnount of $50,450,000.
The amount of the Refunding Series 2020 Bonds supported by special assessment and other sources
revenue is $5,700,000. The Refunding Series 2020 Bonds refunded $170,000 of the Series 2003
Certificates of Obligation, $230,738 of the Series 2006 Certificates of Obligation, $305,000 of the Series_

2008A Certificates of Obligation, $755,000 of the Series 20088 Certificates of Obligation, $2,885,000 of
the Series 20llA Certificates of Obligation, and $1,500,000 of the Series 20118 Certificates of
Obligation Bonds. The refunded bonds are considered defeased and have been removed from the City's
books. The refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next eighteen yeal
by $1,497,571 and resulted in an economic gain of $1,346,586. The outstanding Rgfundlng Series 2020
Bonds mature annually t\iflr2037 with principal payments ranging frorn $15,000 to $200,000 and provide
an interest rate ranging from 2.00Yo to 3.00%. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with
maturities on or after February 15,2029, in whole or from time to time in part in principal amounts of
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on February 15,2028, or any date thereafter, at par value thereof
plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

CertiJicates of Obligation, Series 2023

On January l, 2023, the City issued $9,825,000 of Combination Tax and Revenue Certification of
Obligation for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, and improving landfill and park facilities. Interest. -,*;
is payable in semi-lnnual installments which will begin February 15, 2024, at rates langi-ng frgry !.00%
to 5.00%, and the serial bonds mature annually to February 75,2043 in amounts ranging from $90,000 to
$740,000. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after February 15,2033,
in whole or from fime to time in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral rnultiple thereof, on
February 15, 2032, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of
redemption.

Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue Boncls, Toxable Series 2016

On April 13,2076, the City issued the Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2016 (Series
2016t in the amount of $11,995,000 to construct and equip the downtown Amarlllo parking garagg
located in the vicinity of the City's convention center facilities. Debt service is to be funded by the Hotel
Occupancy Tax. Principal and interest are payable annually at rates ranging frop3 0-1-"/, to 4.25o/o and are

subjeit to mandatory redemption in annual amounts ranging from $355,000 to $740,000. Final matlrrity is
August 15,2043.

Hotel Occupancy Tux Revenue Bontls, Tsxuble Series 2018

On March 20,2018, the City issued the Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2018
(Series 2018) in the amount of $38,835,000 to construct and equip a multiuse facility. Debt service is to
be funded by the Hotel Occupancy Tax. Principal and interest are payable annually at rates ranging from
3.40% to 4.40o/o and are subject to mandatory redemption in annual amounts ranging from $870,000 to
$2,305,000. Final maturity is August15,2033 with additional maturities of $6,915,000 4.20yo termbonds
due August 15,2038 and $19,120,000 4.40oA term bonds due August 15,2048. The City reserved the
right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after August 15, 2027, in whole or from time to time in
part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 15, 2026, or any date
ihereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.
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NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Special Assessment Debt (Continued)

Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue Bontls, Turuble Series 2023

On March 15, 2023, the City issued the Hotel Occupancy Tax Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2023
(Series 2023) in the amount of $4,575,000 to construct, improve, enlarge, and equip municipal build_ings.
Debt service is to be funded by the Hotel Occupancy Tax. Principal and interest are payable annually at
rates ranging from 5.00% to 5.406% and are subject to mandatory redemption in annual amounts ranging
from $70,000 to $365,000. Final maturity is August 15,2043.

Summary of changes in the governmental activities debt for the year ended September 30, 2023, is as

follows:

Supported
Debt

Special Assessment
Debt and Other

Revenue Sources

Total
Cnvemment

Activities Debt

Tax

Princip al b alan ces outs tandin g, Octob er l, 2022

Newbond issue
Principal maturities
Balances September 30, 2023

Balance of unamortized dis count/plemium

Net balances, September 3Q 2023

$ 1s6,906,000

( r 0,1 53,000)-----fr6j$W
7,913,249

61,,145,000

14,400,000

(2,3e5,000)

218,351,000

14,400,000

(12,548,000)

$ $

73,450,000

1,501,079

220,203,000

9,414,328

$ 154,666,249 s 74.9s1.079 s 229,6t',1,328

At September 30,2023, the required debt service reserved fund was 8384,732. The amount available in
this account was $835,157.

Water and Sewer Bonds

Cerfficutes of Obligation, Series 2009

On December 29,2009, the City issued Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation Series
2009C in the arnount of $18,075,000. The Series 2009C bonds mature annually through 2031 with
annual principal payment of $905,000 and provide for }Yo interest rate.

lAatur and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2013

On July 10,2013, the City issued the Waterworks and Sewer System New Series Revenue Bonds, Series
201J iithe amount of $1,310,000. The Series bonds mature annually through 2023 in principal amounts
of $ 135,000 and provide for an interest rate of 0.85%. The proceeds will be used to fund the design of the

Osage to Arden Road pipeline.

Water and Sewer Revenae Bonds, Series 2014

On January 22, 2:A14, the City issued the Waterworks and Sewer System New Series Revenue Bonds,
Series ZOi+ in the amount of $8,495,000. The Series 2014 bonds mature annually through 2033 in
principal amounts ranging from $420,000 to $495,000 and provide for interest rates ranging from 1.68%
io 2.62%. These fundi will be used for the design and construction of Georgia Street Interceptor project.
This project will eliminate a lift station and ensure proper operation of the collection sysle-m in the-area.
This 6ond issue will also fund the planning and design for tlie replacement of Lift Station 32. Included in
this financing is an additional amount of $441,l3l of loan forgiveness for a total project of $8.9 million.
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Ll/ater and Sewer Revenue Bontls, Series 2015

On October 2,2015, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Waterworks & Sewer System Rguglgg
Bonds, Series 2015 in the amount of $17,195,000. The Series 2015 bonds mature annually through 2035

in principal amounts ranging from $830,000 to $950,000 and Pfo.vide for ilterest rates. ranging q9m
0.7i%t; 1.59%. These funds will be used for the construction of the Arden Road transmission pipeline
project from the Osage water treatment plant to the connection fol.tlie Arden fo1{ numq station. This
^attows 

the City to move an additional20 million gallons per day which allows the City to deliver the new
water supply from the Potter County well field to the west side of town.

ll/ater and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A

On October 2,2015,the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Waterworks & Sewer System ReQlding
Bonds, New Series 2015A (Series 2015A Bonds) in the amount of $21,145,000. The Series 2015A Bonds
refunded the Series 2005,2006 and 20064 Bonds. The refunded bonds are considered defeased and have

been removed from the City's books. The refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service
payments over the next sixteen years by 54,259,179 and resulted !n gn gcongmic gain of $3,494,212 and
^the 

present value benefit of $2,623,562. The outstanding S91!es 2015A Bonds mature annually thru2032
witli principal payments ranging from $375,000 to $1,730,000 and provide for interest rates ranging from
2.25%ro 4.00%o.

lVater snd Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2017

On May 11,2017 the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Waterworks & Sewer System Revenue
Bonds, New Series 2011 in the amount of $31,005,000. The New Series 2017 bonds Taqre annually
through 2037 in principal amounts ranging frorn $1,425,000 to $2,035,000 and provide for interest rates

rangiig from 3.0b% to 5.00%. These-funds will be used for the construction of the improvement and

extdnslon of the City's waterworks and sewer system as identified through a five-year community
improvement plan.

Ll/ater und Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A

On July 19, 2018, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Waterworks & Sewer System Revenue
Bonds,-New Series 2018Ain the amount of $t2,S00,000. The New Series 2018A bonds mature annually
through 2038 in principal amounts ranging from $585,000 to $705,000. and p_rgyi{e for interest rates

rangiig from 0.83% to'|.600/o. These funds will be used for the construction of Lift Station 32. The City
resJrved the right to redeem the bonds with mafurities on or after April 1, 2029, in whole or from time to
time in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereo! on October 1,2028, or any
date theieafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 20188

On July 19, 2018, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Waterworks & Sewer System Revenue

BondsiNew Series 20188 in the amount of $14,610,000. The New Series 20188 bondsmature annually
through 2034 in principal amounts ranging from $600,000 to $845,QQ0 q{ nrovide for interest rates

rangiig from 4.00% to'5.00% with additional maturities of $1,79-0,000 3.50% term bonds.due April 1,

2036 and $1,915,000 3.50% term bonds due April 1,2038. These funds will be used for the improvement
and extension of tlie City's waterworks and sewer system as identified through a five-year-commuSity
improvement plan. The City reserued the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on.or after April 1,

2029, in whoie or from time to time in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple
thereof, on April l, 2028, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date

of redernption.
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NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Water und Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2020

On July 14, 2020, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Waterworks and Sewer System.Revenue
Bonds, Series 2020 (Series2020 Bonds) in the amount of $28,500,000. The Serieq 2020 bonds mature
annuully through ZO4O with principal payments of $1,425,000,and bear no interest. The City reserved the
riglrt to-redeeri the bonds with maturities on or after April 1, ?031, in whole 9I_flom tirne to time in part
iriprincipal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof,,on October 1,2030, or any date thereafter,
at par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption'

lVuter and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2020A

On May 1,2020, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Waterworks and Sewer .System Revenue

Refunding'Bondi, Series-2020A (Series 2020A Bonds) in the amount of $9,775,_000 with a premium of
$642,656: The Series 2020A Bonds refunded $10,230,000 of the Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds,
Series 201 1. The refunded bonds are considered defeased and have been removed from the City's books.
The refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over. the_next _elever yearg^ly
$1,485,727 aid resulted in an economic gain of $1,351,098. The outstan$ing Rgfunding Series^2020
Bonds mature annually thru 2031 with piincipal payments ranging from $820,000 to $1,040,000 and

provide for interest rates ranging from 2.00% to 3.00%. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds
with maturities on or after April t, 2029, in whole or from time to time in part in principal amounts-of
$5,000 or any integral multipie thereof, on April 7,2028, or any date thereafter, at par value thereof plus

accrued interest to the date of redemption.

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2020

As discussed above, the City issued the Refunding Series 2020 Bonds in the total amount of $50,a5Q,QQQ.

The amount of the Refunding Series 2020 Bonds supported by water and sewer revenue is $43,880,000.
The Refunding Series 2020 Bonds refunded $16,480;000 of the Series 2009 Certificates of Obligation,
$27,140,000 oTthe Series 20098 Certificates of Obligation, and $1,665,000 of the Series 20ll General
Obligation Bonds. The refunded bonds are considered defeased and have been removed from the City's
book-s. The refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next ten yeary^ly
$2,807,342 and resu-ited in an economic gain of $2,492,547. The outstanding Re{unding S_eries 2020
Bonds mature annually thru 2029 with principal payments ranging from $2,245,000 to $3,275,00O and

provide for interest raies ranging from 2-.00% to 3.00%. The City reserued the right to redeem the bonds
with maturities on or after February 15,2029, in whole or from time to time in part in principal amounts
of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on February 15, 2028, or any date thereafter, at par value
thereofplus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

Vl/ater antl Sewer Revenue Boncls, Series 2021

On February l, 2021, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Waterworks and Sewer System
Revenue eohOs, Seriei 2021 (Series202l Bonds) in the amount of $25,900,000. The Series 2021 bonds
mature annually through 2041 with principal payments of $1,125,000 to $1,565,000 and provide for
interest rates ranging fr-om 2.00% to 4.00%. These funds will be used for the improvement and extension
of the City's waterworks and sewer system and to pay issuance costs on the Bonds. The City reserved the

right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after April 1,2031, in.whole gl from time to time r^n part
iriprincipal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple,thereof, on April 1, 2030, or any date thereafter, at

the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption'
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CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
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Year Ended September 30,2023

A summary of changes in Water and Sewer System bonded debt for the year ended Septenlber 30,2023,
is as follows:

NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Woter and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2022

On August 1,2022, the City of Amarillo, Texas issued the Waterworks and Sewer System New Series
Revenule Bonds, Series ZO2Z in the amount of $52,590,000 for the purpose of the improvement and

extension of the City's waterworks and sewer system and to pay issuance costs on the Bonds. Interest is
payable in semi-annual installments which begin April I , 2023, at rates rqng-rlq 

^from 
4.00% to 5.00%.

The serial bonds mature annually through 2042 in amounts ranging from $450,000 to $3,990,000. -The
City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after April l, 20?2, in.lt_o!. 91^!om
timi to time in part-in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on April 1,2031 or
any date thereafier, at par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

ll/ater and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2023

On January 1,2023, the City of Amarillo, Texas issued the Waterworks and Sewer System New Series

Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 in the amount of $42,920,000 for the purpose of the improvement and

extension of the City's waterworks and sewer system and to pay issuance costs on the Bonds. Interest is
payable in semi-annual installments which begin October 1,2023, at ratesrang9gllom 4.00% to 5.00%.
The serial bonds mature annually through 2043 in amounts ranging from $1,250,000 to $3,255,000. The
City reserved the right to redeem the b-onds with maturities on or after April_ I , 20!3, in wlole 9{ -qom
tim-e to time in part-in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on April l, 2032 or
any date thereafier, at p-ar value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

Principal outstanding, October l, 2022

New Issues

Principal maturities

Principal outstanding, September 30, 2023

Unamortized redemption premium

Net balances, September 30,2023

$ 229,180,000

42,920,000
(16 15.000)

256,085,000

t5.296.420

$__u_I]8J-420

The net revenues of the Water and Sewer System are pledged to secure this debt. In accordance with
bond covenants, the following special funds or accounts must be maintained:

. A revenue fund, to which all gross revenues are to be credited immediately upon receipt.

. An interest and redemption fund, to be funded by transfers from pledged revenues in
approximately equal monthly installments, sufficient to pay,the next succeeding 

^int-erest 
and

principal paynents. The 202312024 obligation is $8,403,664. At Septernber 30, 2023, the
amount available in this account was $9,978,050.

. A reserve fund, to be funded monthly by transfers from pledged revenues in the amount equal to
l/60th of the average annual principal and interest requirements of the bonds until the fair value
of the reserve fund is equal to the average annual debt service requirernents of the then

outstanding bonds. At September 30,2023, the cornbined requirernent amounted to $3,081,439,
and the amount available in this account was $3,373,063.

The interest/redernption and reserve funds required by the bond covenants are reported in the financial
statements as noncuffent assets and liabilities. Tlie various revenue bond covenants require that tlie City
carry insurance against risks, accidents or casualties to the extent usually carried by corporations operat-
ing like properlies.
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NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

The City is subject to arbitrage provisions under the Internal Revenue Code, which requires.that exce.ss

earningi on invested proceeds frbm tax-exempt bond sales over interest expense Pqig to bond holders be

remittJd to the Internil Revenue Service. Tlie City did not have an arbitrage liability at September 30,

2023. The City has maintained its tax-exempt status during 2023'

The City has the right to issue additional Waterworks and Sewer Revenue Bonds, subordinate to these

issues. 
-Moreover, 

the City can issue additional parity debt so long as the net Wat9l and Sewer_Sys_tet1

revenues exceed ihe debt-service on the prior bbnds together with any additional borrowings by 1.25

times.

On December20,2022, Standard & Poor's Rating Services assigned arating of AA+ and an outlook of
stable on the Cityof Amarillo, Texas Waterworks and Sewer System Revenue Bonds Series 2023.

Water Authority Obligations

In 1968 the City, together with 10 other cities, entered into a contract with the Canadian River Municipal
Water Authority (CRMWA) to reimburse it for the cost of constructing_a dam and aqueduct system.in
exchange for tlie water to be provided from the reservoir. The dam is located approximately 35 miles
northeast of the City.

CRMWA, 20 17 Revenue Refunding Issuunce

CRMWA issued Strtiordinate Lien Contract Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 in the aniourff of
$ I 1 ,465,000 with interest rates ranging from 3.00% - 5 .00%. The proceeds were used to advance refund
$13;575;000 of outstanding Contrait Revenue Bonds, Series 2009 which had interest rates ranging frgm
3.00% - S.OON. The net-proceeds of $14,228,820 (including a $1,317,090 premium, a debt service
reserve contribution of $1,684,400, less $237,670 in underwriting fees and other issuance costs) were
deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to_ provide funds for the fuhre debt service
payment on the refunded bonds. The refunded portion_of the Contract Revenue Bonds, S-eries 2009 is
'considered 

defeased and the liability for those bonds has been removed frorn the statement of net pos]tion.

Tlre City's proportionate share of Series 2017 bonds is $3,015,601 1t !ept9$er_30,2023. The City's
portion of tfie principal payments for the 2017 issue range from 5341,216 to $558,539.

CRMltrA, 2020 Revenue Refunding Issuunce

During December 2011, CRMWA issued debt in the amount $81,630,000 !q Qnd the purchass of
additiSnal water rights in the Ogallala Aquifer. The City participated in this issue and the City's
proportionate share of the bond issue was $33,536,053. The bonds were issued at a premlgm.un4llt9
^City's 

proportionate share was $3,091,199 with bond issuance cost of 5473,755. During Ul,-the20l.l
CnMWa^ issue was refunded with the 2020 refunding issue. At September 30, 2023, the City's
proportionate share of the 2020 issue is $15,533,482. The City's portion of the princip{ pay1e^1ts for the

2020 issue range from $142,233 to $2,193,147 with an interest rate ranging from 4.00% to 5.00%.
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NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

CRMWA, 2020 Revenue Refunding Issuance (Continued)

Tlie City increased Water and Sewer rates by 60/o beginning October 1, 2011, and bV 1% effective
October l, 2012, to help pay for the purchase of the Ochiltree County water rights and the City's portion
of tlre CRMWA debt. Ttre City increlsed rates effective October l,2013,by 2% to help pay for the 2013
and20l4 Water and Sewer Revenue bonds.

CRMIryA, 2021 Revenue Refundirtg Issuance

On January 22,2013, CRMWA issued a Subordinate Lien Contract Revenue Refundqrg Bonds, Series
2012 in th-e amount of $39,505,000 for the advance refunding of the 2005 CRMWA Contract Revenue

Series. The 2012 Refunding Bonds will reduce total debt service payments over the next thirteen years by,

55,063,754 with Amarillo-'s share at $2,443,576. The refunding resulted in an.economic gain_of
$4',259,006 with Amarillo's share at $2,044,083. During 2022, the 2012 CRMWA issue was refunded
with the 2021 refunding issue. At Septemb er 30,2023, the City's proportionate share of the 2021 issue is
$7,444,371. The Cityis portion of the principal payments for the 2021 issue range from $1,364,693 to
$3,229,549 with an interest rate ranging from 1.75%o to 5.00%.

CRMWA, 2023 Revenue Refunding Issuance

During 2015, CRMWA issued a Subordinate Lien Contract Revenue Refunding Eonds..Selgs 20-f 4 with
the Clty's proportionate share of $5,560,338 for the partial refunding of the 2006 CRMWA Contract
Revenue S6riei. Durine 2023;the 2014 CRMWA issue was refunded with the 2023 refunding issue. The
refunding resulted in ai economic gain of $430,579 with Amarillo's sha{e at_$174,905. At September.30,
2023,the City's proportionate shart of the 2023 issue is $5,008,569. The City's portion of the p_rincipal
payments for-the2023 issue range from $l,16l ,761to $1,281,593 with an interest rate ranging of 5.00%.

A summary of changes in the City's CRMWA debt for the year ended Septernber 30,2023, is reflected in
the following table:

$ 31,553,792

4,208,336
(4,378,944)
(6.2 96.941\

25,086,243

3.898.459

$ 28p34JU

Principal outstanding, October l, 2022

New issues

Debt refunded
Principal maturities

Principal outstanding, September 30, 2023

Unamortized redemption discount/premium

Net bafances, September 30,2023

Drainage Utility Bonds

Certificutes of Obligation, Series 2012A

On Decernber 12,2012, the City issued $6,260,000 in Cornbination Tax and Drainage Utility Revenue
Certificates of Obligations (COs). The 2012A issue is mainly for drainage improvements on Farmers
Avenue. The 20124 bonds have a final maturity of August 15,2032. The COs are subject to mandatory
redernption in annual amounts ranging from $265,000 to $320,000 and provide for an interest rate of
2.00%. In addition to the tax pledge, the Drainage Utility COs have an unlimited net pledge of the
Drainage Utility System of 1.25-tirnes net revenue. The City intends to fund the debt entirelyfrom the
Drainage Utility and not levy a property tax for the COs. Thus, the debt is structured similar to the Water
& Sewer revenue debt.
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NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Drainage Utility Bonds (Continued)

Drainuge Revenue Bonds, Series 2014

On April 1,2014, the City issued $6,080,000 in Drainage Utility Revenue Bonds. The 2014 issue is
mainly for drainage improvements on Martin Road. The 2014 bonds have a final maturity of 2034. The
bonds are subjecito rnandatory redemption in annual amounts ranging frorn $290,000 to $410,000 and
provide for interest rates ranging frorn 3.00% to 3.75Yo. The bonds have an unlimited net pledge of the
Drainage Utility System of 1.25 times net revenue.

Drainage Revenue Bonds, Series 2020

On July 1,2020, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility System Revenue Bonds,
Series 2020 (Series2020 Bonds) in the amountof $9,240,000. The Series 2020 Bonds mature annually
thru 2040 with principal payments ranging from $380,000 to $550,000 and provide for interest rates
ranging from2.00Yo to 5.00%. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or after
Augusi 15, 2029, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on-

August 15, 2028, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of
redemption.

Drainage Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

On February 1,2021, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Draiiiage Utility System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2021 (Series 202I Bonds) in the amount of $9,160,000. The Series 2021 Bonds mature
annually thru 2041with principal payments ranging from $390,000 to $540,000 and provide for interest
rates ranging from 2.00% to 4.00Yo. The City reserved the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or
after Augusi 15,2031, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof,
on August 15,2030, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of
redemption.

Drainage Revenue Bonds, Series 2023

On January l, 2023, the City issued the City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility Systern Revenue
Bonds, Series 2023 (Series 2023 Bonds) in the amount of $4,675,000. The Series 2023 Bonds mature
annually thru2042 with principal payrnents ranging from $100,000 to $400,000 and provide for interest
rates ranging from 4.00% to 5.00%. The City resewed the right to redeem the bonds with maturities on or
after Augusi 15,2033, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof,
on Auguit 15,2032, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of
redemption.

A summary of changes in Drainage Utility bonded debt for the year ended September 30, 2023, is as

follows:

Principal outstanding, October l, 2022

New issue

Principal maturities

Principal outstanding, September 30, 2023

Unamortized redemption premium

Net balances, Septembe r 30,2023

$ 24,365,000
4,675,000

(1,485.000)

27,555,000
2.153.518

$:29J0&518

On Decemb er 20,2022, Standard & Poor's Rating Services assigned a rating of AA+ and an outlook of
stable on the City of Amarillo, Texas Drainage Utility Revenue Bonds.
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NOTB 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Summary Information - Long-Term Bonds and Contracts

Bond issues outstanding at September 30,2023, are summarized in Table 8 below
Finxl Plincipal

Amount
Annunl

Principal
lnstallmenlsDate Outstanding

Citv of Amilillo indeblnss
ceneral obfigalion debt

Pa)'able from la\ re\enu6
Recovery Zone Ihrild America Bonds, Series 2010

Ceneral Obfgation Refuding Bonds, Series 201 7

Cerlificatd of Obligalio[ Seris 2017

Generol Obligation Bonds. Seris 2017

ceneral Obligation Bondr, Seri6 2018

General Obligation Bonds, Seris 2020

Certilicats of Obligalion, Seri6 2020

Ta\ Not6, Series 2020

Ceneral Obligation Bonds, Seris 2021

Cerlificats of Obligation, Seri6 2022

Ta\Nols. Series 2022

TN Notes, Series 20228 - Purpose 2

PtYable from special 6ssments

Combination lavrevenue certifi cats ol
obligatio4 Seris 2014

Combinalion levre{enue certifi cal6 of
obligalion, Seri6 2018

General Obligalion Refuding Bonds, Seris 2020

Combination lavrevenue cerlifi cals of
obligalion, Series 2021

Combination tavrevenue cerlificat6 of
obligalion, Series 2023

Pa)able from olher sourcs
Ceneral Oblieation Refmding Bonds, Seri6 2020

Ceneral Obligation Refmding Bonds, Seris 2020

Ta\ Notes, Series 20228 - Purpose I
Combination lavrevenue certificat6 of

obfigation, Seri6 2023

Ltrolel ccupscy ltr\ rerenue bonds.

Seris 2016

Flolel mcupmcJ la\ rermue bonds,

Series 2018

Holel occupmc], la\ rerenue bonds.

Series 2023

Waterworks md SeNer Bonds

2014 revenue issuuce

2015 reY€nue issumce

2015,4 reYenue refuding issuuce

20 l7 rerenue issuuce

2018A reyenue issumce

20188 rerenue issumce

2020 relenue issudce

20204 revenue issuilce

2021 relenue issuuce
2022 reYenue issumce

2023 rcrenue issumce

Combination ta\/reyenue cenificates of
obligation. Seri6 2009C

Gfler.l obligalion Refwding Bonds. Seris 2020

Drainage Bonds

20 l4 re\,enue issumce

2020 rerenue issumce

Conrhination la\/rerenue cenificales of
obligation. Seris 2012A

2021 reYenue issumce

2023 rerenue issumce

Total City ofAilarillo issututces

Csadim Ri\er water Aulhorit) indebledness

2017 refunding issumce

2020 relunding issumce

2021 refunding issumce

2023 refunding issuMce

Tot^l City shart of Waler Authority indebtness

$ 88.000

2034 1,415,000 55,000

2Ml 905,000 40,000

3,960,000

4.00 - 5.$% 5.865,000

2.93 - 4.25% 2M3

3.00 - 3.625Vo

3.00 - 4.00%

2.00Vo

1.00 - 3.00%

4.00 - 5.00%

2.00 - 3 .000/.

155.000

205.000

170.000

60.000

InteFsi
Rfltes

Matuday

5.81%
4.00%

3.00 - 3.50%
3.00 - 5.00%

3.00 - 5.00%

2.00 - 5.00%
2.00 - 5.00o/o

2.00 - 3.000/0

2.00 - 4.00%
3.00 - 4.00%

2.OO%

3.00 - 5.00%

1.(t8 - 2.(t2%

o.17 - t.59%
3.00 - 4.00%

3.00 - 5.00%

0.83 - 1.60%

4.00 - 5.00%

0.00%

2.00 - 3.00%

2.00 - 4.00Vo

4.00 - 5.00%

4.00 - 5.00%

$ 568,000
6,640,000
3,980,000

18.130,000

19.395,000

7,770,000

7,655,000

2,090000

50,690,000

6,815,000

19,37q000

3,650,000

$ 75,000
1,565,000

140,000
660,000

650,000

140,000

140,000

500,000

1.555,000

100,000

4,700,000

540,000

1,760.000
620000

1.270,000

1,325.000

485,000

400,000

545-000

2715,0N
505,000

4990.000
685,000

2030
2027
2037
2042

2043

2045

2050

2027

2046

2043

2021

2029

2.00 - 3.00%

3.00 - 5.00%

2037

2032

2029

150.000

I 15.000

475.000

20"{3

2043

3.20 - 4.40% 2M8

4.696 - 5.406Vo 20,t3

3r,,370,000 8?0.000 - 2.305.000

2038

2028
2450,000

765,000

125.000

135,000

420,000

830.000

375.000

1.425.000

585.000

600.000

1,425,000

820,000

l.105,000

450,000

1.250,000

2.435,000

1,135.000

3,225,000

10,350.000

4575,000

200,000

l4qo0o
605-000

495.000

950,000

1,730,000

2.035.000

705-000

975.000

1.425.000

1.040,000

1.565.000

3.990,000

3.255.000

355.000 - 740.000

70.000 - 3r,5.000

2033

2035

2032

2037

2038

2038

2040

2031

2041

2042

2043

2029

203 I

2t\25

2027

4,565,000

10.580.000

8.570.000

23.585,000

9.5?0.000

I 1,745,000

24,225,M0

7,375,000

23.845,000

5l-540,000

42,920,il)o

2 0oo/o

0.00%

2.00 - 3.00%

2031

2029

?.240.000

30.325.000

905,000

3.2t5.000

905-000

5_630.000

3.00 - 3.15%

2.00 - 5.00%

2034

2040

3.775.000

8.190.000

290.000

380.000

410.000

550.000

4 lJtwr

5.O0%

2032

2041

2042

2.61O000

8_500.000

4.480-000

503,843,000

2(,5.000

390.000

100.000

320.0{x)

540.000

400.000

2,555.5@

I3.16(,.1({,

4.330.44(,

4.234.062

25,086,243

Totnl bond issues oulslMdrng s 528,929,243

fhble 8 Descill1tkil1 o/ Indiyi&&l llond |ttilct Oillst(il1Lling

3.00 - 5.0{)%

4.00 - 5.(n%
t.75 - 5.00r/o

5.00vo

99

341.21(t
't42.233

t.364.693

t,t(>t.161

558.538

2.193.147

3.229.54t)

t.312.524



CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATBMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Summary Information - Long-Term Bonds and Contracts (Continued)

The annual requirements to amortize all bonds outstanding, including interest, are shown in Table 9
below.

For the

Year Ended

September30, Tax-SupportedDebt

Principal Interest

Speclal Assessment

and Other Supported Debt

Water & S elver

Debt Water Authority Debt

Principal Interest Principal ftrterest Principal Interest

2024
2025

2026

2021

2028

2029-2033

2034-2038
2039-2043

2044-2048

2049-2053

2024

2025

2026

2027

2028
2029-2033

2034-2038

2039-2043

2044-2048

2049-2053

I I,190,000
I 1,542,000

1 1,923,000

12,3 1 6,000

5,148,000

25,334,000

27,870,000

29,720,000

10,920,000

790,000

4,t79,078
3,8 I 5,355

3,432,996
3,036,478

2,689,513

10,761,569

7,170,249

3,253,117

496,769

20,869

$ 1,047,545 $

775,732

715,332
652,407

586,807

2,150,401

1,148,823

357,600

$ '1,936,766

'7,341,t50

6,828,764

6,294,674

5,743,565

21,894,99t

11,938,827

3,576, I 00

s 6,563,746 $

4,590,804

3,659,947

2,890,321

2,396,974

4,984,45r

1,123,441

856,462

658,085

479,124

343,795

386,048

$ $ 1,270,000

1,535,000

1,580,000

1,635,000

1,700,000

5,920,000

4,930,000

3,585,000

I 5,3 I 5,000

I 8,285,000

I 8,905,000

19,325,000

I 8,475,000

68,460,000

59,750,000

37,570,000

$ 146,753,000 $ 38,855,993 $ 22,155,000 s 7,434,647 $ 256,085,000 S 7r,ss4,837 s 25,086,243 $ 3,846,955

'Fbrthe

Year Erded Drainage

September 30, Debt

Principal Intcrest

Hotel Occupancy Tax
Debt Total

Princip al Intcrcst Principal Intcrcst

s 1,425,000

1,470,000

I,5 15,000

I,570,000

1,625,000

8,725,000

7,020,000

4,205,000

$ 845,944

800,144

752,644

699,444

644,194

2,310,019

1,104,925

251,200

1,295,000

I,410,000

1,465,000

1,520,000

1,580,000

8,900,000

I 0,950,000

I 3,590,000

I 0,585,000

$ 2,262,193

2,146,155

2,095,275

2,040,835

I,981,484
8,895,39 I

6,842,619

4,209,974

t,437,260

37,058,746

38,832,804

39,04'1,947

39,256,321

30,924,914

122,323,451

I 10,520,000

88,670,000

21,505,000

790,000

s 17,394,967

15,734,998

14,483,096

13,202p62
I 1,989,358

46,398,419

28,205,443

11,647 ,991
1.,934,029

20,869

s S

Provision for Compensated Absences

The City provides for its full-time employees annual leave of two to five weeks, depending upon years of
service with the City. Civilian, full-time employees hired prior to October 1,2007 and Fire Fighters and
Police Officers may accumulate up to 65 days of annual leave to be paid in a lump sum upon termination-
of employment. Civilian, full-tinr-e employees hired after October 1,2007 may accumulate 30 days of
annual leave to be paid in a lump sum upon termination of employment.

The City also provides its full-time employees sick leave of twelve working days each year for Civilian
employees and fifteen working days each year for Fire Fighters and Police Officers.

s 27,555,000 S 7,408,514 S 51,295,000 S 31,9 I 1.186 s 528,929,243 S 161,012,132

Table 9 - Annnul Debl Service Requiretnenls, Inchtding Inlercst

For full-time Civilian employees hiredpriorto October 1,2007 sick leave may be accumulatedwithout
limit. Upon termination, if the employee has over ten years of continuous service, they will receive a

lump sum payment of their sick leave not to exceed 90 days. Fire Fighters and Police Officers, regardless^

of years of service, shall be paid a lump sum payment not to exceed 90 days upon their termination of
employment.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TBXAS'
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATBMBNTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Provision for Compensated Absences (Continued)

Full-time Civilian employees hired prior to October 1,2007 and Fire Fighters and Police Officers who are
eligible to retire will be allowed to convert any available sick leave, above the 90 days sick leave paid at
retirement, and annual leave, above the 65 days annual leave paid at retirement, into a Health
Reimbursement Account (HRA). For this pulpose, each 30 hours, for Civilian employees and Police
Officers, or each 42 hours, for l2-hour Fire Fighters of accrued leave above the max paid out will be

converted to the equivalent of one month of retiree-only liealth benefit coverage. The resulting dollar
value will be deposited into the retiree's HRA.

Full-time Civilian employees hired after October 1,2007 may accumulate 60 days of sick leave. This will
be paid in a lump-sum upon termination if the employee has ten continuous years of service.

In certain cases, compensatory time, in lieu of cash payments for overtime, may be granted to non-exempt
employees at the ratb of 1.0 hours or 1.5 hours for each hour worked for which overtime is required.
Ciiilian employees are limited to 80 hours of compensatory tirne while Fire Fighters and Police Officers
may accrue-up to 120 hours. Upon termination all non-exempt employees will be eligible to receive a_

lump sum payment for any accrued compensatory time which has not already been taken off as time off
with pay.

Tlre obligation of the City with respect to vested benefits at September 30,2023, under the annual leave
policy was $11,652,897, compensated time policy was $1,741,868, and under the sick leave policy was
$9,159,134, and under the indfuidual health retirement account policy was $2,680,629.

Tlrese obligations were recognizedin the financial statements as summarized in the following tabulation:

Balances at October 1,2022
Terminations paid
Leave accrued

Balances at September 30,2023

Governmental
Funds

$ 25,204,976

(2,010,658)

504.219

Proprietary
Funds

s 1,372,480

(245,006)
9.144

$--23593531, LlJ36-618

Of the above obligations, $2,060,468 in the Government Funds and $21 1,500 in the Proprietary Funds are

estimated to be current. In prior years, the General Fund has liquidated the compensated absences

liability related to governmental funds.

ln 1991 the City established a debt service fund to provide for the portion of the liability applicable to the
General Fund and cefiain special revenue funds. The net position in the fund at September 30, 2023, was

$-0-; $687,785 of the obligation is funded in separate internal service funds and is accrued as a liability of
these funds.
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' CITY OF AMARILLO, TBXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTB 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Provision for Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Care Costs

Tlre City owns a 662-acre rural site, which it operates for solid waste disposal purposes. Based on an
amended permit issued by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality dated August 22,2007, the
site has an estimated total capacity of 43,098,100 tons or 89,787,477 cubic yards. It is estimated that
32.9% of the revised capacity was filled at September 30, 2023, and tliat the landfill has a projected
remaining life of approiimately 109 years at the current rate of usage. State and federal laws and
regulations require ttrE City to place a final cover on the site when it stops-accepting waste and to perform
ceitain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for thirty years after closure. The construction as

well as the cost of wells, which have been installed for monitoring the underlying water table for any
impact on it of ongoing landfill activities, were funded by waste collection and disposal revenues of the
City's General Fund, and are included in capital assets of the governmental activities.

Governmental accounting standards require that, for periods beginning after June 15,1993, governmental
entities recognize an accrued liability for the estimated cost of equipment, facilities, and servic-es.for
closure, and post-closure care expected to result in disbursements near or after the date that the facility
stops accepting solid waste. The amount of the liability is based on what it would cost to have all such
closure and pbsrclosure care performed in the current year, and is assigned to periods _based on
cumulative landfill use. The City engaged an independent engineer who estimated the cost of final cover
at $8,145,871 for a 100-acre, two-cell segment. The estimated cost of monitoring the entire 662 acres
during the statutory 3O-year period is an additional $1,780,200. Both computations were made in
accordance with regulations ofthe Environmental Protection Agency, which require that the estimates be

based on the current cost of hiring third parties to perform the services. The actual cost of these
functions, when performed in future years, rnay differ because of inflation, changes in technology,
changes in environmental regulations, or performance of certain of the functions by_ City p_ersonnel and
equipment. Considering the change in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and the addition of the Transfer
station, closure costs wolld be about $l 1.8 million and post-closure costs would be about $3.5 million for
a total of $15.4 million in today's dollars. During fiscal year 201912020, the City determined a change in
accounting estimate needed to occur on the calculation of estimated accrued liability. Previously tonnage
was used for the total capacity, the capacity used, and the remaining capacity. It was determined that
cubic yards were a more accurate way to measure capacity for estimated liability pu{poses due to the
compaction rate, which varies from year to year, being a factor in when tonnage is used Based on the
cumulative usage of 29,511,586 cubic yards at Septernber 30, 2023, Iogether with the estimated
89,787,477-cubic yard capacity of the landfill, the accrued liability consists of the following elements:

Provision for final cover costs

Cost of post-closure care and monitoring

Total estimated accrued liability

$ 4,602,948
1.381.772

st934f,A

Under laws and regulations adrninistered by the Texas Natural Resource Conservation Commission,
owners and operatois are required to provide financial assurances that tlie funds needed for the closure of
landfills will be available when needed. The City has elected to meet this responsibility by demonstrating
its compliance with the "local govelxment financial test," which promulgates criteria regarding financial
strength, public notice, and record-keeping and reporting. The City fulfilled the financial strength test by
demonstrating a current Standard & Poor's rating of AAA, together with a ratio of total annual revenues
to the gross estimated cost of environmental obligations in excess of 100143, together with meeting
certain general conditions. It fulfills tlie public notice component by disclosure in this footnote, and
fulfills the record-keeping and reporting component by submission of reports to the Texas Commission
on Environmental Quality.
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CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Long-term liabilities activity for the year ended September 30,2023, was as follows:

Balmc e

839.731

304,354,966
531.',185.969

Balmce
Sept. 30, 2023

Due Within
One YearSept. 30, 2022

(restated)

$ 151,735,000
64 1,000

4,530,000
9,080,003

61,445,000

227,43 t.003

229,180,000
12,241,974
31,553,792

5,174,469
24,365,000

Arnortization/
Accretion Additions Reductions

Bonds payable:
Governmental activities

Genaal obligation bonds
Recovery Zone Brild Arnsica bonds
Tax-supported certilicates of obligation
lhmortired offsing premium

Special msessrnent ild other debt

Total gov€mmental activities

hrsiness-t,?e activities
Wattr & sew€r bonds
Premiurn on Watq & sewer bonds
Wats authoriry obligations
Premium on Wattr authority obligations
Drainage Ltility bonds
Premiurn on Drainage Utility bonds

Total business-typ€ activities

Total

Other liabilities :

Govemmental activities
Cornpensated absences
Self-insurmce liability
Right-to-use lease liability
Right-to-use SBITA liability
Provision for landldl md

postclosure ctre costs
Net OPEB liability

' 'Net pension liability (asset)

Total govemmmtal activities

Business-type activities
Compensated absences

Other accrued expenses
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability (asset)

Total business-type activitic
Total

Total long-tem liabilities

$ $ (q530,000)
(73,000)

(550,000)

$ 142,205,000
568,000

3,980,000
9,414,328

73,450,000

$ 10,s50,000
75,000

565,000

2,565,000

l,

(486,582)

(486,582)

(701,989)

(97,7s3)

(799,742)
(1,286,324)

820,907
14,400,000

15,220,907

(2,39s,000)
( 12.548.000) 229,617,328 13, 7s5.000

42,920,000
3,',|56,435
4,208,336

239,136
4,675,O00

4 1 1,540

56,210,447

71,431,354

( 16,0 l 5,000)

( 10,675,885)
( 1,5 15,146)
(1,48s,000)

256,085,000
15,296,420
25,086,243

3,898,459
27,555,000

2.153,518

15,3 15,000

6,563,'147

1,425,00;

23,303,'14'1(29,69r,031) 330.074.640
(42,239,031) ss9,69r,968 3'1,058,'147

25,204,976
21,402,314

4,',185,503
1,006,448

5,194,715
34,t90,974

(33,07s,380)

58,709,550

1,372,480
2,520,032
6,396,603
(344. I 68)

9,944,94',1

68,654,497

$ 600,440,466

(2,671,745\

(2,671,745)

(2,671,745)

$ (3,958,069)

504,2t9

792,043
404,427

790,005
6,040,888

n1,517,353
120,108,935

409,144

I, 130, I 57

9,236,461

10,775,762

130,884,697

$ 202,316,05r

(2,0i0,658)
(2,940,698)

(985,780)

(t,t29,1e2)

23,698,537
I 8,461,61 6
2,905,801

425,095

5,984,720
39,102,670
is,50t,973

2,060,468
4,829,s75
1,172,489

255,806

(7,066,328\ 169,080,412 8,3 I 8,338

(245,006)
( 16,e6 l)

(2r1,256)

(473,223\

(7,539,551)

l,536,6 l8
2,503,0'.71
7,315,504
8,892,293

21 1,s00

20,24'l 486 21 t-s00

189,327,898 8,529,838

$ (49.?78.582) $ 749.0 19 866 $ 45,588,s85

For the goveilrmental activities, compensated absences, postemployment benefits and net pension liability
are generally liquidated by the General Fund.

NOTE 14 - INTERF'UND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS

The following tabulation reflects the composition of interfund balances at September 30,2023

Receivable Fund Pavabl Funds

General Fund

Nonmajor Govt. Funds

Internal Serrice Funds

$ 1,617 ,419

$_ _1*6lr-4U

$ 43,568

$ _ 43.568

$ 188,665

$__138j65
$ 34.990

Nonmajor Govt. Funds
COVID-19 Relief

Nonmajor Govt. Funds
General Fund

Internal Service
General Fund

$ 1,267,419
350.000

$___1*611119

$ 42,050
1,518

$_ __43J68

s 172,450
16.215

$___188-665

$ 34.990

$ _ __34J90
Proprietary Fund

$__ 34p90
103
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 14 - INTERF'UND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLBS, AND TRANSFERS (CONTINUED)

All transactions between funds represent "due to/from other funds" caused by cash from one fund paying
for expenditures or expenses ofanother.

The following tabulations summarize interfund cash transfers made during the year:

Tn Frrnd Transfers tr'und

General Fund

General Construction Fund

COVID-I9 Relief Fund

Nonmajor Govt. Funds

$ 24,919,714

s_24-919Jt4

$ 9,148,035

L_9J48J35
$ 2.351.s42

s__23sts42
s 3,491,500

L__3t91J00
$ 3,344,554

s,__3344Jj4

$ 621,035

General Construction Fund
Internal Service
Nonmajor Govt. Funds

Nonmajor Govt. Funds
COVID-l9 Relief Fund
General Fund
Internal Service

Internal Service Fund

General Fund
Nonmajor Govt. Funds
Internal Service

Nonmajor Govt. Funds
Internal Service

Nonmajor Govt. Funds
General Fund

$ 16,040,123
rg4,gg6

8,684.595

s*,a-9t9J_14

$ 3,476,220
56,888

3,449,920
2"165.007

$___9J48J35

$ 2.351.542

$__235u42
$ 8,521

., 1,507,213
r.975.766

$___3*49-1J00

$ 3,032,978
3rt.576

$__3344-554

$ 620,282
753

Proprietary Funds

Intemal Service

s__ 62r-G5 $-----621-035

In general, transfers are used to (1) move revenues frorn the fund that collects the money to the fund that
explnds the money, (2) move receipts restricted or earmarked for debt service from t!r.e funds collecting
the receipts to the de6t service fund as debt service payments become due, and (3) use unrestricted
revenues collected in a fund to provide operating advances to other funds in accordance with budgetary
authorizations. The due to/from balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that transactions
are recorded in the accounting system and payments between funds are made.

NOTE 15 - WATER SUPPLY CONTRACT

The City's water is supplied by a series of underground wells, together with water that is purchased from
CRMWA.

CRMWA is a water district that was created in 1953 by the Texas legislature for the purpose of supplying
water from the Canadian River to eleven cities that wished to participate in its activities. A board of
nineteen individual board members, two of whom are selected by the City, governs the affairs of the
District.
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CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTB rs - WATER SUPPLY CONTRACT (CONTINUED)

CRMWA was originally created for tlie purpose of operating a dam, which had been constructed on the
Canadian River approximately 35 miles northeast of Amarillo, the related water reservoir known as Lake
Meredith, and an aqueduct system for the purpose of transporling the surface water to the member cities.
The construction was performed under the direction of the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation. Prior to
construction, each of the member cities was allotted a portion of the water rights together with a

proportionate share of the cost of the dam based on its contractual share of the water and a share of the
aqu-educt costs based on its water allocation and distance from the reservoir.

In 1996 CRMWA initiated a project to purchase and develop underground water rights in the northeastern
portion of the Texas Panhandle to supplement CRMWA's available surface water. Water is transp_orted

hom the well fields to be mixed with the lake water before entering the aqueduct system. Water
deliveries of the well water to the member cities began in December 2001.

Each city is assessed for operating costs, which are accounted for by the City as an operating expense.
Each mernber may sell part or all of its rights under the contract to other members of the aqueduct system.
The last audited financial statements of CRMWA, as of September 30,2023, and for its fiscal year then
ended, reflect the following:

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from member cities and other receivable
Inventory

Debt Service Funds
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Due from cities
Land
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation

Liabilities and Deferred Revenues
Current liabilities
Noncurent liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred revenue from refunding

Net Position
Operating Revenues

User assessments for operations
Operating Expenses

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense)
Net contributions from member cities
Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

s 22,831,692
14,546,083
2,003,505

1 1 ,370,801
47,219,011
5,g3l,96l

313,286,823

17,500,054
63,649,789

5.r73.135
$_130366J98

$ 18,509,960
(20,332,786)

365,939
3S24.7s8

4.290.697

Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Posifion S-,JAgj7-L
CRMWA's debt service consists of approxirnately $79 million related to the underground water project.
Tlie CRMWA's annual debt services-riquirements, including interest, range from $5.5 million to $16.8
million with final repayment in 2031. Because cefiain member cities elected to fund their proportionate
shares of these costi on a separate basis, and the City's contractual share of the available lake water is

36j7% and63.430/o of well water. The City's share of this debt is approximately $25 rnillion. The City's
contractual water rights and its proportionate shares of CRMWA's various debt obligations are accounted
for as assets and liabilities of its Water and Sewer System.

Because the cities that are members of the aqueduct system have the right to elect members of the
governing Board, this arrangement has one of the attributes of a joint venture. However, the City has not
reported this contract as a joint venture for the following reasons:
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CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30'2023

NOTE rs - WATER SUPPLY CONTRACT (CONTINUED)

. CRMWA was created by the State of Texas and is a subdivision thereof, as opposed to having
been created by the members of CRMWA'

. The City has no vested rights in the assets of CRMWA, nor responsibility for its liabilities other
than its proportionate share ofthe contractual construction obligations.

. The affairs of CRMWA are accounted for on a "financial flow" measurement focus, which is not
consistent with the measurement focus required for the water and sewer enterprise fund.

NOTE 16. HARRINGTON LIBRARY CONSORTIUM

The City is a member, as well as the fiscal agent, of a library consortium comprised of itself together. with
the Amarillo Junior College District and 

-Amarillo Independent School District. The Consortium's
purpose is to maintain a c5mputer-based, online automated system to enhance the delivery of library
information services to the citizens of the Panhandle of Texas. It provides a bibliographic database, an

online catalog system, intralibrary and interlibrary circulation.systems, and similar services to citizens

itttougtt theiriocal libiaries. The Consortium is govem_ed by 
_a 

six-member council comprised of the chief
admin'istrator of the library services for each- member, the chair of two of its committees and a
representative of the Harrington User Group.

The original funding for the Consortium was a grant from a_local charitable organization,-the Harrington
Foundaiion. Conti-nuing operations are financed through user fees from the members and from
subscribing libraries in t[e r^egion. During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Consortium served

over 100 libraries. The condeised financial statements of the Consortium at September 30,2023, and for
the year then ended are summarized in the tablebelow'

Balance Sheet
Cash and other assets, net
Current liabilities

Net position
Revenues

Operating revenues
Nonoperating revenues (expense)

Total revenues
Expenses

Operating expenses

Change in net position

NOTE 17 - CONTINGENCIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Self-Insurance and Risk Management

$ 583,037
(30.693)

$ 5s2344

$ 407,943
38.279

446,222

(429,01s)

$ (17.207\

The City's insurance coverage consists of self-insurgd p_r.og1aps supplement".0^ 9V certain commercial

insurance policies maintained with various carriers. The City's insurance and self-insurance programq ar_e

administered by a risk-management committee comprised of selected Cify management personnel. Each

type of potential claim is discussed below.

The City of Amarillo has a blanket all risk property insurance poliry with^a $100,000,000 policy limit.
The blanket feature allows this linrit to be us-ed ior one occurrence. Thus, if a property's scheduled value

was not sufficient to cover a loss, the entire blanket would be used to cover the loss. The schedule of
values and the coverage have been increasing over the last three years as _property is_added to the

schedule, and replacerient values have increased with increases in construction costs. Settlements of
insurance have not exceeded coverage in the past three years.

Health antl Accident: The City self-insures medical benefits for employees, re!i1ee9, an4 their cov-ered

dependents. The City purchases stop-loss coverage for specific claims over $750,000. There is no limit
on this coverage.
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Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 17 - CONTINGENCIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Property: insurance is r-naintained with commercial camiers, with a self-insured retention per
occurrence of and wind/hail is 5% total value per occurrence minimum $1,000,000. Total

s $100 million. Theblanket coverage for all buildings and contents including terrorism coverage i
property insurance policy also includes $50 million in flood and earth-quake
Terroriim endorsement. The City has received $-0- from the insurance carrier i
received $6.6 million for a2017 claim on J:une 4,2019.

coverage
n the prior

and has a
years. We

The City has an endorsement to its property insurance coverage for Fire and Extended 
-Cgygt?g9

(explosion and damage). Insurance is maintained with commercial carriers to the extent of $100,000,000
potential liability. The City has incurred no losses rdth respect to this risk.

Automobile Liability and Physical Damage: The City has elected to fully self-insure these risks. As of
November 12,2021: the City insures large value fire apparatus against physical damage with a $10k
deductible and a $16,396,456 total limit.

Workers' Compensation: City employees are entitled to statutory workers' compensation benefits. The
City has a self-insurance retention of $2 million per occulrence for any gmpl_oyge classified under code
7764 described as Firefighters and Drivers or code 7720 desuibed as Police Officers and Drivers, and a
self-insurance retention of $t.S million per occurrence for all others. The Excess Workers' Cornpensation
and Employers' Liability Indemnity Policy was purchased to ,cover a major accident. Historically, the

City haihad one claim frorn 2003 that exc-eeded $1 rnillion self-insurance retention. The City had 1 clairn
from 2005 that exceeded $1.5 million self-insurance retention.

Gencrait-iability: The City has elected to self-insure public official, professional and'$eneral liability
contingencies to ihe fuIl extent of its statutory limits. The City carries medical professional insurance on
the Ciiy Care and Public Health clinics for $2 million each, $5 million aggregate with a $25,000
deductible. Additionally, no insurance is carried for crime or burglary losses or ernployee dishonesty,
except for the minimal bonds required by law.

Law Enforcement Liability: The City has purchased Law Enforcement Liability Insurance with a

$100,000 deductible per occuffence and annual aggregate coverage of $6 million. The City's largest
claim has been a $5 million Law Enforcement Liability Claim which was settled in FY 2004.

Unemployment Benefits: The City fully self-insures unemployrnent benefits, reimbursing_the Texas
Workforce Commission for claims on the basis of quarterly reports. Two internal service funds are used
to account for the transactions associated with the various risks.

Employee Insurance Fund: Full-time employees are eligible to enroll in liealth and additional life
insuran-ce coverage for themselves and eligible dependents. A $10,000 Basic Life Insurance policy is
provided at no cost to full{ime ernployees. Additional life insurance is purchased by the- ernplo^yee. Pre-
65 retiree medical and dental benefits are available to eligible retirees and their dependents if they are
enrolled in tliese benefit plans at time of retirement. Retirees can purchase a Basic Life Insurance policy
of either $5k or $ I 0k at time of retirement and if enrolled in the $ 10k policy, the Spouse can be enrolled
in a $5k policy. While the City pays for the majority of the health insurance benefit, the ernployee and
retiree do pay-a portion of the overall healthcare premium. Health and life insurance plans are managed
by third-party vendors for the City of Amarillo.

The City currently lias specific stop loss coverage with a $750,000 annual individual deductible but is
self-insured for employee and retiree health coverage.

The Employee Insurance Fund is used to account for the collection of employer and employee^
contribufions, and for payments of claims and insurance premiums. The City covers most of the cost of
employee only coverage and contributes to spouse and farnily coverage. Retlqggs contribute based on
their service with the Clty and retiree rates are also subsidizedby the City. Liabilities are presented at the
estimated arnounts of incumed losses outstanding, without discounting. Effective January 1,2016, Aetna
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Estimated liabilities at beginning of year

Claims during year and changes in estimates
Payments during year

Estimated liabilities at end of year

Risk Management Fund

CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 34,2023

NOTE 17 - CONTINGENCIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Life Insurance Company began providing the plan administration for the rnedical and dental programs.
This change has allowed the City to obtain more favorable discounts with medical providers. Employees
have up to one year after services are rendered in wliich to present their claims for reimbursement. The
estirnated current liability at September 30,2023, related to incured but not reported flBNR) claims was
$l,714,75L The IBNR estimate was computed by management based on historical patterns and reference
to previous actuarial estimates.

The following tabulation reflects changes in the estimated aggregate liabilities for incured losses of the
Employee Insurance Fund:

2023 2022

2,025,060 $ 1,947,441

23,256,069 25,584,530
(23.506.377) (25.506.911)

L___1J1AJ5L $__2-025J60

The transactions related to risk areas other than employee health are accounted for in the Risk
Management Fund, which is funded through assessments to City departments at rates developed by
reference to the actuarial studies of the self-insurance fund together with estimates of the charges by
private insurers for similar coverages. Risks considered included general and airport liability, boiler and
machinery, police, auto, and excess liability; workers' compensation; unemployment; crime/fidelity/bur-
glary; property insurance deductibles and varioub othler risk groups.

Actuarial studies of the Fund are made at least biennially. The actuary's
the City's historical experience with respect to each type of risk, together
and any amendments to the state workers' compensation laws.

An actuarial study of the self-insurance liability was done as of September 30,2023. Management's
estimate of the liability by the City was within recommended funding ranges of that study. Management
estimated the liability for incurred losses at September 30,2023, to be $16,686,865.

The City is self-insured for most exposures. The most significant risk assigned to third-party cariers is
the property insurance coverage in excess of the $250,000 retention. The City also carries Excess
Workeri' Compensation and Employers' Liability Indemnity insurance with self-insurance retention of
$1.5 million.

The following tabulation reflects changes in the estimated aggregate liabilities for incurred claims of the
Risk Management Fund: 

zoz3 2ozz

Estimated liability at beginning of year $ 19,377,254 $ 19,046,728

1,119,099

$

methodology includes review of
with insurance industry patterns

Claims during year and changes in estimates
Payments during year

Estimated liability at end of year

Litigation

13.809 .488)
3,895,204

(3.s64.678)

L_16-686,865 SJ9;11254

The City has been named as defendant in a number of other lawsuits or complaints arising out of the
ordinary course of conducting its operations. While several of these claims ask for the full amount
allowed by state statute, it has been the City's experience that such actions, if pursued, result in losses of
amounts substantially less than the claimed amounts. These cornplaints are similar to complaints resolved
in prior years, which settlements comprise the City's historical experience that formed the basis for the
actuarial determination of the estirnated liability for presented and unpresented claims payable at

September 30,2023.
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NOTE 17 - CONTINGENCIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Pollution Rernediation Obligation

Environmental Liabilities

The Hillside Tenace Estates Subdivision vitrified clay pipe ("VCP") sewer main experienced
collapse/breakage in several areas due to apparent deterioration and defects in the VCP and/or its design
and installation.

In July 2018 the City notified the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality ("TCEQ") of its intent to
conduct an environmental health and safety compliance audit on a portion of the wastewater collection
system located in Hillside Terrace Estates Subdivision, in accordance with the Texas Environmental,
Health and Safety Audit Privilege Act, Texas Health and Safety Code (Chapter 1101) ("Audit Act"). The
scope of the audit was to evaluate compliance with all applicable environmental, health, and safety
regulations as well as other associated environmental permits, licenses, certificates, submissions, or
registrations. The scope of the Audit was to investigate a limited portion of the pipe. Other potential
environmental liability may exist with other areas of the pipe, and the City is still investigating to
determine the scope and rernediation necessary for such areas.

Environmental and engineering consultants retained by the City, in conducting the Audit discovered
several violations which were reported to the TCEQ along with recommendations for corrective action.
Specifically, at one or lnore locations the consultants identified subsurface soil/wastewater contamination
which had escaped frorn the collapsed/broken VCP. Pursuant to the consultants' recommendations, the
City intends to undertake corrective action to remediate the contamination at one or more locations.
Although the extent of remediation cannot be fully identified pending further investigation and obtaining
bids frorn qualified contractors to accomplish the:wOiik, a preliminary estimate of remediation costs is in
range of $11 million. Final remediation costs are subject to vary depending upon a number of factors
including conditions encountered by the contractor and further investigations.

As a result of the apparent defects in the manufacture of the VCP and the design and installation of the
sewer main, the City filed a lawsuit against several parties to recover its monetary damages. Dwing2022
the City recovered $l1,725,000 in monetary damages and in during 2023 the City recovered $5,000,000.
In January 2024, the City purchased property to facilitate all the necessary remediation and abandonment
for this stage of the project. The remediation plan is anticipated to be approved by the TCEQ later in
2024. The abandonment project will occur after the TCEQ approval and is anticipated to be completed in
2025.

Upon completion of the Hollylvood Road Wastewater Treatment in the 1960s, the City of Amarillo began
to discharge treated effluent into an on-site playa lake. This practice was in full conformance with all
environmental regulations, was conducted under a lawfully issued State of Texas environmental discharge
pennit, and was subject to regular rnonitoring and reporting standards. Over time, a sub-surface plume of
water developed under the playa lake and has since slowly migrated outward. This plurne is comprised of
water that contains a chloride level that is higher than the native groundwater in the area. The City ceased
pumping treated effluent into the playa and the chloride content of the plume, both originally and
curently, is below the federal and state limits for potable water.

As the plume rnigrated outward, it has seeped into some domestic water wells near the facility. Due to
this, the City has historically conducted a voluntary monitoring program of the nearby domestic wells and
continues to do so at this time. If this rnonitoring detects chloride content in a well that is higlier than the
native groundwater, the City then either re-works the existing well, replaces it with a new well
constructed to current standards, or provides a reverse osmosis treatment system based on the
homeowner's prefetence.

Management believes that GASB 49 does not apply in this instance since there has been no actual
pollution by any legal definition of the term. However, the City intends to continue the practice of mon-
itoring the plume, providing replacement wells and treatment systerns and pursuing options for
remediation in the future. The City has recorded a liability of $2.6 million to continue the voluntary
monitoring and well replacement program throughout this fiscal year. The estirnated amount could
change in the future as the City evaluates various alternatives.
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Federal and State Grant Programs

The City participates in numerous federal and state grant programs, which are govelxed by various rules
and regulations of the grantor agencies. Costs charged to the respective grant programs afe subject to
audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies; therefore, to the extent that the City has not complied with
the rules and regulations governing the grants, refunds of any money received rnay be required. The City
has an ongoing agency audit and investigation in which they have accrued an estirnated agency refund of
approximately $465,000. As of February 27, 2024, the agency audit and investigation has not been
c-ompleted, nor has an amount been requested for refund. The amount accrued is based on the City's most
conservative estimate of potential loss.

NOTE 18. CONDUIT DEBT OBLIGATIONS

From time to time, the City has issued industrial revenue bonds to provide financial assistance in private-
sector entities for the acquisition and construction of commercial and health facilities deemed to be in the
public interest. The bonds are secured by the property financed and are payable solely fr-om payments
ieceived on the underlying mortgage loans. Upon repayment of the bonds, ownership of the acquired
facilities transfers to the private-sector entity served by the bond issuance. The City is not obligated in
any manner for repayments of the bonds. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the
accompanying financial statements.

While the outstanding principal amount could not be determined, the original issues were as follows:
Number of Original issue

Issues issues amounts

Amarillo Health Facilities Corporation I $ 3,155,000
Amarillo Housing Finance Corporation I 10.000.000

$_ 13,t15-000

NOTE 19 - TAX ABATBMENTS AND BCONOMIC INCENTIVES

The City enters into economic developrnent agreements designed to promote development and
redevelopment within the City, spur economic improvement, stimulate commercial activity, generate
additional sales tax and hotel tax and enhance the property tax base and economic vitality of the City.
These programs abate or rebate property taxes, sales tax, and hotel tax, and also include incentive
payments and reductions in fees that are not tied to taxes. The City's economic development agreements
are authorized under Chapter 380 of the Texas Local Government Code and Chapter 3l I (Tax Increment
Financing Act) and 312 (Property Redevelopment and Tax Abatement Act) and 351 (Municipal Hotel
Occupancy Taxes) of the Texas Tax Code. Recipients may be eligible to receive economic assistance
based on the employment impact, economic impact or community impact of the project requesting
assistance. Recipients receiving assistance generally commit to building or remodeling real property and
related infrastructure, demolishing and redeveloping outdated properties, expanding operations, renewing
facility leases, or bringing targeted businesses to the City. Agreements generally contain recapture
provisions which may require repayment or termination if recipients do not meet the required provisions
of the economic incentives.

The City has three categories of economic development agreements:

r Tax Abatements - Tax Abatements under Chapter 312 of the Texas Tax Code allow the City to
designate tax reinvestment zones and negotiate tax abatement agreements with applicants. These
abatement agreements authorize the appraisal districts to reduce the assessed value of the
taxpayer's propefty by a percentage specified in the agreement, and the taxpayer will pay taxes on
the lower assessed value during the term of the agreement. Property taxes abated under this
program were $679,849 in fiscal year 2023.

. General Economic Development - The City enters into various agreements under Chapter 380 of
the Texas Local Government Code to stimulate economic development. Agreements may rebate a

flat amount or percentage of propefiy, sales, or hotel tax received by the City, may result in fee
reductions such as utility charges or building inspection fees, or make lump sum payments to

110



CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 30,2023

NOTE 19 - TAX ABATEMENTS AND ECONOMIC INCENTIVES (CONTINUED)

offset moving expenses, tenant finish-outs, demolition costs, infrastructure reimbursements,
redevelopmenl costs or other expenses. For fiscal year 2023, the City rebated 5794,828 in hotel
taxes and $55,528 in sales tax.

r Tax Increment Financing - The City has adopted three Tax Increment Financing zones (TIFs)
under Chapter 311 of t[e Texas Tax Code. The City enters into economic developrnent and
infrastructure reimbursement agreements which eannark TIF revenues for payment to developers
and represent obligations over the life of the TIF or until all tenns of the agreements have been
rnet. These obligaiions are more fully described in Note 22. Additionally, the City enters into
general economic development agreements under Chapter 380 of the Texas Local Government
eode which are funded witn fm resources. For fiscal year 2023, the City made $654,154 in
payments for TIF obligations, $50,000 in incentive payments and $630,958 in property tax
rebates from general TIF resources.

NOTB 20 - AMARILLO HOSPITAL DISTRICT

Signifi cant Accounting Policies

Financi al Rep orting Entity

The financial reporting entity represents a political subdivision of the State of Texas and a component unit
of the City. Its fiscal year coincides with that of the City.

On May l, li996l the Amarillo Hospital District (District) sold its hospital facilities to a private 'fiospital

management company for approximately $121,000,000 and discontinued assessing ad valorem taxes for
hospital purposes. Wittr ttr-e-exception of continuing the operations of a pediatric-specialty, nonprofit
entiiy until 2000, the functions of the District since the sale of the hospital facilities have consisted
prim-arily of investing the sales proceeds for future hospital purposes and funding indigent care costs- The
bmployee pension plan is held for payment of future benefits as former employees meet applicable
retirement requirements.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presbntation

Tlie District follows the provision of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34.
While it is no longer engaged in liospital operations, it continues to use the accounting principles
applicable to enterprise funds.

The District follows GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting .for Certain
Investment Pools, which provides that investments generally are reported at fair value, and changes in fair
value are recognized as revenue.

The District follows GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting.for Pensions-an
Amendment o.f GASB Statement No. 27.

The District follows GASB Statement No. 87, Leases.

Tlie District has self-insured claims arising from professional malpractice'

Agreements with Respect to Hospital Sale

On May 7,1996, the District sold its physical plant, patient receivables, and other operating assets to a

for-profit, hospital-management company whicli assumed all of its hospital operations, as well as

responsibility for healthcare services to indigent and needy persons within the District. The total sales
proceeds were approximately $121 million.

In return, the District will make indigent care payments to the buyer, payable in quarterly installments, for
the next 25 years. The payments were $8,000,000 per year through May 1999. Thereafter, through May
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Agreements with Respect to Hospital Sale (Continued)

2006, payments varied between $6,000,000 to $8,000,000 per year, adjus-ted for inflation. Subsequent to
Wtay'i066, the payments per year will generally be equal to the lesser of the payments per.yTl 11qdq jl
2005 or 2006. For the yedLr erided Septe-mber 30,202i, the District recognized approximately $7,700,000
in indigent care expenses relating to the agreement.

The District currently collaborates with Northwest Texas Healthcare System to ensure both parties best
allocate their resources for the provision of care to the low income and needy residents in their
community. As part of this collaboration, Northwest has proposed that the District fund payments.to
Northwesf underihe Medicaid program ("Medicaid"). On Novernber 9,2006, the District temporarily
suspended the "Indigent Care Agreement," dated May 7,1996,for the period from-November 9,2006
thr6ugh November 8, 2008, and-replaced it with an almost identical agreement called the Health Care
Servides Agreement (HCA). The District remitted approximately $12,712,000 on November 20, 20061o
fund the Medicaid UPL program. The original agieement has been extended thirty.g!1 time,s. 

_. 
The

District has provided$76.2 million in funding to the Medicaid program versus $93.7 million in indigent
care payments that would have been due under the contract.

On May 3,2016,the District received written notice from UHS datedApril 28,2016,.pur!911t t9 Section
7(b) of the Indigent Care Agreement (the Agreement) between UHS and the District, UHS elected to
exercise its Extension Option (as defined in the Agreement) extending the term of the Agreement until
May 7,2036.

Waiver under Section 1115 of the Social Security Act i;

The District agreed to participate in a waiver under Section lll5 of the Social Security Act.that is
designed to build on existing Texas health care reforms and to redesign,health care delivery in the state
administered tluough the Amarillo Department of Public Health. The waiver consists of two comp_onents:

the Uncompensated Care (UC) program and the Delivery System Reform Incentive Payments (DSRIP)
program, which is a five-year.piogiam. The only requirement_ in year one- was to submit a plan, while
iublequent years required procesi and outcome metrics. The District has made intergovernmental
transfers on behalf of this program of $ 1 I .9 million.

Deposits and Investments

The District's funds are required to be invested in accordance witli the Public Funds Investment Act.
Bank deposits are collaterafized by FDIC insurance or by pledged collateral. Governmental -accounting
standards require the categorization of investments to give an indication of the level of risk assumed.

Based on tlie applicable criteria, a summary of the District's investment securities at September 30,2023,
are as follows:

Fair Value Weighted Average

Maturity (Years)

( cxcluding sccuritics lcnding)

Unrestricted

Ass e ts

Re s tricte d

Assets Total

Investment Securities

U.S. Trcasury obligations

U.S. Covenrment and government-sponsorcd agencies

Mruricipal bonds

Total investment secu'ities

No-load U.S. Treasury-ouly muhral fturds

Total investments

Deduct: Cash equivalents

Net investments lbr linancial reporting

$ 25,10r,636

80,810,191

9,614,433

n5,526,260

944408

116,470,668

(e44,408)

s l 15,526,260

4,138,244

4,138,244

(4,138,244)

(_

s 25,101,636

80,81 0, I 9l

9,61 4.433

115,526,260

5,082,652

120,608,9t2

(5,082,6s2)

$ 1.66

4.90

0.58

7.14

S I15

7.t4
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NOTE 20 - AMARILLO HOSPITAL DISTRICT (CONTINUED)

Tobacco Settlement

During 1998 the State of Texas settled litigation against certain tobacco manufacturers, which entitles
politicil subdivisions with legal responsibility for providing indlgent healthcare services to. a portion of
ihe settlement proceeds. As a result of the settlement, in 1998 the District received a distribution of
approximately 

-$2.9 million based on a per capita calculation (1990 federal census). Subsequent
distributions have been made based on each subdivision's total unreimbursed indigent healthcare
expenditures for the calendar year immediately preceding the year of distribution. As the various
calculations are not determinable by the District, these revenues are not accrued. In2023, the District
received approximately $375,000, in tobacco settlement funds.

Employee Retirement Benefits

Substantially all fulltime employees of the District were eligible for participation in the Retirement Plan
for Employ6es of Northwest Texas Healthcare System (AHD Plan), a single-employer, noncontributory
plan. Upon the sale of the Hospital in 1996, the AHD Plan was "frozen."

The District recorded a net pension liabilify of $2,891,812. Significant actuarial assumptions used in the
valuations include a rate of ieturn on investments of 6.0%. GASB 68 also requires the District to disclose
the sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate by disclosing what the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower
1S.ON1, $5,068;159, or one percentage point higher (7.0%), $(1,005,185). Compensation increases do not
apply due to the plan being frozen 

l

Participants vested 100% upon completion of five years of service and vested participants are entitled to
benefiti upon retirement or upon termination of employment after 20 years of service. Upon sale of th9
Hospital, as described above, substantially all employees of the District were offered employment with^
the 6uyer or, with respect to certain public health functions, the Health Department of tle City, both of
which alternatives are considered to be a continuation of employment for purposes of defining retirement
or termination.

It is anticipated that the plan's assets will be held intact to fund retirement benefits as determined under
this plan when the vested participants separate from service with the successor employers. The District is
responsible for the pension plan and intends to make annual contributions at least equal to the actuarially
determined contribution requirements to the plan.

Commitments and Contingencies

Although the District sold the Hospital on May J, 1996, it retained the responsibility for certain claims as

of the date of sale. The District self-insures substantially all of the important risks.

In accordance with the lirnited liability provisions of the Texas Tort Claims Act, the District rnay be liable
for settlement of malpractice claims up to a limit of $ 100,000 per person. Claims have been made alleg--
ing malpractice arising out of the ordinary course of business, and such litigation is in various stages of
progresi. The District self-insures for claims arising from professional malpractice.

It is the opinion of management that estimated self-insurance costs, including known claims and reserves
for incurred but not reported claims, are adequate to provide for potential claims.

CITY OF AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended September 3A,2423

Northwest Texas Healthcare System (Northwest) provides the tobacco prevention selices and the
pediatric sub-specialty care services in the community. Pediatric sub-specialty care is provided through
Texas Tech. Northwest provides tobacco prevention and control selices through a contract with the
Harrington Cancer and Health Foundation. The District has approved a resolution to make monthly
payments on behalf of NWTH to tlie Medicaid program of $123,000 through September 30,2023.
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Financial Statements

The District's financial offices were closed upon the sale of the hospital, and its Board selected the City of
Amarillo as its fiscal agent. Accordingly, the separately issued financial statements for this entity and for
its pension trust may be obtained by contacting the Director of Finance, City of Amarillo, P.O. Box 1971,
Amarillo, Texas 79105.

NOTE 21 - AMARILLO ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Signifi cant Accounting Policies

Operations

The Amarillo Economic Development Corporation (AEDC) was created by the City in 1990 under
provisions of the Development Corporation Act of the State of Texas. Its operations are financed by the
proceeds of a ll2-percent economic-development, sales tax. It is governed by a five-member Board of
Directors appointed by the City Council. The City serves as fiscal agent for AEDC, providing such
services as accounting, investment, and management information services.

The mission of AEDC is to attract businesses to Amarillo which offer highly skilled, highly paid
positions, to expand and retain existing local businesses in Amarillo, and to create a business environment
conducive to entrepreneurship. The AEDC targets companies whose primary function is to produce
goods or services that are then sold outside of the immediate trade area, thereby introducing'riew monies
into the local economy. This strategy is met by implementing aggressive business recruitment programs,
local business retention and expansion programs, and promoting AEDC and Amarillo, Texas, brands
worldwide.

Projects involve construction of facilities which involve direct financing leases. Other projects have
taken the form of grants or interest waivers on loans to industrial enterprises based on meeting targeted,
job-creation levels, as well as grants and contracts supporting research and promotional activities.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Preparation

The AEDC's fiscal year coincides with that of the City. AEDC follows the provisions of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34. Accordingly, it presents government-wide financial
statements using accounting principles similar to those used by commercial enterprises.

Investments are valued at fair value. Grants are generally recorded as expenses and liabilities at the time
of the awards. Grants subject to significant performance criteria are recorded when tlie funds are
disbursed or the criteria satisfied, whichever is earlier.

The maximum potential job creation credits available against loan interest are recognized as development
expense in the period in which the loans are made. Development notes receivable are reported at their
stated principal amounts, reduced by the estimated effect of the potential interest waivers as well as by an
allowance for uncollectible amounts. Direct financing leases are reported at the lower of the Corpora-
tion's investment in the property or the present value of the future minimum lease payments to be received
plus the estimated residual value of the leased property. Income from finance leases is credited to income
based on a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the lease allowance for uncollectible
amounts. Direct financing leases are reported at the lower of the Colporation's investment in tlie property
or the present value of the future minimurn lease payments to be received plus the estimated residual
value of the leased property. Income from finance leases is credited to income based on a constant
periodic rate of retutn on the net investment in the lease.

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, and donated propefiy is recorded at fair value at date of
receipt. Property and equipment consists primarily of hangars and related improvements located at the
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Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and tr'inancial Statement Preparation (Continued)

City's airport, as to which the estimated useful lives are 30 years. Depreciation is provided on the
straightline method. Assets restricted by interest and sinking fund indenture agreements are segregated,
and are presented as restricted assets.

Deposits and Investments

The AEDC's cash and investments are managed by the City, which accounts for its liquid assets and its
receipts and disbursements as one of its agency funds. The AEDC's uninvested cash is held in the City's
depository in the City's name as agent for AEDC. All such cash is insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation and other insurers.

The AEDC's investments are administered by City management under terms of an investment policy and
strategy that has been updated to conform to the latest amendments to the Texas Public Funds Investment
Act.

A summary of the AEDC's investment securities at September 30,2023, is as follows:

Weighted Average
Fair Value Maturity (Years)

Investments
CDARS
Money market mutual funds
U.S. Government and Agency

Total investments at fair value

Deduct: Classified as cash equivalents for financial reporting

Net investments

61,117,540

$ 16i250,000
39,874,630
4.992.910

139.8 74"630\

.24

.03

.27

$_2124291! __Z

Bconomic Development Loans

As one type of economic development project, the AEDC has made a number of loans to industrial
enterprises under arrangements that waive up to 100% of the stated interest on such loans ifjob creation
targeis are met. These maximum allowances are recognized as development expenses in the period in
which the loans are made. In addition to interest waivers, a provision has been made for uncollectible
loans, including amounts related to the individual credits based on managements' analysis, as well as a
provision for unidentified risks.

In August 1998, Bell Helicopter, the world's leading producer of helicopters, announced its selection of
Amarillo as the site for its new tiltrotor helicopter plant, based partly on incentives offered by AEDC.
The original incentive package included manufacturing facilities financed by AEDC sales-tax-backed
bonds up to a total amount of $34 million, as well as industrial revenue bonds up to a total amount of $8
million, plus cash of up to $5 rnillion for site acquisition and employee training and relocation. Bell's
obligatiohs under the agreements are sufficient to service the construction debt, but if job creation goals
are met, the resulting incentive credits could fully discharge Bell's payment obligations.

During 2019, all of the remaining Bell leases were converled to notes receivable. As with the leases, all
payments can be waived if job credit requirements are met. As of September 30, 2023, the notes
receivable consists offive notes for different projects:

. Phase 2 was for an expansion of the aircraft assembly building at an original cost of $10,570,000.
Tlre original net investment of the note receivable on Septeniber30,2019 was $2,548,944. The
annual note payment is $528,500 through 2025 and on September 30, 2023 the balance
outstanding was $968,948.
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NOTE 21 - AMARTLLO ECONOMTC DEVBLOPMENT CORPORATION (CONTINUED)

Economic Development Loans (Continued)

. Phase 3 was an expansion to Bell's facilities at a cost of $14,234,368. The original net
investment of the note receivable on September 30, 2019 was $3,896,855. The annual note
payment is $711,718 through 2026 and on September 30,2023 the balance outstanding was
$1,902,433.

. Phase 4 was an expansion to Bell's facilities at a cost of $15,028,921. The original net
investment of the note receivable on September 30,2019 was $4,114,374. The annual note
payment is $751,446 through 2026 and on Septernber 30, 2023 the balance outstanding was
$2,008,624.

. Phase 6 was an expansion to Bell's facilities at a cost of $22,242,454. The original net
investment of the note receivable on September 30,2019 was $10,568,696. The annual note
payment is $1,366,249 through 2030 and on September 30, 2023 the balance outstanding was
s7,626,925.

. Phase 7 was an expansion to Bell's facilities at a cost of $31,749,325. The original net
investment of the note receivable on September 30,2019 was $15,725,318. The annual note
payment is $1,912,360 through 2031 and on September 30,2023 the balance outstanding was
$11,875,364.

. AEDC acquired another 48.7 acres of adjacent land for future expansion, at a total cost of
$273,779. In accordance with the terms of the incentivg package, this land together with any
improvements thereon will be subject to a purchase option at a nominal amount after redemption
ofany bonds issued forrelated construction.

The AEDC has other loans receivable in addition to the Bell loans receivable. At September 30,2023,
there was one loan outstanding to another enterprise of $1,182,045, there were Enterprize program loans
of $857,116 and another note receivable of $189,380 for the repayment of a prior incentive.

In fiscal year 2015, approximately 48 acres of land in AEDC's Centerport complex was deeded to a wind
tower manufacturer. The receivable for this project commences on November 15,2021. The term for
this project is seven years, beginning on the date that the receivable commences. The resulting annual
note payment of $214,286 could be fully or partially waived if job creation goals are met. At September
30,2023, AEDC's balance outstanding was $966,979.

In2017, AEDC released constructed assets to the wind tower manufacturer. The lease for this portion of
the project commences on November 15,2021 with a term of seven years. The annual note payment of
$471,429 could be fully or partially waived if job creation goals are met. At September 30,2023,
AEDC's balance outstanding was $ 1,662,002.

An analysis of loans and the related valuations allowances at September 30, 2023, are as follows:

Principal balances $ 29,239,814
Allowance for uncollectible accounts

Loans, net of allowances $.J39$U
Direct Financing Leases

In fiscal year 2009, a project was completed for a tenant in which, subject to job creation targets, the
tenant lras the option to acquire the propefty tn 2029, for $ 1 . The rental tenn for this project is 20 years
beginning on the date the lease commenced. The resulting annual rentals in the amount of $630,000
could be fully waived ifjob creation goals are met. At September 30,2023, AEDC's net investment in
this lease, less discount for jobs credits, was $3,209,285.
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NOTE 21 - AMARTLLO ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (

Direct Financing Leases (Continued)

Year endins her 30

2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
Future years

L_3280-000
Capital Assets

As part of its econornic development program, the AEDC has constructed a number of improvements on
property leased from the City's airport for the purpose of subleasing to qualifying enterprises.

Additionally, it holds equipment needed for administrative purposes. At September 30, 2023, the
AEDC's properly, plant, and equipment were as follows:

$ 630,000
630,000
630,000
630,000
630,000
630,000

Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Construction in progress
Accumulated depreciation and amofiization

Total capital assets -'

Grants Payable

s 13,770,857
I 16,680
762,796

(5.1 92,680)

s,_3Jt1$53

During 2020, Texas Tech University System (the University) met the requirements for payment of the-

first stages of a $69 million commitment, making $30 million of the commitment payable, As of
Septembtr 30,2023, AEDC has paid $26 million of the commitment and has accrued $4 million to be
paidin2024.

Net Pension Liability

As of October 1,2019, the AEDC discontinued their money purchase pension plan and began
participating in the City's TMRS plan. AEDC has a net pension liability as of September 30, 2023 of
$131,379.

Long-Term Debt

In June 2017, AEDC issued its Taxable Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017, dated June 20,
2017,in the face amount of $2,010,000. The 2017 issue refunded the2007 bond issue. The2017 Series
has annual principal amounts ranging from $1,965,000 to $2,305,000. Annual debt requirements range
from approiimately $2,377,000 to $2,382,000 through August 15,2021. Interest rates on the outstanding
bonds range from 2.453% to 3.183%. Scheduled principal payments are as follows: 2024,52,115,000;
2025,52,170,000; 2026,$2,240,000 and 2021,52,305,000. The principal outstanding at September 30,
2023 was $8,830,000.

At the tirne of refunding there was $23,345,000 of outstanding Taxable Sales Tax Revenue Refunding
and Improvement Bondl, Series 2007. The refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service
paymenls over the next ten years by approximately $4,141,000 and resulted in an economic benefit of
approximately $3,557,000. For financial reporting purposes, the debt has been considered defeased and,
therefore, removed as a liability from AEDC's financial statements.
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Year Ended September 30,2423

NOTE 21 - AMARTLLO ECONOMTC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (CONTINUED)

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

In June 2019, AEDC issued its Taxable Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019, dated June 18,
2019, in the face amount of $27,680,000. The 201 9 issue refunded the 2009 bond issue. The 201 9 Series
has annual principal amounts ranging from $2,410,000 to $2,865,000. Annual debt requirements range
from approximately $2,956,000 to $2,961,000 through August 15,2030. Interest rates on the outstanding
bonds range from 2.51%o to 3.24o/o. Scheduled principal payments are as follows: 2024, $2,410,000;
2025, $2,470,000; 2026, $2,540,000; 2027, 52,615,000; and thereafter $8,340,000. The principal
outstanding at September 30, 2023 was $1 8,375,000.

At the time of the refunding there was $28,130,000 of outstanding Taxable Sales Tax Revenue Bonds,
Series 2009. The refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next 12 years
by approximately $6,004,000 and resulted in an economic benefit of approximately $5,114,000. For
financial reporling purposes, the debt has been considered defeased and, therefore, removed as a liability
from AEDC's financial statements.

AEDC's bonds are rated rrAA-" by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services.

Commitments

At September 30, 2023, AEDC had outstanding commitments to make grants or extend credit to
qualifying enterprises, in the amount of approximately $159 million.

Net OPEB Liability

For the fiscal year ended September 30,2023, AEDC's net OPEB liability is $78,704.-

Financial Statements

Separately issued financial statements for this entity may be obtained by contacting the AEDC at its
offices, which are located at 600 S. Tyler Street, Suite 1600, Amarillo, Texas 79101.

NOTB 22 - AMARILLO.POTTER EVENTS VENUE DISTRICT

Si gnifi cant Accountin g Policies

The Venue District is a governmental entity created by enabling resolutions of the City and Potter County
(tlre County) in September 1997. In January 1998, the voters of the City and the County approved the
proposed project, which consists of constructing a livestock arena at the county fair grounds to be used for
livestock shows, sporting events, agricultural expositions and other civic or charitable events, together
with expansion of the City's Civic Center to provide additional exhibit hall space and meeting rooms.

The construction of the livestock arena has been financed by citizen contributions, together with bonds
serviced by a 2Vo hotel occupancy tax and a 5Yo tax on short-term auto rentals, both of which taxes were
approved by the voters on January 17,1998. The City has agreed to pay lease rentals, if necessary, to
cover any shortfall in the tax revenues available for the debt service.

Tlie Venue District is governed by a seven-member Board of Directors, four of whom are appointed by
the Mayor of the City and three of whom are appointed by the County Judge of the County. The budget
is subject to approval by both the City Council and the County Commissioner's Court. The City serves as

fiscal agent for the Venue District, perforrning various adrninistrative services under a contract providing
that it will be reimbursed for its cost of providing the services.

The Venue District is considered to be a component unit of the City's financial reporting entity because of
its oversight responsibility with respect to management, as well as its financial accountability with respect
to debt selice.

lt8



CITY OF' AMARILLO, TEXAS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended Septernber 30,2023

NOTE 22 - AMARILLO-POTTER EVENTS VENUE DISTRTCT (CONTINUED)

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Preparation

The Venue District's fiscal year coincides with that of the City. It follows the provisions of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34. Accordingly, it presents govemment-wide financial
statements using accounting principles similar to those used by commercial enterprises.

Taxes collected by hotels and rental agencies are due to the Venue District by the tenth of the rnonth
following collection. Such taxes are recognized as revenues when collected by the remitters.

Depreciation is provided for on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the facilities.
The primary depreciable asset of the Venue District at September 30,2023, was a livestock arena, and its
estimated useful life is 40 years.

Physical Facilities

A livestock arena and special events center (the Center) has been constructed on fairground property
owned by the County aird has a total capacity of 10,000 persons. The total construction cost of the
facility was approximately $12.8 million. When completed as of June 1, 2000, the Center was leased on a
rent-free basis to the local nonprofit fair association.

In January 2002 construction began on a 65,000 square foot addition to the City's Civic Q91ter, together
with addiiional paved parking. The total construction cost of this facility was $9.6 million. Cost in
excess of the funds provided by the Venue District's bonds and available revenues are to be paid by the
City with proceeds of its hotel-motel taxes earmarked for this expansion.

Financing

In December 1998, the Venue District issued sales tax and lease revenue bonds in the face amount of $10
million, secured by a pledge of the Venue District's tax revenues, as well as by a lease agreement from the

City secured by ifs hotel occupancy taxes, to be applicable if there is a shortfall in the Venue District's
rev-enues availible for debt service. In November 2000, the Venue District issued additional bonds in the
face amount of $6,750,000. On November 10, 2005, the Venue District issued $6,425,000 in Special Tax
and Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds (Series 2005) for a refunding of $6,340,000 of outstanding Special
Tax and Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2000. On September 20, 2016, the Venue District issued

$5,085,000 in Special Tax and Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds for a refunding of $5,105,000 of the
Series 2005 outitanding bonds. The refunding was undertaken to reduce debt service payments by
approximately $327,000 over the next 30 years. For financial reporting purposes, the debt has been
cbnsidered defeased and, therefore, removed as a liability from the Venue District's financial statements.
Tlie principal amount outstanding at September 30,2023, on the 2016 bond issue was $4,240,000 and the
unamortized bond premium was $215,1 18.

In May 202l,the Venue District issued $3,945,000 in Special Tax and Lease Revenue,Refundlng_Bo1$s
for a refunding of outstanding Special Tax and Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009. The
refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next 31 years by approximately
$317,000 and resulted in an economic gain of approximately $357,000. The debt has been considered
defeased and, therefore, removed as a liability from the Venue District's financial statements for reporting
purposes. The principal amount outstanding at September 30,2023 bond issue was $3,095,000 and the

unamortized bond premium was $210,875.

Commitments

The District added an addendum to its agreement with Amarillo Tri-State Exposition, which provides that
a monthly sum will be paid in consideration of management and operation of the Fvents Center. The
nronthly ium paid is subJect to annual appropriation. On August 16,2021, the District's Board approv_ed

an annial appropriationln the arnount of $560,000 fortheyear ending September 30,2023, to Amarillo
Tri-State Eiposition. Additionally, the District's Board approved $998,500 for the Amarillo Tri-State
participation and $355,000 for event development in its nonnal budgetary process.
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NOTE 22 - AMARILLO-POTTER EVBNTS VENUE DISTRTCT (CONTINUED)

Commitments (Continued)

The District has made a similar commitment to the City. In the lease addendum with the City, the District
agreed to a monthly sum in consideration of management and operation of the District's addition to the
Civic Center. The payment to the City is also subject to annual appropriation. On August 16,2021, the
District's Board approved an appropriation in the amount of $398,004 through the year ending September
30, 2023, to the City in its normal budgetary process. Additionally, the District's Board approved
$ 1,900,000 for Civic Center improvements in its normal budgetary process.

Financial Statements

Separately issued financial statements for this entity rnay be obtained by contacting the Director of
Finance, City of Amarillo, P.O. Box 1971, Amarillo, Texas 79105.

NOTB 23 - AMARILLO HOUSING FINANCE CORPORATION

In 1996 AHFC issued bonds in the amount of $15,700,000 under authority of the Texas Housing Finance
Corporation Act, and entered into a trusteed investment arrangement in which the proceeds are to.be
invested in GNMA and FHLMC certificates secured by the mortgage loans originated under a lending
program prescribed by the Act. On February l, 1999 the AHFC refunded $5,500,000 and called
$3,260,000 of this issue. The remaining bonds are payable solely from the Trust Estate, and are not
general obligations of either the AHFC or the City. A similar issuance was made in a prior year in the
amount of $8,700,000.

On February 28, 2000 the AHFC issued $15,00p,000 under authority of the Texas' Housing Finance
Corporation Act, and entered into a trusteed investment arrangement in which proceeds are invested in
GNMA and FNMA certificates. In 2003 the AHFC issued $10,000,000 under authority of the Texas'
Housing Finance Corporation Act, and entered into a trusteed investment arrangement in which proceeds
are invested in GNMA and FNMA certificates.

In December 2007, the Housing Finance Corporation converted its $5.6 million mortgage bond allocation
to $4 million in Mortgage Credit Certificates (MCC). MCCs allow first-time homebuyers to take a tax
credit of up to $2,000 a year on their income tax return for a portion of the mortgage interest paid during
the year and the taxpayer is still allowed to deduct the balance of the mortgage interest as an itemized
deduction. Also, MCCs work in any interest-rate environment. The program ended in December 2009.
In total, the City utilized $2,730,817 of the $4 million in MCCs available.

Financial Statements

Tlris organization does not publish separate financial statements, but its non-trusteed cash balance, used
for miscellaneous operating expenses. Further information regarding this entity may be obtained from the
Director of Finance, City of Amarillo.

NOTE 24 -TA){ INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE #1

Tlre Tax Increment ReinvestmentZone Number One (TIRZ #1) was created in FY 2007 pursuant to the
Texas Tax Increment Financing Act, Tax Code, Chapter 3l l. The purpose of the zone is to promote the
development of or redevelopment of certain contiguous geographic areas in the City.

TIRZ #l enters into economic development agreements designed to promote development and
redevelopment within TIRZ #1, spur economic improvement, stimulate commercial activity, ggnlrate
additional sales tax and hotel tax and enhance the property tax base and economic vitality of TIRZ #1.
These programs abate or rebate properly taxes, sales tax, and hotel tax, and also include incentive
payments and reductions in fees that are not tied to taxes. TIRZ #1's economic development agreements
are authorized under Chapter 380 of the Texas Local Government Code.
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NOTE 24 -TAXTNCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE #1 (CONTINUED)

TIRZ #l has one category of economic development agreement. For 2023, TIRZ #l made $574,941 in
property tax rebates from general TIF resources.

At September 30,2023,TIRZ#I has outstanding comrnitments for community projects and Center City
projects of $ 1,490, 1 00.

The TIRZ #1 Board approved hpproxirnately $2.7 rrillion for the streetscape improvements for the
Amarillo Convention Hotel, parking structure, and rnulti-purpose event venue. On January 14,2016, the
TIRZ #l Board voted to increase the participation in the downtown projects from $2.7 rnillion to $4.387
million. The increase of $1.687 million is in the form of a loan to the Amarillo Local Government
Corporation (LGC) with the original commitment of $2.7 million remaining as a grant. On the same date,
the Board agreed to fund the retail portion of the parking garage construction and a portion of the
streetscape and amended tlie TIRZ #1 Project and Financing Plan accordingly. During 2023,the Board
approved a loan forgiveness plan. As of September 30,2023, TIRZ #1 has advanced $1,687,000 to LGC
and$425,408 of accrued interest has been added to the outstanding principal balance and $209,112 has
been forgiven, for a total outstanding balance of $1,903,296. During FY 2017, the City loaned TIRZ #l
$1,500,000 to assist TIRZ #I with its obligation to fund $3.45 million for the retail space associated with
the parking garage project and approximately $930,000 of streetscape improvements. As of September
30,2023, the outstanding balance on this loan is $1,114,667 .

Financial Statements

Separately issued financial stater4eltq may be obtained by contacting the Director of Finance, City of
Amarillo, P.O. Box l9ll, Amaillb, T0xas 79105.

NOTE 25 - AMARILLO LOCAL GOVERNMENT CORPORATION

In March 20ll,the Corporation was organized as a public nonprofit cotporation for the purpose of aiding,
assisting, and acting on behalf of the City in the performance of its governmental functions to promote the
development of the geographic area of the City, including the vicinity of the downtown area, in
fuitherance of the promotions, development, encouragernent and maintenance of employment, commerce,
convention and rneeting activity, tourism and economic development in the City. The Corporation was
created under the provisions of Subchapter D of Chapter 431, Texas Transportation Code and the Texas
Nonprofit Corporation Law, Chapter 22, Business Organizations Code.

LGC is governed by a seven-member Board of Directors appointed by the City Council. LGC's annual
operating budget, as well as projects undertaken by it, is subject to approval by the City Council.

The City leased land to the LCG to build a convention hotel andparking garage. The term of the ground
lease is for eighty (80) years. The LGC entered into a lease and development agreement with Supreme
Bright Amarillo II, LLC to construct a full-service convention center hotel with 225 rooms and
approximately 17,000 square feet of configurable meeting space. Construction of the hotel by the
developer was substantially completed and commencement of operations occurred on September 8,2017 .

Pursuant to tlie lease and development agreement, LGC owns the hotel during the lease term and leases
the hotel to the developer for eighty (80) years. Upon expiration or termination of the lease, ownership of
the hotel transfers from LGC to the City. At September 30, 2017, LGC recorded $40,700,000 in
contributed capital and capital assets for the hotel. During the lease term, the developer will receive all
revenue from the hotel and will be responsible for all operating and maintenance costs. The agreement
included a performance assurance clause of up to $2 million, to be funded, if necessary, to assure a
minimum performance of the hotel for a limited time surrounding tlie opening of it. The assurance for
minimum perforrnance ended December 31,2021, the City did not have to fund any amount of the $2
million peiformance assurance clause. The LGC, the City, and TIRZ #1 have agreed not to incentivize
another comparable hotel in the downtown area for five years.
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NOTE 2s - AMARILLO LOCAL GOVERNMBNT CORPORATION (CONTINUED)

July l, 2017,LGC completed construction of a 750-space parking garage adjacent to the hotel. The cost
of the parking garage was $16,947,568. LGC owns the parking garage and will operate the parking
facility and retain all parking fee revenue. At the end of the eighty year ground lease, ownership of the
parking garage will transfer from LGC to the City. The hotel developer will have 150 reserved spaces in
the garage and has agreed to pay $120,000 a year in parking rent and an annual base rent of $1,000,
adjusted annually by CPL LGC will operate the retail portion of the parking garage and will retain the
revenue therefrom.

Financial Statements

Separately issued financial statements may be obtained by contacting the Director of Finance, City of
Amarillo, P.O. Box 197I, Amarillo, Texas 79105.

NOTE 26 - TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE #2

The Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number Two (TIRZ #2) was created November 8,2016, through
an Ordinance of the City of Amarillo in accordance with the Tax Incentive Financing Act, codified at
Chapter 3l I of the Texas Tax Code. TIRZ #2 will terminate no later than November 8, 2046. The
purpose of the zone is to promote the development of or redevelopment of certain contiguous geographic
areas in the City. On November 17,2020, through an Ordinance of the City of Amarillo, the contiguous
geographic areas were expanded.

TIRZ #2 enters into economic development agreements designed to promote development and
.rgdeveloprnent within TIRZ #2, spur economic improvement, stimulate cornme4cial activity, generate
additional sales tax and hotel tax and enhance the properly tax base and economic vitality of TIP.Z #2.
These programs abate or rebate properfy taxes, sales tax, and hotel tax, and also include incentive
payments and reductions in fees that are not tied to taxes. TIRZ#2's economic development agreements
are authorized under Chapter 380 of the Texas Local Government Code.

TIRZ #2 has one category of economic development agreements. For 2023, TIRZ #2 made $56,010 in
property tax rebates from general TIF resowces.

Financial Statements

Separately issued financial statements may be obtained by contacting the Director of Finance, City of
Amarillo, P.O. Box 1971, Amarrllo, Texas 79105.

NOTE 27 - AMARILLO CONVENTION AND VISITORS BUREAU

On October l, 2020, the Arnarillo Convention and Visitors Bureau (the Bureau) was organized as a
nonprofit corporation for the purpose of soliciting, acquiring, and staging of conventions, the promotion
of tourism and the hotel industry and the attraction and entertaining of visitors to and for the City of
Amarillo, Texas and the surrounding area thereby promoting the economic development and social
welfare of the City. The Bureau was created under the provisions of Texas Nonprofit Corporation Law,
Chapter 22, Business Organizations Code.

The Bureau is governed by a nine-member Board of Directors appointed by the City Council. The
Bureau's annual operating budget is subject to approval by the City Council.

Financial Statements

Separately issued financial statements may be obtained by contacting the Director of Finance, City of
Amarillo, P.O. Box 7977, Amarillo, Texas 79105.
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NOTE 28 - NEW GASB PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has issued several new pronouncements that the City has
reviewed for application to their accounting and reporting.

GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment
Arrangements. The primary objective of this Statement is to improve financial reporting by addressing
issues related to public-private and public-public partnership anangements (PPPs). This statement
achieves that objective by (l) establishing the definitions of PPPs and APAs and providing uniform
guidance on accounting and financial reporting for transactions that meet those definitions (2) requiring
governments to report assets and liabilities related to PPPs consistently and disclose important
information about PPP transactions. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years
beginning after June 15,2022, and all reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. The
City implemented this statement in the current year.

GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technologt Arrangements. This Statement
provides guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based information
technology arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users (governments). This Statement (1) defines
a SBITA; (2) establishes that a SBITA results in a rightto-use subscription asset-an intangible asset-
and a corresponding subscription liability; (3) provides the capitalization criteria for outlays other than
subscription payments, including implementation costs of a SBITA; and (4) requires note disclosures
regarding a SBITA. To the extent relevant, the standards for SBITAs are based on the standards
established in Statement No. 87, Leases, as amended. This Statement provides an exception for short-term
SBITAs. Short-term SBITAs have a maximum possible term under the SBITA contract of 12 months,
including any options to extend, regardlqss of their probability of being exercised. Subscription payments
for short-term SBITAs should be recognized as outflows of resources. This Statement requires a
government to disclose descriptive information about its SBITAs other than short-tenn SBITAs, such as

the amount of the subscription asset, accumulated amortization, other payments not included in the
measurement of a subscription liability, principal and interest requirements for the subscription liability,
and other essential information. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years
beginning after June 15,2022, and all reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. The
Cify implemented this statement in the current year.

GASB Statement No. 99, OMNIBUS 2022. The objectives of this Statement are to enhance comparability
in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of authoritative literature by
addressing (l) practice issues that have been identified during implementation and application of certain
GASB Statements and (2) accounting and financial reporting for financial guarantees. The practice issues
addressed by this Statement are as follows: (l) Classification and reporting of derivative instruments
within the scope of Statement No. 53, Accounting Financial Reporting.for Derivative Instruments, that do
not meet the definition of either an investment derivative instrument or a hedging derivative instrument
(2) Clarification of provisions in Statement No. 87, Leases, as amended, related to the determination of
the lease term, classification of a lease as a short-term lease, recognition and measurement of a lease
liability and a lease asset, and identification of lease incentives (3) Clarification of provisions in
Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment
Arrangemenfs, related to (a) the determination of the public-private and public-public partnership (PPP)
term and (b) recognition and measurement of installment payments and the transfer of the underlying PPP
asset (4) Clarification of provisions in Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based InJbrmation Technology
Arrangemenfs, related to the subscription-based information technology arrangement (SBITA) term,
classification of a SBITA as a short-term SBITA, and recognition and measurement of a subscription
liability. (5) Extension of the period during which the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) is
considered an appropriate benchmark interest rate for the qualitative evaluation of the effectiveness of an
interest rate swap that hedges the interest rate risk of taxable debt. (6) Accounting for the distribution of
benefits as part of the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) (7) Disclosures related to
nonmonetary transactions. (8) Pledges of future revenues when resources are not received by the pledging
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NOTB 28 - NEW GASB PRONOUNCEMENTS (CONTINUED)

government. (9) Clarification of provisions in Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statentents-and
Management's Discussion and Analysis -.for State and Local Governments, as amended, related to. the
focus of the govemment-wide financial statements (10) Tenninology updates related to certain pr,ovisions_

of Statemenl No. 63, Financial Reporting of Defemed Outflows of Resources, Defered Inflows of
Resources, and Net Position (l l) Terminology used in Statement No. 53 to refer to resource flows
statements. The requirements of this Statement that are effective as follows: (1) The requir,ements related
to extension of tlie use of LIBOR, accounting for SNAP distributions, disclosures of nonmonetary
transactions, pledges of future revenues by pledging governments, clarification of certain provisio-ns in
Statement 34, as-amended, and terminology updates related to Statement 53 and Statement 63 are
effective upon issuance. (2) The requirernents related to leases, PPPs, and SBITAs are effective for fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 202I, and, all reporting periods thereafter. (3) The requirements related to
iinancial guarantees and the classification and reporting of derivative instruments within the scope of
Staterneni53 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023, and all reporting periods
thereafter.

GASB Statement No. l}},Accounting Changes and Error Corrections-An Amendrnent of GASB
Statement No. 62. The primary objective of this Statement is to enhance accounting and financial
reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections to provide more understandable,
reliable,- relevant, consistent, and comparable information for making decisions or assessing
accountability. The requirements of the Statement are effective for accounting changes and error
corrections made in fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023, and all reporting periods thereafter.
Earlier application is encouraged.
-G}.SS 

Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences. The objective of this Statemeiit:is to better meet the
information needs of fin ancial statement users by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for
compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition andmeasurement guidSlqe
under a unified model and by amending certain previously required disclosures. The requirements of this
Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and all reporting periods
thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged.

NOTE 29 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The City evaluated for inclusion as a subsequent event disclosure those events that occurred prior.to
February 27, 2024, the date the financial statements were issued. There were no events that require
disclosure except as noted below.

On September 12,2023, the City approved a commercial contract to sell the commercial square foota_ge

portion of the Amarillo Local Government Corporation parking garag-e for $1,900,000. As of the
issuance of these financial statements, the City has not closed on the sale of the commercial property.

On December 12,2023, the City issued $19,300,000 of City of Amarillo, Texas, Waterworks and Sewer
Systenr Revenue Bonds, New Series 2024, for the purpose of improvement and extension of the City.'s
water and sewer system. The City also approved a cost-sharing agreement with the Amarillo Economic
Development Corporation (AEDC) on January 13,2024 forAEDC's parlicipation in the funding of the
annual debt service for this debt issuance.

On January 23,2024, the City approved a resolution approving and authorizing publication of notice of
intention to issue Series 2024 Certificates of Obligation in an amount not to exceed $13,500,000 for the
purpose of constructing and improving streets.

On January 23,2024, the City approved a resolution approving and authorizing publication of notice of
intention tb issue Taxable Series 2024 Certiftcates of Obligation in an amount not to exceed $3,250,000
for the purpose of constructing, improving and equipping municipal airport hangers.

This information is an integral part of the acconrpanying basic financial statements.
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IN REGARD to the authorization and issuance of the “City of Amarillo, Texas, Drainage Utility 
System Revenue Bonds, Series 2024,” dated March 15, 2024, in the principal amount of $______ 
(the “Bonds”), we have examined into their issuance by the City of Amarillo, Texas (the “City”), 
solely to express legal opinions as to the validity of the Bonds and the exclusion of the interest on 
the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and for no other purpose.  We 
have not been requested to investigate or verify, and we neither expressly nor by implication 
render herein any opinion concerning, the financial condition or capabilities of the City, the 
disclosure of any financial or statistical information or data pertaining to the City and used in the 
sale of the Bonds, or the sufficiency of the security for or the value or marketability of the Bonds. 

THE BONDS are issued in fully registered form only and in denominations of $5,000 or any 
integral multiple thereof (within a maturity).  The Bonds mature on August 15 in each of the years 
specified in an ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City authorizing the issuance of the 
Bonds (the “Ordinance”), unless redeemed prior to maturity in accordance with the terms stated 
on the Bonds.  The Bonds accrue interest from the dates, at the rates, and in the manner and 
interest is payable on the dates, all as provided in the Ordinance. 

IN RENDERING THE OPINIONS herein we have examined and rely upon (i) original or certified 
copies of the proceedings relating to the issuance of the Bonds, including the Ordinance and an 
examination of the initial Bond executed and delivered by the City (which we found to be in due 
form and properly executed); (ii) certifications of officers of the City relating to the expected use 
and investment of proceeds of the sale of the Bonds and certain other funds of the City and 
(iii) other documentation and such matters of law as we deem relevant. In the examination of the 
proceedings relating to the issuance of the Bonds, we have assumed the authenticity of all 
documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original copies of all documents 
submitted to us as certified copies, and the accuracy of the statements contained in such 
documents and certifications. 

BASED ON OUR EXAMINATIONS, IT IS OUR OPINION that, under the applicable laws of the 
United States of America and the State of Texas in force and effect on the date hereof: 

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized by the City and, when issued in compliance 
with the provisions of the Ordinance, are valid, legally binding and enforceable obligations of the 
City and, together with the outstanding and unpaid “Previously Issued Bonds” (identified and 
defined in the Ordinance), are payable solely from and equally and ratably secured by a lien on 
and pledge of the Pledged Revenues (as defined in the Ordinance) of the City’s drainage utility 
system, except to the extent that the enforceability thereof may be affected by bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights or the 
exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with the general principles of equity. 
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2. Pursuant to section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the 
date hereof (the “Code”), and existing regulations, published rulings, and court decisions 
thereunder, and assuming continuing compliance after the date hereof by the City with the 
provisions of the Ordinance relating to sections 141 through 150 of the Code, interest on the 
Bonds for federal income tax purposes (a) will be excludable from the gross income, as defined 
in section 61 of the Code, of the owners thereof, and (b) will not be included in computing the 
alternative minimum taxable income of the owners thereof who are individuals. 

WE EXPRESS NO OPINION with respect to any other federal, state, or local tax consequences 
under present law or any proposed legislation resulting from the receipt or accrual of interest on, 
or the acquisition or disposition of, the Bonds.  Ownership of tax-exempt obligations such as the 
Bonds may result in collateral federal tax consequences to, among others, financial institutions, 
life insurance companies, property and casualty insurance companies, certain foreign 
corporations doing business in the United States, S corporations with subchapter C earnings and 
profits, corporations subject to the alternative minimum tax on adjusted financial statement 
income, owners of an interest in a financial asset securitization investment trust, individual 
recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals otherwise qualifying for 
the earned income tax credit, and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued 
indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to, 
tax-exempt obligations. 

OUR OPINIONS ARE BASED on existing law, which is subject to change.  Such opinions are 
further based on our knowledge of facts as of the date hereof.  We assume no duty to update or 
supplement our opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come to our 
attention or to reflect any changes in any law that may thereafter occur or become effective.  
Moreover, our opinions are not a guarantee of result and are not binding on the Internal Revenue 
Service; rather, such opinions represent our legal judgment based upon our review of existing law 
that we deem relevant to such opinions and in reliance upon the representations and covenants 
referenced above. 
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